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FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENT This annual report contains forward-looking statements which are subject to safe harbors under the

Securities Act of 1933 as amended or the Securities Act and the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 as amended or the Exchange Act Forward-

looking statements including words such as expects plans anticipates believes estimates predicts projects and similar

expressions Statements that refer to projections of our future financial performance anticipated growth and trends in our businesses and in our

industries the anticipated impacts of acquisitions and other characterizations of future events or circumstances are forward-looking statements

These statements are only predictions based on our current expectations about future events and may not prove to be accurate We do not

undertake any obligation to update these forward-looking statements to reflect events occurring or circumstances arising after the date of this

report These forward-looking statements involve risks and uncertainties and our actual results performance or achievements could differ

materially from those expressed or implied by the forward-looking statements on the basis of several factors including those that we discuss in

our Risk Factors set forth in Part Item 1A of our annu eport on Fprm 10-K for the fiscal year ended March 30 2012 and in our Current

Report on Form 8-K filed on June 11 2012 We thicourage you to rŁd tat sectiottCØfully



Dear Fellow Shareholders

Its very exciting for me to have the opportunity to lead Symantec
and our talented employees as we enter world where security and

information management have never been more important to our

customers believe our company has very strong assets however weve
been underperforming against our opportunities and expectations Our top

priority is to improve our performance and create significant increases in

long-term value for our shareholders

During my first 120 days as CEO the leadership team and will be

working two-pronged approach determining the right strategy to

leverage Symantecs technology capabilities in order to accelerate our rate

of value creation and executing on decisions quickly to improve our companys

performance We will pursue these actions using business philosophy that Ive used and

refined over the past 30 years which includes being in good businesses with strategies to win
engaging talented employees delighting customers with innovative solutions and driving

revenue and profit growth

After the initial 120-day period we will share with you our go-forward strategy to win in the

marketplace and our action plan to return Symantec to sustainable organic growth higher

margins and return of excess cash to shareholders We believe strategy that generates

sustained organic growth rate of at least 5% and 30% in operating margins coupled with

returning excess cash to shareholders is the best way to create long-term value for our

shareholders

We are starting with blank sheet of paper and considering all options and opportunities in

our commitment to delight customers engage employees and create long-term shareholder

value As with my prior CEO tenure the appropriate structural changes will be made to align

our company with our strategy and we are examining each of our businesses as to their future

potential and fit However our eventual company structure will reflect our announced strategy

as we view operational improvements and structural adjustments as mutually reinforcing not

mutually exclusive We believe that portfolio moves either through acquisitions or divestitures

are tactics that complement strategy not strategy in themselves

Our strategy will accomplish our long-term objectives without losing sight of immediate

opportunities for improvement With that in mind we plan to leverage savings from the

elimination of existing redundancies to fund our growth initiatives Finally commitment to

returning cash to shareholders will be central tenant of our announced objectives

FISCAL 2012 REVIEW

In fiscal 2012 we reported record results for each of our key financial metrics and across all

of our geographic territories However our financial performance was neither at our peak

potential nor on our strongest path to create significant improvements in shareholder value

GAAP revenue totaled $6.73 billion up 6% year-over-year in constant currency

Non-GAAP1 earnings per share were $1.61 up l3% year-over-year as reported

Enterprise subscription sales grew 4Oo as customers increasingly choose

Software-as-a-Service solutions over traditional on-premise licenses

GAAP deferred revenue was record $3.97 billion up 5% year-over-year in constant

currency driven by the sales mix shift to subscriptions

1Non-GMP results are reconciled to GAAP on page



Cash flow from operations was $1.9 billion up 6% year-over-year as we continue to

generate strong cash flows

We closed the year with $3.2 billion in cash and cash equivalents representing 9% year-

over-year growth

We returned $893 million to shareholders buying back over 50 million shares of our

common stock

SEGMENT RESULTS

Consumer Maintaining leadership in PC security while defining new mobile and

cloud opportunities Our Consumer segment has grown year-over-year for 15 consecutive

quarters to date In fiscal 2012 it grew 5% in constant currency to $2.1 billion Our consumer

security solutions continue to lead in their markets driven by upselling to higher value solutions

and best-in-class products winning over 250 awards in the past years In fiscal 2012 we

launched Norton One and Norton 360 Everywhere our multi-device suites allowing customers to

safely move their information between their PC Mac tablet and mobile device Our mobile

solutions continue to surpass expectations ranking among the top grossing apps in the nascent

consumer mobile security market and earning 4.4 stars in the Google Play Android marketplace

Our cloud backup and support services also continued to exceed expectations as the largest

contributor to consumer growth Norton Online Backup now protects the data of over 14 million

subscribers and NortonLive continues to generate revenue as well as valuable cross-selling of our

security products

Security and Compliance Next generation protection solutions ensure security

stays ahead of emerging threats Our enterprise security solutions maintained momentum
with solid performances across the portfolio Our Security and Compliance segment grew l7%
in constant currency to $1.9 billion in fiscal 2012 Symantec Endpoint Protection 12 our award-

winning endpoint protection solution provided the catalyst for multiple competitie

displacements in highly competitive market Our data loss prevention DLP and

authentication businesses continued their strong growth as CIOs choose content-aware

solutions that protect information and access without impeding employee productivity

We also made important progress on our internally developed security for the cloud

solution 03 Phase was launched in the March quarter 03 enables secure cloud adoption by

providing the same level of information protection whether within the corporate network or

through cloud-based application

In addition we delivered an enterprise mobility solution to support the growing Bring

Your Own Device trend Our forthcoming enterprise mobility suite will offer customers

device and application management data loss prevention and compliance capabilities in

single integrated solution

Storage and Server Management Enabling organizations to use virtualization

technologies and the cloud to lower IT costs and confidently backup recover

archive and discover information Our Storage and Server Management segment grew 2%
in constant currency to $2.4 billion in fiscal 2012 Growth was driven by our information

management businesses which grew 7% in constant currency to $1.6 billion Our information

management products help protect and archive business data for both physical and virtual

machines using integrated market leading capabilities Symantec V-Ray technology further

extends our leadership in virtualized environments V-Ray is embedded in our backup products

and gives IT administrators increased visibility into backup images across physical and virtual

environments Growth in our backup business was also driven by the excellent performance of



our integrated backup appliances allowing customers to address both their backup hardware
and software needs all from single trusted vendor To further extend our intelligent

information management businesses we acquired Clearwell and LiveOffice during fiscal 2012
thereby adding integrated eDiscovery and cloud-based archiving capabilities

Our storage and availability management business helps organizations accelerate the
utilization of virtualization and cloud adoption while reducing storage costs This business
declined 6% in constant currency to $780 million as the market continues to transition away
from the Solaris and UNIX platforms We are focused on the growing Linux and Windows
environments and managing this business for maximum cash generation and profitability In

addition we launched several solutions co-developed with VMware as enterprises increasingly
virtualize their server environments

CORPORATE RESPONSIBILITY

Our emphasis on creating long-term value is enhanced by our corporate responsibility

efforts which present strategic opportunities to be more efficient with our resources and more
effective in accomplishing our companys mission While we still continue to address

challenges we are pleased with our progress in fiscal 2012 in three main areas developing
diverse work force including more participation of women investing nearly $24 million in

software and cash to promote philanthropic initiatives relevant to our strategic priorities and

launching the Norton Cyber Security Institute global effort to support victims of

cybercrime More information about these and our many related initiatives are available on our
corporate responsibility site at www.symantec.com/corporate_responsibility

THE REVOLUTION THAT LIES AHEAD

Our first objective is to fully vet and create strategy to drive at least mid-single digit

organic revenue growth and margin expansion on sustained basis by leveraging our valuable

assets We will use process developed during my 23 years at GE and applied expanded and
refined in my eight years as CEO of Intuit We will implement this blueprint as we manage
Symantec and expect it will produce improved performance on sustained basis Our senior

leadership team is excited and energized about the opportunity as we enter Symantec 4.0 and
look forward to future discussions about our progress

want to thank our employees for their hard work and for such warm welcome Im
encouraged by their passion to help make Symantec the best company it can be would also

like to thank our customers partners and shareholders for their continued support Im excited

by our opportunities to accelerate performance and look forward to the work ahead

Regards

Steve Bennett

Chairman of the Board President and Chief Executive Officer



Three Year Summary of Selected Financial Data
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Net Revenue
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Net Revenue

Operating Income

Net Income

Diluted Earnings Per Share

Diluted Weighted-Average Shares Outstanding

Cash Position including short-term investments

Total Assets

Deferred Revenue

Long-Term Debt

Total Stockholders Equity

Cash Flow from Operations

$6730 $6190 $5985

1697 1535 1692
25.2% 24.8% 28.3%

$1201 $1119 $1220

$1.61 $1.42 $1.49

748 786 819

Operating Income

Stock-based compensation

Amortization of intangible assets cost of revenue

Amortization of intangible assets operating expenses

Restructuring and transition

Impairment of intangible assets and goodwill

Loss and impairment of assets held for sale

Acquisition/divestiture-related expense
14

Internally developed software costs 10
Settlements of litigation

Total Operating Income adjustment $55 $759
Net Income

Operating Income adjustment $618

Net loss gain on legal liquidations of foreign entities

Non-cash interest expense
56

Gain on sale of assets

Loss on early extinguishment of debt

Loss gain on sale of marketable securities

Joint venture Amortization of intangible assets

Gain from sale of joint venture

Income tax effect on above items

Tax related adjustments

Release of pre-acquisition tax contingencies

Release of valuation allowance

Total Net Income adjustment

Diluted Earnings Per Share

Stock-based compensation adjustment per share net of tax $0.14 $0.14

Other non-GAAP adjustments per share net of tax
0.52 0.48

Total Diluted Earnings Per Share adjustment $0.66 $0.62

The non-GMP firiencial measures included in the tables adjust for the following items business combination accounting entries stock-based

compensation expense restructuring and transition charges charges related to the amortization of intangible assets impairments of assets and

certain other items We believe the presentation of these non-GAAP financial measures when taken together with the corresponding GAAP

financial measures provides meaningful supplemental information regarding the Companys operating performance for the reasons discussed

below Our management uses these non-GAAP financial measures in assessing the Companys operating results as well as when planning

forecasting and analyzing future periods We believe that these non-GAAP financial measures also facilitate comparisons of the Companys

performance to prior periods and to our peers and that investors benefit from an understanding of these non-GAAP financial measures



Dear Fellow Shareholders

As your Board of Directors we would like to reiterate that our primary focus is creating

long-term shareholder value Our company has very strong assets which we believe can

provide even more value and growth for our shareholders For that reason on July 24 2012

we appointed our independent Chairman of the Board Stephen Bennett as our new

President and Chief Executive Officer We believe that Steve is the best candidate as he has

proven track record of success as CEO of Intuit for eight years and as General Manager of

various businesses at General Electric for more than 20 years Equally important he is familiar

with our company through his role as Chairman Steve has immediately begun to provide the

leadership and stability to strengthen and grow our company for the future

Best governance practices are priority for us Therefore we simultaneously appointed

independent director Daniel Schulman as our Lead Independent Director to among other

things preside at all meetings of the Board at which the Chairman is not present including

regular executive sessions of the independent directors Eight of our nine Board members are

independent and only independent Board members serve on our Audit Compensation and

Nominating and Governance Committees

top priority for our Board is engaging with our shareholders on governance and executive

compensation matters as well as other company issues In fiscal 2012 we specifically solicited

your feedback with regard to our shareholders ability to call special meeting At the time we

initiated our outreach our Bylaws permitted shareholders with 25% ownership to call special

meeting After discussing the matter with significant portion of our shareholders and

considering our other governance practices we lowered this threshold to 15% ownership We

view this threshold as appropriate for protecting the interests of our particular shareholder base

and avoiding over-burdening our company

Among our other governance best practices of which we are particularly proud are our

majority voting standard for director elections the annual election of all of our directors the

ability of our shareholders to act by written consent the absence of poison pill minimum

shareholding requirements for officers and directors and the simple majority voting provisions

in our charter and bylaws

We value your views regarding our executive compensation philosophy and programs

Taking into consideration your feedback and the results of our 2011 say on pay vote 98% of

votes cast were in favor of our executive compensation practices we continued to increase our

focus on long-term performance-based compensation In fiscal 2012 we extended our

pay-for-performance practices to larger group of employees For example we now grant

performance-based restricted stock units in lieu of stock option grants to all vice presidents and

above Our CEO compensation is heavily weighted to equity rather than cash and the value of

most of Steves equity compensation is determined by the performance of our stock price over

time strongly aligning his interests with those of all shareholders

Wed like to thank you for your support We are confident that we have the right leadership

structure in place to improve performance achieve long-term success and create value for our

shareholders

The Board of Directors of Symantec Corporation

Stephen Bennett Michael Brown Frank Dan geard

Stephen Gilett Geraldine Laybourne David Mahoney

Robert Miller Daniel Schulman Paul Unruh
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Symantec
350 Ellis Street

Mountain View California 94043

NOTICE OF 2012 ANNUAL MEETING OF STOCKHOLDERS
to be held on

October 23 2012

900 a.m Pacific Time

Dear Stockholder

You are cordially invited to attend our 2012 Annual Meeting of Stockholders which will be held at 900 a.m Pacific Time
on Tuesday October 23 2012 at Symantec Corporations offices located at 350 Ellis Street Mountain View California 94043

For your convenience we are pleased to offer live and re-playable webcast of the Annual Meeting at www.symantec.com/invest

We are holding the Annual Meeting for the following purposes which are more fully described in the proxy statement

To elect the nine nominees named in the proxy statement to Symantecs Board of Directors

To ratify the appointment of KPMG LLP as Symantecs independent registered public accounting firm for the

2013 fiscal year

To hold an advisory vote to approve executive compensation

To consider and vote upon one stockholder proposal if properly presented at the meeting and

To transact such other business as may properly come before the meeting or any adjournment or postponement

thereof

Only stockholders of record as of the close of business on August 24 2012 are entitled to notice and to vote at the Annual

Meeting or any postponement or adjournment thereof list of stockholders entitled to vote will be available for inspection at

our offices for ten days prior to the Annual Meeting If you would like to view this stockholder list please contact Investor

Relations at 650 527-5523

We are pleased to continue our practice of furnishing proxy materials over the Internet We believe doing so allows us to

provide our stockholders with the information they need while lowering the costs of the delivery of the materials and reducing

the environmental impact of printing and mailing hard copies Stockholders who continue to receive hard copies of proxy
materials may help us to reduce costs further by opting to receive future proxy materials by e-mail To register for electronic

delivery please enroll at https/Ienrolll icsdelivery.com/symc/Default.aspx

Each share of stock that you own represents one vote and your vote as stockholder of Symantec is very important For ques

tions regarding your stock ownership you may contact Investor Relations at 650 527-5523 or if you are registered holder our

transfer agent Computershare Investor Services by email through their website at www.computershare.com/contactus or by phone

at 877 282-1168 within the U.S and Canada or 781 575-2879 outside the U.S and Canada

BY ORDER OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Scorr TAYLOR

Executive Vice President General

Counsel and Secretary

Mountain View California

August 30 2012

Every stockholder vote is important To assure that your shares are represented at the Annual Meeting please vote

over the Internet or by telephone whether or not you plan to attend the meeting If you received paper proxy card

and voting instructions by mail you may vote your shares by completing dating and signing the enclosed proxy and

mailing it promptly in the postage-paid envelope provided whether or not you plan to attend the meeting You may
revoke your proxy at any time before it is voted
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PROXY SUMMARY

This summary highlights information contained elsewhere in this proxy statement This summary does not

contain all of the information that you should consider and you should read the entire proxy statement carefully

before voting

2012 ANNUAL MEETING OF STOCKHOLDERS INFORMATION

Date and Time Tuesday October 23 2012 at 900 a.m Pacific Time

Place Symantec Corporations offices located at 350 Ellis Street Mountain View California 94043

Webcast live and re-playable webcast of the annual meeting is available on our Investor Relations

website at www.syinantec.com/invest

Record Date August 24 2012

VOTING MATTERS

Page Number for

Board Additional

Proposals
Recommendation Information

Election of Directors FOR 15

Ratification of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm FOR 23

Advisory Vote to Approve Executive Compensation FOR 25

Stockholder Proposal if properly presented at the Annual Meeting AGAINST 26

OUR DIRECTOR NOMINEES

Other

Committee Current

Director Memberships Public

Name Age Since Principal Occupation Independent AC CC NGC Boards

Chairman of the Board President and Chief

Stephen Bennett 58 2010 No
Executive Officer

Michael Brown 53 2005 Chairman of the Board Line Inc Yes

Frank Dangeard 54 2007 Managing Partner Harcourt Yes

Executive Vice President and President Best

Stephen Gillett 36 2012 Buy Digital Global Marketing and Strategy Yes

Best Buy Co Inc

Geraldine Laybourne 65 2008 Chairman of the Board Alloy Inc Yes

David Mahoney 58 2003 Director Yes

Chief Executive Officer Hawker
Robert Miller 70 1994 Yes

Beechcroft Inc

Group President- Enterprise Growth
Daniel Schulman 54 2000 Yes

Amencan Express

Paul Unruh 63 2005 Director Yes

AC Audit Committee CC Compensation Committee NGC Nominating Governance Committee

Member Chair



OUR CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FACTS

Size of Board

Number of Independent Directors

Board Committees Consists Entirely of Independent Directors Yes

All Directors Attended at least 75% of Meetings Held Yes

Annual Election of All Directors Yes

Majority Voting for Directors Yes

Separate Chairman CEO No

Lead Independent Director Yes

Independent Directors Meet Regularly in Executive Session Yes

Annual Board and Committee Self-Evaluations Yes

Stockholder Ability to Call Special Meetings 15% threshold Yes

Stockholder Ability to Act by Written Consent Yes

Non-stockholder Approved Poison Pill No
Annual Advisory Approval of Executive Compensation Yes

Stock Ownership Requirements for Directors and Executive Officers Yes

OUR EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION PHILOSOPHY AND PRACTICES

The overriding principle driving our compensation programs is our belief that it benefits all of our con
stituencies for managements compensation to be tied to our current and long-term performance The following

factors demonstrate our continued and heightened commitment to pay-for-performance and to corporate gover

nance best practices

significant percentage over 50% of our executive officers compensation consists of long-term equity

incentive awards which consists entirely of performance-based restricted stock units and restricted stock

units RSUs

We do not provide for gross-ups of excise tax values under Section 4999 of the Internal Revenue Code
and any potential severance payments are well under times our executive officers total target cash

compensation

We have clawback provisions providing for the return of any excess compensation received by an execu

tive officer if our financial statements are the subject of restatement due to error or misconduct

Our executive officers are prohibited from short-selling Symantec stock or engaging in transactions involv

ing Symantec-based derivative securities

While our cash incentive compensation is designed to reward outstanding performance of our executive

officers payouts under each plan are capped to discourage excessive or inappropriate risk taking by our

executive officers

COMPENSATION COMPONENTS

Component Key Characteristics

Base Salary Based on positioning relative to market individual role performance and contribution levels

Annual Incentive Award Our executive officers are eligible to receive performance-based compensation contingent upon
our achievement of targeted annual revenue ii our achievement of targeted annual non-GAAP

earnings per share and iii the executive officers business units performance except for our CEO
Long-term Incentive Plan LTIP Our executive officers are eligible to receive performance-based compensation contingent upon our

achievement of targeted operating cash flow and being employed with us for two additional years

after achievement of the LTIP metric

Restricted Stock Units Restricted stock units vest over four years

Performance-based Restricted Stock Under our PRUs our executive officers are eligible to receive shares following three fiscal year
Units PRUs performance period under the award based upon our achievement of targeted annual non-GAAP

earnings per share for the first fiscal year and ii the achievement of the total shareholder return

TSR ranking for our company as compared to the SP 500 for the two and three years ended as

of the end of the second and third fiscal year respectively



SYMANTEC CORPORATION
2012 ANNUAL MEETING OF STOCKHOLDERS

PROXY STATEMENT

Information About Solicitation and Voting

The accompanying proxy is solicited on behalf of Symantec Corporations Board of Directors the Board
for use at Symantecs 2012 Annual Meeting of Stockholders the Annual Meeting to be held at Symantecs

offices located at 350 Ellis Street Mountain View California 94043 on Tuesday October 23 2012 at 900 a.m

Pacific Time and any adjournment or postponement thereof We will provide live and re-playable webcast of

the Annual Meeting which will be available on the events section of our investor relations website

at www.syrnantec corn/invest

Internet Availability of Proxy Materials

Under rules adopted by the U.S Securities and Exchange Commission the SEC we are furnishing proxy

materials to our stockholders primarily via the Internet instead of mailing printed copies of those materials to

each stockholder On or about September 2012 we expect to send to our stockholders other than those who

previously requested electronic or paper delivery Notice of Internet Availability of Proxy Materials Notice
of Internet Availability containing instructions on how to access our proxy materials including our proxy
statement and our annual report The Notice of Internet Availability also instructs you on how to access your

proxy card to vote through the Internet or by telephone

This process is designed to expedite stockholders receipt of proxy materials lower the cost of the annual

meeting and help conserve natural resources if you previously elected to receive our proxy materials electroni

cally you will continue to receive these materials via e-mail unless you elect otherwise However if you would

prefer to receive printed proxy materials please follow the instructions included in the Notice of Internet Avail

ability

About the Annual Meeting

What is the purpose of the Annual Meeting

At our Annual Meeting stockholders will act upon the proposals described in this proxy statement In addi

tion following the meeting management will
report on the performance of Symantec and respond to questions

from stockholders

What proposals are scheduled to be voted on at the Annual Meeting

Stockholders will be asked to vote on four proposals The proposals are

The election to the Board of the nine nominees named in this proxy statement

The ratification of the appointment of KPMG LLP KPMG as our independent registered public

accounting firm for the 2013 fiscal year

An advisory vote to approve executive compensation and

To consider and vote upon stockholder proposal if properly presented at the meeting

What is the recommendation of the Board on each of the proposals scheduled to be voted on at the Annual

Meeting

The Board recommends that you vote FOR each of the nominees to the Board Proposal FOR the rat

ification of the appointment of KPMG as our independent registered public accounting firm for the 2013 fiscal

year Proposal FOR the approval of compensation to our named executive officers Proposal and

AGAINST the stockholder proposal Proposal



Could other matters be decided at the Annual Meefing

Our Bylaws require that we receive advance notice of any proposal to be brought before the Annual Meeting

by stockholders of Symantec and we have not received notice of any such proposals If any other matter were to

come before the Annual Meeting the proxy holders appointed by the Board will have the discretion to vote on

those matters for you

Who can vote at the Annual Meeting

Stockholders as of the record date for the Annual Meeting August 24 2012 are entitled to vote at the

Annual Meeting At the close of business on the record date there were outstanding and entitled to vote

701944486 shares of Symantec common stock

Stockholder of Record Shares Registered in Your Name

If on August 24 2012 your shares were registered directly in your name with our transfer agent Computer-

share Investor Services then you are considered the stockholder of record with respect to those shares As

stockholder of record you may vote at the Annual Meeting or vote by proxy Whether or not you plan to attend

the Annual Meeting we urge you to vote over the Internet or by telephone or if you received paper proxy

materials by mail by filling out and returning the proxy card

Beneficial Owner Shares Registered in the Name of Broker or Nominee

If on August 24 2012 your shares were held in an account with brokerage firm bank or other nominee

then you are the beneficial owner of the shares held in street name As beneficial owner you have the right to

direct your nominee on how to vote the shares held in your account and it has enclosed or provided voting

instructions for you to use in directing it on how to vote your shares However the organization that holds your

shares is considered the stockholder of record for purposes
of voting at the Annual Meeting Because you are not

the stockholder of record you may not vote your shares at the Annual Meeting unless you request and obtain

valid proxy from the organization that holds your shares giving you the right to vote the shares at the Annual

Meeting

How do vote

If you are stockholder of record you may

vote in person we will provide ballot to stockholders who attend the Annual Meeting and wish to

vote in person

vote via the Internet or via telephone instructions are shown on your
Notice of Internet Availability or

proxy card or

vote by mail if you received paper proxy card and voting instructions by mail simply complete sign

and date the enclosed proxy card and return it before the Annual Meeting in the envelope provided

Votes submitted via the Internet or by telephone must be received by 1159 p.m Eastern Time on

October 22 2012 Submitting your proxy whether via the Internet by telephone or by mail if you received

paper proxy card will not affect your right to vote at the Annual Meeting should you decide to attend the meet

ing

If you are not the stockholder of record please refer to the voting instructions provided by your nominee to

direct it how to vote your shares

Your vote is important Whether or not you plan to attend the Annual Meeting we urge you to vote by

proxy to ensure that your vote is counted You may still attend the Annual Meeting if you have already voted by

proxy



What is the quorum requirement for the Annual Meeting

majority of our outstanding shares as of the record date must be present at the meeting in order to hold the

meeting and conduct business This presence is called quorum Your shares are counted as present at the meet

ing if you are present and vote in person at the meeting or if you have properly submitted proxy

How are abstentions and broker non-votes treated

Abstentions shares present at the meeting and voted abstain are counted for purposes of determining

whether quorum is present and have no effect on the election of directors For the purpose of determining

whether the stockholders have approved all other matters abstentions have the same effect as an against vote

Broker non-votes occur when shares held by broker for beneficial owner are not voted either because

the broker did not receive voting instructions from the beneficial owner or ii the broker lacked discretionary

authority to vote the shares Broker non-votes are counted for
purposes

of determining whether quorum is pres

ent and have no effect on the matters voted upon Note that if you are beneficial holder and do not provide

specific voting instructions to your broker the broker that holds your shares will not be authorized to vote on the

election of directors nor will the broker be authorized to vote on Proposal nos and Accordingly we encour

age you to provide voting instructions to your broker whether or not you plan to attend the Annual Meeting

What is the vote required for each proposal

The votes required to approve each proposal are as follows

Proposal No Each director must be elected by majority of the votes cast meaning the votes FOR
director must exceed the number of votes AGAINST director

Proposal Nos and Approval of each of Proposals and requires the affirmative FOR vote

of majority of the shares entitled to vote on these proposals at the Annual Meeting and present in
person

or represented by proxy

What if return proxy card but do not make specific choices

All proxies will be voted in accordance with the instructions specified on the proxy card If you received

Notice of Internet Availability please follow the instructions included on the notice on how to access your proxy

card and vote over the Internet or by telephone If you sign physical proxy card and return it without

instructions as to how
your

shares should be voted on particular proposal at the meeting your shares will be

voted in accordance with the recommendations of our Board stated above

If you do not vote and you hold your shares in street name and your broker does not have discretionary

power to vote your shares your shares may constitute broker non-votes as described above and will not be

counted in determining the number of shares necessary for approval of the proposals However shares that con

stitute broker non-votes will be counted for the purpose of establishing quorum for the Annual Meeting Voting

results will be tabulated and certified by the inspector of elections appointed for the meeting

Who is paying for this proxy solicitation

Symantec is paying the costs of the solicitation of proxies We have retained Georgeson Inc to help us

solicit proxies from brokers bank nominees and other institutions for fee of $8500 plus reasonable

out-of-pocket expenses We will also reimburse brokerage firms and other persons representing beneficial own
ers of shares for their expenses in forwarding solicitation materials to such beneficial owners In addition our

directors officers and other employees without additional compensation may solicit proxies personally or in

writing by telephone e-mail or otherwise If you choose to access the proxy materials and/or vote over the

Internet you are responsible for any Internet access charges you may incur



What does it mean if receive more than one proxy card or Notice of Internet Availability

If you receive more than one proxy
card or Notice of Internet Availability your shares are registered in

more than one name or are registered in different accounts To make certain all of your shares are voted please

follow the instructions included on the Notice of Internet Availability on how to access each proxy card and vote

each proxy card over the Internet or by telephone If you received paper proxy materials by mail please com

plete sign and return each
proxy

card to ensure that all of your shares are voted

How can change my vote after submitting my proxy

stockholder who has given proxy may revoke it at any time before it is exercised at the meeting by

delivering to the Corporate Secretary of Symantec by any means including facsimile written notice

stating that the proxy is revoked

signing and delivering proxy bearing later date

voting again over the Internet or by telephone or

attending and voting at the Annual Meeting although attendance at the meeting will not by itself revoke

proxy

Please note however that if your shares are held of record by broker bank or other nominee and you wish

to revoke proxy you must contact that firm to revoke any prior voting instructions

How can get electronic access to the proxy materials

The Notice of Internet Availability will provide you with instructions regarding how to

view our proxy materials for the Annual Meeting over the Internet and

instruct us to send our future proxy materials to you electronically by email

Choosing to receive your future proxy materials by email will save us the cost of printing and mailing

documents to you and will reduce the impact of our annual meetings of stockholders on the environment If you

choose to receive future proxy materials by email you will receive an email next year with instructions contain

ing link to those materials and link to the proxy voting site Your election to receive proxy materials by email

will remain in effect until you terminate it

Where can find the voting results

The preliminary voting results will be announced at the Annual Meeting and posted on our website at

www.symantec.com/invest The final results will be tallied by the inspector of elections and filed with the U.S

Securities and Exchange Commission SEC in current report on Form 8-K within four business days of the

Annual Meeting



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STANDARDS AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE

Symantec is strongly committed to good corporate governance practices These practices provide an

important framework within which our Board and management can pursue our strategic objectives for the benefit

of our stockholders

Corporate Governance Standards

Our Corporate Governance Standards generally specify the distribution of rights and responsibilities
of the

Board management and stockholders and detail the rules and procedures for making decisions on corporate

affairs In general the stockholders elect the Board and vote on certain extraordinary matters the Board is

responsible for the general governance of our company including selection and oversight of key management

and management is responsible for running our day-to-day operations

Our Corporate Governance Standards are available on the Investor Relations section of our website which

is located at www.symantec.comlinvest by clicking on Company Charters under Investor Resources The

Corporate Governance Standards are reviewed at least annually by our Nominating and Governance Committee

and changes are recommended to our Board for approval as appropriate
The fundamental premise of our board-

level corporate governance standards is the independent nature of our Board and its responsibility to our stock

holders

Code of Conduct and Code of Ethics

We have adopted code of conduct that applies to all of our Board members officers and employees We

have also adopted code of ethics for our Chief Executive Officer and senior financial officers including our

principal financial officer and principal accounting officer Our Code of Conduct and Code of Ethics for Chief

Executive Officer and Senior Financial Officers are posted on the Investor Relations section of our website

located at www.symantec.com/invest by clicking on Company Charters under Investor Resources Any

amendments or waivers of our Code of Conduct and Code of Ethics for Chief Executive Officer and Senior

Financial Officers pertaining to member of our Board or one of our executive officers will be disclosed on our

website at the above-referenced address

Majority Vote Standard and Director Resignation Policy

Our Bylaws and Corporate Governance Standards provide for majority voting standard for the election of

directors Under the majority vote standard each nominee must be elected by majority of the votes cast by the

shares present in person or represented by proxy and entitled to vote at any meeting for the election of directors

at which quorum is present majority of the votes cast means the votes cast for nominees election must

exceed the votes cast against that nominees election plurality voting standard will apply instead of the

majority voting standard if stockholder has provided us with notice of nominee for director in accordance

with our Bylaws and ii that nomination has not been withdrawn as of 10 days before we first deliver proxy

materials to stockholders

To effectuate this policy with regard to incumbent directors the Board will not nominate an incumbent direc

tor for re-election unless prior to such nomination the director has agreed to promptly
tender resignation if such

director fails to receive sufficient number of votes for re-election at the stockholder meeting with respect to

which such nomination is made Such resignation will be effective upon the earlier of the Boards acceptance

of such resignation or ii the 90th day after certification of the election results of the meeting provided how

ever that prior to the effectiveness of such resignation the Board may reject such resignation and permit the

director to withdraw such resignation

If an incumbent director fails to receive the required vote for re-election the Nominating and Governance

Committee shall act on an expedited basis to determine whether to recommend acceptance or rejection of the

directors resignation and will submit such recommendation for prompt consideration by the Board The Board

intends to act promptly on the Committees recommendation and will decide to accept or reject such resignation

and publicly disclose its decision within 90 days from the date of certification of the election results The Nomi



nating and Governance Committee and the Board may consider such factors they deem relevant in deciding

whether to accept or reject resignation tendered in accordance with this policy The Board expects director

whose resignation is under consideration to abstain from participating in any decision regarding the resignation

Stock Ownership Guidelines

It is the policy of the Board that our directors and officers interests align with those of our stockholders In

furtherance of this policy our Board adopted stock ownership guidelines to better align our directors interests

with those of our stockholders Details of our directors stock ownership guidelines are disclosed under Director

Compensation on page 20 and details of our executive officers stock ownership guidelines are disclosed under

Stock Ownership Requirements on page 51 The Nominating and Governance Committee oversees the

establishment of the ownership guidelines

Board Leadership Structure

Currently our Board leadership structure consists of our Chairman who is also our CEO and our Lead

Independent Director who was elected by the independent directors The Board believes this structure is in the

best interest of our company since it provides independent Board leadership while providing the benefit of hav

ing our CEO the individual with primary responsibility for managing the Companys day-to-day operations

chair regular Board meetings as our Board discusses key business and strategic issues Our Lead Independent

Director chairs regular executive sessions of the independent members of the Board without management pres

ent We believe this structure provides strong independent oversight of management At this time the Board

believes that the Company is best served by having the same individual as both Chairman of the Board and CEO
but will continue to consider the appropriateness of this structure

Lead Independent Director

The Lead Independent Director of the Board is chosen by the independent directors of the Board and has

the general responsibility to preside at all meetings of the Board when the Chairman is not present and regular

executive sessions of the independent members of the Board without management present The Lead Independent

Director also serves as liaison between the Chairman and independent directors determines the meeting agenda

for the executive sessions of the Board and has the authority to call meetings of the independent directors when

appropriate Daniel Schulman was appointed Lead Independent Director on July 24 2012

Board Independence

It is the policy of the Board and NASDAQs rules require that listed companies have board of directors

with at least majority of independent directors as defined under NASDAQs Marketplace Rules Currently

each member of our Board other than our President and Chief Executive Officer Stephen Bennett is an

independent director and all standing committees of the Board are composed entirely of independent directors in

each case under NASDAQs independence definition The NASDAQ independence definition includes series

of objective tests such as that the director is not an employee of the Company and has not engaged in various

types of business dealings with the Company In addition the Board has made subjective determination as to

each independent director that no relationship exists which in the opinion of the Board would interfere with the

exercise of independent judgment in carrying out the responsibilities of director In making these determi

nations the directors reviewed and discussed information provided by the directors and the Company with regard

to each directors business and other activities as they may relate to Symantec and our management Based on

this review and consistent with our independence criteria the Board has affirmatively determined that the follow

ing directors are independent Michael Brown Frank Dangeard Stephen Gillett Geraldine Lay
bourne David Mahoney Robert Miller Daniel Schulman and Paul Unruh



Change in Director Occupation

Our Corporate Governance Standards include policy that our Board should consider whether change in

any directors professional responsibilities directly or indirectly impacts that persons ability to fulfill his or her

directorship obligations To facilitate the Boards consideration all directors shall submit resignation as mat

ter of course upon retirement change in employer or other significant change in their professional roles and

responsibilities Such resignation may be accepted or rejected in the discretion of the Board

Outside Advisors

The Board and its committees are free to engage independent outside financial legal and other advisors as

they deem necessary to provide advice and counsel on various topics or issues at Symantecs expense and are

provided full access to our officers and employees

Board and Committee Effectiveness

It is important to Symantec that our Board and its committees are performing effectively and in the best

interests of Symantec and its stockholders An evaluation of the Boards and its committees operations and per

formance is conducted annually by the Nominating and Governance Committee Changes are recommended by

the Nominating and Governance Committee for approval by the full Board as appropriate

Boards Role in Risk Oversight

The Board executes its risk management responsibility directly and through its committees The Audit

Committee has primary responsibility for overseeing the Companys enterprise risk management process The

Audit Committee receives updates and discusses individual and overall risk areas during its meetings including

the Companys financial risk assessments risk management policies and major financial risk exposures and the

steps management has taken to monitor and control such exposures The Compensation Committee oversees risks

associated with our compensation policies and practices with respect to both executive compensation and com

pensation generally The Compensation Committee receives reports and discusses whether Symantecs

compensation policies and practices create risks that are reasonably likely to have material adverse effect on the

Company

The Board is kept abreast of its committees risk oversight and other activities via reports of the committee

chairmen to the full Board during the Board meetings In addition the Board participates in regular discussions

with our senior management of many core subjects including strategy operations and finance in which risk

oversight is an inherent element The Board believes that its leadership structure as described above under

Board Leadership Structure facilitates the Boards oversight of risk management because it allows the Board

with leadership from the Lead Independent Director and each independent committee chair to participate

actively in the oversight of managements actions

Board Structure and Meetings

The Board and its committees meet throughout the year on set schedule and also hold special meetings

and act by written consent from time to time The Board held total of eight meetings during fiscal 2012 During

this time no directors attended fewer than 75% of the aggregate of the total number of meetings held by the

Board and the total number of meetings held by all committees of the Board on which such director served

during the period which such director served

Agendas and topics for board and committee meetings are developed through discussions between manage

ment and members of the Board and its committees Information and data that are important to the issues to be

considered are distributed in advance of each meeting Board meetings and background materials focus on key

strategic operational financial governance and compliance matters applicable to us including the following

Reviewing annual and longer-term strategic and business plans

Reviewing key product industry and competitive issues

Reviewing and determining the independence of our directors



Reviewing and determining the qualifications of directors to serve as members of committees including

the financial expertise of members of the Audit Committee

Selecting and approving director nominees

Selecting evaluating and compensating the Chief Executive Officer

Reviewing and discussing succession planning for the senior management team and for lower manage
ment levels to the extent appropriate

Reviewing and approving material investments or divestitures strategic transactions and other significant

transactions that are not in the ordinary course of business

Evaluating the performance of the Board

Overseeing our compliance with legal requirements and ethical standards and

Overseeing our financial results

Executive Sessions

After each regularly scheduled Board meeting the independent members of our Board hold separate

closed meeting referred to as an executive session These executive sessions are used to discuss such topics as

the independent directors deem necessary or appropriate At least annually the independent directors will hold an

executive session to evaluate the Chief Executive Officers performance and compensation Executive sessions

of the Board are led by the Lead Independent Director

Succession Planning

Our Board recognizes the importance of effective executive leadership to Symantecs success and meets to

discuss executive succession planning at least annually
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THE BOARD AND ITS COMMITTEES

There are three primary committees of the Board the Audit Committee Compensation Committee and

Nominating and Governance Committee The Board has delegated various responsibilities and authorities to

these different committees as described below and in the committee charters The Board committees regularly

report on their activities and actions to the full Board Each member of the Audit Committee Compensation

Committee and Nominating and Governance Committee was appointed by the Board Each of the Board commit
tees has written charter approved by the Board and available on our website at www.symantec.com/invest by

clicking on Company Charters under Investor Resources

The following table shows our current directors their independence status their roles on the Board and its

committees and the number of meetings the Board and each of its committees held in fiscal 2012

Nominating
Director independent Board Audit Compensation Governance

Stephen Bennett No

Michael Brown Yes

Frank Dangeard Yes

Stephen Gillett Yes

Geraldine Laybourne Yes

David Mahoney Yes

Robert Miller Yes

Daniel Schulman Yes Lead

Paul Unruh Yes

Number of Meetings in Fiscal 2012

Member Chair

Audit Committee

Our Audit Committee oversees our accounting and fmancial reporting processes and the audits of our finan

cial statements including oversight of our systems of internal controls and disclosure controls and procedures

compliance with legal and regulatory requirements internal audit function and the appointment and compensa
tion of our independent registered public accounting firm oversees our accounting and financial reporting proc

esses and the audits of our financial statements including oversight of our systems of internal controls and

disclosure controls and procedures compliance with legal and regulatory requirements internal audit function

and the appointment and compensation of our independent registered public accounting firm reviews and eval

uates the independence and performance of our independent registered public accounting finn and facilitates

communication among our independent registered public accounting firm our financial and senior management
and our Board

Each member is an independent director as defined by current NASDAQ listing standards for Audit Commit
tee membership Our Board has unanimously determined that all Audit Committee members are financially liter

ate under current NASDAQ listing standards and at least one member has financial sophistication under

NASDAQ listing standards In addition our Board has unanimously determined that Paul Unruh qualifies as

an audit committee financial expert under SEC rules and regulations Mr Unruh is independent as defined by

current NASDAQ listing standards for Audit Committee membership Designation as an audit committee finan

cial expert is an SEC disclosure requirement and does not impose any additional duties obligations or liability

on any person so designated
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Compensation Committee

Our Compensation Committee reviews and recommends to the independent directors of our Board all

compensation arrangements for our Chief Executive Officer reviews and approves
all compensation arrange

ments for our other executive officers reviews the overall strategy for employee compensation including review

of compensation-related
risk management administers our equity incentive plans reviews and recommends to

the Board compensation for non-employee members of the Board and reviews and discusses with management

our companys disclosures under the caption Compensation Discussion Analysis for use in our proxy state

ments and reports filed with the SEC

Each member is an independent director as defined by current NASDAQ listing standards

The Compensation Committee has retained Mercer an outside consulting firm to provide advice and

ongoing recommendations on executive compensation matters The Compensation Committee consulted with

Mercer on certain executive compensation matters during fiscal year 2012 As the Compensation Committee

requested and to assist the Compensation Committee as it made decisions with respect to compensation matters

Mercer provided certain qualitative and quantitative information regarding compensatory practices in the market

for executive talent analyzed existing Symantec executive compensation arrangements and was available to the

Compensation Committee to provide technical and other information it requested in connection with performing

its function throughout the fiscal year 2012 Mercers role during fiscal year 2012 is further discussed in the

Compensation Discussion Analysis section

Nominating and Governance Committee

Our Nominating and Governance Committee identifies considers and nominates candidates for membership

on our Board develops recommends and evaluate corporate governance standards and code of business con

duct and ethics applicable to our Company oversees and reviews our policies and programs concerning to corpo

rate citizenship and social responsibility including charitable giving and political activities and expenditures

implements and oversees process for evaluating our Board and its committees oversees our Boards evaluation

of our Chief Executive Officer makes recommendations regarding the structure and composition of our Board

and Board committees and advises the Board on corporate governance matters

Each member is an independent director as defined by current NASDAQ listing standards
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DIRECTOR NOMINATIONS AND COMMUNICATION WITH DIRECTORS

Criteria for Nomination to the Board

The Nominating and Governance Committee will consider candidates submitted by Symantec stockholders

as well as candidates recommended by directors and management for nomination to the Board The Nominating

and Governance Committee has generally identified nominees based upon suggestions by outside directors

management and executive recruiting firms The goal of the Nominating and Governance Committee is to

assemble Board that offers diverse portfolio of perspectives backgrounds experiences knowledge and skills

derived from high-quality business and professional experience The Nominating and Governance Committee

annually reviews the appropriate skills and characteristics required of directors in the context of the current

composition of the Board our operating requirements and the long-term interests of our stockholders

The key attributes experience and skills we consider important for our directors in light of our current busi

ness and structure are

Industry and Technology Expertise Since we are technology and software provider
education or

experience in relevant technology is useful in understanding our research and development efforts

competing technologies the various products and processes that we develop and the market segments in

which we compete

Global Expertise We are global organization with offices in many countries Directors with global

expertise can provide useful business and cultural perspective regarding many significant aspects of our

business

Leadership Experience Directors who have served in senior leadership positions are important to us

because they bring experience and perspective in analyzing shaping and overseeing the execution of

important operational and policy issues at senior level

Public Company Board Experience Directors who have served on other public company boards can

offer advice and insights with regard to the dynamics and operation of board of directors the relations of

board to the CEO and other management personnel the importance of particular agenda and oversight

matters and oversight of changing mix of strategic operational and compliance-related matters

Mergers and Acquisitions MA Experience Directors who have background in MA transactions

can provide insight into developing and implementing strategies for growing our business through combi

nation with other organizations

Financial Expertise Knowledge of financial markets financing operations and accounting and finan

cial reporting processes
is important because it assists our directors in understanding advising and over

seeing Symantecs capital structure financing and investing activities financial reporting and internal

control of such activities

Diversity In addition to diverse portfolio of professional background experiences knowledge and

skills the composition of the Board should reflect the benefits of diversity as to gender race and ethnic

background

The information provided under Director Qualifications below each of the brief biographical descriptions

set forth under Proposal Election of Directors Nominees for Director below includes the key individual

attributes experience and skills of each of our directors that led to the conclusion that each director should serve

as member of the board of directors at this time

Process for Identifying and Evaluating Nominees

The Nominating and Governance Committee considers candidates by first evaluating the current members

of the Board who intend to continue in service balancing the value of continuity of service with that of obtaining

new perspectives skills and experience If the Nominating and Governance Committee determines that an open

ing exists it identifies the desired skills and experience of new nominee including the need to satisfy rules of

the SEC and NASDAQ
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The Nominating and Governance Committee generally will evaluate each candidate based on the extent to

which the candidate contributes to the
range of talent skill and expertise appropriate for the Board generally as

well as the candidates integrity business acumen diversity availability independence of thought and overall

ability to represent the interests of Symantecs stockholders The Nominating and Governance Committee does

not assign specific weights to particular criteria and no particular criterion is necessarily applicable to all pro
spective nominees Although the Nominating and Governance Committee uses these and other criteria as appro

priate to evaluate potential nominees it has no stated minimum criteria for nominees In addition we do not have

fonnal written policy with regard to the consideration of diversity in identifying candidates however as dis

cussed above diversity is one of the numerous criteria the Nominating and Governance Committee reviews

before recommending candidate We have from time to time engaged for fee search firm to identify and

assist the Nominating and Governance Committee with identifying evaluating and screening Board candidates

for Symantec and may do so in the future

Stockholder Proposals for Nominees

The Nominating and Governance Committee will consider potential nominees properly submitted by stock
holders Stockholders seeking to do so should provide the information set forth in our corporate Bylaws regard
ing director nominations The Nominating and Governance Committee will apply the same criteria for candidates

proposed by stockholders as it does for candidates proposed by management or other directors

To be considered for nomination by the Nominating and Governance Committee at next years annual meet
ing of stockholders submissions by stockholders must be submitted by mail and must be received by the Corpo
rate Secretary no later than May 2013 to ensure adequate time for meaningful consideration by the Nominating
and Governance Committee Each submission must include the following information

the full name and address of the candidate

the number of shares of Symantec common stock beneficially owned by the candidate

certification that the candidate consents to being named in the proxy statement and intends to serve on

the Board if elected and

biographical information including work experience during the past five years other board positions and

educational background such as is provided with respect to nominees in this proxy statement

Information regarding requirements that must be followed by stockholder who wishes to make stock

holder nomination for election to the Board for next years annual meeting is described in this proxy statement

under Additional Information Stockholder Proposals for the 2013 Annual Meeting

Contacting the Board of Directors

Any stockholder who wishes to contact members of our Board may do so by mailing written communica
tions to

Symantec Corporation

350 Ellis Street

Mountain View California 94043

Attn Corporate Secretary

The Corporate Secretary will review all such correspondence and provide regular summaries to the Board or

to individual directors as relevant will retain copies of such correspondence for at least six months and make

copies of such correspondence available to the Board or individual directors upon request Any correspondence

relating to accounting internal controls or auditing matters will be handled in accordance with Symantecs policy

regarding accounting complaints and concerns

Attendance of Board Members at Annual Meetings

We
encourage our directors to attend our annual meetings of stockholders All directors who were elected to

the Board at our 2011 Annual Meeting were in attendance at the meeting
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PROPOSAL NO
ELECTION OF DIRECTORS

Our Board of Directors currently consists of nine directors each of whom is nominated and standing for

election at the Annual Meeting Each director is elected to serve one-year term with all directors subject to

annual election

Unless proxy cards are otherwise marked the persons named as proxies will vote all proxies FOR the elec

tion of each nominee named in this section Proxies submitted to Symantec cannot be voted at the Annual Meet

ing for nominees other than those nominees named in this proxy statement However if any director nominee is

unable or unwilling to serve at the time of the Annual Meeting the persons named as proxies may vote for

substitute nominee designated by the Board Alternatively the Board may reduce the size of the Board Each

nominee has consented to serve as director if elected and the Board does not believe that any nominee will be

unwilling or unable to serve if elected as director Each director will hold office until the next annual meeting

of stockholders and until his or her successor has been duly elected and qualified or until his or her earlier resig

nation or removal

Nominees for Director

At the recommendation of the Nominating and Governance Committee our Board has nominated the follow

ing nominees listed below to serve as directors for the tenn beginning at the Annual Meeting The names of each

nominee for director their
ages as of August 2012 and other information about each nominee is shown below

Director

Nominee Age Principal Occupation Since

Stephen Bennett 58 Chairman of the Board President and Chief Executive 2010

Officer

Michael Brown 53 Chairman of the Board Line Inc 2005

Frank Dangeard
54 Managing Partner Harcourt 2007

Stephen Gillett 36 Executive Vice President and President Best Buy Digital 2012

Global Marketing and Strategy Best Buy Co Inc

Geraldine Layboume 65 Chairman of the Board Alloy Inc 2008

David Mahoney 58 Director 2003

Robert Miller 70 Chief Executive Officer Hawker Beechcroft Inc 1994

Daniel Schulman 54 Group President- Enterprise Growth American Express 2000

Paul Unruh 63 Director 2005

Mr Bennett has served as member of our Board since February 2010 our Chairman of the Board since

October 2011 and as our President and Chief Executive Officer since July 2012 Mr Bennett was President and

Chief Executive Officer of Intuit Inc from January 2000 to January 2008 Prior to Intuit Mr Bennett was at

General Electric Corporation GE for 23 years From December 1999 to January 2000 he was an executive vice

president and member of the board of directors of GE Capital the financial services subsidiary of GE From

July 1999 to November 1999 he was President and Chief Executive Officer of GE Capital e-Business and he

was President and Chief Executive Officer of GE Capital Vendor Financial Services from April 1996 through

June 1999 Mr Bennett also serves as director of Qualcomm Incorporated AMR Corporation and private

company He has previously served as director of variety of companies including Intuit Inc and Sun Micro

systems Inc He holds degree in finance and real estate from the University of Wisconsin

Director Qualifications

Industry and Technology Experience former President and Chief Executive Officer of Intuit Inc and

various current and former Board directorships including Qualcomm Incorporated and Sun Micro

systems Inc

Leadership Experience former President and Chief Executive Officer of Intuit Inc and various execu

tive management positions at General Electric Corporation
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Public Company Board Experience currently serves on the board of Qualcomm Incorporated and AMR
Corporation and served on the boards of Intuit Inc and Sun Microsystems Inc

Financial Experiences former President and Chief Executive Officer of Intuit Inc executive

management positions at GE including GE Capital and GE Capital Vendor Financial Services

Mr Brown has served as member of our Board since July 2005 following the acquisition of Veritas

Mr Brown had served on the Veritas board of directors since 2003 Mr Brown is currently the Chairman of Line

Inc provider of musical instruments amplifiers and audio gear that incorporate digital signal processing

From 1984 until September 2002 Mr Brown held various senior management positions at Quantum Corpo
ration leader in computer storage products and most recently as Chief Executive Officer from 1995 to 2002

and Chairman of the Board from 1998 to 2003 Mr Brown is member of the board of directors of Quantum

Corporation and three private companies He has previously served as director of variety of public companies

including Digital Impact Maxtor Corporation and Nektar Therapeutics Mr Brown holds masters of business

administration from Stanford Business School and bachelors degree from Harvard University

Director Qualifications

Industry and Technology Experience former Chief Executive Officer and Chairman of Quantum

Corporation current member of the boards of Quantum Corporation and Mozes former member of the

boards of Equal Logic and Digital Impact

Leadership Experience Chairman of Line Inc and former Chief Executive Officer and Chairman of

Quantum Corporation

Public Company Board Experience served as Chairman of Quantum Corporation and as board

member of Nektar Therapeutics Maxtor Corporation and Digital Impact

Financial Experiences Chairman of Line former Chief Executive Officer of Quantum former

Chairman of Equal Logic and serves on the Audit Committee of Line and served on the Audit Commit

tee of Digital Impact

Mr Dan geard has served as member of our Board since January 2007 He has been the Managing Partner

of Harcourt an advisory and investment firm since March 2008 Mr Dangeard was Chairman and Chief Execu

tive Officer of Thomson S.A provider of digital video technologies solutions and services from September

2004 to February 2008 From September 2002 to September 2004 he was Deputy CEO of France Telecom

global telecommunications operator From 1997 to 2002 Mr Dangeard was Senior Executive Vice President of

Thomson and Vice Chairman in 2000 Prior to joining Thomson Mr Dangeard was managing director of SG

Warburg Co Ltd from 1989 to 1997 and Chairman of SG Warburg France from 1995 to 1997 Prior to that

Mr Dangeard was lawyer with Sullivan Cromwell LLP in New York and London Mr Dangeard also serves

on the boards of Moser Baer SonaeCom SGPS and Telenor He is also Chairman of Atari Mr Dangeard has

previously served as director of variety of companies including Thomson S.A and ElectricitØ de France S.A

He graduated from the École des Hautes Etudes Commerciales the Paris Institut dEtudes Politiques and from

Harvard Law School

Director Qualifications

Industry and Technology Experience former Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of Thomson S.A

and former Deputy CEO of France Telecom

Global Expertise Member of the boards of Telenor Norway SonaeCom Portugal MoserBaer

India former Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of Thomson S.A France and former Deputy

CEO of France Telecom France

Leadership Experience Managing Partner of Harcourt Chairman of Atari former Chairman and Chief

Executive Officer of Thomson S.A Deputy CEO of France Telecom Chairman of SG Warburg France

and Managing Director of SG Warburg Co Ltd

Public Company Board Experience current member of the boards of Telenor Atari Moser Baer and

SonaeCom SGPS and former member of the board of Electricite de France S.A Thomson S.A
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MA Experience Chairman of SG Warburg France and lawyer at Sullivan Cromwell LLP

Financial Experiences Chairman of the Audit Committee of Atari former Chairman and Chief Execu

tive Officer of Thomson former Deputy CEO of France Telecom member of the Audit Committee of

Moser Baer and former Chairman of the Audit Committee of Electricite de France

Mr Gillett has served as member of our Board since January 2012 He has served as Executive Vice

President and President Best Buy Digital Global Marketing and Strategy of Best Buy Co Inc since March

2012 From May 2008 to March 2012 Mr Gillett was Executive Vice President Digital Ventures and Chief

Information Officer at Starbucks Inc Mr Gillett served as Chief Information Officer of Corbis Corporation

digital media company from May 2006 to May 2008 Prior to his role at Corbis Mr Gillett held senior technol

ogy positions with various technology companies including
Yahoo Inc CNET Networks and Sun Micro

systems Inc He received bachelors degree from University of Oregon and masters degree in business

administration from San Francisco State University

Director Qualifications

Industry and Technology Expertise currently Executive Vice President and President of Best Buy Digi

tal Global Marketing and Strategy of Best Buy Co Inc former Executive Vice President Digital Ven

tures and Chief Information Officer at Starbucks Inc former Chief Information Officer of Corbis

Corporation and additional senior technology positions
with various technology companies including

Yahoo Inc CNET Networks and Sun Microsystems Inc

Global Expertise currently Executive Vice President and President of Best Buy Digital Global

Marketing and Strategy of Best Buy Co Inc and former Executive Vice President Digital Ventures and

Chief Information Officer at Starbucks Inc

Leadership Experience currently Executive Vice President and President of Best Buy Digital Global

Marketing and Strategy of Best Buy Co Inc former Executive Vice President Digital Ventures and

Chief Information Officer at Starbucks Inc former Chief Information Officer of Corbis Corporation and

additional senior technology positions with various technology companies including Yahoo Inc CNET

Networks and Sun Microsystems Inc

Financial Expertise former Executive Vice President Digital Ventures and Chief Information Officer

at Starbucks Inc

Ms Laybourne has served as member of our Board since January 2008 She has been the Chairman of

Alloy Inc private media company since November 2010 She founded Oxygen Media in 1998 and served as

its Chairman and Chief Executive Officer until November 2007 when the network was acquired by NBC Univer

sal Prior to starting Oxygen Media Ms Laybourne spent 16 years at Nickelodeon From 1996 to 1998

Ms Laybourne was President of Disney/ABC Cable Networks where she was responsible for overseeing cable

programming for the Walt Disney Company and ABC Ms Laybourne also serves on the boards of Electronic

Arts Inc and J.C Penney Company Inc She earned bachelor of arts degree in art history from Vassar College

and master of science degree in elementary education from the University of Pennsylvania

Director Qualifications

Leadership Experience Chairman of the Board of Alloy Inc Founder and former Chairman and Chief

Executive Officer of Oxygen Media LLC President of Disney/ABC Cable Networks President of

Nickelodeon and Vice Chairman of MTV Networks

Public Company Board Experiences current board member of Electronic Arts Inc and J.C Penney

Company Inc Former board member of Move Inc

MA Experience Founder former Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of Oxygen Media LLC until

it was acquired by NBC Universal

Mr Mahoney has served as member of our Board since April 2003 Mr Mahoney previously
served as

co-Chief Executive Officer of McKesson HBOC Inc healthcare services company and as Chief Executive

Officer of iMcKes son LLC also healthcare services company from July 1999 to February 2001 Mr Mahoney
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is member of the board of directors of Corcept Therapeutics Incorporated and several private and non-profit

organizations He has previously served as director of variety of companies including Tercica Incorporated

Mr Mahoney has bachelors degree from Princeton University and masters of business administration from

Harvard University

Director Qualifications

Industry and Technology Experience Co-Chief Executive Officer of McKesson HBOC Inc Chief

Executive Officer of iMcKesson LLC various executive roles at McKesson Corporation Principal at

McKinsey Co

Leadership Experience Co-Chief Executive Officer of McKesson HBOC Inc Chief Executive Officer

of iMcKesson LLC various executive roles at McKesson Corporation Principal at McKinsey Co

Public Company Experience currently serves on the board of Corcept Therapeutics and served on the

board of Tercica Incorporated

MA Experience Co-Chief Executive Officer of McKesson HBOC Inc Chief Executive Officer of

iMcKesson LLC various executive roles at McKesson Corporation Principal at McKinsey Co

Financial Experiences former roles at McKesson HBOC serves on the Audit Committee of Corcept

Therapeutics and served on the Audit Committee of Tercica Incorporated

Mr Miller has served as member of our Board since September 1994 Mr Miller has served as Chief

Executive Officer of Hawker Beechcraft an aircraft manufacturing company since February 2012 Mr Miller

served as Executive Chairman of Delphi Corporation an auto parts supplier from January 2007 until November

2009 and as Chairman and Chief Executive Officer from July 2005 until January 2007 From January 2004 to

June 2005 Mr Miller was non-executive Chairman of Federal Mogul Corporation an auto parts supplier From
September 2001 until December 2003 Mr Miller was Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of Bethlehem Steel

Corporation large steel producer Prior to joining Bethlehem Steel Mr Miller served as Chairman and Chief

Executive Officer on an interim basis upon the departure of Federal Moguls top executive in September 2000
Hawker Beechcraft filed voluntary petition for reorganization under the United States Bankruptcy Code

USBC in May 2012 Delphi Corporation and certain of its subsidiaries filed
voluntary petitions for reorganiza

tion under the USBC in October 2005 and Federal Mogul Corporation and Bethlehem Steel Corporation and

certain of their subsidiaries filed voluntary petitions for reorganization under the USBC in October 2001
Mr Miller is currently Chairman of American International Group AIG an insurance and financial services

organization and MidOcean Partners private equity firm
specializing in leveraged buyouts recapitalizations

and growth capital investments in middle-market companies Mr Miller is also member of the board of direc

tors of Hawker Beechcraft and another private company in addition to AIG and MidOcean Partners Mr Miller

has previously served as director of variety of companies including Delphi Corporation Mr Miller earned

degree in economics from Stanford University law degree from Harvard Law School and masters of busi

ness administration majoring in finance from Stanford Business School

Director Qualifications

Global Expertise Chief Executive Officer of Hawker Beechcraft Inc and Chairman of AIG

Leadership Experience Chief Executive Officer of Hawker Beechcraft Inc Chairman of AIG and Mid
Ocean Partners former Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of Delphi Corporation former Chairman

and Chief Executive Officer of Federal Mogul Corporation and former Chairman and Chief Executive

Officer of Bethlehem Steel Corporation

Public Company Board Experience currently serves on the boards of Hawker Beechcraft Inc and AIG
and served on the boards of UAL Corporation and Delphi Corporation

MA Experience Chief Executive Officer of Hawker Beechcraft Inc

Financial Experiences serves on the Audit Committee of AIG and served on the Audit Committees of

UAL Corporation Reynolds American Waste Management and Pope Talbot
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Mr Schulman has served as member of our Board since March 2000 Mi Schulman has served as Group

President Enterprise Group of American Express financial products and travel-related services provider since

August 2010 Mr Schulman was President Prepaid Group of Sprint Nextel Corporation cellular phone service

provider from November 2009 until August 2010 when Sprint Nextel acquired Virgin Mobile USA cellular

phone service provider Mr Schulman served as Chief Executive Officer of Virgin Mobile USA from September

2001 to November 2009 and member of the board of directors of Virgin Mobile USA from October 2001 to

November 2009 From May 2000 until May 2001 Mr Schulman was President and Chief Executive Officer of

priceline.com Incorporated an online travel company after serving as President and Chief Operating Officer

from July 1999 He is member of the board of directors of Flextronics International Ltd and non-profit com

pany He received bachelors degree in economics from Middlebury College and masters degree in business

administration majoring in Finance from New York University

Director Qualifications

Industry and Technology Experience Group President Enterprise Group of American Express and

former Chief Executive Officer and Chief Operating Officer of priceline.com

Leadership Experience Group President Enterprise Group of American Express former President

Prepaid Group of Sprint Nextel Corporation former Chief Executive Officer of Virgin Mobile USA and

former Chief Executive Officer and Chief Operating Officer of priceline.com

Public Company Board Experience currently serves on the board of Flextronics International Ltd and

served on the board of Virgin Mobile USA

MA Experience former Chief Executive Officer of Virgin Mobile USA

Financial Experiences Group President Enterprise Group of American Express former President

Prepaid Group of Sprint Nextel Corporation former Chief Executive Officer of Virgin Mobile USA and

former Chief Executive Officer and Chief Operating Officer of priceline.com

Mr Unruh has served as member of our Board since July 2005 following the acquisition of Veritas

Mr Unruh had served on Veritas board of directors since 2003 Mr Unruh retired as Vice Chairman of Bechtel

Group Inc global engineering and construction services company in June 2003 During his 25-year tenure at

Bechtel Group he held number of management positions including Treasurer Controller and Chief Financial

Officer Mr Unruh also served as President of Bechtel Enterprises the finance development and ownership arm

from 1997 to 2001 He is member of the board of directors of Move Inc Heidrick Struggles International

Inc and three private companies Mr Unruh is certified public accountant

Director Qualifications

Global Expertise former Vice Chairman and various executive positions of Bechtel Group Inc and

former President of Bechtel Enterprises

Leadership Experience former Vice Chairman and various executive positions of Bechtel Group Inc

and former President of Bechtel Enterprises

Public Company Board Experience currently serves on the boards of Move Inc and Heidrick

Struggles International Inc

MA Experience former board member of Veritas Corporation

Financial Experiences certified public accountant former Chief Financial Officer Treasurer and

Controller of Bechtel Group Inc former President of Bechtel Enterprises and serves on the Audit

Committees of Move Inc and Heidrick Struggles International Inc
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Summary of Director Qualifications and Experience

Bennett Brown Dangeard Gillett Laybourne Mahoney Miller Schulman Unruh

Industry and Technology Expertise

Global Expertise

Leadership Experience

Public Company Board Experience

Mergers and Acquisitions MA
Experience

Financial Expertise

Diversity

Director Compensation

The following table provides information for fiscal year 2012 compensation for all of our non-employee
directors

Fiscal Year 2012 Director Compensation

Name

Stephen Bennett6

Michael Brown

William Coleman

Frank Dangeard

Stephen Gillett8

Geraldine Layboume

David Mahoney

Robert Millerl0

Daniel Schulman

Paul Unruh

Non-employee directors receive an annual retainer fee of $50000 plus an additional annual fee of $15000
Compensation Committee and Nominating and Governance Committee or $20000 Audit Conmiittee for

membership on each committee The chair of each committee receives an additional annual fee of $15000

Compensation Committee and Nominating and Governance Committee or $25000 Audit Committee

Includes cash payout of $5.60 for fractional share from stock awards granted to Messrs Bennett Brown
Coleman Dangeard Mahoney Miller Schulman and Unruh and Ms Laybourne

Amounts shown in this column reflect the aggregate full grant date fair value calculated in accordance with

FASB Accounting Standards Codification Topic 718 for awards granted during the fiscal year

Messrs Bennett Brown Coleman Dangeard Mahoney Miller Schulman and Unruh and Ms Laybourne

were each granted 10152 restricted stock units on May 16 2011 with per share fair value of $19.70 and

full grant date fair value of $199994

In fiscal
years 2012 2011 and 2010 there were no stock option grants to any person who served as

non-employee director The outstanding stock options held by each non-employee director at 2012 fiscal

year-end were Mr Brown 175630 Mr Mahoney 106000 Mr Miller 84000 Mr Schulman 36000
and Mr Unruh 180630

Mr Bennett was appointed independent Chairman of the Board effective October 25 2011 As result

Mr Bennett received prorated fee for his role as independent Chairman which he elected to receive in the

form of our common stock Accordingly he was granted 2339 restricted stock units on October 25 2011
with per share value of $18.55 and full grant date fair value of $43388 cash payout of $18.14 for

fractional share is reported in the Fees Earned or Paid in Cash column in the table above

Fees Earned

or Paid in Stock Option
Cash Awards Awards Total

$12 $34 $5
15025 2933817 308406

95006 199994 295000

70006 199994 270000

85006 199994 285000

13093 373639 50456

65006 199994 265000

85006 199994 285000

65007 2499937 315000

95006 199994 295000

110006 199994 310000
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In lieu of cash Messrs Bennett and Miller each received 100% of their annual retainer fee of $50000 in the

form of our common stock Accordingly pursuant to the terms of the 2000 Director Equity Incentive Plan

they were each granted 2538 shares at per share fair value of $19.70 and full grant date fair value of

$49999 The balance of their fees was paid in cash as reported in the Fees Earned or Paid in Cash colunm

in the table above

Mr Gillett was appointed to the Board effective January 30 2012 Accordingly he received prorated com

pensation under the director compensation policies described below

Since Mr Gillett was appointed to the Board after the beginning of the fiscal year he was granted prorated

award of 2193 restricted stock units on January 30 2012 with per share value of $17.03 and full grant

date fair value of $37347 cash payout of $15.85 for fractional share from the stock award is reported in

the Fees Earned or Paid in Cash column in the table above

0Mr Miller received an additional annual fee in the amount of $30000 for his role as Lead Independent

Director

The policy of the Board is that compensation for independent directors should be mix of cash and equity-

based compensation Symantec does not pay employee directors for Board service in addition to their regular

employee compensation Independent directors may not receive consulting advisory or other compensatory fees

from us The Compensation Committee which consists solely of independent directors has the primary

responsibility to review and consider any revisions to directors compensation

Director Stock Ownership Guidelines Since May 2007 the Compensation Committee has instituted the

following stock ownership guidelines to better align our directors interests with those of our stockholders

Directors must maintain minimum holding of 10000 shares of Company stock

New directors will have three years to reach the minimum holding level and

Notwithstanding the foregoing directors may sell enough shares to cover their income tax liability on

vested grants

Annual Fees In accordance with the recommendation of the Compensation Committee the Board

determined the non-employee directors compensation for fiscal year
2012 as follows

$50000 annual cash retainer

$15000 annual fee for committee membership $20000 for Audit Committee membership

$15000 annual fee for chairing committee of the Board $25000 for chairing the Audit Committee

$30000 annual fee for the Lead Independent Director

$100000 annual fee for the independent Chairman

The payment of the annual cash retainer is subject to the terms of the 2000 Director Equity Incentive Plan

as amended which allows directors to choose to receive common stock in lieu of cash for all or portion of the

retainer payable to each director for serving as member We pay the annual retainer fee and any additional

annual fees to each director at the beginning of the fiscal year Directors who join the Company after the begin

ning of the fiscal year receive prorated cash payment in respect of their annual retainer fee and fees These

payments are considered earned when paid Accordingly we do not require them to be repaid in the event

director ceases serving in the capacity for which he or she was compensated

Annual Equity Awards All grants to non-employee directors will be made on discretionary basis under

the 2004 Equity Incentive Plan Pursuant to Non-Employee Director Grant Policy adopted by our Board each

non-employee member of the Board receives an annual award of fully-vested restricted stock having fair mar

ket value on the grant date equal to pre-determined dollar value which was $200000 during fiscal 2012 The

restricted stock awards granted for fiscal year 2012 were granted on May 16 2011 and are fully vested
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Since the beginning of fiscal year 2007 we have not made option grants to our directors Option grants

made to our non-employee directors in fiscal 2006 and prior years were subject to four-year vesting schedule

In the event of merger or consolidation in which Symantec is not the surviving corporation or another similar

change in control transaction involving Symantec all unvested stock option and restricted stock unit awards

made to non-employee directors under the programs described above will accelerate and vest in full

Symantec stock ownership information for each of our directors is shown under the heading Security

Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management on page 32 of this proxy statement

THE BOARD RECOMMENDS VOTE FOR ELECTION OF
EACH OF THE NINE NOMINATED DIRECTORS
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PROPOSAL NO.2

RATIFICATION OF APPOINTMENT OF INEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FiRM

The Audit Conmiittee has appointed KPMG LLP as Symantecs principal independent registered public

accounting firm to perform the audit of Symantecs consolidated financial statements for fiscal year 2013 As

matter of good corporate governance the Audit Committee has decided to submit its selection of independent

audit firm to stockholders for ratification In the event that this appointment of KPMG is not ratified by

majority of the shares of common stock present or represented at the Annual Meeting and entitled to vote on the

matter the Audit Committee will review its future selection of KPMG as Symantecs independent registered

public accounting firm

The Audit Committee first approved KPMG as our independent auditors in September 2002 and KPMG
audited Symantecs financial statements for Symantecs 2012 fiscal year Representatives of KPMG are expected

to be present at the meeting in which case they will be given an opportunity to make statement at the meeting

if they desire to do so and will be available to respond to appropriate questions

Principal Accountant Fees and Services

We regularly review the services and fees from our independent registered public accounting firm KPMG
These services and fees are also reviewed with the Audit Committee annually In accordance with standard poli

cy KPMG periodically rotates the individuals who are responsible for Symantecs audit Symantecs Audit

Committee has determined that the providing of certain non-audit services as described below is compatible

with maintaining the independence of KPMG

In addition to performing the audit of Symantecs consolidated financial statements KPMG provided vari

ous other services during fiscal years 2012 and 2011 Symantecs Audit Committee has determined that KPMG
provisioning of these services which are described below does not impair KPMG independence from

Symantec The aggregate fees billed for fiscal years 2012 and 2011 for each of the following categories of serv

ices are as follows

Fees Billed to Symantec 2012 2011

Audit feesl 9240888 9600201

Audit related fees2 802098 880979

Tax fees3 122734 60787

All other fees4 134818 41628

Total fees $10300538 $10583595

The categories in the above table have the definitions assigned under Item of Schedule 14A promulgated

under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 as amended the Exchange Act and these categories include in

particular the following components

Audit fees include fees for audit services principally related to the year-end examination and the

quarterly reviews of Symantecs consolidated financial statements consultation on matters that arise

during review or audit review of SEC filings audit services performed in connection with Symantecs

acquisitions and statutory audit fees

Audit related fees include fees which are for assurance and related services other than those included

in Audit fees

Tax fees include fees for tax compliance and advice

All other fees include fees for all other non-audit services principally for services in relation to cer

tain information technology audits

An accounting firm other than KPMG performs supplemental internal audit services for Symantec Another

accounting firm provides the majority of Symantecs outside tax services

23



Policy on Audit Committee Pre-Approval of Audit and Permissible Non-Audit Services of Independent

Registered Public Accounting Firm

The Audit Committees policy is to pre-approve all audit and permissible non-audit services provided by the

independent registered public accounting firm These services may include audit services audit-related services

tax services and other services Pre-approval is detailed as to the particular service or category of services and is

generally subject to specific budget The independent registered public accounting firm and management are

required to periodically report to the Audit Committee regarding the extent of services provided by the

independent registered public accounting firm in accordance with this pre-approval and the fees for the services

performed to date The Audit Committee may also pre-approve particular services on case-by-case basis

All of the services relating to the fees described in the table above were approved by the Audit Committee

THE BOARD RECOMMENDS VOTE FOR APPROVAL OF PROPOSAL NO.2

24



PROPOSAL NO.3

ADVISORY VOTE TO APPROVE EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

In accordance with Section 14A of the Exchange Act stockholders are entitled to cast an advisory vote to

approve the compensation of our named executive officers as disclosed in this proxy statement Accordingly

you are being asked to vote on the following resolution at the Annual Meeting

RESOLVED that the compensation paid to Symantec Corporations named executive officers as disclosed

in this proxy statement pursuant to the Securities and Exchange Commissions compensation disclosure rules

including the Compensation Discussion Analysis compensation tables and narrative discussion is hereby

approved

As described more fully in the Compensation Discussion Analysis section of this proxy statement our

named executive officers are compensated in manner consistent with our pay-for-perfonnance philosophy and

corporate governance best practices few highlights which are discussed further in the Compensation Dis

cussion Analysis are

For fiscal 2012 approximately 91% of our former target total direct compensation was at risk and

on average approximately 89% of the target total direct compensation for our other named executive

officers was at risk

In fiscal 2012 we granted performance-based restricted stock units to our named executive officers in lieu

of stock option grants Our performance-based restricted units program uses non-GAAP EPS and relative

total stockholder return as performance metrics two metrics strongly tied to long-term stockholder value

creation As result approximately 68% of the target value of our former CEOs fiscal 2012 equity

compensation was in the form of performance-based restricted stock units and approximately 32% was in

the form of time-based restricted stock units

In April 2012 we enhanced our long-standing stock ownership guidelines for our executive officers

requiring them to hold higher minimum value in shares so that they have an even greater financial stake

in our company thereby further aligning the interests of our executive officers with those of our stock

holders

We do not provide for
gross-ups

of excise tax values under Section 4999 of the Internal Revenue Code

and any potential severance payments are well under times our executive officers total target cash

compensation

We have clawback provisions providing for the return of any excess compensation received by an execu

tive officer if our financial statements are the subject of restatement due to error or misconduct

Our executive officers are prohibited from short-selling Symantec stock or engaging in transactions involv

ing Symantec-based derivative securities

While our cash incentive compensation is designed to reward outstanding performance of our executive

officers payouts under each plan are capped to discourage excessive or inappropriate risk taking by our

executive officers

We believe that our compensation program balances the interests of all of our constituencies our stock

holders our executive officers the remainder of our employee base our business partners and our community

by among other things focusing on achievement of corporate objectives attracting and retaining highly-

qualified executive management and maximizing long-term stockholder value We encourage you to read the

Compensation Discussion Analysis compensation tables and narrative discussion in this proxy statement

The vote to approve the compensation of our named executive officers is advisory and therefore not bind

ing Although the vote is non-binding the Compensation Committee and the Board value your opinion and will

consider the outcome of the vote in establishing compensation philosophy and making future compensation deci

sions

THE BOARD RECOMMENDS VOTE FOR APPROVAL OF PROPOSAL NO.3
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STOCKHOLDER PROPOSAL

Proposal is stockholder proposal If the stockholder proponent or representative who is qualified under

state law is present at the Annual Meeting and submits the proposal for vote then the proposal will be voted

upon The stockholder proposal is included in this proxy statement exactly as submitted by the stockholder

proponent The Boards recommendation on the proposal is presented immediately following the proposal We

will promptly provide you with the name address and to Symantecs knowledge the number of voting securities

held by the proponent of the stockholder proposal upon receiving written or oral request directed to Symantec

Corporation Attn Scott Taylor Corporate Secretary 350 Ellis Street Mountain View California 94043

telephone 650 527-8000

PROPOSAL NO.4

STOCKHOLDER PROPOSAL REGARDING EXECUTIVES TO RETAIN SIGNIFICANT STOCK

Executives To Retain Significant Stock

RESOLVED Shareholders urge that our executive pay committee adopt policy requiring that senior execu

tives retain significant percentage of stock acquired through equity pay programs until reaching normal retire

ment age and to report to shareholders regarding this policy before our next annual shareholder meeting

Shareholders recommend that percentage of at least 25% of net after-tax stock be required This policy

shall apply to future grants and awards of equity pay and should address the permissibility of transactions such as

hedging transactions which are not sales but reduce the risk of loss to executives This proposal asks for

retention policy starting as soon as possible

Requiring senior executives to hold significant portion of stock obtained through executive pay plans

would focus our executives on our companys long-term success Conference Board Task Force report on

executive pay stated that hold-to-retirement requirements give executives an ever-growing incentive to focus on

long-term stock price performance

This proposal should also be evaluated in the context of our Companys overall corporate governance as

reported in 2012

The Corporate Library an independent investment research firm rated our company High Concern in

Executive Pay $8 million for our CEO Enrique Salem

This $8 million included $3 million in stock options and restricted stock units both of which vest simply

over time Equity pay should include performance-vesting features Moreover market-priced stock options may

provide rewards due to rising market alone regardless of an executives performance Furthermore initial

amounts were determined using only one-year performance periods which is the antithesis of long-term equity

pay

In addition The Corporate Library said the equity ownership guideline of 150000 shares for our CEO was

too low considering he received 430000 stock options and 120000 restricted stock units in 2011 Finally our

CEO would potentially be entitled to $10 million for change in control

Robert Steve Miller was designated flagged problem director by The Corporate Library due to his

tenure on the Federal-Mogul board as it filed for bankruptcy In spite of this Mr Miller was given extra

responsibilities and assigned to our audit and nomination committees Our nomination committee also had two

directors who received our highest negative votes Michael Brown and Frank Dangeard Mr Dangeard was also

on our audit committee
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Plus our company has taken no action in response to our 51% vote in 2011 for 10% of shareholders to be

able to call special meeting Please encourage our board to respond positively to this proposal for improved

governance

Executives To Retain Significant Stock -Yes on

Our Board of Directors Statement in Opposition to Proposal

We believe that it is important that our compensation policies and practices firmly align the interests of our

executive officers with those of our stockholders and encourage focus on the Companys long-term success and

performance We further believe that our existing compensation policies and practices which include stock

ownership requirements ii anti-hedging and recoupment policies and iii an appropriate mix of long-term

equity incentive compensation strike the appropriate balance therefore this proposal is unnecessary and not in

the best interests of our stockholders

Our executive officers are subject to stock ownership requirements that appropriately align their interests

with the long-term interests of our stockholders We believe that in order to better align the interests of our

executive officers with those of our stockholders our executive officers should have financial stake in our

company Since October 2005 we have implemented stock ownership requirements for our executive officers

We review the requirements on an annual basis and after further review of our peer groups stock ownership

requirements in April 2012 we increased the minimum levels our executive officers are expected to hold so that

our chief executive officer is now required to hold five times 5x his base salary in Symantec shares Mr Salem

our former CEO had requirement to hold $4000000 worth of Symantec shares and he held an amount that

exceeded this requirement Our chief financial officer is required to hold three times 3x his base salary and the

rest of the executive officers are required to hold two times 2x their base salaries in Symantec shares Stock

options and unvested restricted stock awards or performance-based restricted stock units do not count towards

satisfying our stock ownership guidelines In addition an executive officer who has not satisfied the applicable

stock ownership level must retain at least 50% of all net after-tax equity grants until the required stock owner

ship level has been met We found that our revised stock ownership and retention requirements are consistent

with our peers requirements

Our existing anti-hedging and recoupment policies further align the interests of our executives with the

long-term interests of stockholders Our Insider Trading Policy prohibits our employees including our execu

tive officers from short-selling our stock engaging in transactions involving Symantec-based derivative secu

rities or otherwise hedging the economic risk of their Symantec shares This policy ensures that executives bear

the full economic risk and reward of share ownership with respect to their holdings Moreover our compensation

plans contain recoupment or claw-back provisions in which the executive may be required to pay back profit

realized in the event of certain restatements of our financial statements In addition we require all executive offi

cers to pre-clear any transactions involving Symantec shares with our Compliance Officer prior to entering into

the transaction

Our executive compensation program encourages focus on long-term performance significant

percentage over 50% of our executive officers compensation consists of long-term equity incentive awards

which consists entirely of performance-based restricted stock units PRUs and restricted stock units RSUs
PRUs are contingent upon the Company achieving certain performance metrics over three-year period and are

only awarded if the performance metrics are met RSUs vest over four years In addition under our Long Term

Incentive Plan LTIP our executive officers are eligible to receive performance-based compensation after three

years and contingent upon the Companys performance under the LTIP performance metrics We believe our

long-term performance compensation enhances the alignment to long-term financial performance of the Com

pany

requirement for our executive officers to retain our stock until at least reaching normal retirement age

could diminish our ability to attract and retain executive talent that is critical to our long-term success In

order to attract and retain executive executives in competitive market we must have competitive compensa
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tion program including our stock retention program We have reviewed various data sources on the stock owner
ship requirements utilized by our peers and similar to our current program under the executive compensation
programs currently offered by our peers executive officers are able to realize value from their equity awards

during the course of their employment after they have reached their companys holding requirement threshold If

we imposed post-employment holding requirement it could diminish our ability to attract and retain executives

or require us to compensate executives in other less effective ways to remain competitive We believe it is in the

best interests of our stockholders that we retain the flexibility to establish executive compensation programs that

are competitive in attracting and retaining executives who can best drive long-term stockholder value

Symantec has strong and effective corporate structure practice Symantec is committed to strong
corporate governance practices and this is reflected by its strong corporate governance ratings For example
Institutional Shareholder Services ISS has given us Low Concern rating in each of the four areas it eval
uates our governance practices Audit Board Structure Compensation and Shareholder Rights In addition ISS
recommended FOR vote in favor of our Board members who were up for reelection at our 2011 Annual

Meeting of Stockholders with members receiving between 99.1% to 82.5% of the votes cast

For these reasons the Board believes that our existing stock ownership requirements and other compensa
tion programs and policies effectively facilitate significant stock ownership by our executive officers and that

establishing holding requirement until reaching normal retirement
age would not be in the best interests of our

stockholders

THE BOARD RECOMMENDS VOTE AGAINST PROPOSAL NO.4
PROXIES RECEIVED BY THE COMPANY WILL BE VOTED AGAINST

THIS PROPOSAL UNLESS OTHERWISE INSTRUCTED
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EQUITY COMPENSATION PLAN INFORMATION

The following table gives information about Symantecs common stock that may be issued upon the

exercise of options warrants and rights under all of Symantecs existing equity compensation plans as of

March 30 2012

Equity Compensation Plan Information

Number of Securities

Number of Securities Remaining Available for

to be Issued Upon Weighted-Average Future Issuance Under

Exercise of Exercise Price of Equity Compensation Plans

Outstanding Options Outstanding Options Excluding Securities

Plan Category Warrants and Rights Warrants and Rights Reflected in Column

Equity compensation plans approved by

security holders 53174178 $12.66 1058259221

Equity compensation plans not approved

by security holders

Total 53174178 $12.66 105825922

Represents 76536 shares remaining available for future issuance under Symantecs 2000 Director Equity

Incentive Plan 209599 shares remaining available for future issuance under Symantecs 2002 Executive

Officers Stock Purchase Plan 25926967 shares remaining available for future issuance under Symantecs

2008 Employee Stock Purchase Plan and 79612820 shares remaining available for future issuance as stock

options restricted stock units or other awards permitted under Symantecs 2004 Equity Incentive Plan

Excludes outstanding options covering 4559986 shares as of March 30 2012 that were assumed as part of

the Veritas acquisition Also excludes 1066836 outstanding options as of March 30 2012 that were

assumed as part of other acquisitions The weighted average
exercise price of these outstanding options was

$19.16 as of March 30 2012 In connection with these acquisitions Symantec has only assumed outstanding

options and rights but not the plans themselves and therefore no further options or rights may be granted

under these acquired-company plans
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OUR EXECUTIVE OFFICERS

The names of our current executive officers their
ages as of August 2012 and their positions are shown

below

Name Age Position

Stephen Bennett 58 President and Chief Executive Officer

James Beer 51 Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

Janice Chaffin 58 Group President Consumer Business Unit

Andrew Del Matto 53 Senior Vice President and Chief Accounting Officer

Francis deSouza 41 Group President Enterprise Products Services

Rebecca Ranninger 53 Executive Vice President and Chief Human Resources Officer

William Robbins 44 Executive Vice President Worldwide Sales Services

Scott Taylor 48 Executive Vice President General Counsel and Secretary

Rowan Trollope 39 Group President SMB and Symantec.cloud

The Board chooses executive officers who then serve at the Boards discretion In connection with the resig

nation of Enrique Salem our former President and Chief Executive Officer effective July 24 2012 the Board

appointed Stephen Bennett to serve as our President and Chief Executive Officer in addition to his current

role as Chairman of the Board effective July 25 2012 There is no family relationship between any of the direc

tors or executive officers and any other director or executive officer of Symantec

For information regarding Mr Bennett please refer to Proposal Election of Directors Nominees for

Director above

Mr Beer has served as our Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer since February 28 2006

Prior to joining us Mr Beer was Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of AMR Corporation and

American Airlines Inc AMR principal subsidiary from January 2004 to February 2006 From September

1991 to January 2004 Mr Beer held other various management positions in finance and operations at American

Airlines including leading the airlines European and Asia Pacific businesses Mr Beer holds bachelor of sci

ence in aeronautical engineering from Imperial College London University and master of business admin

istration degree from Harvard Business School

Ms Chaffin has served as our Group President Consumer Business Unit since April 2007 From May 2006

to April 2007 Ms Chaffin served as our Executive Vice President and Chief Marketing Officer Ms Chaffin

joined Symantec in May 2003 as Senior Vice President and Chief Marketing Officer Prior to Symantec

Ms Chaffin spent 21 years at Hewlett-Packard Company global provider of products technologies solutions

and services where she held variety of marketing and business management positions and most recently served

as Vice President of Enterprise Marketing and Solutions Ms Chaffin is member of the board of directors of

International Game Technology IGT She graduated summa cum laude from the University of California San

Diego with bachelors degree and earned masters degree in business administration from the University of

California Los Angeles where she was Henry Ford Scholar

Mr Del Matto has served as our Senior Vice President and Chief Accounting Officer since April 2012

Mr Del Matto had served as our Corporate Treasurer and Vice President of Finance Business Operations since

September 2009 During his seven year tenure with our company Mr Del Matto had also led our Corporate

Financial Planning and Analysis and Revenue and Cost Accounting teams Prior to joining Symantec in January

2005 Mr Del Matto had been employed by Inktomi Corporation and SGI Corporation in variety of finance and

accounting leadership roles Mr Del Matto started his career with KPMG LLP as certified public accountant

Mr Del Matto holds bachelor of science degree from Ohio University and masters in business administration

degree from Golden Gate University

Mr deSouza has served as our Group President Enterprise Products and Services since May 2011 From

January 2009 to May 2011 Mr deSouza served as our Senior Vice President Enterprise Security Group and

from January 2008 to December 2008 as Vice President Enterprise Messaging Management Group Prior to

joining Symantec from February 2001 to February 2006 he was Founder and Chief Executive Officer of
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IMlogic Inc an enterprise instant messaging software company that was acquired by Symantec From February

1998 to February 2001 Mr deSouza served as Product Unit Manager Real-time Collaboration Group at Micro

soft Corporation and from March 1997 to February 1998 he was co-founder and Chief Executive Officer of

Flash Communications an enterprise instant messaging company that was acquired by Microsoft Mr deSouza is

Chairman of the board of directors of MedHelp International Mr deSouza received bachelors degree in elec

trical engineering and computer science with minor in economics and masters degree from Massachusetts

Institute of Technology

Ms Ranninger has served as our Executive Vice President and Chief Human Resources Officer since May

2006 Senior Vice President Human Resources from January 2000 to May 2006 and Vice President Human

Resources from September 1997 to January 2000 Prior to 1997 Ms Ranninger served for over six years in the

Legal Department Prior to joining us in 1991 Ms Ranninger was business litigator with the law firm of Heller

Ehrman White McAuliffe She also currently serves as President of Symantec Foundation Ms Ranninger

graduated magna cum laude from Harvard University with bachelors degree earned bachelors degree in

jurisprudence from Oxford University and juris doctorate from Stanford University

Mr Robbins has served as our Executive Vice President of Worldwide Sales and Services since January

2009 From July 2007 to January 2009 Mr Robbins served as Senior Vice President of Sales for the Americas

geography From April 2006 to July 2007 he served as Senior Vice President of the Asia Pacific and Japan

geography Mr Robbins joined Symantec through our acquisition of Veritas in July 2005 and served as our Vice

President of Eastern United States and National Telecommunications Sales until April 2006 At Veritas he

served as Vice President of Eastern United States and National Telecommunications Sales from April 2005 to

July 2005 Vice President Northern Europe Sales from January 2005 to April 2005 and from April 2002 to

December 2004 he served as Vice President Worldwide Sales Operations Mr Robbins holds bachelors

degrees in business administration and economics both with top honors from Southern Methodist University in

Dallas He is also Certified Management Accountant

Mr Taylor has served as our Executive Vice President General Counsel and Secretary since August 2008

From February 2007 to August 2008 Mr Taylor served as our Vice President Legal Prior to joining Symantec

Mr Taylor held various legal and administrative positions at Phoenix Technologies Ltd provider of core sys

tems software from January 2002 to February 2007 including most recently as Chief Administrative Officer

Senior Vice President and General Counsel From May 2000 to September 2001 he was Vice President and

General Counsel at Narus Inc venture-backed private company that designs IP network management soft

ware Mr Taylor is member of the board of directors of VirnetX He holds juris doctorate from George

Washington University and bachelors degree from Stanford University

Mr Trollope has served as our Group President SMB and Symantec.cloud since May 2011 From April

2010 to May 2011 Mr Trollope served as our Senior Vice President Symantec Hosted Services Mr Trollope

previously served as Senior Vice President Consumer RD and Marketing from April 2007 to April 2010 and

as Vice President Consumer Product Engineering from December 2005 to April 2007 From January 2004 to

December 2005 Mr Trollope led Symantecs high-end enterprise security business as Vice President of Security

Management Solutions Mr Trollope has held various management positions and functional leadership roles at

Symantec since September 1991 working as both an individual contributor and leader in nearly every
function in

the RD organization Mr Trollope is also co-founder and member of the board of directors of Software

Shelf Inc
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SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT

The following table sets forth information as of July 24 2012 with respect to the beneficial ownership of

Symantec common stock by each stockholder known by Symantec to be the beneficial owner of more than 5%

of Symantec common stock ii each member of the Board iii the named executive officers of Symantec

included in the Summary Compensation Table appearing in on page 54 of this proxy statement and iv all cur

rent executive officers and directors of Symantec as group

Beneficial ownership is determined under the rules of the SEC and generally includes voting or investment

power with respect to securities Unless otherwise indicated below the persons and entities named in the table

have sole voting and sole investment power with respect to all shares beneficially owned subject to community

property laws where applicable Percentage ownership is based on 703533087 shares of Symantec common
stock outstanding as of July 24 2012 excluding shares held in treasury Shares of common stock subject to

stock options and restricted stock units vesting on or before September 21 2012 within 60 days of July 24

2012 are deemed to be outstanding and beneficially owned for purposes of computing the percentage ownership

of such person but are not treated as outstanding for purposes of computing the percentage ownership of others

Amount and

Nature of

Beneficial Percent

Name and Address of Beneficial Owner Ownership of Class

5% Beneficial Owner

Dodge Cox1 59569866 8.4%

BlackRock Inc.2 55607777 7.9%

Directors and Executive Officers

Enrique Salem3 2220000

James Beer4 813188

William Robbins5 469086

Michael Brown6 282133

Rowan Trollope7 225456

Robert Miller8 224928

Paul Unruh9 223968

Francis deSouza10 210268

David Mahoney1 205502

Daniel Schulman12 125649

Geraldine Laybourne 65439

Frank E.Dangeard 57000

Stephen Bennett 48619

Stephen Gillett 17876

All current Symantec executive officers and directors as group 17
persons13 4951257

Mr Salem resigned from the Company effective July 24 2012

Less than 1%

Based solely on Schedule 13G filing made by Dodge Cox on February 10 2012 reporting sole voting

and dispositive power over the shares This stockholders address is 555 California Street 40th Floor San

Francisco CA 94104

Based solely on Schedule 13G filing made by BlackRock Inc on February 10 2012 reporting sole voting

and dispositive power over the shares This stockholders address is 40 East 52nd Street New York NY
10022

Includes 1723876 shares subject to options that will be exercisable as of September 21 2012

Includes 696250 shares subject to options that will be exercisable as of September 21 2012

Includes 390571 shares subject to options that will be exercisable as of September 21 2012
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Includes 175630 shares subject to options that are exercisable as of September 21 2012

Includes 204500 shares subject to options that will be exercisable as of September 21 2012

Includes 84000 shares subject to options that are exercisable as of September 21 2012

Includes 180630 shares subject to options that are exercisable as of September 21 2012

10 Includes 178187 shares subject to options that will be exercisable as of September 21 2012

11 Includes 106000 shares subject to options that are exercisable as of September 21 2012

12 Includes 36000 shares subject to options that are exercisable as of September 21 2012

13 Includes 3782815 shares subject to options that will be exercisable and restricted stock units vesting as of

September 21 2012

Symantec has adopted policy that executive officers and members of the Board hold an equity stake in the

Company The policy requires each executive officer to hold minimum number of shares of Symantec common

stock Newly appointed executive officers are not required to immediately establish their position but are

expected to make regular progress to achieve it The Nominating and Governance Committee reviews the mini

mum number of shares held by the executive officers and directors from time to time The purpose
of the policy

is to more directly align the interests of our executive officers and directors with our stockholders See Stock

Ownership Requirements under the Compensation Discussion Analysis for description of the stock owner

ship requirements applicable to our executive officers

Section 16a Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance

Section 16 of the Exchange Act requires Symantecs directors executive officers and any persons
who own

more than 10% of Symantecs common stock to file initial reports
of ownership and reports

of changes in

ownership with the SEC Such persons are required by SEC regulation to furnish Symantec with copies of all

Section 16a forms that they file

Based solely on its review of the copies of such forms furnished to Symantec and written representations

from the directors and executive officers Symantec believes that all Section 16a filing requirements were met

in fiscal year 2012
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EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION AND RELATED INFORMATION

COMPENSATION DISCUSSION ANALYSIS CDA
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

This compensation discussion and analysis describes the material elements of Symantecs executive compen
sation program for fiscal 2012 For fiscal 2012 our named executive officers NEOs were

Enrique Salem former President and Chief Executive Officer resignation effective in fiscal 2013 as of

July 24 2012

James Beer Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

Rowan Trollope Group President SMB and Symantec.cloud

Francis deSouza Group President Enterprise Products Services

William Robbins Executive Vice President Worldwide Sales and Services

Our Compensation Philosophy and Practices

The overriding principle driving our compensation programs is our belief that it benefits all of our con
stituencies for managements compensation to be tied to our current and long-term performance The following
factors demonstrate our continued and heightened commitment to pay-for-performance and to corporate gover
nance best practices

In fiscal year 2012 we extended our commitment to pay for performance by reducing the fixed compo
nent targets of executive compensation and increasing the variable performance dependent targets

thereby furthering the goal of aligning executive pay with shareholder returns This change will have the

ultimate result of paying our executives at the 50th percentile unless we perform well More specifically

we shifted our target pay positioning for our executive officers from the 65th percentile to the 50th percen
tile of the relevant market composite for salary and are gradually shifting the percentile of the relevant

market composite we target for other performance-based pay elements from the 50th percentile to the 65th

percentile such change to occur over time and subject to performance for any given executive officer

We now grant performance-based restricted stock units to our named executive officers in lieu of stock

option grants as regular part of our annual executive compensation program and in light of our stock

holders support of our pay-for-performance philosophy we now apply this practice to larger group of

our employees all vice presidents and above As of the end of fiscal year 2012 this movement to

performance-based restricted stock units would have resulted in payout of 61 of the target number of

shares for those grants that were made in the previous year reflecting our commitment to linking long-

term compensation to relative total shareholder return

In April 2012 we enhanced our long-standing stock ownership guidelines for our executive officers

requiring them to hold higher minimum value in shares so that they have an even greater financial stake

in our company thereby further aligning the interests of our executive officers with those of our stock

holders

We do not provide for gross-ups of excise tax values under Section 4999 of the Internal Revenue Code
and

any potential severance payments are well under times our executive officers total target cash

compensation

We have clawback provisions providing for the return of any excess compensation received by an execu

tive officer if our financial statements are the subject of restatement due to error or misconduct

Our executive officers are prohibited from short-selling Symantec stock or engaging in transactions involv

ing Symantec-based derivative securities

While our cash incentive compensation is designed to reward outstanding performance of our executive

officers payouts under each plan are capped to discourage excessive or inappropriate risk taking by our

executive officers
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Summary of Compensation Matters During Fiscal 2012

In fiscal 2012 Symantec delivered 9% year-over-year growth in revenue 6% adjusting for currency and

4% growth in deferred revenue 5% adjusting
for currency driven by strength in our backup business

Software-as-a Service SaaS data loss prevention
and managed security services offerings Our cash flow from

operations remained strong increasing 6% compared to fiscal 2011 while our cash and cash equivalents

including short-term investments grew 9% year-over-year
Our non-GAAP net income increased by 7% and

non-GAAP diluted earnings per
share grew 13% year

over year We spent $893 million to repurchase
51 million

shares reducing our common stock outstanding by 6.5% or net 4.3% after adjusting
for the issuance of

employee stock compensation

As detailed below during fiscal 2012 we used three core financial metrics which we believe are strongly

correlated to enterprise value for companies in our sector to measure company performance
under our executive

compensation programs revenue non-GAAP earnings per
share EPS and cash flow from operations

In addi

tion business unit performance metrics were factor in the bonus awards of our named executive officers other

than our former CEO under our Executive Annual Incentive Plan Our revenue and non-GAAP EPS in fiscal

2012 were slightly below our targeted
level of performance for the full fiscal year Our cash flow from operations

was higher than our targeted level of performance for fiscal 2012 Our named executive officers were compen

sated in manner consistent with our core payfor-perforrnaflce
compensation philosophy

as well as with the

terms of our compensation arrangements The following are highlights
of our named executive officers compen

sation for fiscal 2012 and are discussed in greater
detail in this CDA

While the value of our NEOs actual total direct compensation increased from fiscal 2011 to fiscal 2012

this increase was due to specific
events within the company that needed to be addressed two of the NEOs

were promoted which resulted in the need to align their compensation with their substantially greater

responsibilities
The other two NEOs were subject to external recruiting efforts from competitors

and

were given retention grants in order to ensure their continued service in highly competitive
environment

Nevertheless significantly higher proportion
of their pay was at- risk compared to fiscal 2011 The

primary
reason for these increases is the larger equity awards given to the NEOs other than our former

CEO including the promotional
and retention-based grants other than for our former CEO which are

described starting on page 47 The larger equity
awards were consistent with our philosophy to pay for

performance by emphasizing more variable compensation target and lower base pay target for all execu

tives

For fiscal 2012 approximately
91% of our former CEOs target total direct compensation was at risk and

on average approximately
89% of the target

total direct compensation for our other NEOs was at risk

For fiscal 2012 our named executive officers received 92.5% to 101.5% of their target payout
under our

FY12 Executive Annual Incentive Plans based on our revenue and non-GAAP EPS performance and

other than our former CEO the named executive officers business unit performance

For fiscal 2012 our operating cash flow target was $1876 million and we achieved 101% of our target

resulting in payout of 105% of target
bonus amounts under our FY12 Long Term Incentive Plan

LTIP for our named executive officers who remain our employees as of the end of fiscal 2014

In fiscal 2012 we ceased granting
stock options as regular part

of the annual equity compensation

component of the compensation program
for our named executive officers We granted performance-

based restricted stock units and restricted stock units to our named executive officers Our performance-

based restricted units program uses non-GAAP EPS and relative total stockholder return as performance

metrics two metrics strongly tied to long-term
stockholder value creation As result approximately

68%

of the target value of our former CEOs fiscal 2012 equity compensation was in the form of performance-

based restricted stock units and approximately
32% was in the form of time-based restricted stock units

To enhance the alignment between our executive officers and stockholder interests in April 2012 we

increased the level of our stock ownership guidelines
for our executive officers and implemented hold

ing requirement
of 50% of all net after-tax equity grants

until the target
level of stock ownership is met
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Our New CEO Compensation for Fiscal 2013

After the resignation of Enrique Salem our former President and Chief Executive Officer effective July 24

2012 the Board appointed our Chairman Stephen Bennett as our current President and Chief Executive

Officer effective July 25 2012 In August 2012 the Board approved Mr Bennetts compensation for his role as

our President and Chief Executive Officer for the remainder of fiscal 2013 In determining the appropriate com

pensation for Mr Bennett for fiscal 2013 the Board considered among other things the fact that Mr Bennetts

role as President and Chief Executive Officer commenced in the second quarter of fiscal 2013 and his compensa

tion should be based on performance during his time as President and Chief Executive Officer since his ability to

influence the Companys performance in fiscal 2013 was materially limited by starting his employment at the

end of July 2012 Since Mr Bennetts performance metrics are the same as our other NEOs and reflect perform

ance for the full fiscal 2013 the Board decided to adjust his Conditional PRU Award as defined in his PRU

Agreement to assure that he would have an appropriate level of incentive for the two fiscal years after his first

shortened fiscal year of service The Board does not intend to provide such adjustments going forward for

Mr Bennett For further details on Mr Bennetts compensation for his role as our current President and Chief

Executive Officer please see the description under our Summary Compensation Table for Fiscal 2012 on page

54

CEO Pay Realized and Realizable Gains

The Compensation Committee believes that our executive officers total compensation should be reflective

of our companys performance Accordingly large portion of our executive officers compensation is com

posed of equity awards which derive their value based on our stock price performance As result there can be

no assurance that these grant date fair values will ever be realized by the named executive officers This risk is

illustrated in the chart below which depicts our former CEOs total compensation values calculated based on

grant date fair value equity values and realized and realizable equity gains

CEO Total Compensation

Grant Date Fair Value vs Realized and Realizable Gains
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Total Compensation based on Grant Date Fair Value

Total Compensation based on Realized and Realizable Gains

The total compensation values based on realized and realizable gains are the sum of base salary actual

Annual Incentive Plan payout earned for the fiscal year actual cash-LTIP payout earned for the fiscal year

but not paid for years after the fiscal year-end and realized and realizable gains from the equity awards

granted for the fiscal year The realized and realizable gains of equity awards generally represent the

intrinsic values of those equity awards based upon the closing price for share of our common stock of

$14.50 on July 2012 or in the case of vested restricted stock unit awards the closing price on the vest

ing date

The performance-based restricted stock unit value is based on the estimated number of shares that may be

earned based on probable outcome of performance conditions in light of our actual fiscal 2012 EPS per

formance and relative TSR performance as of the end of fiscal 2012 and the closing price of our common

stock as of July 2012

FY10 FY11 FY12
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Say on Pay Advisory Vote on Executive Compensation

We held our first annual advisory vote on executive compensation commonly known as Say-on-Pay last

year at our 2011 Annual Meeting of Stockholders and expect
to hold these votes on an annual basis in the future

including at the 2012 Annual meeting of Stockholders While these votes are not binding we believe that it is

important for our stockholders to have an opportunity to express
their views regarding our executive compensa

tion programs and philosophy as disclosed in our proxy statement on an annual basis The Compensation

Committee values our stockholders opinions and the Board and the Compensation Committee will consider the

outcome of the vote when making future compensation decisions for our named executive officers In addition to

an annual advisory vote on executive compensation we are committed to ongoing engagement with our stock

holders on executive compensation matters generally These engagement efforts take place through telephone

calls in-person meetings and correspondence with our stockholders

Approximately 98% of the votes cast on the advisory vote on executive compensation voted in favor of our

executive compensation as disclosed in our 2011 Proxy Statement The Board and the Compensation Committee

considered this favorable outcome and believed it conveyed our stockholders support of our existing executive

compensation philosophy and programs including the changes implemented at the beginning of fiscal 2012 As

result the Compensation Committee has not made any material changes in the structure of our executive

compensation programs or pay for performance philosophy However in light of the stockholders support of our

pay-for-performance philosophy we applied this principle to larger group of our employees by replacing time-

based stock option grants with performance-based restricted stock units for all vice presidents and above

Roles of Our Compensation Committee Executive Officers and Consultants in our Compensation Process

The Compensation Committee which is comprised entirely of independent directors is responsible for

overseeing all of Symantecs compensation programs including the review and recommendation to the

independent directors of our Board all compensation arrangements for our CEO and the review and approval of

the compensation payable to our other named executive officers

The independent directors of the Board evaluate the CEOs performance and the Compensation Committee

then reviews and recommends to the independent members of the Board all compensation arrangements for the

CEO After discussion the independent members of the Board determine the CEOs compensation The

Compensation Committee also discusses the performance of the other named executive officers with the CEO

reviews the compensation recommendations that the CEO submits for the other named executive officers makes

any appropriate adjustments and approves their compensation While our CEO provides input and makes com

pensation recommendations with respect to executive officers other than himself our CEO does not make

recommendations with respect to his own compensation or participate in the deliberations regarding the setting of

his own compensation by the Board or the Compensation Committee

Since fiscal 2004 the Compensation Committee has engaged Mercer an outside consulting firm to provide

advice and ongoing recommendations on executive compensation matters The Compensation Committee over

sees Mercer engagement Mercer representatives meet informally with the Compensation Committee Chair and

the Chief Human Resources Officer and also with the Compensation Committee during its regular meetings

including in executive sessions from time to time without any members of management present

As part of its engagement in fiscal 2012 Mercer provided among other services advice and recom

mendations on the amount and form of executive and director compensation For example Mercer evaluated and

advised the Compensation Committee on the peer group that the Compensation Committee uses to develop

market composite for purposes of establishing named executive officer pay levels as described below the

competitiveness of our director and executive compensation programs the design of awards under and proposed

performance metrics and ranges
for incentive plans compensation-related

trends and developments in our

industry and the broader talent market and regulatory developments relating to compensation practices

We paid Mercer approximately $187000 for executive compensation services in fiscal 2012 In addition

with the Compensation Committees approval management engaged and Symantec paid Mercer and its affiliates

for other services including approximately $1 .898 million for other unrelated consulting and business services

We also reimbursed Mercer and its affiliates for reasonable travel and business expenses The Compensation
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Committee did not review or approve the other services provided by Mercer and its affiliates to Symantec as

those services were approved by management in the normal course of business Based in part on policies and

procedures implemented by Mercer to ensure the objectivity of its executive compensation consultants the

Compensation Committee believes that the
consulting advice it receives from Mercer is objective and not influ

enced by Mercer or its affiliates other relationships with Symantec

The Compensation Committee establishes our compensation philosophy approves our compensation programs
and solicits input and advice from several of our executive officers and Mercer As mentioned above our CEO
provides the Board of Directors and the Compensation Committee with feedback on the performance of our execu
tive officers and makes compensation recommendations other than with respect to his own compensation that go
to the Compensation Committee for their approval Our CEO CFO Chief Human Resources Officer and General

Counsel
regularly attend the Compensation Committees meetings to provide their perspectives on competition in

the industry the needs of the business information regarding Symantecs performance and other advice specific to

their areas of expertise In addition at the Compensation Committees direction Mercer works with our Chief

Human Resources Officer and other members of management to obtain information
necessary

for Mercer to make
their own recommendations as to various matters as well as to evaluate managements recommendations

FACTORS WE CONSIDER IN DETERMINING OUR COMPENSATION PROGRAMS

We apply number of compensation policies and analytic tools in implementing our compensation princi

ples These policies and tools guide the Compensation Committee in determining the mix and value of the com
pensation components for our named executive officers consistent with our compensation philosophy They
include

Focus on Pay-for-Performance Our executive compensation program is designed to reward executives

for results As described below the pay mix for our named executive officers emphasizes variable pay in the

form of short- and long-term cash and equity awards Short-term results are measured by annual revenue
non-GAAP earnings per share and for all our named executive officers other than our CEO business unit per
formance Long-term results are measured by share price appreciation and achievement of operating cash flow

targets With the introduction of performance-based restricted stock units as regular part of our annual execu
tive compensation program beginning with fiscal 2012 our long-term results are also measured by the achieve

ment of the total stockholder return ranking for our company as compared to the SP 500

Total Rewards Approach Elements of the total rewards offered to our executive officers include base

salary short- and long-term incentives including equity awards health benefits deferred compensation pro
gram and consistent focus on individual professional growth and opportunities for new challenges

Appropriate Market Positioning Our general pay positioning strategy is to target the levels of base

salary annual short-term cash incentive structure and long-term incentive opportunities and benefits for our

named executive officers with reference to the relevant market data for each position The Compensation Com
mittee may set the actual components for an individual named executive officer above or below the positioning
benchmark based on factors such as experience performance achieved specific skills or competencies the

desired pay mix e.g emphasizing short- or long-term results and our budget

For fiscal 2012 to further strengthen our pay for performance focus we shifted our target pay positioning
for our executive officers from the 65th percentile to the 50th percentile of the relevant market composite for sal

ary and are gradually shifting the percentile of the relevant market composite we target for the variable pay
elements from the 50th percentile to the 65th percentile subject to individual performance Prior to this change
our policy was to target the base salary for our executive officers at the 65th percentile of the relevant market data

and variable compensation target for our executive officers at the 50th percentile of the relevant market data We
believe that these adjustments align our executive officers compensation more directly with the Companys per
formance See also Appropriate Pay Mix below for more information about this change

Competitive Market Assessments Market competitiveness is one factor that the Compensation Commit
tee considers each year in determining named executive officers overall compensation package including pay
mix The Compensation Committee relies on various data sources to evaluate the market competitiveness of each

pay element including publicly-disclosed data from
peer group of companies see discussion below and pub
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lished survey
data from broader set of information technology companies that the Compensation Committee

based on the advice of Mercer believes represent Symantecs competition in the broader talent market The peer

groups proxy statements provide detailed pay data for the top five positions Survey data provides compensation

information from broader group of information technology companies with positions matched based on

specific job scope
and responsibilities The Compensation Committee considers data from these sources as

framework for making compensation decisions for each named executive officers position

The information technology industry in which we compete is characterized by rapid rates of change and

intense competition from small and large companies and the companies within this industry have significant

cross-over in leadership talent needs As such we compete for executive talent with leading software and serv

ices companies as well as in the broad information technology industry We particularly face intense competition

with companies located in the geographic areas where Symantec operates regardless of specific industry focus or

company size Further because we believe that stockholders measure our performance against wide array
of

technology peers the Compensation Committee uses peer group that consists of broader group of high tech

nology companies in different market segments that are of comparable size to us The Compensation Commit

tee uses this peer group as well as other relevant market data to evaluate named executive officer pay levels as

described above

The Compensation Committee reviews our peer group on an annual basis and the group may be adjusted

from time to time based on comparison of market capitalization industry and peer group performance We did

not make any changes to our peer group for fiscal 2012 The following companies were included in our peer

group analysis

Symantec Peer Group

Adobe Systems Analog Devices Apple

CA Cisco Systems Electronic Arts

EMC Harris Corp Juniper Networks

Lexmark International NetApp Oracle

Qualcomm Seagate Technology Yahoo

Appropriate Pay Mix Consistent with our pay-for-performance philosophy our executive officers com

pensation is structured with large portion of their total direct compensation paid based on the performance of

our company and the applicable business unit In determining the mix of the various reward elements and the

value of each component the Compensation Committee takes into account the executives role the competitive

ness of the market for executive talent company performance business unit performance internal pay equity and

historical compensation In making its determinations with regard to compensation the Compensation Commit

tee reviews the various compensation elements for the CEO and our other named executive officers including

base salary target annual bonus target and accrued award payments under the Long Term Incentive Plans and

the value of vested and unvested equity awards actually or potentially issued
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rhe percentage of an executhe officer coinpcnsation opportunity that is atiisk or variahlc instead of

fixed is based primarily on the officers level of intlucnc at Symantec Executive of ficers gencrally have

greater portion of their pay at risk though shoit and long term incentrsc piograms than the rest of our employee

population
because of their relatively greater iesponsibility and ability to influence ow companys performance

Typically materially highet proporuon of the CLus compensation opportunity is at risk relduvc to ouf other

named executise officers because the nature of his role and abi ity to influence our companys performancc For

fiscal 2012 the proportion of the compensation opportunity was relatively dir sanir for ill NF0s due to the

retention based and promotional restricted stock units granted to the ii imed executis officers other than out

former As illustiated by the following charts for fiscal 2012 appi oxirnately 91 of our formc 0s

target
total direct compensation sum of base salary target annual incentive taiget cash long tetni incentive anti

grant date fair value of equity awards was aurisk and on ave rage approximately 89/ of our other named exeeu

tive officers compensvtion opportunity was at ri sk compensation

FY12 CEo larget Direct Compensation

Mix

1orm and Mix of ong lerm Equity Incentive Compensation Beginning in fiscal 2012 we replaced

stock options with perfom mance based restricted stock units so that the long term equity incentive compensation

component of our regular annual executive compensation proyiam consists entirely of pert or mnane fused

restricted stock units and restricted stock units for our named executive officers With this change we allocated

significantly laiger portion of the value of the CFOs target total longterm equity incentive award ni the form of

performancehased restricted stock units than in tune vested iestrieted stock units as depicted in the chart ahovc

We believe these allocations strike the appropitate balance for long term equity incentives awards between per

forinanee arid retention

For fiscal 2012 our former received approximately 68E of the value of his target long ter ni equity

incentive awerd eompen ation in the form of pert oirnance based restricted stock units and l2 in restricted

stock units Other nimed exec utivc officers received on aveiagc ipproxirnately 31 ot the tai get value of their

equity compensation in the form of performance hised restricted tock units and 69A ui estrrcted stock units

reflecting the impact of retention based and pioniotional
restricted stock unit prints made to our named executive

officers other than our foimei CEO in fiscal 201 hich iused slirh in tire mix of fiscal 12 long term

incentives toward restricted stock unit grdnts and away from perlorinanee based restricted stock unit grants

EAeludmg thu rutentiun baed iricl proinotonai mc ntricted stock urit grar on rvragd S60 of our oilier named

executise of ficeis fiscal 012 target equity incentive award value was based on performance based restricted

stock units arid 44e based on stricted stock units

These percentage and other peicentage based equity awards values discussed below arc based on the

grant date fair value of the shares of common stock undc rly iou the iestricted stock units arid the grant date fair

value of the performance base ci restricted toek units at the ar level award sue Ihe awards made to our

named executive officer other than the Cli are deteimnmed by the Conrpensatrori ornmittee afler resrewing

recommendations made by the CEO In determining its rcconinienidatiomns to the independent directors of the

he values of IRk grants were alcul ited usiri the grant date fair alue
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Board in the case of CEO compensation and in making compensation decisions with respect to other named

executive officers the Compensation Committee may consider factors such as the individuals responsibilities

the individuals performance business unit performance industry experience current pay mix total compensa
tion competitiveness long-term equity and cash awards previously granted to the individual retention consid

erations and other factors

Compensation Risk Assessment The Compensation Committee in consultation with Mercer has con

ducted its annual risk analysis on Symantecs compensation policies and practices and does not believe that our

compensation programs encourage excessive or inappropriate risk taking by our executives or are reasonably

likely to have material adverse effect on Symantec

COMPENSATION COMPONENTS

The major components of compensation for our named executive officers continue to be base salary

ii short-term cash incentive awards iii long-term cash incentive awards and iv equity incentive awards

Reflecting the global nature of our business one of our named executive officers Rowan Trollope was on

international assignment in the United Kingdom prior to becoming Symantec executive officer in fiscal 2012

Mr Trollope received additional benefits for certain relocation and transportation expenses and tax payments in

connection with his international assignment in the United Kingdom While these amounts reflect significant

component of his total compensation reported in the Summary Compensation Table on page 54 they were not

factor in the Compensation Committees decisions with respect to his compensation for fiscal 2012 because they

did not relate to Mr Trollopes service as an executive officer and were designed to minimize any financial

detriment to him from his prior assignment

Base Salary

The Compensation Committee reviews the named executive officers salaries annually as part of its overall

competitive market assessment and may make adjustments based on positioning relative to market individual

role performance contribution levels and our overall salary budget The independent members of the Board of

Directors review the CEOs salary in executive session i.e without any executives present and changes are

considered in light of market pay assessments and the Boards annual CEO performance evaluation in each case

without the participation of our CEO In setting the base salaries for the other named executive officers the

Compensation Committee also considers the recommendations of the CEO based upon his annual review of their

performance Although the Compensation Committee takes into account the factors and information described

above during its review and determination of the base salary for each executive officer it does not assign

specific weight to any element and does not measure individual performance against an objective standard in the

evaluation of an executive officers base salary Instead these reviews and determinations are based on the

Compensation Committees subjective judgment taking into account all available information including the

competitive market assessment
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Based on competitive market assessment conducted by Mercer and taking into account the factors

described above the Compensation Committee increased our former CEOs base salary for fiscal 2012 by 6.7%

to $800000 an amount the Compensation Committee recognized was well below the median levels of our peer

group
and the broader survey peer group data Prior to this and the increase from fiscal 2010 to fiscal 2011 our

former CEO base salary had remained the same since he was promoted to Chief Operating Officer in January

2008 and was not adjusted when he was promoted to Chief Executive Officer in April 2009 due to an overall

company salary freeze driven by the challenging economic environment Base salaries for James Beer and Wil

liam Robbins remained the same from the previous year as base salary increases for fiscal 2011 were deemed

effective in continuing to achieve the Compensation Committees goals for this component of executive

compensation Rowan Trollope and Francis deSouza were each appointed to the position of Group President at

the beginning of fiscal 2012 In connection with these promotions each officer received an 8.7% increase in

recognition of his increased responsibilities The following table presents each named executive officers base

salary for fiscal 2012 as compared to fiscal 2011

FY12 FY11 Change

Enrique Salem 800000 750000 6.71

James Beer 700000 700000 0.0

Rowan Trollope 435000 400000 8.72

Francis deSouza 435000 400000 8.72

William Robbins 475000 475000 0.0

Notwithstanding the 6.7% increase received by Mr Salem his base salary remained below the median of the

peer group

The increases received by Messrs Trollope and deSouza were given in recognition of their increased

responsibilities with their promotions

Executive Annual Incentive Plan

The Executive Annual Incentive Plans for our executive officers are adopted pursuant to the Senior Execu

tive Incentive Plan SEIP most recently approved by our stockholders in 2008 The Executive Annual

Incentive Plans adopted under the SEIP are annual cash incentive plans that are designed to reward named execu

tive officers and other participants for generating strong financial results for our Company in the short term To

support collaboration within the senior leadership group all named executive officers earn incentive compensa
tion based on performance against pre-determined corporate goals described below The Compensation Commit

tee may choose to measure the named executive officers achievement against specific business unit or individual

performance targets as well

Executive Annual Incentive Plan Target Opportunities Under the Executive Annual Incentive Plans for

given fiscal year each named executive officer has target award opportunity expressed as percentage of

base salary with the ability to earn above or below that target based on actual performance Target award oppor

tunities for our Executive Annual Incentive Plans are established by the Compensation Committee using peer

group and survey data and taking into account other factors such as internal equity and competitive pressures

affecting retention The following table presents each named executive officers target bonus opportunity on an

actual and percentage of base salary basis for fiscal 2012 as compared to fiscal 2011

FY12 Target FY11 Target FY12 FY11 Change
of Base of Base

Enrique Salem 150 150 1200000 1125000 6.7

James Beer 95 90 665000 630000 5.6

Rowan Trollope 80 70 348000 280000 24.3

Francis deSouza 80 70 348000 280000 24.3

William Robbins 95 80 451250 380000 18.8
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The award opportunities for fiscal 2012 were determined based on the relevant market data desired market

positions the desired mix between cash and equity-based incentive pay internal pay equity goals and the role of

the named executive officer Taking into account these factors for fiscal 2012 the Compensation Committee

increased the target award opportunity as percentage of base salary for all of the NEOs with the exception of

Enrique Salem The bonus target increases for the NEOs other than Enrique Salem were made based on our

new compensation market positioning strategy to target market 65th percentile level for short- and long-term

incentives and total direct compensation The promotion to Group President also contributed to the increase in

the applicable target award percentage under the Executive Annual Incentive Plan for Messrs Trollope and

deSouza and increased the absolute value of such award opportunities due to the related increase in the base

salary from which each target award value was derived

At the time award opportunities are established there is no assurance that the amount of the target awards

will be realized As explained below each named executive officer must achieve threshold performance for each

metric established in the named executive officers executive annual incentive plan to receive any payment for

such metric The payout under the Executive Annual Incentive Plan is also capped at different levels based on the

performance metric

Executive Annual Incentive Plan Performance Measures and Target Setting Executive Annual

Incentive Plan performance targets are established at or about the beginning of each plan year Our management

develops proposed goals with reference to variety of factors including our historical performance internal

budgets market and peer performance and external expectations for our performance The Compensation

Committee reviews adjusts as necessary
and approves the goals the range of performance and the weighting of

the goals Following the end of each fiscal year the Compensation Committee reviews our actual performance

against the performance measures established in the fiscal years Executive Annual Incentive Plans after making

any appropriate adjustments to such measures for the effects of corporate events that were not anticipated in

establishing the performance measures determines the extent of achievement and approves the payment of

annual cash incentives if warranted In determining the achievement of performance metrics for fiscal 2012 the

Compensation Committee made adjustments to both the revenue and non-GAAP EPS targets for several acquis

itions made during the year The determination of awards for the revenue and non-GAAP EPS metrics is for

mulaic while the business unit performance metric is determined based on qualitative evaluation of business

unit performance against pre-established operational and strategic goals with input from our CEO In determin

ing achievement of business unit metrics the Compensation Committee gives weight to the input of our CEO
but final decisions about the compensation of our named executive officers are made solely by the Compensation

Committee Although the Compensation Conmiittee has the discretion to adjust awards as appropriate it did not

exercise such discretion for fiscal 2012

The performance measures and weightings under the Fiscal Year 2012 Executive Annual Incentive Plans for

the named executive officers were as follows

Revenue Non-GAAP EPS Business Unit Performance

CEO 50% 50% N/A

Other NEOs 50% 20% 30%

We used the above performance metrics because

Over time revenue and non-GAAP EPS measures have strongly correlated with stockholder value crea

tion for Symantec

Improvement in revenue and non-GAAP EPS measures aligns with our overall growth strategy

The revenue and non-GAAP EPS measures are transparent to investors and are included in our quarterly

earnings releases

The revenue and non-GAAP EPS measures balance growth and profitability

The performance goals used for the business unit performance component align with our operational and

strategic objectives and

The business unit performance metric provides balance in incentive compensation as it focuses on both

operational excellence and strategic goals
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Revenue and non-GAAP EPS performance targets are established based on range
of inputs including

external market economic conditions growth outlooks for our product portfolio the competitive environment

our internal budgets and market expectations

If results for goal are below threshold the funding level for that goal is 0% and participants will be paid

no incentive compensation for that goal threshold performance level would result in payout of 70% of the

target opportunity in the case of revenue and 75% of the target opportunity in the case of non-GAAP EPS At

target the goal is funded at the 100% level Below target the payout for revenue achievement decreases by 5%

of the target opportunity for each additional below target revenue achievement levels assuming the threshold

is met Above target the payout for revenue achievement increases by 10% of the target opportunity for each

additional 1% above target achievement levels up to 10% over target for maximum payout of 200% of the tar

get opportunity For non-GAAP EPS the payout increases or decreases by 5% of the target opportunity for each

additional 1% above or below target achievement levels assuming the threshold is met subject to cap of

150% payout upon 110% achievement The following table summarizes the foregoing discussion of threshold

target and maximum performance levels and the relative payout at each level under the Fiscal Year 2012 Execu

tive Annual Incentive Plans

Revenue Revenue EPS EPS
Performance Payout Performance Payout

as%of as%of as%of as%of

Target Target Target Target

Threshold 94 70 95 75

Target 100 100 100 100

Maximum 110 200 110 150

The performance objectives used to determine the achievement of business unit performance are estab

lished at or shortly after the beginning of the fiscal year The objectives chosen are measurable goals and pub
lished internally within our company Each business unit sets its objectives in the following four areas and results

are monitored quarterly

Business Results

Customer and Partner Loyalty

Operational Excellence

Employee Engagement

The CEO evaluates the performance level of each named executive officers business unit against the

pre-determined goals following the end of fiscal year then makes recommendation to the Compensation

Committee The Compensation Committee then reviews the CEOs compensation recommendations for the other

named executive officers makes any appropriate adjustments and
approves

their compensation The potential

payout for this metric
ranges

from 0% to 150% based on achievement of these preset goals

Achievement of Fiscal Year 2012 Performance Metrics

For fiscal 2012 our revenue target was $6669 million and our non-GAAP EPS target was $1.54 per share

The Compensation Committee determined that we achieved 99% of the revenue metric resulting in 95% pay

out for that portion of the plan based on the plan target amount and 99% of the non-GAAP EPS metric resulting

in payout for that portion of the plan at 90% of the plan target amount For purposes of calculating achievement

of these metrics foreign exchange movements were held constant at plan rates pursuant to the terms of the

plans
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For fiscal 2012 the business unit performance payout level for Messrs Beer deSouza and Robbins was

above target based on strong performances by their respective business units Mr Trollopes SMB and .cloud

business unit performed below its set target as reflected in his business unit payout Our NEOs fiscal 2012

annual incentive payout level by performance metric total payout as percentage of target opportunity and total

payout amounts are provided in the table below

Business Total

Unit Payout
Revenue EPS Performance as of Payout

Payout Payout Payout Target Amount

Enrique Salem 95 90 N/A 92.5 1110000

James Beer 95 90 115 100 665000

Rowan Trollope 95 90 90 92.5 321900

Francis deSouza 95 90 115 100 348000

William Robbins 95 90 120 101.5 458019

Long Term Incentive Plan LTIP

In April 2011 the Compensation Committee approved our LTIP for fiscal 2012 Under the terms of this

plan named executive officers are eligible to receive performance-based compensation based upon the level of

attainment of target operating cash flow for the fiscal
year ending March 30 2012 The Compensation Commit

tee believes that the LTIP provides an ongoing retention and performance incentive by balancing the restricted

stock unit and performance-based restricted stock unit vesting periods four years and three years respectively

with component that will enhance the alignment to long-term financial performance The FY12 LTIP was

adopted pursuant to the SEIP most recently approved by our stockholders in 2008

FY12 LTIP Target Opportunities The target bonus amounts under the FY12 LTIP were $2000000 for

Enrique Salem and $425000 for each of the other named executive officers

FY12 LTIP Performance Measure and Target Setting Under the FY12 LTIP the long-term incentive

metric is measured at the end of the
one-year performance period i.e the end of fiscal 2012 and subject to the

meeting of the performance target and satisfaction of continuing service requirements will be paid following the

last day of the second fiscal
year following the end of the performance period i.e the end of fiscal 2014 We

believe the combination of this performance metric and time-based vesting requirement provides appropriate

performance incentives and promotes the long-term retention of our executive officers By basing the FY12 LTIP

payout on operating cash flow the plan focuses on specific measurable corporate goal that is aligned with

generating stockholder value and provides performance-based compensation based upon the actual achievement

of the goal We believe that the exclusive metric of operating cash flow as opposed to revenue or non-GAAP

EPS appropriately focuses our executives on tangible growth and cost reduction opportunities Operating cash

flow is also direct measure of business success and balances the annual plan measures that are not subject to

some of the timing issues associated with the accounting rules relating to revenue and non-GAAP EPS which

can lead to fluctuations in results that are not necessarily directly tied to our business success

participant is eligible for 25% of the target FY12 LTIP award if at least 85% of budgeted operating cash

flow target is achieved with respect to the performance period and for up to 200% of the target FY12 LTIP award

if at least 120% of budgeted operating cash flow is attained with respect to the performance period The follow

ing table presents the threshold target and maximum performance levels of the operating cash flow target as

percentage of the performance target and the relative payout at each level as percentage of the applicable target

opportunity under the FY12 LTIP

Cash Flow from Operations

Performance Payout
as%of as%of

Target Target

Threshold 85 25

Target 100 100

Maximum 120 200
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At the time award opportunities are established there is no assurance that the amount of the target awards

will be realized participant must be an employee of the Company on the payment date to receive the payment

creating strong incentive for our executive officers to serve through the payment date for these awards Subject

to certain limited exceptions participant who terminates his or her employment with the Company before the

payment date will not be eligible to receive the payment or any prorated portion thereof

For fiscal 2012 our operating cash flow target was $1876 million and we achieved 101% of our target

resulting in payout of 105% of target bonus amounts under our FY12 LTIP for our named executive officers

who remain our employees as of the end of fiscal 2014 This level of achievement against target compares to our

reported increase in cash flow from operations of approximately 6% from fiscal 2011 to fiscal 2012

Our NEOs fiscal 2012 LTIP target awards actual awards and total payout as percentage of target oppor

tunity are provided in the table below

LTIP Payout
LTIP Actual as of

Target$ Award Target

Enrique Salem 2000000 2100000 105

James Beer 425000 446250 105

Rowan Trollope 425000 446250 105

Francis deSouza 425000 446250 105

William Robbins 425000 446250 105

Equity Incentive Awards

The primary purpose of our equity incentive awards is to align the interests of our named executive officers

with those of our stockholders by rewarding the named executive officers for creating stockholder value over the

long-term By compensating our executives with equity incentive awards our executives hold stake in the

Companys financial future The gains realized in the long term depend on our executives ability to drive the

financial performance of the Company Equity incentive awards are also useful vehicle for attracting and

retaining executive talent in our competitive talent market

Our 2004 Equity Incentive Plan provides for the award of stock options stock appreciation rights restricted

stock and restricted stock units including performance-based restricted stock units We granted named execu

tive officers restricted stock units and performance-based restricted stock units in fiscal 2012 as described in

more detail below including under the Summary Compensation Table and Grants of Plan-Based Awards table on

pages 54 and 57 respectively We also offer all employees the opportunity to participate in the 2008 Employee

Stock Purchase Plan which allows for the purchase of our stock at discount to the fair market value through

payroll deductions This plan is designed to comply with Section 423 of the Code During fiscal 2012 four of the

named executive officers participated in the 2008 Employee Stock Purchase Plan

We seek to provide equity incentive awards that are competitive with companies in our peer group and the

other information technology companies that the Compensation Committee includes in its competitive market

assessment As such we establish target equity incentive award grant guideline levels for the named executive

officers based on competitive market assessments When making annual equity awards to named executive offi

cers we consider corporate results during the past year the role responsibility and performance of the individual

named executive officer the competitive market assessment described above prior equity awards and the level

of vested and unvested equity awards then held by each named executive officer In making equity awards we

also generally take into consideration gains recognizable by the executive from equity awards made in prior

years Mercer provides the Compensation Committee with market data on these matters as well as providing to

the Compensation Committee summaries of the prior grants made to the individual named executive officers

As discussed below the Compensation Committee believes that for fiscal 2012 mix of time-based

restricted stock units and performance-based restricted stock units is the appropriate long-term equity incentive

for named executive officers and stock options are no longer granted to the named executive officers as regular

part of our annual executive compensation program For fiscal 2012 approximately 68% of our former CEOs

equity incentive award value was granted in the form of performance-based restricted stock units and approx

imately 32% in the form of restricted stock units On average 31% of the named executive officers other than
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our former CEO equity incentive award value was granted in the form of performance-based restricted stock

units and approximately 69% in the form of restricted stock units While this mix of equity incentive awards

reflected our philosophy to allocate significantly larger portion of the value of the CEOs target total long-term

equity incentive award in the form of performance-based restricted stock units than time-vested restricted stock

units and an equal target value of performance-based restricted stock units and restricted stock units to our other

named executive officers the mix of fiscal 2012 long-term incentives for our named executive officers other than

our former CEO was impacted by the retention-based and promotional
restricted stock unit grants as described

below

Restricted Stock Units RSUs RSUs represent the right to receive one share of Symantec common stock

for each RSU vested upon the settlement date which is the date on which certain conditions such as continued

employment with us for pre-determined length of time are satisfied The Compensation Committee believes

that RSUs align the interests of the named executive officers with the interests of the stockholders because the

value of these awards appreciates if the trading price of our common stock appreciates and these awards also

have retention value even during periods in which our trading price does not appreciate which supports con

tinuity in the senior management team

Shares of our stock are issued to RSU holders as the awards vest The vesting schedule for RSUs granted to

our named executive officers in fiscal 2012 provided
that each award vests in four equal annual installments with

the exception of the promotional and retention-based grants described below These promotional
and retention-

based RSU grants vest 25% after approximately two years
from the grant date 25% after approximately years

and 50% after approximately four years from the grant date reflecting the Compensation Committees desire to

retain these executive officers in competitive environment Details of RSUs granted to the named executive

officers in fiscal 2012 are disclosed in the Summary Compensation Table and Grants of Plan-Based Awards table

on pages 54 and 57 respectively

Performance-based Restricted Stock Units PRUs For fiscal 2012 the Compensation Committee

granted PRUs for the first time in furtherance of our pay for performance philosophy Implementation of this

program represents an important step taken by our Compensation Committee to continue to drive

pay-for-performance culture with component directly linked to our total stockholder return over two and three-

year periods Unlike our restricted stock unit awards the shares underlying the PRUs awarded for fiscal 2012 are

eligible to be earned only if we achieve the same non-GAAP EPS metric for the Executive Annual Incentive Plan

for fiscal 2012 Depending on our achievement of this metric 0% to 133% of the target shares will be eligible to

be earned at the end of fiscal 2013 and 2014 based on and subject to further adjustment as result of the ach

ievement of the total stockholder return TSR ranking for our company as compared to the SP 500 If any

target shares become eligible the eligible shares to be earned in fiscal 2013 and 2014 as result of achieve

ment of the non-GAAP EPS metric for fiscal 2012 then 50% to 150% of one-half of the eligible shares may be

earned based on the achievement of the TSR goal for the two years ended March 29 2013 and 50% to 150% of

one-half of the eligible shares plus any eligible shares not earned on March 29 2013 if less than 100% of the

TSR goal is achieved for the two-year period then ended may be earned based on the achievement of the TSR

goal for the three years ended March 28 2014 Subject to certain exceptions including acceleration of vesting

upon change in control of the company under the terms of the Symantec Executive Retention Plan as

amended the award shall vest if at all only at the end of the third year of the performance period i.e fiscal

2014 and the named executive officer must be employed by us at the end of such period in order to vest in the

award

The following table summarizes the number of shares underlying long-term equity incentive awards granted

to our NEOs in fiscal 2012

Target PRUs RSUs Retention RSUs Promotion RSUs

Enrique Salem 150000 90000

James Beer 40000 40000 500001

Rowan Trollope
40000 40000 1000002

Francis deSouza 40000 40000 1000002

William Robbins 40000 40000 500001
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Messrs Beer and Robbins were subject to external recruiting efforts from competitors and were given

retention grants in order to ensure their continued service in highly competitive environment

Messrs Trollope and deSouza were promoted which resulted in the standard practice of granting promotion-

based equity

The following table summarizes the value of each award and the total target equity incentive awards for

each named executive officer as of the Grant Date values of restricted stock unit awards are based upon the clos

ing price for share of our common stock of $18.50 on June 10 2011 Values of performance-based restricted

stock unit awards are based on the grant date fair value of $24.10 for Messrs Salem Beer and Robbins and

$22.98 for Messrs Trollope and deSouza

Total Target Equity

Incentive Awards

Value at Grant

______________ ______________ ______________ _____________ Date$

5280000

2629000

3509200

3509200

2629000

The following table summarizes the value of each award and the total target equity incentive awards for

each named executive officer as of July 2012 values of equity awards are based upon the closing price for

share of our common stock of $14.50 on July 2012 or in the case of vested awards the closing price on the

vesting date

PRU Value as of RSU Value as of

07/02/12 $1 07/02/12 $2
Enrique Salem 1329143 1381275

James Beer 354438 613900

Rowan Trollope 354438 613900

Francis deSouza 354438 613900

William Robbins 354438 613900

Total Target Equity

Incentive Awards

Value as of

07/02/12$

2710418

1693338

2418338

2418338

1693338

The performance-based restricted stock unit value is based on the estimated number of shares that may be

earned based on probable outcome of performance conditions in light of number of expected shares to be

released for fiscal 2012 year-end performance based on our actual fiscal 2012 EPS performance and relative

TSR performance as of the end of fiscal 2012

One-quarter of these awards vested as of March 2012

All of our NEOs received higher value of total target long-term incentive compensation award compared
to fiscal 2011 reflecting our pay position strategy shift in fiscal 2012 to target the 65th percentile of the relevant

market data for long-term incentive compensation and total direct compensation and the promotional and

retention-based RSU grants described above Notwithstanding these increases according to Mercers competitive

market assessment the market position for our former CEOs target total direct compensation remained below

the median level of our peer group

The target value of the regular equity incentive awards granted as part of our annual executive compensation

program was determined with reference to the 65th percentile of relevant market data for long-term incentive

compensation In addition to these regular awards we granted RSUs to James Beer and William Robbins for

retention
purposes and to Rowan Trollope and Francis deSouza in connection with their promotion to Group

President The retention-based RSUs reflect the Compensation Committees desire to retain our senior executive

management team in order to execute our long-term goals in competitive environment and the grant date value

of such awards was set at level that the Compensation Committee determined based on its subjective judgment

Enrique Salem

James Beer

Rowan Trollope

Francis deSouza

William Robbins

PRU Value at

Grant Date

3615000

964000

919200

919200

964000

RSU Value at

Grant Date

1665000

740000

740000

740000

740000

Retention RSU
Value at

Grant Date$

925000

925000

Promotion

RSU Value at

Grant Date$

1850000

1850000

Promotion

RSU Value as of

07/02/12$

Retention RSU
Value as of

07/02/12$

725000

725000

1450000

1450000
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would achieve this desired outcome Similarly the Compensation Committee used its subjective judgment to

determine the appropriate grant date value of the promotional awards for Messrs deSouza and Trollope in each

case taking into account their increased role and responsibilities and based on Mercer competitive market data

Details of equity grants made to the named executive officers in fiscal 2012 are disclosed in the Summary

Compensation Table and Grants of Plan-Based Awards table on pages 54 and 57 respectively

For fiscal 2012 our non-GAAP EPS target under the PRUs was $1.54 per share The Compensation Com

mittee determined that we achieved 99% of this metric resulting in 97% of the target shares becoming eligible to

be earned based on achievement of the TSR performance goals under the PRUs Pursuant to the terms of these

awards each NEO will be eligible to receive at least half of the eligible shares if he remains employed by

Symantec through the last day of fiscal 2014 even if we fail to achieve those TSR performance goals and could

receive up to 150% of such shares depending upon the degree to which we achieve of those goals and the same

employment condition is met

Burn Rate and Dilution We closely manage how we use our equity to compensate employees We think

of gross burn rate as the total number of shares granted under all of our equity incentive plans during period

divided by the weighted average number of shares of common stock outstanding during that period and

expressed as percentage We think of net burn rate as the total number of shares granted under all of our

equity incentive plans during period minus the total number of shares returned to such plans through awards

cancelled during that period divided by the weighted average
number of shares of common stock outstanding

during that period and expressed as percentage Overhang we think of as the total number of shares under

lying options and awards outstanding plus shares available for issuance under all of our equity incentive plans at

the end of period divided by the weighted average
number of shares of common stock outstanding during that

period and expressed as percentage For purposes of these calculations each full-value award grant e.g

restricted stock unit is treated as the equivalent of the grant of two options in order to recognize the economic

difference in the equity vehicle types The Compensation Committee determines the percentage of equity to be

made available for our equity programs with reference to the companies in our market composite In addition the

Compensation Committee considers the accounting costs that will be reflected in our financial statements when

establishing the forms of equity to be granted and the size of the overall pooi available For fiscal 2012 our gross

burn rate was 3.46% our net bum rate was 3.21% and our overhang was 19.85%

Equity Grant Practices The Compensation Committee generally approves grants to the named executive

officers at its first meeting of each fiscal year or shortly thereafter through subsequent action The grant date for

all equity grants made to employees including the named executive officers is generally the 10th day of the

month following the applicable meeting If the 10th day is not business day the grant is generally made on the

previous business day The Compensation Committee does not coordinate the timing of equity awards with the

release of material nonpublic information RSUs may be granted from time to time throughout the year but all

RSUs generally vest on either March June September or December for administrative reasons PRUs are

currently granted once year
and vesting occurs only after three-year performance period

Change of Control and Severance Arrangements The vesting of certain stock options RSUs and PRUs

held by our named executive officers will accelerate if they experience an involuntary including constructive

termination of employment under certain circumstances In addition payouts to our named executive officers

under our Long Term Incentive Plan will accelerate under certain circumstances For additional information

about these arrangements see Other Benefits Change of Control and Severance Arrangements below and

Potential Payments Upon Termination or Change in Control below

Retention and Other Awards

Certain business conditions may warrant using additional compensation approaches to attract retain or

motivate executives Such conditions include acquisitions and divestitures attracting or retaining specific or

unique talent and recognition for exceptional contributions In these situations the Compensation Committee

considers the business needs and the potential costs and benefits of special rewards In fiscal 2012 the

Compensation Committee granted retention-based RSUs to Messrs Beer and Robbins See Equity Incentive

Awards above for discussion of these awards
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Other Benefits

All named executive officers are eligible to participate in our 401k plan which includes our matching

contributions health and dental coverage life insurance disability insurance paid time off and paid holidays on

the same terms as are available to all employees generally These rewards are designed to be competitive with

overall market practices and are in place to attract and retain the talent needed in the business In addition

named executive officers are eligible to participate in the deferred compensation plan and to receive other bene

fits described below

Deferred Compensation Symantecs named executive officers are eligible to participate in nonqualified

deferred compensation plan that provides management employees on our U.S payroll with base salary of

$150000 or greater including our named executive officers the opportunity to defer up to 75% of base salary

and 100% of cash bonuses for payment at future date This plan is provided to be competitive in the executive

talent market and to provide executives with tax-efficient alternative for receiving earnings None of our

named executive officers participated in this plan during fiscal 2012

Additional Benefits Symantecs named executive officers typically do not receive perquisites except in

limited circumstances when deemed appropriate by the Compensation Committee For example an additional

benefit available to named executive officers is reimbursement for up to $10000 for financial planning services

The Compensation Committee provides certain perquisites because it believes they are for business-related pur

poses or are prevalent in the marketplace for executive talent The value of the perquisites we provide is taxable

to the named executive officers and the incremental cost to us for providing these perquisites is reflected in the

Summary Compensation Table These benefits are disclosed in the All Other Compensation column of the

Summary Compensation Table on page 54

Change of Control and Severance Arrangements Our Executive Retention Plan provides and in the

case of PRUs the terms of the PRUs participants with double trigger acceleration of equity awards and if appli

cable become immediately exercisable where equity vesting and exercisability is only accelerated in the event

the individuals employment is terminated without cause or is constructively terminated within 12 months after

change in control of our company as defined in the plan In the case of PRUs PRUs will vest at target if the

change in control occurs prior to the first performance period will vest as to eligible shares if the change in con
trol occurs following the first performance period but before achievement is determined with respect to the sec

ond performance period and will vest as to the sum of the eligible shares determined to be earned for the second

performance period plus 50% of the eligible shares if the change in control occurs following the second perform

ance period but before achievement is determined with respect to the third performance period In the case of our

LTIP participants will receive an accelerated payout either of the amount that had been accrued for the partic

ipants or 100% of target in certain cases if we experience change in control of our company or if the partic

ipants employment is terminated without cause after the applicable performance period has been completed

assuming the threshold performance for such period has been achieved See Potential Payments Upon Termi

nation or Change in Control Long Term Incentive Plan below

We believe that the double trigger acceleration provision appropriately achieves the intent of the plan with

out providing an undue benefit to executives who continue to be employed following change in control trans

action The intent of the plan is to enable named executive officers to have balanced perspective in making

overall business decisions in the context of potential acquisition of our company as well as to be competitive

with market practices The Compensation Committee believes that change in control benefits if structured

appropriately serve to minimize the distraction caused by potential transaction and reduce the risk that key

talent would leave our company before transaction closes

Following the end of fiscal 2012 the Compensation Committee conducted an ordinary course review of the

change in control and severance arrangements applicable to our executive officers Taking into account con

solidation within our industry and the practices prevalent within our peer group the Compensation Committee

modified these arrangements in order to improve retention of our senior executives whose roles would likely be

eliminated in connection with change in control of our company Specifically our Executive Retention Plan

was amended to provide for the payment of cash severance benefit for the named executive officers equal to

one times such officers base salary and target payout under the Executive Annual Incentive Plan applicable to
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such named executive officer under the same circumstances equity awards would accelerate under the Executive

Retention Plan In addition the Compensation Committee adopted the Symantec Corporation Executive Sev

erance Plan which provides certain severance benefits to our executive offers including the named executive

officers in the event that such executive officers are involuntarily terminated other than for cause as defined in

the plan Under the terms of this plan eligible executive officers are entitled to receive severance payment

equal to one year of base salary Payment of the foregoing benefit is subject to the applicable officer returning

release of claims The foregoing benefit is in lieu of benefits provided to the officers under the Symantec Corpo

ration Severance Plan which provided 10 weeks of base salary for the first year of service plus two weeks of

base salary for every additional year
of service The Compensation Committee determined to modify these

arrangements for the same reason it adopted our Executive Retention Plan

In connection with his promotion to CEO in 2009 we entered into an employment agreement with Enrique

Salem that provides him with certain benefits upon the involuntary termination of his employment under certain

circumstances including acceleration of vesting and severance payments in connection with change of control

The change in control and severance benefits described above do not influence and are not influenced by the

other elements of compensation as these benefits serve different objectives than the other elements We do not

provide for gross-ups of excise tax values under Section 4999 of the Internal Revenue Code Rather we allow the

named executive officer to reduce the benefit received or waive the accelerated vesting of options to avoid excess

payment penalties

Details of each individual named executive officers benefits including estimates of amounts payable in

specified circumstances in effect as of the end of fiscal 2012 are disclosed under Potential Payments Upon

Termination or Change in Control below

SUPPLEMENTARY POLICIES AND CONSIDERATIONS

We use several additional policies to ensure that the overall compensation structure is responsive to stock

holder interests and competitive with the market Specific policies include

Stock Ownership Requirements

We believe that in order to align the interests of our executive officers with those of our stockholders our

executive officers should have financial stake in our company In October 2005 our Compensation Committee

instituted stock ownership requirements for our executive officers which require that our executive officers hold

the following minimum number of shares

CEO 150000 shares

CFO 85000 shares

Group Presidents and Executive Vice Presidents 35000 shares

Chief Accounting Officer if not otherwise included above 20000 shares

In April 2012 to further enhance alignment between our executive officers and stockholder interests the

Compensation Committee modified the stock ownership requirements to increase the minimum levels our execu

tive officers are expected to hold starting in fiscal 2013

CEO 5x base salary

CFO 3x base salary

Group Presidents and Executive Vice Presidents 2x base salary

Stock options and unvested restricted stock awards or performance-based restricted stock units do not count

toward stock ownership requirements
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The Compensation Committee also modified the guidelines to require that an executive officer who does not

satisfy the applicable stock ownership level within the required timeframe must retain at least 50% of all net

after-tax equity grants until the required stock ownership level has been met The executive officer is required

to acquire and thereafter maintain the stock ownership required within four years of becoming an executive offi

cer of Symantec or four years following the adoption date of these revised guidelines

As of July 24 2012 Messrs Salem Beer and Robbins have reached the stated ownership requirements for

fiscal 2012 Messrs Trollope and deSouza have until May 2015 to meet the stated thresholds See the table below

for individual ownership levels relative to the executives ownership requirement

Ownership

Requirement Holdings as of

Named Executive Officer of shares July 242012

Enrique Salem 150000 496124

James Beer 85000 116938

Rowan Trollope 35000 20956

Francis deSouza 35000 32081

William Robbins 35000 78515

Recoupment Policies Clawbacks

Since fiscal 2009 we have included provisions within our executive annual incentive plans to the effect that

we will seek reimbursement of excess incentive cash compensation if our financial statements are the subject of

restatement due to error or misconduct Our long-term incentive plans have contained such provisions since their

inception during fiscal 2008

Insider Trading and Hedging Policies

Our Insider Trading Policy prohibits all directors and employees from short-selling Symantec stock or

engaging in transactions involving Symantec-based derivative securities including but not limited to trading in

Symantec-based option contracts for example buying and/or writing puts and calls

In addition our Insider Trading Policy requires that our Chief Executive Officer Chief Financial Officer

and each of our directors conduct open market sales of our securities only through use of stock trading plans

adopted pursuant to Rule 0b5- of the Exchange Act Rule 0b5- allows insiders to sell and diversify their

holdings in our stock over designated period by adopting pre-arranged stock trading plans at time when they

are not aware of material nonpublic information about us and thereafter sell shares of our common stock in

accordance with the terms of their stock trading plans without regard to whether or not they are in possession of

material nonpublic information about the Company at the time of the sale All other execttives are strongly

encouraged to trade using 0b5- plans

Tax and Accounting Considerations on Compensation

The financial reporting and income tax consequences to the Company of individual compensation elements

are important considerations for the Compensation Committee when it reviews compensation practices and

makes compensation decisions While structuring compensation programs that result in more favorable tax and

financial reporting treatment is general principle the Compensation Committee balances these goals with other

business needs that may be inconsistent with obtaining the most favorable tax and accounting treatment for each

component of its compensation

Deductibility by Symantec Under Section 162m of the Internal Revenue Code we may not receive

federal income tax deduction for compensation that is not performance-based as defined in the Section 162m
rules paid to the Chief Executive Officer and the next three most highly compensated executive officers other

than our Chief Financial Officer to the extent that any of these persons receives more than $1000000 in

nonperformance-based compensation in any one year While the Compensation Committee considers the

deductibility of awards as one factor in determining our executive compensation it also looks at other factors in
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making its executive compensation decisions and retains the flexibility to grant awards or pay compensation the

Compensation Committee determines to be consistent with its goals for Symantecs executive compensation

program even if the awards are not deductible by Symantec for tax purposes

Tax Implications for Officers Section 409A of the Internal Revenue Code imposes additional income

taxes on executive officers for certain types of deferred compensation that do not comply with Section 409A The

Company attempts in good faith to structure compensation so that it either conforms with the requirements of or

qualifies for an exception under Code Section 409A Section 280G of the Internal Revenue Code imposes an

excise tax on payments to executives of severance or change of control compensation that exceed the levels

specified in the Section 280G rules Our named executive officers could receive the amounts shown in the sec

tion entitled Potential Payments Upon Termination or Change in Control beginning on page 60 below as

severance or change of control payments that could implicate this excise tax As mentioned above we do not

offer our officers as part of their change of control benefits any gross-ups related to this excise tax under Code

Section 4999

Accounting Considerations The Compensation Committee also considers the accounting and cash flow

implications of various forms of executive compensation In its financial statements the Company records sal

aries and performance-based compensation incentives as expenses in the amount paid or to be paid to the named

executive officers Accounting rules also require the Company to record an expense in its financial statements for

equity awards even though equity awards are not paid as cash to employees The accounting expense
of equity

awards to employees is calculated in accordance with the requirements of FASB Accounting Standards Codifica

tion Topic 718 The Compensation Committee believes however that the many advantages of equity compensa

tion as discussed above more than compensate for the non-cash accounting expense associated with them

Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Participation

The members of Symantecs Compensation Committee during fiscal 2012 were Stephen Bennett

Michael Brown Geraldine Laybourne David Mahoney and Daniel Schulman None of the members

of Symantecs Compensation Committee in fiscal 2012 was at any time during fiscal 2012 or at any other time an

officer or employee of Symantec or any of its subsidiaries and none had or have any relationships with Symantec

that are required to be disclosed under Item 404 of Regulation S-K None of Symantecs executive officers has

served as member of the board of directors or as member of the compensation or similarcommittee of any

entity that has one or more executive officers who served on our Board of Directors or Compensation Committee

during fiscal 2012

Compensation Committee Report

The information contained in the following report of Symantecs Compensation Committee is not considered

to be soliciting material filed or incorporated by reference in any past or future filing by Symantec under

the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 or the Securities Act of 1933 unless and only to the extent that Symantec

specifically incorporates it by reference

The Compensation Committee has reviewed and discussed with management the Compensation Discussion

and Analysis CDA contained in proxy statement Based on this review and discussion the Compensation

Committee has recommended to the Board that the CDA be included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K for

the fiscal year ended March 30 2012

By The Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors

Stephen Bennett resigned from the Compensation Committee effective July 24 2012

Geraldine Laybourne

David Mahoney

Daniel Schulman Chairman through July 24 2012
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Summary of Compensation

The following table shows for the fiscal
year

ended March 30 2012 compensation awarded to or paid to or

earned by our former Chief Executive Officer our Chief Financial Officer and the three most highly compen
sated executive officers who were serving as executive officers other than as our Chief Executive Officer or

Chief Financial Officer at March 30 2012 the named executive officers or NEOs

Summary Compensation Table for Fiscal 2012

Name and
Principal

Position

Mr Salem resigned from the Company effective July 24 2012

Amounts shown in this column reflect the aggregate full grant date fair value calculated in accordance with

FASB Accounting Standards Codification Topic 718 for restricted stock unit awards and solely in the case

of fiscal 2012 PRUs each awarded under Symantecs 2004 Equity Incentive Plan

Amounts shown in this column reflect the aggregate full grant date fair value calculated in accordance with

FASB Accounting Standards Codification Topic 718 for option awards granted under Symantecs 2004

Equity Incentive Plan We calculate the grant date fair value of stock options using the Black-Scholes

option pricing model The following table includes the assumptions used to calculate the aggregate grant

date fair value of awards reported for fiscal 2011 and 2010 We do not currently pay cash dividends on our

common stock The assumptions listed below are consistent with the assumptions that we used to report

stock option valuations and expense in the consolidated financial statements contained in our annual report

on Form 10-K for fiscal year 2012

Expected Risk-Free

Grant Date Volatility Life Years Interest Rate

6/10/2010 34.02 3.51 1.93

5/11/2009 43.94 3.38 1.46

4/10/2009 43.94 3.38 1.46

Amounts shown in this column for fiscal 2012 as footnoted below include payout of accrued FF0 bal

ance earned under our paid-time off FF0 policy We modified our PTO policy for management positions

during fiscal 2012 and members of management including all of our executive officers will no longer

accrue PTO This is one-time payout and is required under applicable laws

This amount represents $1110000 for Mr Salems executive annual bonus under his Executive Annual

Incentive Plan for fiscal 2012 which was earned in fiscal 2012 and paid in fiscal 2013 and $2100000
accrued on Mr Salems behalf for performance during fiscal 2012 under the FY12 LTIP Mr Salem will

receive pro-rated amount of the FY12 LTIP award based on the terms of the FY12 LTIP

This amount represents FF0
payout for Mr Salem

Stock

Fiscal Salary Bonus Awards

______________________
Year $1

________

Enrique Salem 2012 800000 5280000
Former President and Chief Executive 2011 750000 1732800
Officer 2010 625000 2398200

James Beer 2012 700000 2629000
Executive Vice President 2011 700000 505400
Chief Financial Officer 2010 660000 720040

Rowan Trollope 2012 435000 3509200

Group President

SMB and Symantec.cloud

Francis deSouza 2012 435000 3509200

Group President

Enterprise Products Services

William Robbins 2012 475000 2629000
Executive Vice President 2011 475000 361000 238836
Worldwide Sales and Services 2010 453375 812930 684845

Non-Equity

Option Incentive Plan

Awards Compensation

$2
32100004

1711658 42812506

2888793 30929698

111125010

398060 111705012

547106 74712014

76815016

All Other

Compensation

$3
984625

339757

173879

9955611

1963213

1294915

118135417

Tolal

9388462

8509683

9022349

4539806

2740142

2687215

5893704

79425018 6282219 4801272

90426920

87540022

62580024

6994621

3542723

19462725

4078215

1985663

2771577
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This amount represents $1181250 for Mr Salems executive annual bonus under his Executive Annual

Incentive Plan for fiscal 2011 which was earned in fiscal 2011 and paid in fiscal 2012 and $3100000

accrued on Mr Salems behalf for performance during fiscal 2011 under the FY11 LTIP Mr Salem will

receive pro-rated amount of the FY11 LTIP award based on the terms of the FY11 LTIP

This amount represents coverage of expenses related to Mr Salems attendance at the Companys FY10

sales achievers trip

This amount represents $292969 for Mr Salems executive annual bonus under his Executive Annual

Incentive Plan for fiscal 2010 which was earned in fiscal 2010 and paid in fiscal 2011 and $2800000

accrued on Mr Salems behalf for performance during fiscal 2010 under the FY10 LTIP

This amount represents $7387 for
coverage

of
expenses

related to Mr Salems attendance at the

Companys FY09 sales achievers trip and $10000 for reimbursement for tax services

10 This amount represents $665000 for Mr Beers executive annual bonus under his Executive Annual

Incentive Plan for fiscal 2012 which was earned in fiscal 2012 and paid in fiscal 2013 and $446250 accrued

on Mr Beers behalf for performance during fiscal 2012 under the FY12 LTIP Mr Beer will be eligible to

receive the FY12 L11P award if he remains employed by the Company through the last day of fiscal 2014

11 This amount represents $80105 for PTO payout $11111 for membership fees $2340 for

reimbursement for tax services and $6000 for the Companys contributions to Mr Beers account

under its 401k plan

12 This amount represents $652050 for Mr Beers executive annual bonus under his Executive Annual

Incentive Plan for fiscal 2011 which was earned in fiscal 2011 and paid in fiscal 2012 and $465000

accrued on Mr Beers behalf for performance during fiscal 2011 under the FY11 LTIP Mr Beer will be

eligible to receive the FY11 LTIP award if he remains employed by the Company through the last day of

fiscal 2013

13 This amount represents $426 for coverage of expenses related to Mr Beers attendance at the FY10

Board retreat $10556 for membership fees $2400 for reimbursement for tax services and

$6250 for the Companys contributions to Mr Beers account under its 401k plan

14 This amount represents $285120 for Mr Beers executive annual bonus under his Executive Annual

Incentive Plan for fiscal 2010 which was earned in fiscal 2010 and paid in fiscal 2011 and $462000

accrued on Mr Beers behalf for performance during fiscal 2010 under the FY10 LTIP

15 This amount represents $363 for
coverage

of
expenses

related to attendance at the FY09 Board retreat

$879 for membership fees $5707 for reimbursement for tax services and $6000 for the

Companys contributions to Mr Beers account under its 401k plan

16 This amount represents $321900 for Mr Trollope executive annual bonus under his Executive Annual

Incentive Plan for fiscal 2012 which was earned in fiscal 2012 and paid in fiscal 2013 and $446250

accrued on Mr Trollopes behalf for performance during fiscal 2012 under the FY12 LTIP Mr Trollope

will be eligible to receive the FY12 LTIP award if he remains employed by the Company through the last

day of fiscal 2014

17 This amount represents $46288 for Ff0 payout $906 for recognition of 20 years of service $6472

for expat transportation $63222 for cost of living gross up $639224 for expat foruign tax payment gross

up $411972 for relocation expenses $6507 for reimbursement for tax services and $6763 for the

Companys contributions to Mr Trollopes account under its 40 1k plan Mr Trollope was on an international

assignment in fiscal 2012 prior to his becoming an executive officer upon his promotion to Group President in

fiscal 2012 and received the relocation cost of living travel and tax equalization benefits described above in

accordance with the Companys international assignment practice

18 This amount represents $348000 for Mr deSouza executive annual bonus under his Executive Annual

Incentive Plan for fiscal 2012 which was earned in fiscal 2012 and paid in fiscal 2013 and $446250 for

Mr deSouzas performance during fiscal 2012 under the FY12 LTIP Mr deSouza will be eligible to

receive the FY12 LTIP award if he remains employed by the Company through the last day of fiscal 2014
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19 This amount represents $53538 for PTO payout $2521 for reimbursement for tax services and

$6763 for the Companys contributions to Mr deSouza account under its 401k plan

20 This amount represents $458019 for Mr Robbins executive annual bonus under his Executive Annual

Incentive Plan for fiscal 2012 which was earned in fiscal 2012 and paid in fiscal 2013 and $446250 for

Mr Robbins performance during fiscal 2012 under the FY12 LTIP Mr Robbins will be eligible to receive

the FY12 LTIP award if he remains employed by the Company through the last day of fiscal 2014

21 This amount represents $58462 for FF0 payout $9196 for coverage of expenses related to attend

ance at the Companys FY11 sales achievers trip and $2288 for coverage
of expenses related to

attendance at the FY11 Board retreat

22 This amount represents $410400 for Mr Robbins executive annual bonus under his Executive Annual

Incentive Plan for fiscal 2011 which was earned in fiscal 2011 and paid in fiscal 2012 and $465000 for

Mr Robbins performance during fiscal 2011 under the FY11 LTIP Mr Robbins will be eligible to receive

the FY11 LTIP award if he remains employed by the Company through the last day of fiscal 2013

23 This amount represents $33115 for coverage of expenses related to Mr Robbins attendance at the

Companys FY10 sales achievers trip $1018 for coverage of expenses related to attendance at the

Companys FY10 Board retreat and $1294 for reimbursement for tax services

24 This amount represents $163800 for Mr Robbins executive annual bonus under his Executive Annual

Incentive Plan for fiscal 2010 which was earned in fiscal 2010 and paid in fiscal 2011 and $462000 for

Mr Robbins performance during fiscal 2010 under the FY10 LTIP

25 This amount represents $1182 for retroactive pay $179634 for an Expatriate US Tax Payment

gross up $12207 for coverage of expenses related to Mr Robbins attendance at the Companys FY09

sales achievers trip $857 for coverage of expenses related to attendance at the FY09 Board retreat and

$747 for reimbursement for tax services

After the resignation of Enrique Salem our former President and Chief Executive Officer effective July 24

2012 the Board appointed our Chairman Stephen Bennett as our current President and Chief Executive

Officer effective July 25 2012 In August 2012 the Board approved Mr Bennetts compensation for his role as

our President and Chief Executive Officer for the remainder of fiscal 2013 and we entered into an employment

agreement with Mr Bennett Mr Bennetts annual base salary is $1000000 subject to annual review and he is

eligibility for an annual bonus under our Executive Annual Incentive Plan for fiscal 2013 with target amount of

150% of base salary subject to proration based on his period of employment as our President and Chief Execu

tive Officer in fiscal 2013 Mr Bennett is also eligible to receive target award of $750000 under the Compa

nys FY13 LTIP The Board approved grant of 115000 restricted stock units that will vest in four equal annual

installments The Board also approved grant of 115000 PRUs that are subject to the same vesting conditions as

the awards made to our other named executive officers except that the target shares that Mr Bennett will be

eligible to earn in fiscal 2014 and 2015 will be not less than 80000 shares due to the fact that Mr Bennetts term

as President and Chief Executive Officer did not commence until the second quarter of fiscal 2013 Since

Mr Bennetts performance metrics are the same as our other NEOs and reflect performance for the full fiscal

2013 the Board decided to adjust his Conditional PRU Award as defined in his PRU Agreement to assure

that he would have an appropriate level of incentive for the two fiscal years after his first shortened fiscal year of

service The Board does not intend to provide such adjustments going forward for Mr Bennett Mr Bennett also

received grant of 450000 performance contingent stock units PCSUs that are subject to vesting conditions

based on the Companys volume weighted average closing price of its common stock at or above $18.00 $20.00

or $22.00 collectively the Price Thresholds If the Price Thresholds are not achieved by the end of fiscal

2015 then all PCSUs shall be forfeited

Mr Bennetts employment agreement also provides that upon the involuntary termination of his employ

ment under certain circumstances he is entitled to receive certain benefits including among other things cash

severance of up to 2.0 times his base annual salary reimbursement of COBRA premiums acceleration of any

then-unvested stock options and RSUs acceleration of any then-unvested PRUs and PCSUs in accordance with

the terms in the performance-based restricted stock unit agreement and performance contingent stock unit

agreement respectively and partial acceleration of LTIP payments in accordance with the terms of the appli

cable Long Term Incentive Plan
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The following table shows for the fiscal year ended March 30 2012 certain information regarding grants of plan-based

awards to our named executive officers from our incentive plans

Grants of Plan-Based Awards in Fiscal 2012

Afl Other Grant

All Other Option Date

Stock Awards Fair

Awards Number Value
Estimated Future Payouts Estimated Future Payouts Number of Exercise or of Stock

Under Non-Equity Incentive Plan Under Equity Incentive
of Shares Securities Base Price and

Awards Plan Awards4 of Stock Underlying of Option Option
Grant Threshold Target Maximum Threshold Target Maximum or Units Options Awards Awards

Name Date1 $/Sh

Ennque Salern 6/10/11 8700002 12000002 21000002 75000 150000 199500 900005 1665000

5000003 20000003 40000003

James Beer 6/10/11 4821252 6650002 11637502 20000 40000 53200 400005 740000

6/10/11 1062503 4250003 8500003 500006 925000

Rowan Trollope ... 6/10/11 2523002 3480002 6090002 20000 40000 53200 400005 740000

6/10/11 1062503 4250003 8500003 1000006 1850000

Francis deSouza ... 6/10/li 2523002 3480002 6090002 20000 40000 53200 400005 740000

6/10/11 1062503 4250003 8500003 1000006 1850000

William Robbins ... 6/10/11 3271562 4512502 7896882 20000 40000 53200 400005 740000

6/10/11 1062503 4250003 8500003 500006 925000

Mr Salem resigned from the Company effective July 24 2012

Represents grant date of stock awards

Represents threshold target and maximum payouts with respect to each applicable metric under the FY12 Executive

Annual Incentive Plan

Represents threshold target and maximum payouts under the FY12 LTIP Payment under this plan is contingent upon

employment through the last day of fiscal 2014

The amounts shown in these rows reflect in share amounts the threshold target and maximum potential shares eligible

eligible shares to be earned based on performance for the fiscal 2012 period at the end of fiscal 2013 and 2014
based on and subject to further adjustment as result of the achievement of the TSR ranking for our company as com

pared to the SP 500 as further described in the CDA section beginning on page 47 In June 2011 each named execu

tive officer was awarded PRU under the 2004 Equity Incentive Plan subject to the achievement of the same

non-GAAP EPS metric for our FY12 Executive Annual Incentive Plan during fiscal 2012 with threshold award equal

to 50% of the target eligible shares and maximum award equal to 133% of the target eligible shares For fiscal 2012
the Compensation Committee determined that we achieved 99% of our non-GAAP EPS target under the PRUs resulting

in 97% of the target eligible shares becoming eligible to be earned based on achievement of the TSR performance goals

under the PRUs Pursuant to the terms of these awards each NEO will be eligible to receive at least half of the eligible

shares if he remains employed by us through the last day of fiscal 2014 even if we fail to achieve those TSR performance

goals and could receive up to 150% of such shares depending upon the degree to which we achieve of those goals and

the same employment condition is met

This RSU grant was granted under the 2004 Equity Incentive Plan and vests in four equal annual installments on each of

the first through fourth anniversaries of the date of grant and is settled in shares on the vesting date

This RSU grant was granted under the 2004 Equity Incentive Plan 25% of the shares vests on June 2013 another 25%

of the shares vest on June 2014 and the balance vests on June 12015 and is settled in shares on the vesting date

For summary of the terms of the FY12 Executive Annual Incentive Plan see Compensation Discussion Analysis

CDA Compensation Components Executive Annual Incentive Plans above For summary of the terms of the

FY12 LTIP see Compensation Discussion Analysis CDA Compensation Components Long Term Incentive

Plans LTIP above Details of acceleration of the equity awards described are disclosed under Compensation Dis

cussion Analysis CDA Other Benefits Change in Control and Severance Arrangements above and Potential

Payments Upon Termination or Change in Control below
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The following table shows for the fiscal year ended March 30 2012 certain information regarding outstanding equity

awards at fiscal
year

end for our named executive officers

Outstanding Equity Awards At Fiscal Year-End 2012

Option Awards Stock Awards

Equity

Incentive Equity

Plan Incentive

Awards Plan

Number Awards
of Value of

Unearned Unearned

Shares Shares

Market Value Units or Units or

of Shares Other Other

or Units of Rights Rights

Stock That that Have that Have

Have Not Not Yet Not Yet

Vested Vested Vested

90t

Number of Number of Number of

Securities Securities Shares or

Underlying Underlying Units of

Unexercised Unexercised Option Stock That

Options Options Exercise Option Have Not

Price Expiration Vested

Name Grant Date Exercisable Unexercisable Date

Enrique Salem 6/22/2004 147418 1.61 6/22/2014

20.361 7/15/2013

12/5/2012

10/20/2005 70000 22.68 10/20/2012

5/12/2006 175000 17.02 5/12/2013

5/10/2007 150000 19.48 5/10/2014

2/8/2008 100000 17.90 2/8/2015

5/9/2008 230000 100002 19.99 5/9/2015

4/10/2009 371875 1381253 17.13 4/10/2016 350004

6/10/2010 188125 2418755 1444 6/10/2017 600006

6/10/2011 675007

James Beer 3/3/2006 300000 16.98 3/3/2013

5/10/2007 150000 19.48 5/10/2014

5/9/2008 95833 41672 19.99 5/9/2015

5/11/2009 76500 315008 15.32 5/11/2016 235009

6/10/2010 43750 562505 14.44 6/10/2017 1750010

6/10/2011 8000011

Rowan Ttollope 10/20/2004 28000 27.68 10/20/2014

10/20/2005 30000 22.68 10/20/2012

6/20/2006 9480 15.90 6/20/2013

5/10/2007 22500 19.48 5/10/2014

5/9/2008 37375 16252 19.99 5/9/2015

5/11/2009 28333 116678 15.32 5/11/2016 1166612

6/10/2010 32812 421885 14.44 6/10/2017 1500013

6/10/2011 13000014

Francis deSouza 3/30/2006 25000 16.98 3/3/2013

5/10/2007 20000 19.48 5/10/2014

5/9/2008 58458 25422 19.99 5/92015

5/11/2009 25500 105008 15.32 5/11/2016 1100015

1/8/2010 375016

6/10/2010 32812 421885 14.44 6/10/2017 1500013

6/10/2011 13000014

William Robbins 5/3/2002 56209 23.04 5/3/20 12

11/19/2002 45670 14.46 11/19/2012

2/17/2004 50589 29.39 2/17/2014

10/20/2005 20000 22.68 10/20/2012

6/20/2006 30000 15.90 6/20/2013

5/10/2007 42000 19.48 5/10/2014

7/10/2007 8000 18.87 7/10/2014

5/9/2008 47916 20842 19.99 5/9/2015

4/10/2009 19687 73133 17.13 4/10/2016 225017

5/11/2009 74375 306258 15.32 5/11/2016 2150018

6/10/2010 26250 337505 14.44 6/10/2017 1250019

6/10/2011 8000011

654500

1122000

1262250

439450

327250

1496000

218154

280500

2431000

205700

70125

280500

2431000

42075

402050

233750

1496000

145500

38800

38800

38800

38800

2720850

725560

725560

725560

725560
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The market value of the equity awards that have not vested is calculated by multiplying the number of units

eligible shares as defined in the next footnote for PRUs that have not vested by the closing price of our

common stock on March 30 2012 which was $18.70

Mr Salem resigned from the Company effective July 24 2012

j- In June 2011 each NEO was awarded PRU under the 2004 Stock Incentive Plan subject to achievement of

the same non-GAAP EPS metric for our FY12 Executive Annual Incentive Plan during fiscal 2012 and other

performance goals for subsequent fiscal years The share amount shown in the column above entitled Equity

Incentive Plan Awards Number of Unearned Shares Units or Other Rights That Have Not Vested is

the number of target shares that based on actual performance during fiscal 2012 became eligible eligible

shares to be earned depending on achievement of the other performance goals under the PRUs for fiscal

2013 and fiscal 2014 Pursuant to the terms of these awards each NEO will be eligible to receive at least half

of the eligible shares if he remains employed by us through the last day of fiscal 2014 even if we fail to

achieve those other performance goals and could receive up to 150% of such shares depending upon the

degree to which we achieve of those goals and the same employment condition is met For additional

information on these awards including the threshold target and maximum estimated future payouts of these

awards for fiscal 2012 performance see the table entitled Grants of Plan-Based Awards in Fiscal 2012

above

124418 shares granted at $1.61 and 120000 shares granted at $20.36

Unvested options vest in equal installments monthly on the 9th of each month ending on 5/9/2012

Unvested options vest in equal installments monthly on the 10th of each month ending on 4/10/2013

35000 shares to vest on 3/1/2013

Unvested options vest in equal installments monthly on the 10th of each month ending on 6/10/2014

30000 shares to vest on 3/1/2013 and 30000 shares to vest on 3/1/2014

22500 shares to vest on 3/1/2013 22500 shares to vest on 3/1/2014 and 22500 shares to vest on 3/1/2015

Unvested options vest in equal installments monthly on the 11th of each month ending on 5/11/2013

11750 shares to vest on 6/1/2012 and 11750 shares to vest on 6/1/20 13

10 8750 shares to vest on 3/1/2013 and 8750 shares to vest on 3/1/2014

11 10000 shares to vest on 3/1/2013 10000 shares to vest on 3/1/2014 10000 shares to vest on 3/1/2015

12500 shares to vest on 6/1/2013 12500 shares to vest on 6/1/2014 and 25000 shares to vest on 6/1/2015

12 5833 shares to vest on 6/1/2012 and 5833 shares to vest on 6/1/2013

13 7500 shares to vest on 3/1/2013 and 7500 shares to vest on 3/1/2014

14 10000 shares to vest on 3/1/2013 10000 shares to vest on 3/1/2014 10000 shares to vest on 3/1/2015

25000 shares to vest on 6/1/2013 25000 shares to vest on 6/1/2014 and 50000 shares to vest on 6/1/2015

15 5500 shares to vest on 6/1/2012 and 5500 shares to vest on 6/1/2013

16 1875 shares to vest on 12/1/2012 and 1875 shares to vest on 12/1/2013

17 2250 shares to vest on 3/1/2013

18 10750 shares to vest on 6/1/2012 and 10750 shares to vest on 6/1/2013

19 6250 shares to vest on 3/1/2013 and 6250 shares to vest on 3/1/2014
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The following table shows for the fiscal year ended March 30 2012 certain information regarding option

exercises and stock vested during the last fiscal year with respect to our named executive officers

Option Exercises and Stock Vested in Fiscal 2012

Option Awards Stock Awards

Number of Number of

Shares Shares

Acquired Value Realized Acquired Value Realized

on Exercise on Exercise on Vesting on Vesting

Enrique Salem 111667 2016556

James Beer 40500 749123

Rowan Trollope 27667 506451

Francis deSouza 28875 524215

William Robbins 37584 693943

Mr Salem resigned from the Company effective July 24 2012

Potential Payments Upon Termination or Change-In-Control

Set forth below is description of the plans and agreements other than the Deferred Compensation Plan

that could result in potential payouts to our named executive officers in the case of their termination of employ

ment andlor change in control of Symantec

Symantec Executive Retention Plan

In January 2001 the Board approved the Symantec Executive Retention Plan to deal with employment

termination resulting from change in control of the Company The plan was modified by the Board in July

2002 April 2006 June 2007 and April 2012 Under the terms of the plan all equity compensation awards

including among others stock options restricted stock units and PRUs granted by the Company to the

Companys Section 16b officers including our named executive officers would become fully vested at target

or to the extent of achievement for PRUs and if applicable exercisable following change in control of the

Company as defined in the plan after which the officers employment is terminated without cause or con

structively terminated by the acquirer within 12 months after the change in control In the case of PRUs PRUs

will vest at target if the change in control occurs prior to the first performance period will vest as to eligible

shares if the change in control occurs following the first performance period but before achievement is

determined with respect to the second performance period and will vest as to the sum of the eligible shares

determined to be earned for the second performance period plus 50% of the eligible shares if the change in con

trol occurs following the second performance period but before achievement is determined with respect to the

third performance period Additionally in accordance with the terms of the PRU award agreement in the case

that an executives employment with the Company terminates by reason of the executives death total and

permanent disability or an involuntary termination by the Company other than for cause as defined in the award

agreement after the end of the first year of the performance period but prior to the end of the third
year

of the

performance period then the executive will be entitled to payment of prorated number of PRUs based on the

number of months in the three-year performance period during with the executive was employed by the Com

pany provided that the Companys performance met at least the threshold level of non-GAAP EPS performance

during the first year of the performance period

In April 2012 the Compensation Committee revised the plan to provide for the payment of cash severance

benefit for our named executive officers equal to one times such officers base salary and target payout under the

Executive Annual Incentive Plan applicable to such named executive officer in the circumstances described

above i.e following change in control of the Company after which the officers employment is terminated

without cause or constructively terminated by the acquirer within 12 months after the change in control
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Symantec Corporation Severance Plan

During fiscal 2008 we adopted the Symantec Corporation Severance Plan effective as of July 2007 to

provide severance benefits to certain eligible employees of Symantec Individual employees must meet certain

criteria in order to participate in the plan including among other criteria the employee is not entitled to sev

erance under any other plan fund program policy arrangement or individualized written agreement providing

for severance benefits that is sponsored or funded by Symantec and ii the employee was involuntarily termi

nated from active employment because of market conditions or division performance resulting in elimination of

their position and not solely because of poor work performance

Under the terms of the plan eligible employees at the Vice President level or above receive severance

payments calculated as follows severance payments equal to ten weeks of base pay if such employee has been

employed by Symantec for one year or less or ii severance payments equal to ten weeks of base pay plus the

amount calculated by multiplying two weeks of base pay times the number of years of such employees

employment by Symantec after the first year of employment prorated through the termination date If an eligible

employee timely elects COBRA continuation coverage under Symantecs group insurance plans Symantec will

also subsidize the full amount of premiums for such eligible employees for the period of time upon which sev

erance payments are paid under the plan Symantec will subsidize premiums for continuation coverage at the

same level of coverage in effect immediately before termination of employment for the applicable employee

Eligible employees at the Vice President level are also entitled to receive six months of outplacement services

including counseling and guidance

Payment of severance payments and COBRA premiums and provision of outplacement assistance pursuant

to the Symantec Corporation Severance Plan is subject to the applicable employees returning release of claims

against Symantec

Symantec Executive Severance Plan

On April 30 2012 the Compensation Committee adopted the Symantec Executive Severance Plan effective

as of April 30 2012 to provide severance benefits to specified officers of Symantec including our named execu

tive officers The executive officers must meet certain criteria in order to participate in the plan including

among other criteria the executive officer was involuntarily terminated from active employment other than

for cause as defined in the plan ii the executive officer was not terminated due to the sale of business part

of business divestiture or spin-off and offered employment upon terms and conditions substantially identical to

those in effect immediately prior to such sale divestiture or spin-off and iii the executive officer is not entitled

to severance under any other plan fund program policy arrangement or individualized written agreement pro

viding for severance benefits that is sponsored or funded by Symantec

Under the terms of the plan the executive officer will receive severance payments equal to one times the

sum of his or her base salary in effect at the time of his or her involuntary termination The executive officer will

also receive one-time bonus of $15000 minus taxes and other legally required deductions The executive offi

cer is also entitled to receive six months of outplacement services including counseling and guidance The

executive officer is solely responsible for all COBRA premiums for his or her continuation coverage

Payment of severance payments one-time bonus payment and outplacement services pursuant to the

Symantec Executive Severance Plan is subject to the applicable executive officer returning release of claims

against Symantec

Long Term Incentive Plan

Participants under our Long Term Incentive Plan will receive an accelerated payout of accrued LTIP payout

amounts if we experience change in control of our company after completed performance periods but before the

applicable 3-year service requirement under the applicable LTIP is met If change in control of our company

occurs prior to the end of performance period then participants will receive an accelerated payout of the LTIP

amount at 100% of target In addition if the participants employment is terminated without cause following

completion of performance period assuming at least threshold performance of the operating cash flow metric
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for such period has been achieved the participant would receive pro-rated payout of the accrued LTIP payout

amount based on the number of months of service provided by the participant within the 3-year period covered

by the applicable Long Term Incentive Plan If participants employment is terminated without cause prior to

the end of performance period then no payment would be made to the participant

Enrique Salem

In accordance with an employment agreement dated September 23 2009 between Mr Salem and Symantec

in the event Mr Salem resigns for good reason i.e material reduction in responsibilities position or salary or is

terminated without cause as defined in the agreement he is entitled to severance payment equal to 3.375

times his annual base salary reimbursement of COBRA premiums for up to twelve months and the vesting of his

outstanding stock options and restricted stock units will be accelerated by one year

In the event that Mr Salems employment is terminated due to his death or disability the vesting of his

outstanding options will remain exercisable notwithstanding anything in any other agreement governing such

options until the earlier of period of one year
after the termination date and the original term of the

option

In the event Mr Salem is terminated without cause not due to death or permanent disability nor resign for

good reason that occurs during or within the twelve 12 month period following the consummation of

Change in Control or within the sixty 60 day period prior to the date of Change in Control where the Change
in Control was under consideration at the time of Mr Salems termination date then Mr Salem shall be entitled

to severance payment equal to 4.5 times his annual base salary reimbursement of COBRA premiums for up to

twelve months and full acceleration of any then-unvested stock options and restricted stock units

The following table summarizes the value of the payouts to Mr Salem pursuant to Mr Salems employment

agreement the Symantec Executive Retention Plan as in effect at the end of fiscal 2012 assuming qualifying

termination as of March 30 2012 intrinsic values of equity awards are based upon the closing price for share

of our common stock of $18.70 on March 30 2012 minus the exercise price

Severance COBRA Option

Pay Premiums Vesting RSU Vesting PRU Vesting

Resignation with Good Reason or

Termination Without

Cause or Termination Due to Death or

Disability $2704200 $21201 $1500698 $1636250 906950

Termination Without Cause or

Constructive Termination within 12

Months of Change $3604200 $21201 $3475073 $3038750 $2720850

Termination Without Cause

Change of Control Or Due to Death or Disability

Acceleration of LTLP Payout $8000000 $5566667
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James Beer

The following table summarizes the value of the payouts to Mr Beer pursuant to the Symantec Executive

Retention Plan as in effect at the end of fiscal 2012 and the Symantec Corporation Severance Plan assuming

qualifying termination as of March 30 2012 intrinsic values of equity awards are based upon the closing price

for share of our common stock of $18.70 on March 30 2012 minus the exercise price

Severance COBRA Option PRU Acceleration

Pay Premiums Vesting RSU Vesting Vesting of LTIP

Involuntary Termination Because of

Market Conditions or Division

Performance $275854 $8705

Termination Without Cause or

Constructive Termination Within 12

Months of Change of Control $1307040 $2262700 $725560

Termination Without Cause or

Termination Due to Death or Disability

Change of Control $241853 920750

Changeof Control $1373250

Rowan Trollope

The following table summarizes the value of the payouts to Mr Trollope pursuant to the Symantec Execu

tive Retention Plan as in effect at the end of fiscal 2012 and the Symantec Corporation Severance Plan assum

ing qualifying termination as of March 30 2012 intrinsic values of equity awards are based upon the closing

price for share of our common stock of $18.70 on March 30 2012 minus the exercise price

Severance COBRA Option PRU Acceleration

Pay Premiums Vesting RSU Vesting Vesting of LTLP

Involuntary Termination Because of

Market Conditions or Division

Performance $414940 $21181

Termination Without Cause or

Constructive Termination Within 12

Months of Change of Control $481244 $2929654 $725560

Termination Without Cause or

Termination Due to Death or

Disability $241853 738750

Change of Control $1191250
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Francis deSouza

The following table summarizes the value of the payouts to Mr deSouza pursuant to the Symantec Execu

tive Retention Plan as in effect at the end of fiscal 2012 and the Symantec Corporation Severance Plan assum

ing qualifying termination as of March 30 2012 intrinsic values of equity awards are based upon the closing

price for share of our common stock of $18.70 on March 30 2012 minus the exercise price

Severance COBRA Option PRU Acceleration

Pay Premiums Vesting RSU Vesting Vesting of LTIP

Involuntary Termination Because of

Market Conditions or Division

Performance $259344 $13471

Termination Without Cause or

Constructive Termination Within 12

Months of Change of Control $484180 $2987325 $725560

Termination Without Cause or

Termination Due to Death or

Disability $241853 738750

Change of Control $1191250

William Robbins

The following table summarizes the value of the payouts to Mr Robbins pursuant to the Symantec Execu

tive Retention Plan as in effect at the end of fiscal 2012 and the Symantec Corporation Severance Plan assum

ing qualifying termination as of March 30 2012 intrinsic values of equity awards are based upon the closing

price for share of our common stock of $18.70 on March 30 2012 minus the exercise price

Severance COBRA Option PRU Acceleration

Pay Premiums Vesting RSU Vesting Vesting of LTIP

Involuntary Termination Because of

Market Conditions or Division

Performance $259239 $1 1572

Termination Without Cause or

Constructive Termination Within 12

Months of Change of Control $930366 $2173875 $725560

Termination Without Cause or

Termination Due to Death or

Disability $241853 920750

Change of Control $1373250

64



CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS

Related-Person Transactions Policy and Procedures

Symantec has adopted written related person transactions policy which provides for the Companys poli

cies and procedures regarding the identification review consideration and approval or ratification of related

person transactions The Nominating and Governance Committee reviews transactions that may be related

person transactions which are transactions between Symantec and any related persons in which the aggregate

amount involved exceeds or may be expected to exceed $120000 and in which the related person has or will

have direct or indirect material interest For purposes of the policy related person is any Symantec executive

officer director nominee for director or stockholder holding more than 5% of any class of Symantecs voting

securities in each case since the beginning of the previous fiscal year and their immediate family members

Under the policy absent any facts or circumstances indicating special or unusual benefits to the related

person the following transactions are deemed not to be related person transactions meaning the related person

is deemed to not have direct or indirect material interest in the transaction

compensation to executive officers determined by Symantecs Compensation Conmiittee

any transaction with another company at which related person is director or an employee other than

an executive officer if the aggregate amount involved does not exceed the greater of $2000000 or three

percent of that companys total annual gross revenues provided that the transaction involves the purchase

of either companys goods and services and the transaction is subject to usual trade terms and is in the

ordinary course of business and the related person is not involved in the negotiation of the transaction

any compensation paid to director if the compensation is required to be reported in Symantecs proxy

statement

any
transaction where the related persons interest arises solely from the ownership of the Companys

common stock and all holders of the Companys common stock received the same benefit on pro rata

basis

any charitable contribution grant or endowment by Symantec or the Symantec Foundation to charitable

organization foundation or university at which related persons only relationship is as director or an

employee other than an executive officer if the aggregate amount involved does not exceed $120000

or any non-discretionary matching contribution grant or endowment made pursuant to matching gift

program

any transaction where the rates or charges involved are determined by competitive bids

any transaction involving the rendering of services as common or contract carrier or public utility at

rates or charges fixed in conformity with law or governmental authority or

any transaction involving services as bank depositary of funds transfer agent registrar trustee under

trust indenture or similar services

Under the policy members of Symantecs legal department review transactions involving related
persons

that do not fall into one of the above categories If they determine that related person
could have significant

interest in transaction the transaction is referred to the Nominating and Governance Committee In addition

transactions may be identified through Symantecs Code of Conduct or other Symantec policies and procedures

and reported to the Nominating and Governance Committee The Nominating and Governance Committee

determines whether the related person has material interest in transaction and may approve ratify rescind or

take other action with respect to the transaction
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Certain Related Person Transactions

In July 2009 Symantec entered into dry-lease agreement for an aircraft with company owned by John

Thompson our former Chairman Pursuant to the agreement Symantec has leased the aircraft on

non-exclusive basis from Mr Thompsons company from time to time solely for Messrs Thompsons and

Salems business-related travel at dry-lease rate of $1650 per flight hour Pursuant to an agreement with an

unrelated party Symantec has also agreed to pay the variable operating costs of Messrs Thompsons and

Salems business travel on this aircraft The arrangement was approved by the Nominating and Governance

Committee of our Board The Nominating and Governance Committee has determined that the amounts billed by

Mr Thompsons company for our use of the aircraft are at or below the market rates charged by third-party

commercial charter companies for similar aircraft Symantec paid $147015 under this arrangement during fiscal

2012
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REPORT OF THE AUDIT COMMITTEE

The information contained in the following report of Symantecs Audit Committee is not considered to be

soliciting material filed or incorporated by reference in any past or future filing by Symantec under the

Securities Exchange Act of 1934 or the Securities Act of 1933 unless and only to the extent that Symantec

specifically incorporates it by reference

The Audit Committee is comprised solely of independent directors as defined by current NASDAQ listing

standards and operates under written charter which was most recently amended by the Board on July 27 2009

The Audit Committee oversees Symantecs financial reporting process on behalf of the Board Management has

primary responsibility for the financial statements and the reporting process including the systems of internal

controls In fulfilling its oversight responsibilities the Audit Committee reviewed the audited financial state

ments that were included in Symantecs Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended March 30 2012

with management including discussion of the quality not just the acceptability of the accounting principles

the reasonableness of significant judgments and the clarity of the disclosures in the financial statements

The Audit Conmiittee reviewed with Symantecs independent registered public accounting firm which is

responsible for expressing an opinion on the conformity of those audited financial statements with generally

accepted accounting principles its judgments as to the quality not just the acceptability of Symantecs account

ing principles and such other matters as are required to be discussed with the Audit Committee under Statement

on Auditing Standards No 114 The Auditors Communications With Those Charged with Governance In

addition the Audit Committee has received and reviewed the written disclosures and the letter from the

independent registered public accounting firm required by applicable requirements of the Public Company

Accounting Oversight Board regarding the registered public accounting firms communications with the Audit

Committee concerning independence from management and Symantec and has discussed with the independent

registered public accounting firm the registered public accounting firms independence from management and

Symantec

The Audit Committee discussed with Symantecs internal accountants and independent registered public

accounting firm the overall
scope

and plans for their respective audits The Audit Committee meets with the

internal accountants and independent registered public accounting firm with and without management present to

discuss the results of their examinations their evaluations of Symantecs internal controls and the overall quality

of Symantecs financial reporting

The Audit Committee also received the report of management contained in Symantecs Annual Report on

Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended March 30 2012 as well as KPMGs Report of Independent Registered Pub

lic Accounting Firm included in Symantecs Annual Report on Form 10-K related to its audit of the con

solidated financial statements and financial statement schedule and ii the effectiveness of internal control over

financial reporting The Audit Committee continues to oversee Symantecs efforts related to its internal control

over financial reporting and managements preparations for the evaluation in fiscal 2013

In reliance on the reviews and discussions referred to above the Audit Committee recommended to the

Board and the Board has approved that the audited financial statements be included in Symantecs Annual

Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended March 30 2012 for filing with the SEC

By The Audit Committee of the Board of Directors

Michael Brown member through July 24 2012

Frank Dangeard

Stephen Gillett

Robert Miller

Paul Unruh Chair
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ADDITIONAL INFORMATION

Stockholder Proposals for the 2013 Annual Meeting

Requirements for Stockholder Proposals to be Brought Before an Annual Meeting Symantecs Bylaws

provide that for stockholder nominations to the Board or other proposals to be considered at an annual meeting

the stockholder must give timely notice thereof in writing to the Corporate Secretary at Symantec Corporation

350 Ellis Street Mountain View California 94043 Attn Corporate Secretary

To be timely for the 2013 Annual Meeting of Stockholders stockholders notice must be delivered to or

mailed and received by our Corporate Secretary at our principal executive offices between June 25 2013 and

July 25 2013 stockholders notice to the Corporate Secretary must set forth as to each matter the stockholder

proposes to bring before the annual meeting the information required by Symantecs Bylaws

Requirements for Stockholder Proposals to be Considered for inclusion in Our Proxy Materials Stockholder

proposals submitted pursuant to Rule 14a-8 under the Exchange Act and intended to be presented at Symantecs

2013 annual meeting must be received by us not later than May 2013 in order to be considered for inclusion in

Symantecs proxy materials for that meeting

Available Information

Symantec will mail without charge upon written request copy of Symantecs Annual Report on Form

10-K for fiscal year 2012 including the financial statements schedule and list of exhibits and any exhibit

specifically requested Requests should be sent to

Symantec Corporation

350 Ellis Street

Mountain View California 94043

Attn Investor Relations

The Annual Report is also available at www.symantec.com

Householding Stockholders Sharing the Same Last Name and Address

The SEC has adopted rules that permit companies and intermediaries such as brokers to implement deliv

ery procedure called householding Under this procedure multiple stockholders who reside at the same address

may receive single copy of our annual report and proxy materials including the Notice of Internet Availability

unless the affected stockholder has provided contrary instructions This procedure reduces printing costs and

postage fees and helps protect the environment as well

This year number of brokers with account holders who are Symantec stockholders will be householding

our annual report and proxy materials including the Notice of Internet Availability single Notice of Internet

Availability and if applicable single set of annual report and other proxy materials will be delivered to multi

ple stockholders sharing an address unless contrary instructions have been received from the affected stock

holders Once you have received notice from your broker that it will be householding communications to your

address householding will continue until you are notified otherwise or until you revoke your consent Stock

holders may revoke their consent at any time by contacting Broadridge ICS either by calling toll-free 800 542-

1061 or by writing to Broadridge ICS Householding Department 51 Mercedes Way Edgewood New York

11717

Upon written or oral request Symantec will promptly deliver separate copy of the Notice of Internet Avail

ability and if applicable annual report and other proxy materials to any stockholder at shared address to which

single copy of any of those documents was delivered To receive separate copy of the Notice of Internet

Availability and if applicable annual report and other proxy materials you may write or call Symantecs

Investor Relations department at 350 Ellis Street Mountain View California 94043 Attn Investor Relations

telephone number 650 527-5523
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Any stockholders who share the same address and currently receive multiple copies of Symantecs Notice of

Internet Availability or annual report and other proxy materials who wish to receive only one copy in the future

can contact their bank broker or other holder of record to request information about householding or Symantecs

Investor Relations department at the address or telephone number listed above

OTHER MATTERS

The Board does not presently intend to bring any other business before the meeting and so far as is known

to the Board no matters are to be brought before the meeting except as specified in the notice of the meeting As

to any business that may arise and properly come before the meeting however it is intended that proxies in the

form enclosed will be voted in respect thereof in accordance with the judgment of the persons voting such prox

ies
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files Yes No Eli

Indicate by check mark if disclosure of delinquent filers pursuant to Item 405 of Regulation S-K is not contained herein

and will not be contained to the best of registrants knowledge in definitive proxy or information statements incorporated by

reference in Part III of this Form 10-K or any amendment to this Form 10-K

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is large accelerated filer an accelerated filer non-accelerated filer or

smaller reporting company See the definitions of large accelerated filer accelerated filer and smaller reporting

company in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act Check one

Large accelerated filer Accelerated filer Non-accelerated filer LI Smaller reporting company LI

Do not check if smaller reporting company

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is shell company as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange

Act Yes LI No

Aggregate market value of the voting stock held by non-affiliates of the registrant based upon the closing sale price of

Symantec common stock on September 30 2011 as reported on the Nasdaq Global Select Market $12043599957
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FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS AND FACTORS THAT MAY AFFECT FUTURE RESULTS

The discussion below contains forward-looking statements which are subject to safe harbors under the

Securities Act of 1933 as amended the Securities Act and the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 as amended

the Exchange Act Forward-looking statements include references to our ability to utilize our deferred tax

assets as well as statements including words such as expects plans anticipates believes estimates

predicts projects and similar expressions In addition statements that refer to projections of our future

financial performance anticipated growth and trends in our businesses and in our industries the anticipated

impacts of acquisitions and other characterizations of future events or circumstances are forward-looking

statements These statements are only predictions based on our current expectations about future events and may

not prove to be accurate We do not undertake any obligation to update these forward-looking statements to

reflect events occurring or circumstances arising after the date of this report These forward-looking statements

involve risks and uncertainties and our actual results performance or achievements could differ materially from

those expressed or implied by the forward-looking statements on the basis of several factors including those that

we discuss under Item 1A Risk Factors We encourage you to read that section carefully



PART

Item Business

Overview

Symantec is global provider of security storage and systems management solutions that help

organizations and consumers secure and manage their information-driven world Our software and services

protect against advanced threats enabling confidence wherever information is used or stored

Founded in 1982 Symantec has operations in over 50 countries and our principal executive offices are

located at 350 Ellis Street Mountain View California 94043 Our telephone number at that location is

650 527-8000 Our Internet home page is www.symantec.com Other than the information expressly set forth in

this annual report the information contained or referred to on our website is not part of this annual report

Strategy

Symantec is committed to protecting people and information independent of device platform or location

We deliver solutions that allow customers to access information via variety of devices when they need it and

make it available only to those who should have access to it Our objective is to continue growing our core

businesses which are further described below while driving growth from our emerging businesses and

delivering innovative new solutions to stay at the forefront of long-term trend opportunities Our strategy for

success includes delivering solutions that meet the needs of customers from consumers to the largest enterprises

and across all geographies We leverage our technology across multiple delivery models including cloud or

Software-as-a-Service SaaS fully-integrated appliances managed services and traditional on-premise

software to strengthen and differentiate our core businesses as well as drive growth in our emerging

opportunities

Symantecs core businesses operate in three primary markets security backup and recovery and storage

management

Security Protecting important information has become increasingly difficult as the sophistication and

determination of attackers continues to grow We develop and deliver essential protection for consumer

and enterprise customers so that they can protect information wherever it resides whether in servers

computers mobile devices or in the cloud We will continue to focus on leading innovation and research

as we seek to keep us ahead of the rapidly changing threat environment in order to keep our customers

information safe

Back-up and Recovery Effective backup recovery and eDiscovery continue to be high priorities as

organizations seek to better manage information growth and maximize operational efficiency in both

physical and virtual environments For enterprise customers we have simplified the purchase and

deployment process by combining our leading backup recovery and deduplication technologies in either

integrated backup appliances or on-premise software solutions effective in both virtual and physical

environments Consumers are also creating unprecedented amounts of digital information that they want

to protect We offer consumers cloud-based backup

Storage Management Enterprises are increasingly under pressure to reduce costs by optimizing storage

utilization and accelerating cloud and virtualization adoption In the datacenter we provide hardware

agnostic storage management and high-availability solutions to manage heterogeneous storage

infrastructure and run mission critical applications with confidence in both physical and virtual

environments

We are also strategically investing in emerging businesses which grow faster than our core businesses

These include data loss prevention managed security services user authentication backup appliances

eDiscovery cloud-based backup consumer services and business critical services Businesses are increasingly



adopting cloud virtualization and mobile technologies to reduce the cost of their IT infrastructures and enhance

access to their information Our broad portfolio of capabilities positions us to also capitalize on our key growth

initiatives in cloud virtualization and mobile technologies

Cloud-based computing services We have broad portfolio of cloud-delivered solutions from SaaS

security to online backup and archiving For customers adopting public and private cloud-based solutions

we offer protection platform that ensures information remains secure

Virtualization capabilities Our leading backup security and storage management solutions can be

deployed in both physical and virtual environments Through single management console customers

can secure manage and backup their virtual environments from the datacenter to the endpoint

Mobilily solutions Our enterprise mobility solutions extend corporate security policies to personally

owned devices allowing employees to bring their own device to work without compromising information

security Our consumer solutions deliver unique services for smart phones and tablets combining anti-

theft features with powerful anti-malware to protect users important data from loss theft viruses and

other threats

Business Developments and Highlights

During fiscal 2012 we took the following actions in support of our business strategy

We released new solutions for mobile management to extend native controls to activate secure and

manage Apple iOS devices We shipped data loss prevention DLP for Tablets to extend DLP software

to new mobile endpoints We delivered nine new mobile solutions for consumers to protect information

against top of mind concerns such as anti-theft identity protection and safe web searching for mobile

devices

We released new solutions for the cloud such as 03 Cloud Identity and Access Control which leverages

an enterprises existing identity infrastructure to enable single sign-on across multiple web applications

We delivered variety of SaaS offerings including cloud-based solutions for endpoint protection backup

and archiving

We released new solutions for Small and Medium Businesses SMB including backup software

featuring simplified user interface designed for the growing business and enterprise-class threat

detection technologies with simple-to-use features and performance improvements

We released new solutions for the enterprise NetBackup delivers backup recovery and deduplication

software providing faster backup speeds Snapshot management and simplified search and recovery

functionality We shipped backup appliance that protects virtual and physical systems and is fully

integrated with deduplication technology Backup Exec is deployable in virtualized environments

Endpoint protection secures against todays sophisticated threats for both physical and virtual

environments We delivered storage management software allowing customers to use their existing

infrastructure to build and manage resilient private clouds that span multiple virtualization technologies

operating systems and storage platforms We jointly developed with VMware Application High

Availability enabling organizations to virtualize their business critical applications with service levels at

or above traditional physical environments Data Insight is software to track ownership and
usage

of

unstructured data in large enterprise environments

We released new solutions for the consumer that allows customers to purchase and manage security for

multiple devices and platforms all from single cloud-based console with the help of dedicated support

advisors We shipped comprehensive protection across multiple devices and platforms such as Android

Windows and Macintosh We delivered new versions of our Norton 360 Norton Internet Security and

Norton AntiVirus the industrys leading security for Windows and Macs along with new version of

Norton Online Backup and portfolio of mobile protection applications



We acquired the following companies Clearwell Systems Inc Clearwell recognized leader in the

eDiscovery market to provide customers with comprehensive information management solution by

bringing together eDiscovery archiving and backup products We extended our cloud portfolio with the

acquisition of LiveOffice LLC LiveOffice SaaS-based archiving provider to extend our

information management solution to the cloud or as hybrid solution We also acquired mobile device

company that provides customers with management foundation to enroll and manage necessary
device

settings across broad range of platforms

We sold our share of the Huawei Symantec joint venture to Huawei for $530 million We exited the joint

venture with return on investment We grew our appliance business and increased our market

penetration in China

We repurchased 51 million shares of our common stock for an aggregate amount of $893 million

Operating Segments and Products

Our operating segments are strategic business units that offer different products and services distinguished

by customer needs We have five operating segments Consumer Security and Compliance Storage and Server

Management Services and Other

Consumer

Our Consumer segment helps customers deal with increasingly complex threats the proliferation of smart

mobile devices the need for identity protection and the rapid increase in digital consumer data such as photos

music and videos For individual users and home offices we offer premium full-featured security suites and

personalized membership offerings for multiple platforms and devices including PCs Macs and Android-based

phones and tablets as well as related services such as online backup family safety and PC tune-up

We continue to acquire customers through diversified channel strategy We retain and leverage our large

customer base through auto-renewal subscriptions seek to up-sell customers from point products to multi-

product suites and cross-sell additional products and services We also provide variety of free tools and

services that offer consumers added value and provide an opportunity to develop ongoing communication

Our award-winning Norton 2012 products include our innovative reputation-based security technology

that provides real-time threat detection During fiscal 2012 we introduced multiple new mobile solutions

including Norton One premium membership service that allows consumers to buy and manage their security

software across wide
range

of platforms and devices through cloud-based management console and provides

personalized experience with premium support Our primary consumer products include Norton 360 Norton

Internet Security Norton AntiVirus Norton Online Backup Norton Mobile Security Norton Live Services and

our newly released Norton One and Norton 360 Everywhere

Security and Compliance

Our Security and Compliance solutions help organizations protect their information and systems Our

solutions not only provide the strongest protections but help organizations standardize automate and reduce the

costs of day-to-day security activities We offer security solutions that integrate multiple layers of protection and

simplify management Our primary solutions in this segment address the following areas

Threat and Risk Management

Our threat and risk management solutions allow customers to develop and enforce IT policies automate IT

risk management processes and demonstrate compliance with industry standards and regulations Organizations

are provided the visibility and security intelligence needed to identify when they are under attack so that they can

respond rapidly In addition our Managed Security Services extend our security expertise through combination

of fully managed onsite activities on-call assistance and remote monitoring Products include Security Incident

Management SIM Managed Security Services and Control Compliance Suite



Infrastructure Protection

We provide solutions that allow customers to secure their endpoints messaging and Web environments in

addition to defending critical servers either physically or virtually Our solutions include market leading

technologies which leverage our global intelligence network making them some of the most effective and fastest

performing solutions for identifying and stopping the latest attacks In addition we keep systems safe by

protecting their connections Our enterprise authentication services enable organizations to protect assets by

ensuring the true identity of device system or application and using Secure Socket Layer SSL to encrypt

data in transit Products include Endpoint Protection for enterprise and small business Protection Suites Mail

and Web Security and Trust Services

Information and Identity Protection

We help businesses proactively protect their information by taking content-aware approach This includes

enabling businesses to identify the owners of specific information locating sensitive data and identifying those

with access to it and encrypting and preventing sensitive material from leaving an organization In addition we
offer two-factor authentication and cloud-based single sign-on to better protect the identities of an organizations

employees Products include Data Loss Prevention Data Insight Encryption 03 Validation and Identity

Protection and Managed Public Key Infrastructure PKI

Mobility and Systems Management

Our mobile solutions help organizations embrace the Bring Your Own Device trend by allowing users to

select their devices of choice while securing corporate data gaining visibility and control of all mobile platforms

and enforcing security policies Systems management capabilities help IT organizations provide faster and more

predictable service to their businesses Our integrated solutions ensure that organizations are able to easily

support new technology changes quickly adapt to changing processes and business needs and provide the

necessary insight to make more intelligent data-driven decisions Products include Mobile Management Device

and Application Management and IT Management Suite

Cloud-Delivered Security Services

Our SaaS offerings provide customers the flexibility to manage their business requirements using hosted

services across wide range of our security and backup solutions Services include the Symantec.cloud portfolio

and SSL Certificates

Storage and Server Management

Our Storage and Server Management segment consists of information management and storage management

solutions We enable organizations to secure and manage the information-driven world by leveraging our backup

and recovery archiving eDiscovery storage management and high availability solutions Our offerings enable

companies to standardize on single layer of infrastructure software work on all major distributed operating

systems and support storage devices databases and applications in both physical and virtual environments

intelligent Information Management

Our Intelligent Information Management business which includes software appliances and SaaS based

offerings is driven by the rapid growth of information data duplication and virtual environments We help SMB
and enterprise organizations protect their information With our solutions customers can back up and deduplicate

data closer to information sources to reduce storage consumption Our archive eDiscovery and intelligent

information governance solutions allow organizations to bridge the gap between their business legal and IT

groups and reduce their risks and costs Products include NetBackup Backup Exec Enterprise Vault Enterprise

Vault.cloud and eDiscovery



Storage Management and High Availability

Our Storage Management and High Availability business is driven by our customers need to maintain high

service levels and reduce overall storage costs through improved utilization of existing systems virtualization

and cloud infrastructure offerings Our products help customers simplify their datacenters by standardizing

storage management across their environment for more efficient and effective use of their existing storage

investments With our solutions customers can build scalable high-performance file-based storage systems

onsite or in private or hybrid clouds utilizing commodity hardware They also enable enterprises to manage large

storage environments and ensure the availability of critical applications across physical and virtual environments

Products include Storage Foundation Cluster Server Operations Manager ApplicationHA Data Insight and

VirtualStore

Services

We deliver business critical consulting and education services Symantec Services help customers address

information security availability storage and compliance challenges at the endpoint and in complex multi-

vendor datacenter environments

Other

The Other segment includes sunset products and unallocated general and administrative costs and is not

considered an active business component of the Company

Financial Information by Segment and Geographic Region

For information regarding our revenue by segment revenue by geographical area and property and

equipment by geographical area see Note 10 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements in this annual

report For information regarding the amount and percentage of our revenue contributed by each of our segments

and our financial information including information about geographic areas in which we operate see Item

Managements Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations and Note 10 of the

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements in this annual report For information regarding risks associated with

our international operations see Item 1A Risk Factors

Sales and Go-To-Market Strategy

Our go-to-market network includes direct sales force broad eCommerce capabilities and channel sales

resources that support our ecosystem of partners worldwide We also maintain important relationships with

number of Original Equipment Manufacturers OEMs Internet Service Providers ISPs and retail and

online stores by which we market and sell our products

Consumer

We sell our consumer products and services to individuals and home offices globally through network of

distribution partners and eCommerce channels Our products are available to customers through our eCommerce

platform distributors direct marketers Internet-based resellers system builders ISPs wireless carriers and in

retail locations worldwide We have partnerships with OEMs globally to distribute our Internet security suites

and our online backup offerings

Consumer sales through our electronic distribution channels which include our eCommerce portal OEMs
electronic upgrades and renewals represented 86 percent of consumer revenue in fiscal 2012 while 14 percent of

consumer sales came primarily from the retail channel



Small and Medium Business

We sell and market our products and related services to small business customers through partner channel

consisting of SMB Specialized Partners around the world who are specifically trained and certified to sell our

solutions This group includes value-added resellers large account resellers and managed service providers

across all levels of the Symantec partner program Our products tailored specifically for the needs of small

businesses with up to 250 employees are also available on our eCommerce platform as well as through

authorized distributors and OEMs who incorporate our technologies into their products bundle our products with

their offerings or serve as authorized resellers of our products

Enterprise

We sell and market our products and related services to enterprise customers through our direct sales force

of more than 4500 sales employees and through variety of indirect sales channels which include value-added

resellers managed service providers large account resellers and system integrators We also sell our products to

businesses around the world through authorized distributors and OEMs who incorporate our technologies into

their products bundle our products with their offerings or serve as authorized resellers of our products Our sales

efforts are primarily targeted to senior executives and IT department personnel responsible for managing

companys IT initiatives

Marketing and Advertising

Our marketing expenditures relate primarily to advertising and promotion including demand generation and

product recognition Our advertising and promotion efforts include among other things electronic and print

advertising trade shows collateral production and all forms of direct marketing We also invest in cooperative

marketing campaigns with distributors resellers retailers OEMs and industry partners

We invest in various retention marketing and customer loyalty programs to help drive renewals and

encourage customer advocacy and referrals We also provide focused vertical marketing programs in targeted

industries and countries

We typically offer two types of rebate programs within most countries volume incentive rebates to channel

partners and promotional rebates to distributors and end users Distributors and resellers earn volume incentive

rebates primarily based upon the amount of product sales to end users We also offer rebates to end users who

purchase products through various resale channels Both volume incentive rebates and end-user rebates are

accrued as an offset to revenue

Research and Development

Symantec embraces global research and development RD strategy to drive organic innovation

Engineers and researchers throughout the Company pursue advanced projects to translate RD into customer

solutions by creating new technologies and integrating our unique set of technology assets Symantec focuses on

short medium and long-term applied research develops new products in emerging areas participates in

government-funded research projects drives industry standards and partners with universities to conduct

research supporting Symantecs strategy

Symantecs Security Technology and Response organization is global team of security engineers threat

analysts and researchers that provides the underlying functionality content and support for all enterprise SMB
and consumer security products Our security experts monitor malicious code reports collected through the

Global Intelligence Network to provide insight into emerging attacks malicious code activity phishing spam
and other threats The team uses this vast intelligence to develop new technologies and approaches such as

Symantecs reputation-based security technology to protect customer information



Research and development expenses exclusive of in-process research and development associated with

acquisitions were $969 million $862 million and $857 million in fiscal 2012 2011 and 2010 respectively

representing approximately 14% of revenue in the respective periods We believe that technical leadership is

essential to our success and we expect to continue to commit substantial resources to research and development

Support

Symantec has centralized support facilities throughout the world staffed by technical product experts

knowledgeable in the operating environments in which our products are deployed Our technical support experts

assist customers with issue resolution and threat detection

We provide consumers with various levels of support offerings Consumers that subscribe to LiveUpdate

receive automatic downloads of the latest virus definitions application bug fixes and patches for most of our

consumer products Our standard consumer support program provides self-help online services and phone chat

and email support to consumers worldwide Our Norton One membership features elite-level support which

includes an under two-minute wait time for phone calls an instant call back feature and virus protection

assurance

We provide customers various levels of enterprise support offerings Our enterprise security support

program offers annual maintenance support contracts including content upgrades and technical
support Our

standard technical support includes self-service options delivered by telephone or electronically during the

contracted-for hours immediate patches for severe problems periodic software updates and access to our

technical knowledge base and frequently asked questions

Customers

In fiscal 2012 there were no significant customers that accounted for more than 10% of our total net

revenue In fiscal 2011 and 2010 one distributor Ingram Micro accounted for 10% of our total net revenue in

both periods Our distributor arrangements with Ingram Micro consist of several non-exclusive independently

negotiated agreements with its subsidiaries each of which cover different countries or regions Each of these

agreements is separately negotiated and is independent of any other contract such as master distribution

agreement and these agreements are not based on the same form of contract

Acquisitions

Our acquisitions are designed to enhance the features and functionality of our existing products and extend

our product leadership in core markets We consider time to market synergies with existing products and

potential market share gains when evaluating the economics of acquisitions of technologies product lines or

companies We may acquire or dispose of other technologies products and companies in the future

Among the acquisitions we completed during fiscal 2012 are

Company Name Company Description Date Acquired

Clearwell nonpublic provider of eDiscovery June 24 2011

solutions

LiveOffice nonpublic provider of message hosting January 13 2012

and integrated message and social media

management applications

For further discussion of our acquisitions see Note of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements in

this annual report
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Competition

Our markets are consolidating highly competitive and subject to rapid changes in technology We are

focused on integration across our broad product portfolio and are including next-generation technology

capabilities into our solution set to differentiate ourselves from the competition We believe that the principal

competitive factors necessary to be successful in our industry include product quality and effectiveness time to

market price reputation financial stability breadth of product offerings customer support brand recognition

and effective sales and marketing efforts

In addition to the competition we face from direct competitors we face indirect or potential competition

from retailers application providers operating system providers network equipment manufacturers and other

OEMs who may provide various solutions and functions in their current and future products We also compete

for access to retail distribution channels and for spending at the retail level and in corporate accounts In addition

we compete with other software companies operating system providers network equipment manufacturers and

other OEMs to acquire technologies products or companies and to publish software developed by third parties

We also compete with other software companies in our effort to place our products on the computer equipment

sold to consumers and enterprises by OEMs

The competitive environments for each segment are described below

Consumer

Some of the channels in which our consumer products are offered are highly competitive Our competitors

are intensely focused on customer acquisition which has led competitors to offer their technology for free

engage in aggressive marketing or enter into competitive partnerships Our primary competitors in the Consumer

segment are McAfee Inc owned by Intel Corporation McAfee and Trend Micro Inc Trend Micro
There are also several security companies and freeware providers that we compete against primarily in the

EMEA and APJ regions For our consumer backup offerings our primary competitors are Carbonite Inc and

Mozy Inc owned by EMC Corporation EMC

Security and Compliance

In the security and management markets we compete against many companies that offer competing

products to our solutions Our primary competitors in the security and management market are McAfee
Microsoft Corporation Microsoft and Trend Micro There are also several smaller regional security

companies that we compete against primarily in the EMEA and APJ regions In the authentication services

market our primary competitors are Comodo Group Inc RSA the security division of EMC Entrust Inc and

GoDaddy.com Inc In the SaaS security market our primary competitors are Google Inc.s Postini Services and

Microsoft Our primary competitors in the managed services business are SecureWorks Inc owned by Dell Inc

and Verizon Communications Inc

Storage and Server Management

The markets for storage management backup archiving and eDiscovery are intensely competitive Our

primary competitors are CommVault Systems Inc EMC Hewlett-Packard Company IBM and Oracle

Intellectual Property

Protective Measures

We regard some of the features of our internal operations software and documentation as proprietary and

rely on copyright patent trademark and trade secret laws confidentiality procedures contractual arrangements

and other measures to protect our proprietary information Our intellectual property is an important and valuable

asset that enables us to gain recognition for our products services and technology and enhance our competitive

position
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As part of our confidentiality procedures we generally enter into non-disclosure agreements with our

employees distributors and corporate partners and we enter into license agreements with respect to our software

documentation and other proprietary information These license agreements are generally non-transferable and

have perpetual term We also educate our employees on trade secret protection and employ measures to protect

our facilities equipment and networks

Trademarks Patents Copyrights and Licenses

Symantec and the Symantec logo are trademarks or registered trademarks in the U.S and other countries In

addition to Symantec and the Symantec logo we have used registered or applied to register other specific

trademarks and service marks to help distinguish our products technologies and services from those of our

competitors in the U.S and foreign countries and jurisdictions We enforce our trademark service mark and

trade name rights in the U.S and abroad The duration of our trademark registrations varies from country to

country and in the U.S we generally are able to maintain our trademark rights and renew any trademark

registrations for as long as the trademarks are in use

We have more than 1500 patents in addition to foreign patents and pending U.S and foreign patent

applications which relate to various aspects of our products and technology The duration of our patents is

determined by the laws of the country of issuance and for the U.S is typically 17 years from the date of issuance

of the patent or 20
years from the date of filing of the patent application resulting in the patent which we believe

is adequate relative to the expected lives of our products

Our products are protected under U.S and international copyright laws and laws related to the protection of

intellectual property and proprietary information We take measures to label such products with the appropriate

proprietary rights notices and we actively enforce such rights in the U.S and abroad However these measures

may not provide sufficient protection and our intellectual property rights may be challenged In addition we

license some intellectual
property

from third parties for use in our products and generally must rely on the third

party to protect the licensed intellectual property rights While we believe that our ability to maintain and protect

our intellectual property rights is important to our success we also believe that our business as whole is not

materially dependent on any particular patent trademark license or other intellectual property right

Seasonality

As is typical for many large software companies our business is seasonal Software license and maintenance

orders are generally higher in our third and fourth fiscal quarters and lower in our first and second fiscal quarters

decline in license and maintenance orders is typical in the first quarter of our fiscal year as compared to license

and maintenance orders in the fourth quarter of the prior fiscal year In addition we generally receive higher

volume of software license and maintenance orders in the last month of quarter with orders concentrated in the

latter part of that month We believe that this seasonality primarily reflects customer spending patterns and

budget cycles as well as the impact of compensation incentive plans for our sales personnel Revenue generally

reflects similar seasonal patterns but to lesser extent than orders because revenue is not recognized until an

order is shipped or services are performed and other revenue recognition criteria are met and because

significant portion of our in-period revenue comes from our deferred revenue balance

Employees

As of March 30 2012 we employed more than 20500 people worldwide approximately 45 percent of

whom reside in the U.S Approximately 7100 employees work in sales and marketing 6800 in research and

development 5100 in support and services and 1500 in management manufacturing and administration
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Available Information

Our Internet address is www.symantec.com We make available free of charge our annual reports on

Form 10-K quarterly reports on Form 10-Q current reports on Form 8-K and amendments to those reports as

soon as reasonably practicable after we electronically file such material with the Securities and Exchange

Commission SEC on our investor relations website located at www.symantec.com/invest The information

contained or referred to on our website is not part of this annual report unless expressly noted The SEC

maintains website that contains reports proxy and information statements and other information regarding our

filings at http//www.sec.gov

Item 1A Risk Factors

description of the risk factors associated with our business is set forth below The list is not exhaustive

and you should carefully consider these risks and uncertainties before investing in our common stock

Fluctuations in demand for our products and services are driven by many factors and decrease in

demand for our products could adversely affect our financial results

We are subject to fluctuations in demand for our products and services due to variety of factors including

general economic conditions competition product obsolescence technological change shifts in buying patterns

financial difficulties and budget constraints of our current and potential customers levels of broadband usage

awareness of security threats to IT systems and other factors While such factors may in some periods increase

product sales fluctuations in demand can also negatively impact our product sales If demand for our products

and solutions declines whether due to general economic conditions or shift in buying patterns our revenues

and margins would likely be adversely affected

If we are unable to develop new and enhanced products and services that achieve widespread market

acceptance or if we are unable to continually improve the performance features and reliability of our

existing products and services or adapt our business model to keep pace with industry trends our business

and operating results could be adversely affected

Our future success depends on our ability to respond to the rapidly changing needs of our customers by

developing or introducing new products product upgrades and services on timely basis We have in the past

incurred and will continue to incur significant research and development expenses as we strive to remain

competitive New product development and introduction involves significant commitment of time and

resources and is subject to number of risks and challenges including

Managing the length of the development cycle for new products and product enhancements which has

frequently been longer than we originally expected

Adapting to emerging and evolving industry standards and to technological developments by our

competitors and customers

Extending the operation of our products and services to new and evolving platforms operating systems

and hardware products such as mobile devices

Entering into new or unproven markets with which we have limited experience including the delivery of

solutions in an appliance form factor

Managing new product and service strategies including integrating our various security and storage

technologies management solutions customer service and support into unified enterprise security and

storage solutions

Addressing trade compliance issues affecting our ability to ship our products

Developing or expanding efficient sales channels
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Obtaining sufficient licenses to technology and technical access from operating system software vendors

on reasonable terms to enable the development and deployment of interoperable products including

source code licenses for certain products with deep technical integration into operating systems

If we are not successful in managing these risks and challenges or if our new products product upgrades

and services are not technologically competitive or do not achieve market acceptance our business and operating

results could be adversely affected

We operate in highly competitive environment and our competitors may gain market share in the markets

for our products that could adversely affect our business and cause our revenues to decline

We operate in intensely competitive markets that experience rapid technological developments changes in

industry standards changes in customer requirements and frequent new product introductions and

improvements If we are unable to anticipate or react to these competitive challenges or if existing or new

competitors gain market share in any of our markets our competitive position could weaken and we could

experience decline in our sales that could adversely affect our business and operating results To compete

successfully we must maintain an innovative research and development effort to develop new products and

services and enhance existing products and services effectively adapt to changes in the technology or product

rights held by our competitors appropriately respond to competitive strategies and effectively adapt to

technological changes and changes in the ways that our information is accessed used and stored within our

enterprise and consumer markets If we are unsuccessful in responding to our competitors or to changing

technological and customer demands our competitive position and our financial results could be adversely

affected

Our traditional competitors include independent software vendors that offer software products that directly

compete with our product offerings We expect that competition will intensify as result of future software

industry consolidation In addition to competing with these vendors directly for sales to end-users of our

products we compete with them for the opportunity to have our products bundled with the product offerings of

our strategic partners such as computer hardware OEMs and ISPs Our competitors could gain market share from

us if any of these strategic partners replace our products with the products of our competitors or if these partners

more actively promote our competitors products than our products In addition software vendors who have

bundled our products with theirs may choose to bundle their software with their own or other vendors software

or may limit our access to standard product interfaces and inhibit our ability to develop products for their

platform In the future further product development by these vendors could cause our software applications and

services to become redundant which could significantly impact our sales and financial results

We face growing competition from network equipment computer hardware manufacturers large operating

system providers and other technology companies These firms are increasingly developing and incorporating

into their products data protection and storage and server management software that competes at some levels

with our product offerings Our competitive position could be adversely affected to the extent that our customers

perceive the functionality incorporated into these products as replacing the need for our products

Security protection is also offered by some of our competitors at prices lower than our prices or in some

cases is offered free of charge Some companies offer the lower-priced or free security products within their

computer hardware or software products that we believe are inferior to our products and SaaS offerings Our

competitive position could be adversely affected to the extent that our customers perceive these security products

as replacing the need for more effective full featured products and services such as those that we provide The

expansion of these competitive trends could have significant negative impact on our sales and financial results

by causing among other things price reductions of our products reduced profitability and loss of market share

Many of our competitors have greater financial technical sales marketing or other resources than we do

and consequently may have the ability to influence customers to purchase their products instead of ours Further

consolidation within our industry or other changes in the competitive environment such as Intel Corporations
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acquisition of McAfee could result in larger competitors that compete with us on several levels We also face

competition from many smaller companies that specialize in particular segments of the markets in which we

compete

Our business models present execution and competitive risks

In recent years our SaaS offerings have become increasingly critical in our business Our competitors are

rapidly developing and deploying SaaS offerings for consumers and business customers Pricing and delivery

models are evolving Devices and form factors influence how users access services in the cloud We are devoting

significant resources to develop and deploy our own SaaS strategies We cannot assure you that our investments

in and development of SaaS offerings will achieve the expected returns for us or that we will be able to compete

successfully in the marketplace In addition to software development costs we are incurring costs to build and

maintain infrastructure to support SaaS offerings These costs may reduce the operating margins we have

previously achieved Whether we are successful in this business model depends on our execution in number of

areas including

Continuing to innovate and bring to market compelling cloud-based experiences that generate increasing

traffic and market share and

Ensuring that our SaaS offerings meet the reliability expectations of our customers and maintain the

security of their data

Our increasing focus on the delivery of products in an appliance formfactor creates new business and

financial risks

During fiscal 2012 we began shipping more products to customers in an appliance form factor and we

expect this trend to continue The delivery of solutions in the form of appliances creates new business and

financial risks including the following

increased cost of components and contract manufacturing as we do not own our manufacturing facilities

supply chain issues including financial problems of contract manufacturers or component suppliers

shortage of adequate component supply or manufacturing capacity that increases our costs and/or causes

delay in order fulfillment

excess inventory levels which could lead to write-downs or obsolescence charges

additional reserves for product returns

challenges in managing our channel business

tax and trade compliance complications and

local field support of customers appliances

We cannot assure you that we will continue to have success in our appliance business

Defects or disruptions in our SaaS offerings could reduce demand for our services and subject us to

substantial liability

Our SaaS offerings may contain errors or defects that users identify after they begin using them that could

result in unanticipated service interruptions which could harm our reputation and our business Since our

customers use our SaaS offerings for mission-critical protection from threats to electronic information endpoint

devices and computer networks any errors defects disruptions in service or other performance problems with

our SaaS offerings could significantly harm our reputation and may damage our customers businesses If that

occurs customers could elect not to renew or delay or withhold payment to us we could lose future sales or

customers may make warranty or other claims against us which could result in an increase in our provision for

doubtful accounts an increase in collection cycles for accounts receivable or the expense and risk of litigation
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Risks related to the provision of our SaaS offerings could impair our ability to deliver our services and

could expose us to liability damage our brand and reputation or otherwise negatively impact our business

We currently serve our SaaS-based customers from hosting facilities located across the globe Damage to or

failure of any significant element of these hosting facilities could result in interruptions in our service which

could harm our customers and
expose us to liability Interruptions or failures in our service delivery could cause

customers to terminate their subscriptions with us could adversely affect our renewal rates and could harm our

ability to attract new customers Our business would also be harmed if our customers believe that our SaaS

offerings are unreliable As we continue to offer more of our software products in SaaS-based delivery model

all of these risks could be exacerbated

Our SaaS offerings also involve the storage and transmission of large amounts of our customers proprietary

information including sensitive and personally identifiable information Breaches of our security measures or the

accidental loss inadvertent disclosure or unapproved dissemination of proprietary information or sensitive or

confidential data about us or our customers including the potential loss or disclosure of such information or data

as result of fraud or other forms of deception could expose us our customers or the individuals affected to

risk of loss or misuse of this information result in litigation and potential liability for us damage our brand and

reputation or otherwise negatively impact our business Despite our precautions and significant ongoing

investments to protect against such breaches our security measures could be breached at any time and could

result in unauthorized third parties obtaining access to our or our customers data Any actual or perceived

security vulnerabilities in our SaaS offerings could reduce sales and constrain consumer and business customer

adoption of our SaaS offering In addition the cost and operational consequences of implementing further

security measures could be significant

If we fail to manage our sales and distribution channels effectively or our partners choose not to market

and sell our products to their customers our operating results could be adversely affected

We sell our products to customers around the world through multi-tiered sales and distribution networks

Sales through these different channels involve distinct risks including the following

Direct Sales significant portion of our revenues from enterprise products is derived from sales by our

direct sales force to end-users Special risks associated with direct sales include

Longer sales cycles associated with direct sales efforts

Difficulty in hiring retaining and motivating our direct sales force

Substantial amounts of training for sales representatives to become productive in selling our products and

services including regular updates to cover new and revised products and associated delays and

difficulties in recognizing the expected benefits of investments in new products and updates

Indirect Sales Channels significant portion of our revenues is derived from sales through indirect

channels including distributors that sell our products to end-users and other resellers This channel involves

number of risks including

Our lack of control over the timing of delivery of our products to end-users

Our resellers and distributors are generally not subject to minimum sales requirements or any obligation

to market our products to their customers

Our reseller and distributor agreements are generally nonexclusive and may be terminated at any time

without cause

Our resellers and distributors frequently market and distribute competing products and may from time to

time place greater emphasis on the sale of these products due to pricing promotions and other terms

offered by our competitors
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Recent consolidation of electronics retailers has increased their negotiating power with respect to

hardware and software providers

OEM Sales Channels significant portion of our revenues is derived from sales through our OEM

partners that incorporate our products into or bundle our products with their products Our reliance on this sales

channel involves many risks including

Our lack of control over the volume of systems shipped and the timing of such shipments

Our OEM partners are generally not subject to minimum sales requirements or any obligation to market

our products to their customers

Our OEM partners may terminate or renegotiate their arrangements with us and new terms may be less

favorable due to competitive conditions in our markets and other factors

Sales through our OEM partners are subject to changes in general economic conditions strategic

direction competitive risks and other issues that could result in reduction of OEM sales

The development work that we must generally undertake under our agreements with our OEM partners

may require us to invest significant resources and incur significant costs with little or no assurance of ever

receiving associated revenues

The time and expense required for the sales and marketing organizations of our OEM partners to become

familiar with our products may make it more difficult to introduce those products to the market

Our OEM partners may develop market and distribute their own products and market and distribute

products of our competitors which could reduce our sales

If we fail to manage our sales and distribution channels successfully these channels may conflict with one

another or otherwise fail to perform as we anticipate which could reduce our sales and increase our expenses as

well as weaken our competitive position Some of our distribution partners have experienced financial difficulties

in the past and if our partners suffer financial difficulties in the future because of general economic conditions or

for other reasons these partners may delay paying their obligations to us and we may have reduced sales or

increased bad debt expense that could adversely affect our operating results In addition reliance on multiple

channels subjects us to events that could cause unpredictability in demand which could increase the risk that we

may be unable to plan effectively for the future and could result in adverse operating results in future periods

We are currently planning and designing information systems enhancements and problems with the design

or implementation of these enhancements could interfere with our business and operations

We are currently in the process of significantly enhancing our information systems including planning and

designing new enterprise resource planning system The implementation of significant enhancements to

information systems is frequently disruptive to the underlying business of an enterprise which may especially be

the case for us due to the size and complexity of our businesses Any disruptions relating to our systems

enhancements particularly any disruptions impacting our operations during the design or implementation

periods could adversely affect our ability to process customer orders ship products provide services and support

to our customers bill and track our customers fulfill contractual obligations and otherwise run our business

Even if we do not encounter these adverse effects the planning designing and implementation may be much

more costly than we anticipated If we are unable to successfully plan design or implement the information

systems enhancements as planned our financial position results of operations and cash flows could be

negatively impacted
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We have grown and may continue to grow through acquisitions which gives rise to risks and challenges

that could adversely affect ourfuture financial results

We have in the past acquired and we expect to acquire in the future other businesses business units and

technologies Acquisitions can involve number of special risks and challenges including

Complexity time and costs associated with the integration of acquired business operations workforce

products and technologies

Diversion of management time and attention

Loss or termination of employees including costs associated with the termination or replacement of those

employees

Assumption of liabilities of the acquired business including litigation related to the acquired business

The addition of acquisition-related debt as well as increased expenses and working capital requirements

Dilution of stock ownership of existing stockholders

Substantial accounting charges for restructuring and related expenses write-off of in-process research and

development impairment of goodwill amortization of intangible assets and stock-based compensation

expense

If integration of our acquired businesses is not successful we may not realize the potential benefits of an

acquisition or suffer other adverse effects To integrate acquired businesses we must implement our technology

systems in the acquired operations and integrate and manage the personnel of the acquired operations We also

must effectively integrate the different cultures of acquired business organizations into our own in way that

aligns various interests and may need to enter new markets in which we have no or limited experience and where

competitors in such markets have stronger market positions

Any of the foregoing and other factors could harm our ability to achieve anticipated levels of profitability

from our acquired businesses or to realize other anticipated benefits of acquisitions

Our financial condition and results of operations could be adversely affected if we do not effectively

manage our liabilities

As result of the sale of our 1.00% convertible senior notes 1.00% notes in June 2006 and 2.75% senior

notes 2.75% notes and 4.20% senior notes 4.20% notes collectively referred to as the Senior Notes in

September 2010 we have notes outstanding in an aggregate principal amount of $2.1 billion that mature at

specific dates in calendar years 2013 2015 and 2020 with approximately half of this indebtedness due in June

2013 In addition we have entered into credit facility with borrowing capacity of $1 billion From time to

time in the future we may also incur indebtedness in addition to the amount available under our credit facility

The maintenance of our debt levels could adversely affect our flexibility to take advantage of certain corporate

opportunities and could adversely affect our financial condition and results of operations We may be required to

use all or substantial portion of our cash balance to repay these notes on maturity unless we can obtain new

financing

Adverse global economic events may harm our business operating results and financial condition

Adverse macroeconomic conditions could negatively affect our business operating results or financial

condition under number of different scenarios During challenging economic times and periods of high

unemployment current or potential customers may delay or forgo decisions to license new products or additional

instances of existing products upgrade their existing hardware or operating environments which upgrades are

often catalyst for new purchases of our software or purchase services Customers may also have difficulties in

obtaining the requisite third-party financing to complete the purchase of our products and services An adverse

macroeconomic environment could also subject us to increased credit risk should customers be unable to pay us
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or delay paying us for previously purchased products and services Accordingly reserves for doubtful accounts

and write-offs of accounts receivable may increase In addition weakness in the market for end users of our

products could harm the cash flow of our distributors and resellers who could then delay paying their obligations

to us or experience other financial difficulties This would further increase our credit risk exposure and

potentially cause delays in our recognition of revenue on sales to these customers

In addition the onset or continuation of adverse economic conditions may make it more difficult either to

utilize our existing debt capacity or otherwise obtain financing for our operations investing activities including

potential acquisitions or financing activities Specific economic trends such as declines in the demand for PCs

servers and other computing devices or softness in corporate information technology spending could have an

even more direct and harmful impact on our business

Our international operations involve risks that could increase our expenses adversely affect our operating

results and require increased time and attention of our management

We derive substantial portion of our revenues from customers located outside of the U.S and we have

significant operations outside of the U.S including engineering sales customer support and production We
plan to expand our international operations but such expansion is contingent upon the financial performance of

our existing international operations as well as our identification of growth opportunities Our international

operations are subject to risks in addition to those faced by our domestic operations including

Potential loss of proprietary information due to misappropriation or laws that may be less protective of

our intellectual property rights than U.S laws or that may not be adequately enforced

Requirements of foreign laws and other governmental controls including trade and labor restrictions and

related laws that reduce the flexibility of our business operations

Regulations or restrictions on the use import or export of encryption technologies that could delay or

prevent the acceptance and use of encryption products and public networks for secure communications

Local business and cultural factors that differ from our normal standards and practices including business

practices that we are prohibited from engaging in by the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act and other anti-

corruption laws and regulations

Central bank and other restrictions on our ability to repatriate cash from our international subsidiaries or

to exchange cash in international subsidiaries into cash available for use in the U.S

Fluctuations in currency exchange rates economic instability and inflationary conditions could reduce

our customers ability to obtain financing for software products or that could make our products more

expensive or could increase our costs of doing business in certain countries

Limitations on future growth or inability to maintain current levels of revenues from international sales if

we do not invest sufficiently in our international operations

Longer payment cycles for sales in foreign countries and difficulties in collecting accounts receivable

Difficulties in staffing managing and operating our international operations including difficulties related

to administering our stock plans in some foreign countries

Difficulties in coordinating the activities of our geographically dispersed and culturally diverse operations

Seasonal reductions in business activity in the summer months in Europe and in other periods in other

countries

Costs and delays associated with developing software and providing support in multiple languages

Political unrest war or terrorism or regional natural disasters particularly in areas in which we have

facilities
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significant portion of our transactions outside of the U.S are denominated in foreign currencies

Accordingly our revenues and expenses will continue to be subject to fluctuations in foreign currency rates We

expect to be affected by fluctuations in foreign currency rates in the future especially if international sales

continue to grow as percentage of our total sales or our operations outside the United States continue to

increase

The level of corporate tax from sales to our non-U.S customers is generally less than the level of tax from

sales to our U.S customers This benefit is contingent upon existing tax regulations in the U.S and in the

countries in which our international operations are located Future changes in domestic or international tax

regulations could adversely affect our ability to continue to realize these tax benefits

Our products are complex and operate in wide variety of computer configurations which could result in

errors or product failures

Because we offer very complex products undetected errors failures or bugs may occur especially when

products are first introduced or when new versions are released Our products are often installed and used in

large-scale computing environments with different operating systems system management software and

equipment and networking configurations which may cause errors or failures in our products or may expose

undetected errors failures or bugs in our products Our customers computing environments are often

characterized by wide variety of standard and non-standard configurations that make pre-release testing for

programming or compatibility errors very difficult and time-consuming In addition despite testing by us and

others errors failures or bugs may not be found in new products or releases until after commencement of

commercial shipments In the past we have discovered software errors failures and bugs in certain of our

product offerings after their introduction and in some cases have experienced delayed or lost revenues as

result of these errors

Errors failures or bugs in products released by us could result in negative publicity damage to our brand

product returns loss of or delay in market acceptance of our products loss of competitive position or claims by

customers or others Many of our end-user customers use our products in applications that are critical to their

businesses and may have greater sensitivity to defects in our products than to defects in other less critical

software products In addition if an actual or perceived breach of information integrity or availability occurs in

one of our end-user customers systems regardless of whether the breach is attributable to our products the

market perception of the effectiveness of our products could be harmed Alleviating any of these problems could

require significant expenditures of our capital and other resources and could cause interruptions delays or

cessation of our product licensing which could cause us to lose existing or potential customers and could

adversely affect our operating results

If we do not protect our proprietary information and prevent third parties from making unauthorized use of

our products and technology our financial results could be harmed

Most of our software and underlying technology is proprietary We seek to protect our proprietary rights

through combination of confidentiality agreements and procedures and through copyright patent trademark

and trade secret laws However all of these measures afford only limited protection and may be challenged

invalidated or circumvented by third parties Third parties may copy all or portions of our products or otherwise

obtain use distribute and sell our proprietary information without authorization

Third parties may also develop similar or superior technology independently by designing around our

patents Our shrink-wrap license agreements are not signed by licensees and therefore may be unenforceable

under the laws of some jurisdictions Furthermore the laws of some foreign countries do not offer the same level

of protection of our proprietary rights as the laws of the U.S and we may be subject to unauthorized use of our

products in those countries The unauthorized copying or use of our products or proprietary information could

result in reduced sales of our products Any legal action to protect proprietary information that we may bring or
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be engaged in with strategic partner or vendor could adversely affect our ability to access software operating

system and hardware platforms of such partner or vendor or cause such partner or vendor to choose not to offer

our products to their customers In addition any legal action to protect proprietary information that we may bring

or be engaged in alone or through our alliances with the Business Software Alliance BSA or the Software

Information Industry Association SIIA could be costly may distract management from day-to-day

operations and may lead to additional claims against us which could adversely affect our operating results

In January 2012 we became aware of disclosure of the source code for 2006-era versions of certain of our

Norton and pcAnywhere products which we believe was the result of theft of source code that occurred in

2006 Any unauthorized disclosure of significant portion of this source code could result in the loss of future

trade secret protection for that source code This could make it easier for third parties to compete with our

products by copying functionality which could adversely affect our revenue operating margins results of

operations and cash flows as well as our reputation Unauthorized disclosure of the source code also could

increase the security risks described under Our software products SaaS Offerings and website may be subject to

intentional disruption that could adversely impact our reputation and future sales below

From time to time we are party to class action and other lawsuits whkh often require significant

management time and attention and result in significant legal expenses and which could if not determined

favorably negatively impact our business financial condition results of operations and cash flows

We have been named as party to class action lawsuits and we may be named in additional litigation The

expense of defending such litigation may be costly and divert managements attention from the day-to-day

operations of our business which could adversely affect our business results of operations and cash flows In

addition an unfavorable outcome in such litigation could result in significant monetary damages or injunctive

relief that could negatively impact our ability to conduct our business results of operations and cash flows

Third parties claiming that we infringe their proprietary rights could cause us to incur significant legal

expenses and prevent us from selling our products

From time to time we receive claims that we have infringed the intellectual property rights of others

including claims regarding patents copyrights and trademarks Because of constant technological change in the

segments in which we compete the extensive patent coverage
of existing technologies and the rapid rate of

issuance of new patents it is possible that the number of these claims may grow In addition former employers

of our former current or future employees may assert claims that such employees have improperly disclosed to

us the confidential or proprietary information of these former employers Any such claim with or without merit

could result in costly litigation and distract management from day-to-day operations If we are not successful in

defending such claims we could be required to stop selling delay shipments of or redesign our products pay

monetary amounts as damages enter into royalty or licensing arrangements or satisfy indemnification

obligations that we have with some of our customers We cannot assure you that any royalty or licensing

arrangements that we may seek in such circumstances will be available to us on commercially reasonable terms

or at all We have made and expect to continue making significant expenditures to investigate defend and settle

claims related to the use of technology and intellectual property rights as part of our strategy to manage this risk

In addition we license and use software from third parties in our business These third party software

licenses may not continue to be available to us on acceptable terms or at all and may expose us to additional

liability This liability or our inability to use any of this third party software could result in shipment delays or

other disruptions in our business that could materially and adversely affect our operating results

Our software products SaaS Offerings and website may be subject to intentional disruption that could

adversely impact our reputation and future sales

Despite our precautions and significant ongoing investments to protect against security risks data protection

breaches cyber-attacks and other intentional disruptions of our products and offerings we expect to be an

ongoing target of attacks specifically designed to impede the performance of our products and offerings and harm
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our reputation as company Similarly experienced computer programmers may attempt to penetrate our

network security or the security of our website and misappropriate proprietary information or cause interruptions

of our services Because the techniques used by such computer programmers to access or sabotage networks

change frequently and may not be recognized until launched against target we may be unable to anticipate

these techniques The theft or unauthorized use or publication of our trade secrets and other confidential business

information as result of such an event could adversely affect our competitive position reputation brand and

future sales of our products and our customers may assert claims against us related to resulting losses of

confidential or proprietary information Our business could be subject to significant disruption and we could

suffer monetary and other losses and reputational harm in the event of such incidents and claims

Fluctuations in our quarterly financial results have affected the price of our common stock in the past and

could affect our stock price in the future

Our quarterly financial results have fluctuated in the past and are likely to vary significantly in the future

due to number of factors many of which are outside of our control and which could adversely affect our

operations and operating results If our quarterly financial results or our predictions of future financial results fail

to meet our expectations or the expectations of securities analysts and investors our stock price could be

negatively affected Any volatility in our quarterly financial results may make it more difficult for us to raise

capital in the future or pursue acquisitions that involve issuances of our stock Our operating results for prior

periods may not be effective predictors of our future performance

Factors associated with our industry the operation of our business and the markets for our products may
cause our quarterly financial results to fluctuate including

Reduced demand for any of our products

Entry of new competition into our markets

Competitive pricing pressure for one or more of our classes of products

Our ability to timely complete the release of new or enhanced versions of our products

Fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates

The number severity and timing of threat outbreaks e.g worms and viruses

Our resellers making substantial portion of their purchases near the end of each quarter

Enterprise customers tendency to negotiate site licenses near the end of each quarter

Cancellation deferral or limitation of orders by customers

Changes in the mix or type of products sold particularly as our business continues to evolve into new

models such as SaaS and appliances

Movements in interest rates

The rate of adoption of new product technologies and new releases of operating systems

Weakness or uncertainty in general economic or industry conditions in any of the multiple markets in

which we operate that could reduce customer demand and ability to pay for our products and services

Political and military instability which could slow spending within our target markets delay sales cycles

and otherwise adversely affect our ability to generate revenues and operate effectively

Budgetary constraints of customers which are influenced by corporate earnings and government budget

cycles and spending objectives

Disruptions in our business operations or target markets caused by among other things earthquakes

floods or other natural disasters affecting our headquarters located in Silicon Valley California an area

known for seismic activity or our other locations worldwide
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Acts of war or terrorism

Intentional disruptions by third parties

Health or similar issues such as pandemic

Any of the foregoing factors could cause the trading price of our common stock to fluctuate significantly

Some of our products contain open source software and any failure to comply with the terms of one or

more of these open source licenses could negatively affect our business

Certain of our products are distributed with software licensed by its authors or other third parties under

so-called open source licenses which may include by way of example the GNU General Public License

GPL GNU Lesser General Public License LGPL the Mozilla Public License the BSD License and the

Apache License Some of these licenses contain requirements that we make available source code for

modifications or derivative works we create based upon the open source software and that we license such

modifications or derivative works under the terms of particular open source license or other license granting

third parties certain rights of further use By the terms of certain open source licenses we could be required to

release the source code of our proprietary software if we combine our proprietary software with open source

software in certain manner In addition to risks related to license requirements usage of open source software

can lead to greater risks than use of third party commercial software as open source licensors generally do not

provide warranties or controls on origin of the software We have established processes to help alleviate these

risks including review process for screening requests from our development organizations for the use of open

source but we cannot be sure that all open source is submitted for approval prior to use in our products In

addition many of the risks associated with usage of open source cannot be eliminated and could if not properly

addressed negatively affect our business

If we are unable to adequately address increased customer demands on our technical support services our

relationships with our customers and our financial results may be adversely affected

We offer technical support services with many of our products We may be unable to respond quickly

enough to accommodate short-term increases in customer demand for support services We also may be unable to

modify the format of our support services to compete with changes in support services provided by competitors

or successfully integrate support for our customers Further customer demand for these services without

corresponding revenues could increase costs and adversely affect our operating results

We have outsourced substantial portion of our worldwide consumer support functions to third party

service providers If these companies experience financial difficulties do not maintain sufficiently skilled

workers and resources to satisfy our contracts or otherwise fail to perform at sufficient level under these

contracts the level of support services to our customers may be significantly disrupted which could materially

harm our relationships with these customers

Accounting charges may cause fluctuations in our quarterly financial results

Our financial results have been in the
past and may continue to be in the future materially affected by

non-cash and other accounting charges including

Amortization of intangible assets

Impairment of goodwill and other long-lived assets

Stock-based compensation expense

Restructuring charges

Loss on sale of business and similarwrite-downs of assets held for sale
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For example during fiscal 2009 we recorded non-cash goodwill impairment charge of $7.4 billion

resulting in significant net loss for the year Goodwill is evaluated annually for impairment in the fourth quarter

of each fiscal year or more frequently if events and circumstances warrant as we determined they did in the third

quarter of fiscal 2009 and our evaluation depends to large degree on estimates and assumptions made by our

management Our assessment of any impairment of goodwill is based on comparison of the fair value of each

of our reporting units to the carrying value of that reporting unit Our determination of fair value relies on

managements assumptions of our future revenues operating costs and other relevant factors If managements

estimates of future operating results change or if there are changes to other key assumptions such as the discount

rate applied to future operating results the estimate of the fair value of our reporting units could change

significantly which could result in goodwill impairment charge In addition we evaluate our other long-lived

assets including intangible assets whenever events or circumstances occur which indicate that the value of these

assets might be impaired If we determine that impairment has occurred we could incur an impairment charge

against the value of these assets

The foregoing types of accounting charges may also be incurred in connection with or as result of other

business acquisitions The price of our common stock could decline to the extent that our financial results are

materially affected by the foregoing accounting charges

If we are unable to attract and retain qualified employees lose key personnel fail to integrate replacement

personnel successfully or fail to manage our employee base effectively we may be unable to develop new

and enhanced products and services effectively manage or expand our business or increase our revenues

Our future success depends upon our ability to recruit and retain key management technical sales

marketing finance and other personnel Our officers and other key personnel are employees-at-will and we

cannot assure you that we will be able to retain them Competition for people with the specific skills that we

require is significant In order to attract and retain personnel in competitive marketplace we believe that we

must provide competitive compensation package including cash and equity-based compensation The volatility

in our stock price may from time to time adversely affect our ability to recruit or retain employees In addition

we may be unable to obtain required stockholder approvals of future increases in the number of shares available

for issuance under our equity compensation plans and accounting rules require us to treat the issuance of equity-

based compensation as compensation expense As result we may decide to issue fewer equity-based incentives

and may be impaired in our efforts to attract and retain necessary personnel If we are unable to hire and retain

qualified employees or conversely if we fail to manage employee performance or reduce staffing levels when

required by market conditions our business and operating results could be adversely affected

From time to time key personnel leave our company While we strive to reduce the negative impact of such

changes the loss of any key employee could result in significant disruptions to our operations including

adversely affecting the timeliness of product releases the successful implementation and completion of company

initiatives the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures and our internal control over financial

reporting and the results of our operations In addition hiring training and successfully integrating replacement

sales and other personnel could be time consuming may cause additional disruptions to our operations and may
be unsuccessful which could negatively impact future revenues

Our effective tax rate may increase which could increase our income tax expense and reduce increase our

net income loss

Our effective tax rate could be adversely affected by several factors many of which are outside of our

control including

Changes in the relative proportions of revenues and income before taxes in the various jurisdictions in

which we operate that have differing statutory tax rates

Changing tax laws regulations and interpretations in multiple jurisdictions in which we operate as well

as the requirements of certain tax rulings
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The tax effects of purchase accounting for acquisitions and restructuring charges that may cause

fluctuations between reporting periods

Tax assessments or any related tax interest or penalties could significantly affect our income tax expense

for the period in which the settlements take place

The price of our common stock could decline if our financial results are materially affected by an adverse

change in our effective tax rate

We report our results of operations based on our determination of the aggregate amount of taxes owed in the

tax jurisdictions in which we operate From time to time we receive notices that tax authority in particular

jurisdiction has determined that we owe greater amount of tax than we have reported to such authority We are

regularly engaged in discussions and sometimes disputes with these tax authorities We are engaged in disputes

of this nature at this time If the ultimate determination of our taxes owed in any of these jurisdictions is for an

amount in excess of the tax provision we have recorded or reserved for our operating results cash flows and

financial condition could be adversely affected

Our stock price may be volatile in the future and you could lose the value of your investment

The market price of our common stock has experienced significant fluctuations in the past and may continue

to fluctuate in the future and as result you could lose the value of your investment The market price of our

common stock may be affected by number of factors including

Announcements of quarterly operating results and revenue and earnings forecasts by us that fail to meet

or be consistent with our earlier projections or the expectations of our investors or securities analysts

Announcements by either our competitors or customers that fail to meet or be consistent with their earlier

projections or the expectations of our investors or securities analysts

Rumors announcements or press articles regarding our or our competitors operations management

organization financial condition or financial statements

Changes in revenue and earnings estimates by us our investors or securities analysts

Accounting charges including charges relating to the impairment of goodwill

Announcements of planned acquisitions or dispositions by us or by our competitors

Announcements of new or planned products by us our competitors or our customers

Gain or loss of significant customer partner reseller or distributor

Inquiries by the SEC NASDAQ law enforcement or other regulatory bodies

Acts of terrorism the threat of war and other crises or emergency situations

Economic slowdowns or the perception of an oncoming economic slowdown in any of the major markets

in which we operate

The stock market in general and the market prices of stocks of technology companies in particular have

experienced extreme price volatility that has adversely affected and may continue to adversely affect the market

price of our common stock for reasons unrelated to our business or operating results

Item lB Unresolved Staff Comments

There are currently no unresolved issues with respect to any Commission staffs written comments that were

received at least 180 days before the end of our fiscal year to which this report relates and that relate to our

periodic or current reports under the Exchange Act
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Item Properties

Our properties consist primarily of owned and leased office facilities for sales research and development

administrative customer service and technical support personnel Our corporate headquarters is located in

Mountain View California where we occupy facilities totaling approximately 1141000 square feet of which

723000 square feet is owned and 418000 square feet is leased We also lease an additional 157000 square feet

in the San Francisco Bay Area Our leased facilities are occupied under leases that expire on various dates

beyond fiscal 2018 The following table presents the approximate square footage of our facilities as of March 30

2012

Approximate Total Square

Footage

Location Owned Leased

In thousands

Americas 1750 1408

Europe Middle East and Africa 285 606

Asia Pacific/Japan 100 1493

Latin America 72

Total 2135 3579

Included in the total square footage above are vacant available-for-lease properties totaling approximately

395000 square feet Total square footage excludes approximately 132000 square
feet relating to facilities

subleased to third parties

We believe that our existing facilities are adequate for our current needs and that the productive capacity of

our facilities is substantially utilized

Item Legal Proceedings

Information with respect to this item may be found under the heading Commitments and Contingencies in

Note of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements in this annual report which information is incorporated

into this Item by reference

Item Mine Safety Disclosures

Not applicable

PART II

Item Market for Registrants Common Equity Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of

Equity Securities

Market for our common stock

Our common stock is traded on the Nasdaq Global Select Market under the symbol SYMC The high and

low sales prices set forth below are as reported on the Nasdaq Global Select Market

Fiscal 2012 FIscal 2011

Fourth Third Second First Fourth Third Second First

Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter

High $18.74 $18.88 $20.00 $20.50 $18.80 $18.24 $15.75 $17.47

Low $15.55 $14.94 $15.39 $17.97 $16.84 $14.76 $12.04 $13.58

As of March 30 2012 there were 2387 stockholders of record of Symantec common stock Symantec has

never declared or paid any cash dividends on its capital stock
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Repurchases of our equity securities

Stock repurchases during the three months ended March 30 2012 were as follows

Maximum Dollar

Value of Shares

That May Yet be

Total Number of Shares Purchased Under

Total Number of Average Price Purchased Under Publicly the Plans

Shares Purchased Paid Per Share Announced Plans or Programs or Programs

In millions except per share data

December 31 2011 to January 27

2012 $1184

January 28 2012 to February 24

2012 $17.85 $1103

February 25 2012 to March 30

2012 $17.89 984

Total 12 $17.88 12

We have had stock repurchase programs in the past and have repurchased shares on quarterly basis since

the fourth quarter of fiscal 2004 under various programs On January 25 2012 we announced that our Board of

Directors approved new $1 billion stock repurchase program This program does not have an expiration date

and as of March 30 2012 $984 million remained authorized for future repurchases For information regarding

our stock repurchase programs see Note of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements which information is

incorporated herein by reference
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Stock performance graph

This performance graph shall not be deemed filed for
purposes

of Section 18 of the Exchange Act or

otherwise subject to the liabilities under that Section and shall not be deemed to be incorporated by reference

into any filing of Symantec under the Securities Act or the Exchange Act

Comparison of cumulative total return March 31 2007 to March 30 2012

The graph below compares the cumulative total stockholder return on Symantec common stock from

March 31 2007 to March 30 2012 with the cumulative total return on the SP 500 Composite Index and the

SP Information Technology Index over the same period assuming the investment of $100 in Symantec

common stock and in each of the other indices on March 31 2007 and reinvestment of all dividends although

no dividends have been declared on Symantec common stock The comparisons in the graph below are based on

historical data and are not intended to forecast the possible future performance of Symantec common stock

COMPARISON OF YEAR CUMULATIVE TOTAL RETURN
Among Symantec Corporation The 500 Index

And The Information Technology Index
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SP500 100.00 94.92 58.77 88.02 101.79 110.48

Information Technology 100.00 99.57 69.63 110.02 123.10 147.98
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Item Selected Financial Data

The following selected consolidated financial data is derived from our Consolidated Financial Statements

This data should be read in conjunction with the Consolidated Financial Statements and related notes included in

this annual report and with Item Managements Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of

Operations Historical results may not be indicative of future results

Among the acquisitions we completed during the past five fiscal years are

Clearwell Systems Inc and LiveOffice LLC during fiscal 2012

Identity and authentication business of VeriSign Inc PGP Corporation and GuardianEdge

Technologies Inc during fiscal 2011

AppStream Inc SwapDrive Inc PC Tools Pty Limited and MessageLabs Group Limited during fiscal

2009

Altiris Inc and Vontu Inc during fiscal 2008

Each of these acquisitions was accounted for as business purchase and accordingly the operating results

of these businesses have been included in the Consolidated Financial Statements included in this annual report

since their respective dates of acquisition

Five-Year Summary

Fiscal

2012 2011 2010 2009 2008

In nililions except per share data

Consolidated Statements of Income Data

Net revenue 6730 6190 5985 6150 5874

Operating income lossc 1079 880 933 6470 602

Net income loss attributable to Symantec Corporation

stockholderscJ 1172 597 714 $6786 410

Net income loss per share attributable to Symantec

Corporation stockholders __basicc1 1.58 0.77 0.88 8.17 0.47

Net income loss per share attributable to Symantec

Corporation stockholders di1uted 1.57 0.76 0.87 8.17 0.46

Weighted-average shares outstanding attributable to

Symantec Corporation stockholders basic 741 778 810 831 868

Weighted-average shares outstanding attributable to

Symantec Corporation stockholders diluted 748 786 819 831 884

Consolidated Balance Sheet Data

Cash and cash equivalents 3162 2950 3029 1793 1890

Total assetsc 13020 12719 11232 10638 18085

Deferred revenue 3444 3321 2835 2644 2662

Current portion of long-term debtU 596

Long-term debteXO 2039 1987 1871 1766 1669

Long-term deferred revenue 529 498 371 419 415

Symantec Corporation stockholders equityc 5094 4528 4548 4147 $11229

Noncontrolling interest in subsidiary 78 77

Total stockholders equityc 5i72 4605 4548 4147 $11229

We have 52/53-week fiscal year Fiscal 2012 2011 2010 and 2008 were each comprised of 52 weeks of

operations Fiscal 2009 was comprised of 53 weeks of operations
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The summary reflects adjustments for the retrospective adoption of new authoritative guidance on

convertible debt instruments in fiscal 2010

During fiscal 2009 we recorded non-cash goodwill impairment charge of $7.4 billion

On February 2008 we formed Huawei-Symantec Inc joint venture with subsidiary of Huawei

Technologies Co Ltd Huawei During the fourth quarter of fiscal 2012 we sold our 49% ownership

interest in the joint venture to Huawei for $530 million in cash The gross proceeds of $530 million offset

by costs to sell the joint venture of $4 million are included in Gain from sale of joint venture reflected in

our fiscal 2012 Consolidated Statements of Income

In fiscal 2011 we issued $350 million in principal amount of 2.75% notes due September 15 2015 and

$750 million in principal amount of 4.20% notes due September 15 2020

In fiscal 2007 we issued $1.1 billion principal amount of 0.75% convertible senior notes 0.75% notes

and $1.0 billion principal amount of 1.00% notes In fiscal 2011 we repurchased $500 million aggregate

principal amount of our 0.75% notes Concunently with this repurchase we sold proportionate share of

the initial note hedges back to the note hedge counterparties for approximately $13 million These

transactions resulted in loss from extinguishment of debt of approximately $16 million In fiscal 2012 the

remaining balance of our 0.75% notes matured and we settled with the holders with cash payment of

$600 million

Item Managements Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

OVERVIEW

Our business

Symantec is global provider of security storage and systems management solutions that help

organizations and consumers secure and manage their information-driven world Our software and services

protect against advanced threats enabling confidence wherever information is used or stored

Fiscal calendar

We have 52/53-week fiscal year ending on the Friday closest to March 31 Unless otherwise stated

references to years in this report relate to fiscal year and periods ended March 30 2012 April 2011 and

April 2010 Fiscal 2012 2011 and 2010 each consisted of 52 weeks Our 2013 fiscal year
will consist of

52 weeks and will end on March 29 2013

Our operating segments

Our operating segments are significant strategic business units that offer different products and services

distinguished by customer needs Since the fourth quarter of fiscal 2008 we have operated in five operating

segments Consumer Security and Compliance Storage and Server Management Services and Other During

the first quarter of fiscal 2012 we modified our segment reporting structure to more readily match our operating

structure resulting in the movement of managed security services revenue and expenses
from the Services

segment to the Security and Compliance segment For further description of our operating segments see Note 10

of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements in this annual report Our reportable segments are the same as

our operating segments

Financial results and trends

Revenue increased by $540 million for fiscal 2012 as compared to fiscal 2011 primarily driven by growth

in our Security and Compliance segment Consumer segment and Storage and Server Management segment Our
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strategic acquisitions have continued to contribute positively to our revenue in fiscal 2012 Of the total increase

in revenue approximately $486 million was due to the growth from our existing products and services and $54

million from our fiscal 2012 acquisitions We expect that our acquisitions will continue to contribute positively

to our revenue in future periods

Our revenue grew both domestically and internationally in fiscal 2012 as compared to fiscal 2011

Fluctuations in the U.S dollar compared to foreign currencies favorably impacted our international revenue by

$145 million for fiscal 2012 as compared to fiscal 2011 and unfavorably by $53 million for fiscal 2011 as

compared to fiscal 2010 For fiscal 2012 we experienced the highest growth in revenue on percentage basis in

the Asia Pacific and Japan region followed by the Americas We also experienced increases in revenue from the

EMEA region despite overall weakness in the European economies

Our revenue mix has gradually shifted to greater proportion of Content subscription and maintenance

revenue particularly revenue derived from subscription arrangements This shift in our revenue mix is indicative

of our success in achieving more subscription based revenue model and greater mix of subscription sales as

percentage of total sales Revenue derived from subscription arrangements is recognized ratably over the

subscription period We recognized fewer license sales during the fourth quarter of fiscal 2012 which are

generally recognized upon delivery of the product

Our operating expenses increased for fiscal 2012 as compared to fiscal 2011 by $304 million due to an

increase in the compensation expenses of $273 million and an adverse impact of the change in foreign currency

exchange rates of $68 million Compensation expense increased primarily due to an increase in headcount due to

the overall growth of our business Our operating expenses increased for similar reasons in fiscal 2011 as

compared to fiscal 2010

Our non-operating income in fiscal 2012 increased by $573 million over fiscal 2011 primarily due to the

gain from the sale to Huawei of our ownership interest in the Huawei Symantec joint venture of $526 million

See Note of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for additional information

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Consolidated Financial Statements and related notes included in this annual report in

accordance with generally accepted accounting principles in the United States requires us to make estimates

including judgments and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets liabilities revenue and

expenses and related disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities We have based our estimates on historical

experience and on various assumptions that we believe to be reasonable under the circumstances We evaluate

our estimates on regular basis and make changes accordingly Historically our critical accounting estimates

have not differed materially from actual results however actual results may differ from these estimates under

different conditions If actual results differ from these estimates and other considerations used in estimating

amounts reflected in the Consolidated Financial Statements included in this annual report the resulting changes

could have material adverse effect on our Consolidated Statements of Income and in certain situations could

have material adverse effect on our liquidity and financial condition

critical accounting estimate is based on judgments and assumptions about matters that are uncertain at the

time the estimate is made Different estimates that reasonably could have been used or changes in accounting

estimates could materially impact the operating results or financial condition We believe that the estimates

described below represent our critical accounting estimates as they have the greatest potential impact on our

Consolidated Financial Statements See also Note of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

included in this annual report
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Revenue recognition

We recognize revenue primarily pursuant to the requirements under the authoritative guidance on software

revenue recognition and any applicable amendments or modifications Revenue recognition requirements in the

software industry are very complex and require us to make many estimates

For software arrangements that include multiple elements including perpetual software licenses and

maintenance or services packaged products with content updates managed security services and subscriptions

we allocate and defer revenue for the undelivered items based on vendor specific objective evidence VSOE
of the fair value of the undelivered elements and recognize the difference between the total arrangement fee and

the amount deferred for the undelivered items as revenue VSOE of each element is based on the price for which

the undelivered element is sold separately We determine fair value of the undelivered elements based on

historical evidence of our stand-alone sales of these elements to third parties or from the stated renewal rate for

the undelivered elements When VSOE does not exist for undelivered items the entire arrangement fee is

recognized ratably over the performance period Our deferred revenue consists primarily of the unamortized

balance of enterprise product maintenance consumer product content updates managed security services

subscriptions and arrangements where VSOE does not exist Deferred revenue totaled approximately $4.0 billion

as of March 30 2012 of which $529 million was classified as Long-term deferred revenue in the Consolidated

Balance Sheets Changes to the elements in software arrangement the ability to identify VSOE for those

elements the fair value of the respective elements and increasing flexibility in contractual arrangements could

materially impact the amount recognized in the current period and deferred over time

For arrangements that include both software and non-software elements we allocate revenue to the software

deliverables as group and non-software deliverables based on their relative selling prices In such

circumstances the accounting principles establish hierarchy to determine the selling price to be used for

allocating revenue to deliverables as follows VSOE ii third-party evidence of selling price TPE and

iii best estimate of the selling price ESP When we are unable to establish selling price using VSOE or

TPE we use ESP to allocate the arrangement fees to the deliverables

For our consumer products that include content updates we recognize revenue and the associated cost of

revenue ratably over the term of the subscription upon sell-through to end-users as the subscription period

commences on the date of sale to the end-user We defer revenue and cost of revenue amounts for unsold product

held by our distributors and resellers

We expect our distributors and resellers to maintain adequate inventory of consumer packaged products to

meet future customer demand which is generally four or six weeks of customer demand based on recent buying

trends We ship product to our distributors and resellers at their request and based on valid purchase orders Our

distributors and resellers base the quantity of orders on their estimates to meet future customer demand which

may exceed the expected level of four or six week supply We offer limited rights of return if the inventory held

by our distributors and resellers is below the expected level of four or six week supply We estimate reserves

for product returns as described below We typically offer liberal rights of return if inventory held by our

distributors and resellers exceeds the expected level Because we cannot reasonably estimate the amount of

excess inventory that will be returned we primarily offset deferred revenue against trade accounts receivable for

the amount of revenue in excess of the expected inventory levels

Arrangements for managed security services and SaaS offerings are generally offered to our customers over

specified period of time and we recognize the related revenue ratably over the maintenance subscription or

service period

Reserves for product returns We reserve for estimated product returns as an offset to revenue based

primarily on historical trends We fully reserve for obsolete products in the distribution channels as an offset to

deferred revenue Actual product returns may be different than what was estimated These factors and

unanticipated changes in the economic and industry environment could make actual results differ from our return

estimates
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Reserves for rebates We estimate and record reserves for channel and end-user rebates as an offset to

revenue For consumer products that include content updates rebates are recorded as ratable offset to revenue

over the term of the subscription Our estimated reserves for channel volume incentive rebates are based on

distributors and resellers actual performance against the terms and conditions of volume incentive rebate

programs which are typically entered into quarterly Our reserves for end-user rebates are estimated based on the

terms and conditions of the promotional programs actual sales during the promotion the amount of actual

redemptions received historical redemption trends by product and by type
of promotional program and the value

of the rebate We also consider current market conditions and economic trends when estimating our reserves for

rebates If actual redemptions differ from our estimates material differences may result in the amount and timing

of our net revenues for any period presented

Valuation of goodwill intangible assets and long-lived assets

Business combination valuations When we acquire businesses we allocate the purchase price to tangible

assets and liabilities and identifiable intangible assets acquired Any residual purchase price is recorded as

goodwill The allocation of the purchase price requires management to make significant estimates in determining

the fair values of assets acquired and liabilities assumed especially with respect to intangible assets These

estimates are based on information obtained from management of the acquired companies and historical

experience These estimates can include but are not limited to

cash flows that an asset is expected to generate in the future

expected costs to develop the in-process research and development into commercially viable products and

estimated cash flows from the projects when completed

the acquired companys brand and competitive position as well as assumptions about the period of time

the acquired brand will continue to be used in the combined companys product portfolio

cost savings expected to be derived from acquiring an asset and

discount rates

These estimates are inherently uncertain and unpredictable and if different estimates were used the

purchase price for the acquisition could be allocated to the acquired assets and liabilities differently from the

allocation that we have made In addition unanticipated events and circumstances may occur which may affect

the accuracy or validity of such estimates and if such events occur we may be required to record charge against

the value ascribed to an acquired asset or an increase in the amounts recorded for assumed liabilities

Goodwill impairment We review goodwill for impairment on an annual basis on the first day of the

fourth quarter of each fiscal year and on an interim basis whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate

that the carrying value may not be recoverable at the reporting unit level Our reporting units are the same as our

operating segments Before performing the goodwill impairment test we first assess the value of long-lived

assets in each reporting unit including tangible and intangible assets We then perform two-step impairment

test on goodwill In the first step we compare the estimated fair value of equity of each reporting unit to its

allocated carrying value book value of equity If the carrying value of the reporting unit exceeds the fair value

of the equity associated with that unit there is an indicator of impairment and we must perform the second step

of the impairment test This second step involves detennining the implied fair value of that reporting units

goodwill in manner similar to the purchase price allocation for an acquired business using the reporting units

calculated fair value as an assumed purchase price If the carrying value of the reporting units goodwill exceeds

its implied fair value then we would record an impairment loss equal to the excess

The process of estimating the fair value and carrying value of our reporting units equity requires significant

judgment at many points during the analysis Many assets and liabilities such as accounts receivable and

property and equipment are not specifically allocated to an individual reporting unit and therefore we apply
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judgment to allocate the assets and liabilities and this allocation affects the carrying value of the respective

reporting units Similarly we use judgment to allocate goodwill to the reporting units based on relative fair

values The use of relative fair values has been necessary for certain reporting units due to changes in our

operating structure in prior years To determine reporting units fair value we use the income approach under

which we calculate the fair value of each reporting unit based on the estimated discounted future cash flows of

that unit We evaluate the reasonableness of this approach by comparing it with the market approach which

involves review of the carrying value of our assets relative to our market capitalization and to the valuation of

publicly traded companies operating in the same or similar lines of business

Applying the income approach requires that we make number of important estimates and assumptions We
estimate the future cash flows of each reporting unit based on historical and forecasted revenue and operating
costs This in turn involves further estimates such as estimates of future revenue and expense growth rates and

foreign exchange rates In addition we apply discount rate to the estimated future cash flows for the
purpose of

the valuation This discount rate is based on the estimated weighted-average cost of capital for each reporting
unit and may change from year to year Changes in these key estimates and assumptions or in other assumptions
used in this process could materially affect our impairment analysis for given year

As of March 30 2012 our goodwill balance was $5.8 billion Based on the impairment analysis performed
on December 31 2011 we determined that the fair value of each of our reporting units exceeded the carrying
value of the unit by more than 10% of the carrying value While discount rates are only one of several important
estimates used in the analysis we determined that an increase of one percentage point in the discount rate used

for each respective reporting unit would not have resulted in an impairment indicator for any unit at the time of

this analysis In addition to the discount rate the impairment test includes the consideration of number of

estimates including growth rates operating margins and cost forecasts foreign exchange rates and the allocation

of certain tangible assets to the reporting units Based on the results of our impairment test we do not believe that

an impairment indicator exists as of our annual impairment test date

number of factors many of which we have no ability to control could affect our financial condition

operating results and business prospects and could cause actual results to differ from the estimates and

assumptions we employed These factors include

prolonged global economic crisis

significant decrease in the demand for our products

the inability to develop new and enhanced products and services in timely manner

significant adverse change in legal factors or in the business climate

an adverse action or assessment by regulator

successful efforts by our competitors to gain market share in our markets

loss of key personnel

our determination to dispose of one or more of our reporting units

the testing for recoverability of significant asset group within reporting unit and

recognition of goodwill impairment loss

Intangible asset impairment We assess the impairment of identifiable finite-lived intangible assets

whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that an asset groups carrying amount may not be

recoverable Recoverability of certain finite-lived intangible assets particularly customer relationships and finite-

lived tradenames would be measured by the comparison of the carrying amount of the asset group to which the

assets are assigned to the sum of the uncliscounted estimated future cash flows the asset group is expected to
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generate If the asset is considered to be impaired the amount of such impairment would be measured as the

difference between the carrying amount of the asset and its fair value Recoverability and impairment of other

finite-lived intangible assets particularly developed technology and patents would be measured by the

comparison of the carrying amount of the asset to the sum of undiscounted estimated future product revenues

offset by estimated future costs to dispose of the product to which the asset relates For indefinite-lived intangible

assets we review impairment on an annual basis consistent with the timing of the annual evaluation for goodwill

These assets generally include tradenames trademarks and in-process research and development Recoverability

of indefinite-lived intangible assets would be measured by the comparison of the carrying amount of the asset to

the sum of the discounted estimated future cash flows the asset is expected to generate plus expected royalties If

the asset is considered to be impaired the amount of such impairment would be measured as the difference

between the carrying amount of the asset and its fair value Our cash flow assumptions are based on historical

and forecasted future revenue operating costs and other relevant factors Assumptions and estimates about the

remaining useful lives of our intangible assets are subjective and are affected by changes to our business

strategies If managements estimates of future operating results change or if there are changes to other

assumptions the estimate of the fair value of our identifiable intangible assets could change significantly Such

change could result in impairment charges in future periods which could have significant impact on our

operating results and financial condition

Long-lived assets including assets held for sale We assess long-lived assets for impairment whenever

events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value of the long-lived assets may not be

recoverable Based on the existence of one or more indicators of impairment we assess recoverability of long-

lived assets based on projected undiscounted cash flow method using assumptions determined by management

to be commensurate with the risk inherent in our current business model If an asset is not recoverable

impairment is measured as the difference between the carrying amount and its fair value Our estimates of cash

flows require significant judgment based on our historical and anticipated results and are subject to many factors

which could change and cause material impact to our operating results or financial condition We record

impairment charges on long-lived assets held for sale when we determine that the carrying value of the long-

lived assets may not be recoverable In determining fair value we obtain and consider market value appraisal

information from third parties

Stock-based compensation

We account for stock-based compensation in accordance with the authoritative guidance on stock

compensation Under the fair value recognition provisions of this guidance stock-based compensation is

measured at the grant date based on the fair value of the award and is recognized as expense ratably on straight-

line basis over the requisite service period which is generally the vesting period of the respective award

Determining the fair value of stock-based awards primarily stock options at the grant date requires

judgment We use the Black-Scholes option-pricing model to determine the fair value of stock options The

determination of the grant date fair value of options using an option-pricing model is affected by our stock price

as well as assumptions regarding number of complex and subjective variables These variables include our

expected stock price volatility over the expected life of the options actual and projected employee stock option

exercise and cancellation behaviors risk-free interest rates and expected dividends

We estimate the expected life of options granted based on an analysis of our historical experience of

employee exercise and post-vesting termination behavior considered in relation to the contractual life of the

option Expected volatility is based on the average
of historical volatility for the period commensurate with the

expected life of the option and the implied volatility of traded options The risk free interest rate is equal to the

U.S Treasury constant maturity rates for the period equal to the expected life We do not currently pay cash

dividends on our common stock and do not anticipate doing so in the foreseeable future Accordingly our

expected dividend yield is zero
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We issue performance-based restricted stock units PRU representing hypothetical shares of our common

stock Each PRU grant reflects target number of shares that may be issued to the award recipient We determine

the actual number of shares the recipient receives at the end of three-year performance period as follows

our achievement of an annual target earnings per share for the first fiscal year of grant and our two and

three year cumulative relative total shareholder return ranked against that of other companies that are included in

the Standard Poors 500 Index We estimate the fair value of PRUs using the Monte Carlo simulation model

as the total shareholder return TSR modifier contains market condition

In accordance with the authoritative guidance on stock compensation we record stock-based compensation

expense for awards that are expected to vest As result judgment is required in estimating the amount of stock-

based awards that are expected to be forfeited Although we estimate forfeitures based on historical experience

actual forfeitures may differ If actual results differ significantly from these estimates stock-based compensation

expense and our results of operations could be materially impacted when we record an adjustment for the

difference in the period that the awards vest or are forfeited

Contingencies and litigation

We evaluate contingent liabilities including threatened or pending litigation in accordance with the

authoritative guidance on contingencies We assess the likelihood of any adverse judgments or outcomes from

potential claims or legal proceedings as well as potential ranges of probable losses when the outcomes of the

claims or proceedings are probable and reasonably estimable determination of the amount of accrued

liabilities required if any for these contingencies is made after the analysis of each separate matter Because of

uncertainties related to these matters we base our estimates on the information available at the time of our

assessment As additional information becomes available we reassess the potential liability related to our

pending claims and litigation and may revise our estimates Any revisions in the estimates of potential liabilities

could have material impact on our operating results and financial position

Income taxes

We are required to compute our income taxes in each federal state and international jurisdiction in which

we operate This process requires that we estimate the current tax exposure as well as assess temporary

differences between the accounting and tax treatment of assets and liabilities including items such as accruals

and allowances not currently deductible for tax purposes The income tax effects of the differences we identify

are classified as current or long-term deferred tax assets and liabilities in our Consolidated Balance Sheets Our

judgments assumptions and estimates relative to the current provision for income tax take into account current

tax laws our interpretation of current tax laws and possible outcomes of current and future audits conducted by

foreign and domestic tax authorities Changes in tax laws or our interpretation of tax laws and the resolution of

current and future tax audits could significantly impact the amounts provided for income taxes in our

Consolidated Balance Sheets and Consolidated Statements of Income

We account for uncertain tax positions pursuant to authoritative guidance based on two-step approach to

recognize and measure those positions taken or expected to be taken in tax return The first step is to determine

if the weight of available evidence indicates that it is more likely than not that the tax position will be sustained

on audit including resolution of any related appeals or litigation processes The second step is to measure the tax

benefit as the largest amount that is more than 50% likely to be realized upon ultimate settlement We adjust

reserves for our uncertain tax positions due to changing facts and circumstances such as the closing of tax

audit the refinement of estimates or the realization of earnings or deductions that differ from our estimates To

the extent that the final outcome of these matters is different than the amounts recorded such differences will

impact our tax provision in our Consolidated Statements of Income in the period in which such determination is

made

We must also assess the likelihood that deferred tax assets will be realized from future taxable income and

based on this assessment establish valuation allowance if required The determination of our valuation
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allowance involves assumptions judgments and estimates including forecasted earnings future taxable income

and the relative proportions of revenue and income before taxes in the various domestic and international

jurisdictions in which we operate To the extent we establish valuation allowance or change the valuation

allowance in period we reflect the change with corresponding increase or decrease to our tax provision in our

Consolidated Statements of Income

In July 2008 we reached an agreement with the IRS concerning our eligibility to claim lower tax rate on

distribution made from Veritas foreign subsidiary prior to the July 2005 acquisition The distribution was

intended to be made pursuant to the American Jobs Creation Act of 2004 and therefore eligible for 5.25%

effective U.S federal rate of tax in lieu of the 35% statutory rate The final impact of this agreement remains

uncertain since this relates to the taxability of earnings that are otherwise the subject of the transfer pricing matters

at issue in the IRS examination of Veritas tax years 2002 through 2005 To the extent that we owe taxes as result

of these transfer pricing matters in
years prior to the distribution we anticipate that the incremental tax due from

this negotiated agreement will decrease We currently estimate that the most probable outcome from this

negotiated agreement will be that we will owe $13 million or less for which an accrual has already been made

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Total net revenue

2012 vs 2011 2011 vs 2010

Fiscal Fiscal Fiscal

2012 2011 2010

in millions

Content subscription and maintenance revenue .. $5823 $581 11% $5242 $217 4% $5025

Percentage of total net revenue 87% 85% 84%

License revenue 907 41 4% 948 12 1% 960

Percentage of total net revenue 13% 15% 16%

Total net revenue $6730 $540 9% $6190 $205 3% $5985

Content subscription and maintenance revenue increased for fiscal 2012 as compared to fiscal 2011

primarily due to growth in revenue from our Security and Compliance segment of $339 million Consumer

segment of $152 million and Storage and Server Management segment of $131 million offset by decrease in

our Services segment of $41 million

Content subscription and maintenance revenue increased for fiscal 2011 as compared to fiscal 2010 due to

growth in revenue from our Security and Compliance segment of $139 million Consumer segment of $70

million and Storage and Server Management segment of $61 million offset by decrease in our Services

segment of $52 million

License revenue includes revenue from software licenses appliances and certain revenue sharing

arrangements License revenue decreased for fiscal 2012 as compared to fiscal 2011 primarily due to decreases

from our Storage and Server Management segment of $29 million and Security and Compliance segment of $12

million

License revenue decreased for fiscal 2011 as compared to fiscal 2010 primarily due to decreases in revenue

from our Storage and Server Management segment of $41 million partially offset by increases in revenues from

the Security and Compliance segment of $17 million and from the Consumer segment of $13 million
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Net revenue and operating income by segment

Consumer segment

2012 vs 2011 2011 vs 2010

Fiscal Fiscal Fiscal

2012 2011 2010

in millions

Consumerrevenue $2104 $151 8% $1953 $82 4% $1871

Percentage of total net revenue 31% 32% 31%

Consumer operating income $1013 $114 13% 899 $39 5% 860

Percentage of Consumer revenue 48% 46% 46%

Consumer revenue increased for fiscal 2012 as compared to fiscal 2011 primarily due to continued growth

in our premium internet and security products of $156 million which included favorable foreign currency

exchange effect of $39 million Of the total Consumer revenue recognized in fiscal 2012 86% was generated

from our electronic channel sales which are derived from online sales including new subscriptions renewals

and upgrades

Consumer revenue increased for fiscal 2011 as compared to fiscal 2010 primarily due to an increase in

sales of our premium internet and security products of $91 million which included an unfavorable foreign

currency exchange effect of $10 million Of the total Consumer revenue recognized in fiscal 2011 84% was

generated from our electronic channel sales which are derived from online sales including new subscriptions

renewals and upgrades

Consumer operating income increased for fiscal 2012 as compared to fiscal 2011 primarily due to higher

revenue of $151 million and lower advertising and promotion expenses of $22 million partially offset by

increased salaries and wages of $41 million and higher cost of revenue of $17 million The increased salaries and

wages expense was due to higher headcount compared to fiscal 2011 The increase in cost of revenue was

primarily associated with the increased product revenue The increase in operating income included favorable

foreign currency exchange effect of $28 million

Consumer operating income increased for fiscal 2011 as compared to fiscal 2010 primarily due to

increased revenue of $83 million partially offset by increases in advertising and promotion expenses of $22

million equipment costs of $11 million and costs associated with the deployment of our new proprietary

eCommerce platform The increase in operating income included an unfavorable foreign currency exchange

effect of $7 million

Security and Compliance segment

2012 vs 2011 2011 vs 2010

Fiscal Fiscal Fiscal

2012 2011 2010

in millions

Security and Compliance revenue $1965 $327 20% $1638 156 11% $1482

Percentage of total net revenue 29% 26% 25%

Security and Compliance operating income 442 $182 70% 260 $141 35% 401

Percentage of Security and Compliance

revenue 22% 16% 27%

Security and Compliance revenue increased for fiscal 2012 as compared to fiscal 2011 primarily due to

increased sales of our information security products of $300 million which included additional revenue of

approximately $238 million from our user authentication and trust products and services The total increase

included favorable foreign currency exchange effect of $43 million
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Security and Compliance revenue increased for fiscal 2011 as compared to fiscal 2010 primarily due to

increased sales of our information security products of $209 million which included additional revenue of $124

million from our user authentication and trust products The increase was partially offset by decreases in

enterprise security products revenue by $68 million The total increase included an unfavorable foreign currency

exchange effect of $5 million

Security and Compliance operating income increased for fiscal 2012 as compared to fiscal 2011 primarily

due to increased revenue of $327 million partially offset by increased salaries and wages of $71 million and

higher cost of revenue of $54 million The increased salaries and wages expense was due to higher headcount

compared to fiscal 2011 The higher cost of revenue was associated with revenue growth The increase in

operating income included favorable foreign currency exchange effect of $23 million

Security and Compliance operating income decreased for fiscal 2011 as compared to fiscal 2010 primarily

due to expenses related to our fiscal 2011 acquisitions and higher sales commissions associated with the increase

in deferred revenue in fiscal 2011 Our operating margins were adversely impacted by our fiscal 2011

acquisitions largely because we were required under the purchase accounting rules to reduce the amount of

deferred revenue that we recorded in connection with these acquisitions to an amount equal to the fair value of

our estimated cost to fulfill the contractual obligations related to that deferred revenue This deferred revenue

adjustment negatively affected our operating margins because we recognized lower portion of the revenue from

these acquisitions but we incurred all of the revenue-related expenses The decrease in operating income

included an unfavorable foreign currency exchange effect of $11 million

Storage and Server Management segment

2012 vs 2011 2011 vs 2010

Fiscal Fiscal Fiscal

2012 2011 2010

in millions

Storage and Server Management revenue $2410 $103 4% $2307 20 1% $2287

Percentage of total net revenue 36% 37% 38%

Storage and Server Management operating

income 977 $86 8% $1063 $34 3% $1097

Percentage of Storage and Server Management

revenue 41% 46% 48%

Storage and Server Management revenue increased for fiscal 2012 as compared to fiscal 2011 primarily

due to higher sales of our information management products of $126 million which included $49 million from

our fiscal 2012 acquisition of Clearwell Systems Inc Clearwell partially offset by decreases in sales of $28

million of our storage management products The total increase included favorable foreign currency exchange

effect of $52 million

Storage and Server Management revenue increased for fiscal 2011 as compared to fiscal 2010 primarily

due to higher sales of our information management products of $94 million partially offset by lower sales of our

storage management products of $67 million The total increase included an unfavorable foreign currency

exchange effect of $33 million

Storage and Server Management operating income decreased for fiscal 2012 as compared to fiscal 2011

primarily due to higher salaries and wages of $139 million and higher cost of revenue of $59 million partially

offset by the increase in overall revenue The increased salaries and wages expense was due to increased

headcount over fiscal 2011 which was attributable to our Clearwell acquisition and growth in the business The

total decrease in operating income included favorable foreign currency exchange effect of $48 million

Storage and Server Management operating income decreased for fiscal 2011 as compared to fiscal 2010

primarily due to an unfavorable foreign currency exchange effect of $35 million
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Services segment

Fiscal
2012 vs 2011

Fiscal
2011 vs 2010

Fiscal

2012 2011 2010

in millions

Services revenue $251 $41 14% $292 $53 15% $345

Percentage of total net revenue 4% 5% 6%
Services operating income 39 32 457% 42% 12

Percentage of Services revenue 16% 2% 3%

We transitioned certain
consulting services to specialized partners while we focus on our core software

business This resulted in decreased revenue for fiscal 2012 as compared to fiscal 2011 Services operating
income increased for fiscal 2012 as compared to fiscal 2011 due to lower cost of revenue and salaries and wages
as we transitioned certain consulting services to our partner led

consulting program

Services revenue and operating income decreased for fiscal 2011 as compared to fiscal 2010 due to our
focus on our core software business

Other segment

Fiscal
2012 vs 2011

Fiscal
2011 vs 2010

Fiscal

2012 2011 2010

in millions

Other revenue NA NA
Percentage of total net revenue 0% 0% 0%
Other

operating loss $1392 $43 3% $1349 $88 $l437
Percentage of Other revenue

Percentage not meaningful

Our Other segment consists primarily of sunset products and products nearing the end of their life cycle
The operating loss of our Other segment includes general and administrative expenses amortization of acquired

intangible and other assets charges such as stock-based compensation restructuring and transition expenses and
certain indirect costs that are not charged to the other operating segments
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Net revenue by geographic region

Fluctuations in the U.S dollar compared to foreign currencies favorably impacted our international revenue

by approximately $145 million for fiscal 2012 as compared to fiscal 2011 For fiscal 2011 as compared 2010 we

had an unfavorable foreign currency exchange effect of $53 million Our international revenue is and will

continue to be significant portion of our net revenue As result net revenue will continue to be affected by

foreign currency exchange rates as compared to the U.S dollar

Cost of revenue

Cost of content subscription and

maintenance 943 40

Percentage of related revenue 16%

Cost of license 48 21

Percentage of related revenue 5%

Amortization of intangible assets 91 $24
Percentage of total net revenue 1%

Total cost of revenue $1082 37

Gross margin 84%

2011 vs 2010

__ __

4%$ 903 $54 6%$ 849

17% 17%

Fiscal
2012 vs 2011

Fiscal
2011 vs 2010

2012 2011

in millions

Fiscal

2010

Americas U.S Canada and Latin America

Consumer Segment $1206 72 6% $1134 90 9% $1044

Security and Compliance Segment 1044 134 15% 910 81 10% 829

Storage and Server Management Segment 1240 40 3% 1200 0% 1205

Services Segment 135 6% 144 19 12% 163

Total Americas $3625 $237 7% $3388 $147 5% $3241

Percentage of total net revenue 54% 55% 54%

EMEA Europe Middle East Africa

Consumer Segment 545 42 8% 503 35 7% 538

Security and Compliance Segment 527 72 16% 455 24 6% 431

Storage and Server Management Segment 723 1% 717 21 3% 738

Services Segment 63 35 36% 98 33 25% 131

Total EMEA $1858 85 5% $1773 65 4% $1838

Percentage of total net revenue 28% 29% 31%

Asia Pacific/Japan

ConsumerSegment 353 36 11% 317 28 10% 289

Security and Compliance Segment 394 121 44% 273 51 23% 222

Storage and Server Management Segment 447 57 15% 390 46 13% 344

Services Segment 53 8% 49 4% 51

Total Asia Pacific/ Japan $1247 $218 21% $1029 $123 14% 906

Percentage of total net revenue 18% 16% 15%

Total net revenue $6730 $540 9% $6190 $205 3% $5985

2012 vs 2011
Fiscal ________________

2012 ___
Fiscal

2011

in millions

Fiscal

2010

78% 27

3%

21% 115 $119
2%

4% $1045 60

83%

23% 22

2%

5l% 234

4%

5% $1105

82%
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Cost of content subscription and maintenance consists primarily of fee-based technical support costs costs

of billable services and payments to OEMs under revenue-sharing agreements Cost of content subscription and

maintenance increased for fiscal 2012 as compared to fiscal 2011 primarily due to higher royalty and fee-based

technical support costs which were partially offset by lower services costs The increased royalty costs were

mainly associated with increased revenue related to the authentication services and hosted services The lower

services cost in fiscal 2012 as compared to fiscal 2011 was primarily due to our transitioning of our consulting

services to specialized partners

Cost of content subscription and maintenance decreased for fiscal 2011 as compared to fiscal 2010 due to

lower fee-based technical support and fulfillment costs Cost of content subscription and maintenance as

percentage of related revenue remained consistent for fiscal 2012 as compared to fiscal 2011 and for fiscal 2011

as compared to fiscal 2010

Cost of license consists primarily of royalties paid to third parties under technology licensing agreements

appliances manufacturing costs and other direct material costs Cost of license increased for fiscal 2012 as

compared to fiscal 2011 primarily due to increased costs associated with appliances manufacturing and royalties

Cost of license as percentage of related revenue increased for fiscal 2012 as compared to fiscal 2011 due to

relatively lower revenue in the Storage and Server Management segment as discussed above and higher

associated costs for appliances manufacturing and royalties

Cost of license increased for fiscal 2011 as compared to fiscal 2010 due to higher costs associated with

appliances manufacturing Cost of license as percentage of related revenue remained consistent for fiscal 2011

as compared to fiscal 2010

Acquired intangible assets are comprised of developed technologies and patents from acquired companies

The decrease in amortization for fiscal 2012 as compared to fiscal 2011 was primarily due to certain acquired

intangible assets from our prior acquisitions becoming fully amortized partially offset by additional amortization

related to acquired intangibles from our Clearwell acquisition and full year impact associated with the fiscal

2011 acquisitions of VeriSign PGP and GuardianEdge The decrease in amortization for fiscal 2011 as

compared to fiscal 2010 was primarily due to certain acquired intangible assets from our Veritas acquisition

becoming fully amortized during fiscal 2011 partially offset by additional amortization from acquired intangible

assets from our fiscal 2011 acquisitions

42



Operating expenses

Our operating expenses increased for fiscal 2012 as compared to fiscal 2011 and for fiscal 2011 as

compared to fiscal 2010 primarily due to higher salary and wages and the adverse impact of the change in

foreign currency exchange rates offset by cost savings generated from our restructuring plans discussed below

Fiscal
2012 vs 2011

FiSCal
2011 vs 2010

FIscal

2012 2011 2010

in millions

Sales and marketing expense $2814 $192 7% $2622 $255 11% $2367

Percentage of total net revenue 42% 42% 40%

Research and development expense 969 $107 12% 862 1% 857

Percentage of total net revenue 14% 14% 14%

General and administrative expense 437 47 12% 390 38 11% 352

Percentage of total net revenue 6% 6% 6%

Amortization of intangible assets 289 19 7% 270 23 9% 247

Percentage of total net revenue 4% 4% 4%

Restructuring and transition 56 36 39% 92 2% 94

Percentage of total net revenue 1% 1% 2%

Impairment of intangible assets 23 85% 27 27 NA
Percentage of total net revenue 0% 0% 0%

Loss and impairment of assets held for

sale NA $28 93% 30

Percentage of total net revenue 0% 0% 1%

Sales and marketing expense increased for fiscal 2012 as compared to fiscal 2011 primarily due to

increased compensation expenses of $140 million The increase from compensation expenses was mainly due to

increased headcount to support the growth of our business The total increase in sales and marketing expense also

included an unfavorable foreign currency exchange effect of $52 million Sales and marketing expense increased

for fiscal 2011 as compared to fiscal 2010 primarily due to increased compensation expenses of $166 million

and increases in advertising expenses of $54 million The increase from compensation expenses was mainly due

to increased headcount from our acquisitions in fiscal 2011

Research and development expense increased for fiscal 2012 as compared to fiscal 2011 primarily due to

increased compensation expenses of $104 million The increase from compensation expenses was mainly due to

increased headcount to support our continued investment in product development and absorption of the Clearwell

acquisition into our operations The total increase in research and development expense included an unfavorable

foreign currency exchange effect of $9 million Research and development expense remained consistent for fiscal

2011 as compared to fiscal 2010

General and administrative expense increased for fiscal 2012 as compared to fiscal 2011 due to higher

compensation expense external professional services and equipment of $45 million General and administrative

expense increased for fiscal 2011 as compared to fiscal 2010 primarily due to higher compensation expenses
of

$11 million and increased external professional services of $38 million The increase from compensation

expenses in fiscal 2011 as compared to fiscal 2010 was mainly due to increased headcount from our fiscal 2011

acquisitions

Other intangible assets are comprised of customer relationships and tradenames The increase in

amortization of other intangible assets for fiscal 2012 as compared to fiscal 2011 was primarily attributed to the

acquisition of Clearwell For fiscal 2011 compared to fiscal 2010 the increase in amortization of other intangible

assets was due to our fiscal 2011 acquisitions

Restructuring and transition costs consist of severance facilities transition and other related costs For fiscal

2012 we recognized $29 million of severance $8 million of facilities costs and $19 million of transition and
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other related costs The transition charges incurred were primarily due to the planning and design phase of

implementing new enterprise resource planning system For fiscal 2011 we recognized $47 million of

severance $27 million of facilities costs and $18 million of transition and other related costs For fiscal 2010 we

recognized $56 million of severance $10 million of facilities costs and $28 million of transition and other

related costs For further information on restructuring and transition see Note of the Notes to Consolidated

Financial Statements

For fiscal 2012 we recorded an impairment of $4 million which reduced the gross carrying value of

indefinite-lived tradenames During fiscal 2011 we recorded an impairment of $27 million which reduced the

gross carrying value of indefinite-lived tradenames

During fiscal 2010 we recognized impairments of $20 million on certain land and buildings classified as

held for sale The impairments were recorded in accordance with the authoritative guidance that requires long-

lived asset classified as held for sale to be measured at the lower of its carrying amount or fair value less cost to

sell Also in fiscal 2010 we sold assets for $42 million which resulted in losses of $10 million

Non-operating income expense

Fiscal
2012 vs 2011

FIscal
2011 vs 2010

Fiscal

2012 2011 2010

in millions

Interest income 13 10

Interest expense 115 143 129
Other expense income net 55

Loss on early extinguishment of debt 16
Loss from joint venture 27 31 39
Gain from sale of joint venture 526

Total 391 $573 315% $182 $75 70% $107

Percentage of total net revenue 6% 3% 2%

We had net non-operating income for fiscal 2012 as compared to net non-operating expense in fiscal 2011

In fiscal 2012 we had gain of $526 million from the sale of our joint venture interest described below and also

had lower interest expense from our repayment of the $1.1 billion convertible senior notes that we issued in fiscal

2007 In the second quarter of fiscal 2011 and the first quarter of fiscal 2012 we made payments of $500 million

and $600 million respectively to retire the notes In fiscal 2011 we recorded loss on early extinguishment of

debt of $16 million due to the repurchase of $500 million of aggregate principal amount of the 0.75% Notes due

on June 15 2011 See Note of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for information on our debt

Non-operating expense increased for fiscal 2011 as compared to fiscal 2010 due in part to the interest

expense on the Senior Notes of $1.1 billion issued in the second quarter of fiscal 2011 For fiscal 2011 other

expense income net included $21 million loss from the liquidation of certain foreign legal entities partially

offset by realized gain on the sale of marketable securities compared to fiscal 2010 in which we recorded $47

million gain from the liquidation of certain foreign legal entities

On February 2008 Symantec formed Huawei-Symantec Inc joint venture with subsidiary of

Huawei Technologies Co Ltd Huawei The joint venture was domiciled in Hong Kong with principal

operations in Chengdu China The joint venture developed manufactured marketed and supported security and

storage appliances on behalf of global telecommunications carriers and enterprise customers As discussed in

Note of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements we sold our 49% ownership interest in the joint

venture to Huawei on March 30 2012 for $526 million net
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Provision for income taxes

Fiscal 2012 Fiscal 2011 Fiscal 2010

in millions

Provision for income taxes $298 $105 $112

Effective tax rate on earnings 20% 15% 14%

Our effective tax rate was approximately 20% 15% and 14% in fiscal 2012 2011 and 2010 respectively

The tax expense in fiscal 2012 was reduced by the following benefits $52 million tax benefit arising

from the Veritas 2002 through 2005 IRS Appeals matters $14 million from lapses of statutes of limitation

$17 million from settlements and effective settlements with tax authorities and related remeasuremerits and

$5 million tax benefit from adjustments related to prior year items This benefit was partially offset by $5

million tax expense resulting from change in valuation allowance for certain deferred tax assets

The tax expense in fiscal 2011 was reduced by the following benefits $49 million arising from the

Veritas Commissioner Tax Court decision further discussed below $15 million from the reduction of our

valuation allowance for certain deferred tax assets and $21 million tax benefit from lapses of statutes of

limitation and $7 million tax benefit from the conclusion of U.S and foreign audits

The tax expense in fiscal 2010 was significantly reduced by the following benefits $79 million tax

benefit arising from the Veritas Commissioner Tax Court decision $11 million tax benefit from the

reduction of our valuation allowance for certain deferred tax assets $17 million tax benefit from lapses of

statutes of limitation $9 million tax benefit from the conclusion of U.S and foreign audits $7 million tax

benefit to adjust taxes provided in prior periods and $6 million tax benefit from current year discrete events

The change in the valuation allowance follows discussions with Irish Revenue in the third quarter of fiscal 2010
the result of which accelerates the timing of the use of certain Irish tax loss carryforwards in the future

The effective tax rates for all periods presented otherwise reflects the benefits of lower-taxed international

earnings and losses from our joint venture with Huawei Technologies Co Limited domestic manufacturing

incentives and research and development credits the U.S federal RD tax credit expired on December 31

2011 partially offset by state income taxes Pretax income from international operations increased significantly

due to the sale of our 49% ownership interest in the joint venture to Huawei on March 30 2012 for $526

million significant portion of the sale proceeds was attributable to international tax jurisdictions resulting in

20% tax rate on the sale of the joint venture reducing the overall tax rate by 3%

We are U.S.-based multinational company subject to tax in multiple U.S and international tax

jurisdictions Substantially all of our international earnings were generated by subsidiaries in Ireland and

Singapore Our results of operations would be adversely affected to the extent that our geographical mix of

income becomes more weighted toward jurisdictions with higher tax rates and would be favorably affected to the

extent the relative geographic mix shifts to lower tax jurisdictions Any change in our mix of earnings is

dependent upon many factors and is therefore difficult to predict

For further information on the impact of foreign earnings on our effective tax rate see Note 12 of the Notes

to Consolidated Financial Statements

See Critical Accounting Estimates above for additional infonnation about our provision for income taxes

In assessing the ability to realize our deferred tax assets we considered whether it was more likely than not

that some portion or all of the deferred tax assets will not be realized We considered the following we have

historical cumulative book income as measured by the current and prior two years we have strong consistent

taxpaying history we have substantial U.S federal income tax carryback potential and we have substantial

amounts of scheduled future reversals of taxable temporary differences from our deferred tax liabilities Levels of

future taxable income are subject to the various risks and uncertainties discussed in Part Item 1A Risk Factors
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set forth in this annual report We have concluded that this positive evidence outweighs the negative evidence

and thus that the deferred tax assets as of March 30 2012 of $528 million after application of the valuation

allowances described above are realizable on more likely than not basis

On December 10 2009 the U.S Tax Court issued its opinion in Veritas Commissioner finding that our

transfer pricing methodology with appropriate adjustments was the best method for assessing the value of the

transaction at issue between Veritas and its international subsidiary in the 2000 to 2001 tax years In June 2010

we reached an agreement with the IRS concerning the amount of the adjustment based on the U.S Tax Court

decision As result of the agreement we reduced our liability for unrecognized tax benefits resulting in $39

million tax benefit in the first quarter of fiscal 2011 In March 2011 we reached agreement with Irish Revenue

concerning compensating adjustments arising from this matter resulting in an additional $10 million tax benefit

in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2011 This matter has now been closed and no further adjustments to the accrued

liability are expected

On December 2009 we received Revenue Agents Report from the IRS for the Veritas 2002 through

2005 tax years assessing additional taxes due We have contested $80 million of the tax assessed and all

penalties As result of negotiations with IRS Appeals in the three months ended December 30 2011 we have

remeasured our liability for unrecognized tax benefits resulting in tax benefit of $52 million

The timing of the resolution of income tax examinations is highly uncertain and the amounts ultimately

paid if any upon resolution of the issues raised by the taxing authorities may differ materially from the amounts

accrued for each year Although potential resolution of uncertain tax positions involve multiple tax periods and

jurisdictions it is reasonably possible that reduction of up to $21 million of the reserves for unrecognized tax

benefits may occur within the next 12 months some of which depending on the nature of the settlement or

expiration of statutes of limitations may affect our income tax provision and therefore benefit the resulting

effective tax rate The actual amount could vary significantly depending on the ultimate timing and nature of any

settlements

We continue to monitor the progress of ongoing tax controversies and the impact if any of the expected

tolling of the statute of limitations in various taxing jurisdictions

Loss attributable to noncontroiing interest

In fiscal 2011 we completed the acquisition of the identity and authentication business of VeriSign Inc

VeriSign including controlling interest in its subsidiary VeriSign Japan K.K VeriSign Japan

publicly traded company on the Tokyo Stock Exchange Given our majority ownership interest of approximately

54% in VeriSign Japan the accounts of VeriSign Japan have been consolidated with our accounts and

noncontrolling interest has been recorded for the noncontrolling investors interests in the equity and operations

of VeriSign Japan For fiscal 2012 and 2011 the loss attributable to the noncontrolling interest in VeriSign Japan

was approximately $0 million and $4 million respectively

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

Sources of cash

We have historically relied on cash flow from operations borrowings under credit facility and issuances

of debt and equity securities for our liquidity needs As of March 30 2012 we had cash and cash equivalents of

$3.2 billion

Senior notes In the second quarter of fiscal 2011 we issued $350 million in principal amount of 2.75%

notes due September 15 2015 and $750 million in principal amount of 4.20% notes due September 15 2020 for

an aggregate principal amount of $1.1 billion
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Revolving credit facility In the second quarter of fiscal 2011 we also entered into $1 billion senior

unsecured revolving credit facility that expires in December 2014 Under the terms of this credit facility we must

comply with certain financial and non-financial covenants including covenant to maintain specified ratio of

debt to EBITDA earnings before interest taxes depreciation and amortization As of March 30 2012 we were

in compliance with all required covenants and there was no outstanding balance on the credit facility

We believe that our existing cash and investment balances our borrowing capacity our ability to issue new

debt instruments and cash generated from operations will be sufficient to meet our working capital and capital

expenditures requirements for at least the next 12 months

Uses of cash

Our principal cash requirements include working capital capital expenditures taxes and payments of

principal and interest on our debt In addition we regularly evaluate our ability to repurchase stock and acquire

other businesses

Acquisitions In fiscal 2012 we acquired Clearwell LiveOffice and another company for an aggregate

amount of $508 million net of cash acquired In fiscal 2011 we acquired the identity and authentication business

of VeriSign as well as PGP GuardianEdge and two other companies for an aggregate amount of $1.5 billion net

of cash acquired In fiscal 2010 we acquired two companies for an aggregate amount of $31 million net of cash

acquired

Convertible senior notes In June 2006 we issued $1.1 billion principal amount of 0.75% Notes due

June 15 2011 and $1.0 billion principal amount of 1.00% Notes due June 15 2013 to initial purchasers in

private offering for resale to qualified institutional buyers pursuant to SEC Rule 144A In fiscal 2011 we

repurchased $500 million of aggregate principal amount of our 0.75% Notes in privately negotiated transactions

for approximately $510 million Concurrently with the repurchase we sold proportionate share of the note

hedges that we entered into at the time of the issuance of the convertible notes back to the note hedge

counterparties for approximately $13 million The net cost of the repurchase of the 0.75% Notes and the

concurrent sale of the note hedges was $497 million in cash We repaid the $600 million balance under our

0.75% Notes upon maturity in fiscal 2012

Stock repurchases We repurchased 51 million 57 million and 34 million shares for $893 million

$872 million and $553 million during fiscal 2012 2011 and 2010 respectively As of March 30 2012 we had

$984 million remaining under the plan authorized for future repurchases

U.S tax As of March 30 2012 $2.4 billion in cash cash equivalents and marketable securities were held

by our foreign subsidiaries We have provided U.S deferred taxes on portion of our undistributed foreign

earnings sufficient to address the incremental U.S tax that would be due if we needed these funds to support our

operations in the U.S

Cash Flows

The following table summarizes for the periods indicated selected items in our Consolidated Statements of

Cash Flows

Fiscal 2012 Fiscal 2011 Fiscal 2010

In millions

Net cash provided by used in

Operating activities 1901 1794 $1693

Investing activities 318 1760 65
Financing activities 1386 184 441
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Operating activities

Net cash provided by operating activities was $1.9 billion for fiscal 2012 which resulted from net income of

$1.2 billion adjusted for non-cash items which largely included depreciation and amortization charges of $712

million stock-based compensation expense of $164 million an increase in deferred revenue of $177 million an

increase in trade accounts receivable net of $89 million and an increase in account payable and accrued

liabilities of $77 million Additionally net income was adjusted for the net gain from the sale of the joint venture

of $526 million as the
gross proceeds were included as cash inflow provided by investing activities

Net cash provided by operating activities was $1.8 billion for fiscal 2011 which resulted from net income of

$593 million adjusted for non-cash items including depreciation and amortization charges of $743 million and

stock-based compensation expense of $145 million and an increase in deferred revenue of $442 million These

amounts were partially offset by decrease in income taxes payable of $128 million

Net cash provided by operating activities was $1.7 billion for fiscal 2010 which resulted from net income of

$714 million adjusted for non-cash items including depreciation and amortization charges of $837 million and

stock-based compensation expense of $155 million These amounts were partially offset by decrease in income

taxes payable of $95 million primarily related to the outcome of the Veritas Commissioner Tax Court decision

see Note 12 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Investing activities

Net cash used in investing activities was $318 million for fiscal 2012 which was used to pay for fiscal 2012

acquisitions net of cash acquired of $508 million payments of $286 million for capital expenditures and $47

million in purchases of held-to-maturity securities partially offset by the gross proceeds from the sale of the joint

venture of $530 million

Net cash used in investing activities of $1.8 billion for fiscal 2011 was due to $1.5 billion of payments for

our fiscal 2011 acquisitions net of cash acquired and $268 million paid for capital expenditures

Net cash used in investing activities was $65 million for fiscal 2010 and was primarily due to payments of

$248 million for capital expenditures partially offset by $190 million in net proceeds from the sale of

available-for-sale securities

Financing activities

Net cash used in financing activities was $1.4 billion for fiscal 2012 which was due to the repurchases of

our common stock of $893 million and repayment of our outstanding balance of $600 million under the 0.75%

Notes partially offset by net proceeds from sales of common stock through employee stock plans of $147

million

Net cash used in financing activities of $184 million for fiscal 2011 was primarily due to repurchases of

common stock of $872 million and repurchases of long-term debt of $510 million partially offset by proceeds

from debt issuance net of discount of $1.1 billion and net proceeds from sales of common stock through

employee stock plans of $122 million

Net cash used in financing activities of $441 million for fiscal 2010 were due to repurchases of common

stock of $553 million partially offset by net proceeds from sales of common stock through employee stock plans

of $124 million
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Contractual obligations

The following is schedule by years of our significant contractual obligations as of March 30 2012

Payments Due by Period

Fiscal 2014 Fiscal 2016 Fiscal 2018

Total Fiscal 2013 and 2015 and 2017 and Thereafter Other

In millions

Senior Notes1 $1100 $350 $750

Interest payments on Senior Notes 300 41 82 67 110

Convertible Senior Notes2 1000 1000

Interest payments on Convertible Senior

Notes2 12 10

Purchase obligations3 473 420 51

Operating leases4 457 99 149 84 125

Uncertain tax positions5 393 393

Total $3735 $570 $1284 $503 $985 $393

In the second quarter of fiscal 2011 we issued $350 million in principal amount of 2.75% notes due

September 15 2015 and $750 million in principal amount of 4.20% notes due September 15 2020 Interest

payments were calculated based on terms of the related notes For further information on the notes see Note

of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

In the first quarter of fiscal 2007 we issued $1.0 billion in principal amount of 1.00% notes due June 15

2013 Interest payments were calculated based on terms of the notes For further information on the notes

see Note of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

These amounts are associated with agreements for purchases of goods or services generally including

agreements that are enforceable and legally binding and that specify all significant terms including fixed or

minimum quantities to be purchased fixed minimum or variable price provisions and the approximate

timing of the transaction The table above also includes agreements to purchase goods or services that have

cancellation provisions requiring little or no payment The amounts under such contracts are included in the

table above because management believes that cancellation of these contracts is unlikely and we expect to

make future cash payments according to the contract terms or in similar amounts for similarmaterials

We have entered into various noncancelable operating lease agreements that expire on various dates beyond

fiscal 2018 The amounts in the table above include $24 million in exited or excess facility costs related to

restructuring activities excluding expected sublease income

As of March 30 2012 we reflected $393 million in long term taxes payable related to uncertain tax

positions At this time we are unable to make reasonably reliable estimate of the timing of payments in

individual years beyond the next twelve months due to uncertainties in the timing of the commencement and

settlement of potential tax audits and controversies

Indemn4fications

As permitted under Delaware law we have agreements whereby we indemnify our officers and directors for

certain events or occurrences while the officer or director is or was serving at our request in such capacity The

maximum potential amount of future payments we could be required to make under these indemnification

agreements is not limited however we have directors and officers insurance coverage that reduces our

exposure and may enable us to recover portion of any future amounts paid We believe the estimated fair value

of these indemnification agreements in excess of applicable insurance coverage is minimal

We provide limited product warranties and the majority of our software license agreements contain

provisions that indemnify licensees of our software from damages and costs resulting from claims alleging that
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our software infringes the intellectual property rights of third party Historically payments made under these

provisions have been immaterial We monitor the conditions that are subject to indemnification to identify if

loss has occurred

Recently issued and adopted authoritative guidance

In May 2011 the Financial Accounting Standards Board FASB issued an accounting standards update

that provided guidance on achieving consistent definition of and common requirements for measurement and

disclosure of fair values in U.S generally accepted accounting principles GAAP and International Financial

Reporting Standards IFRS The guidance expanded disclosures relating to fair value measurements that are

estimated using significant unobservable Level inputs The guidance also required categorization by level of

the fair value hierarchy for items that are not measured at fair value but for which fair value is required to be

disclosed We adopted this guidance in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2012 The adoption of this guidance did not

have material impact on our Consolidated Financial Statements

In June 2011 the FASB issued an accounting standards update that eliminates the option to report other

comprehensive income and its components in the statement of stockholders equity and requires that all

non-owner changes in stockholders equity be presented in either single continuous statement of comprehensive

income or in two separate but consecutive statements In December 2011 the FASB issued another accounting

standards update that defers the requirement to present reclassification adjustments for each component of

Accumulated other comprehensive income AOCI in both Other comprehensive income and Net income on

the face of the financial statements The amended guidance will be adopted by us in the first quarter of fiscal

2013 on retrospective basis and will result only in changes in our financial statement presentation

In September 2011 the FASB issued an accounting standards update that permits entities to first assess

qualitative factors to determine whether it is more likely than not likelihood of more than 50% that the fair

value of reporting unit is less than its carrying amount as basis for determining whether it is
necessary to

perform the two-step goodwill impairment test This new guidance will be adopted by us in fiscal 2013 on

prospective basis and will be applied in our fourth quarter of fiscal 2013 at the time we perform our annual

goodwill test We do not expect that this guidance will materially impact our Consolidated Financial Statements

In December 2011 the FASB issued an accounting standards update that will require us to disclose

information about offsetting and related arrangements associated with certain financial and derivative

instruments to enable users of our financial statements to better understand the effect of those arrangements on

our financial position The new guidance will be applicable to us on retrospective basis in the first quarter of

fiscal 2014 We do not expect that this guidance will materially impact our disclosures included in our

Consolidated Financial Statements

Item 7A Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk

We are exposed to various market risks related to fluctuations in interest rates foreign currency exchange

rates and equity prices We may use derivative financial instruments to mitigate certain risks in accordance with

our investment and foreign exchange policies We do not use derivatives or other financial instruments for

trading or speculative purposes

Interest rate risk

As of March 30 2012 we had $1.1 billion in principal amount of fixed-rate Senior Notes outstanding with

carrying amount of $1.1 billion and fair value of $1.13 billion which fair value is based on Level inputs of

market prices for similar convertible debt instruments and resulting yields On March 30 2012 hypothetical 50

bps increase or decrease in market interest rates would change the fair value of the fixed-rate debt by decrease
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of approximately $22 million and an increase of approximately $45 million respectively However this

hypothetical change in interest rates would not impact the interest expense on the fixed-rate debt

Foreign currency exchange rate risk

We conduct business in 38 currencies through our worldwide operations and as such we are exposed to

foreign currency risk Foreign currency
risks are associated with our cash and cash equivalents investments

receivables and payables denominated in foreign currencies Fluctuations in exchange rates will result in foreign

exchange gains and losses on these foreign currency assets and liabilities and are included in Other expense

income net Our objective in managing foreign exchange activity is to preserve stockholder value by minimizing

the risk of foreign currency exchange rate changes Our strategy is to primarily utilize forward contracts to hedge

foreign currency exposures Under our program gains and losses in our foreign currency exposures are offset by

losses and gains on our forward contracts Our forward contracts generally have terms of one to six months At

the end of the reporting period open contracts are marked-to-market with unrealized gains and losses included in

Other expense income net

The following table presents sensitivity analysis on our foreign forward exchange contract portfolio using

statistical model to estimate the potential gain or loss in fair value that could arise from hypothetical

appreciation or depreciation of foreign currency

Value of Value of

Contracts Contracts

GivenX% GivenX%

Appreciation of Depreciation of

Foreign Foreign

Currency
Notional Currency

Foreign Forward Exchange Contracts 10% 5% Amount S% 10%

In millions

Purchased March 30 2012 $353 $339 $323 $306 $287

Sold March 30 2012 $267 $280 $294 $309 $327

Purchased April 2011 $217 $208 $199 $188 $177

Sold April 12011 $271 $283 $298 $313 $331

Equity price risk

In June 2006 we issued $1.1 billion in principal amount of 0.7 5% notes and $1.0 billion in principal amount

of 1.00% notes We received proceeds of $2.1 billion from the 0.75% notes and 1.00% notes and incurred net

transaction costs of approximately $33 million of which $9 million was allocated to equity and the remainder

allocated proportionately to the 0.75% notes and 1.00% notes The 0.75% notes and 1.00% notes were each

issued at par and bear interest at 0.75% and 1.00% per annum respectively Interest is payable semiannually in

arrears on June 15 and December 15 Concurrent with the issuance of the 0.75% notes and 1.00% notes the

Company entered into note hedge transactions with affiliates of certain initial purchasers whereby the Company
has the option to purchase up to 110 million shares of Symantec common stock at price of $19.12 per

share

The cost of the note hedge transactions was approximately $592 million

In September 2010 we repurchased $500 million of aggregate principal amount of our 0.75% convertible

senior notes in privately negotiated transactions for approximately $510 million Concurrently with the

repurchase we sold proportionate share of the note hedges that we entered into at the time of the issuance of

the convertible senior notes back to the note hedge counterparties for approximately $13 million The net cost of

the repurchase and the concurrent sale of the note hedges was $497 million in cash On June 15 2011 we repaid

the remaining principal balance of $600 million under our 0.75% convertible senior notes upon maturity

Concurrent with the maturity the remaining related note hedges and warrants expired No portion of these

hedges and warrants was converted into our common shares upon maturity
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The convertible senior notes have fixed annual interest rate and therefore we do not have economic

interest rate exposure on the convertible senior notes However the values of the convertible senior notes are

exposed to interest rate risk Generally the fair market value of our fixed interest rate convertible senior notes

will increase as interest rates fall and decrease as interest rates rise In addition the fair values of our convertible

senior notes are affected by our stock price The carrying value of the 1.00% notes was $941 million as of

March 30 2012 which represents the liability component of the $1.0 billion principal balance The total

estimated fair value of our 1.00% notes at March 30 2012 was $1.1 billion and the fair value was determined

based on the closing trading price per $100 of the 1.00% notes as of the last day of trading for the fourth quarter

of fiscal 2012 which was $111.50 See Note of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

For business and strategic purposes we also hold equity interests in several privately held companies many
of which can be considered to be in the start-up or development stages These investments are inherently risky

and we could lose substantial part or our entire investment in these companies These investments are recorded

at cost and classified as Other long-term assets in the Consolidated Balance Sheets As of March 30 2012 we
held equity investments in privately-held companies of $40 million

Item Financial Statements and Supplementary Data

Annual financial statements

The Consolidated Financial Statements and related disclosures included in Part IV Item 15 of this annual

report are incorporated by reference into this Item

Selected quarterly financial data

Net revenue

Gross profit

Operating income

Net income

Less Income loss attributable to

noncontrolling interest

Net income attributable to Symantec

Corporation stockholders

Net income per share attributable to Symantec

Corporation stockholders basic

Net income per share attributable to Symantec

Corporation stockholders diluted

Mar 30 Dec 30 Sep 30 Jul Apr Dec 31
2012a 2011 2011 2011 2011 2010

Unaudited

In millions except per share data

$1681 $1653 $1673 $1604

1416 1394 1403 1340

285 302 239 229

182 190 166 132

_______

559 240 182 191
_____

0.77 0.33 0.24 0.25 0.23 0.17

0.76 0.32 0.24 0.25 0.22 0.17

Item Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure

None

Fiscal 2012 Fiscal 2011

$1681

1394

192

559

$1715

1444

300

241

Oct Jul

2010 2010

$1480

1234

218

134

$1433

1168

194

161

_____

168 132 136 161

0.17 0.20

0.17 0.20

During the fourth quarter of fiscal 2012 we sold our 49% ownership interest in the joint venture to Huawei

for $530 million in cash The gross proceeds of $530 million offset by costs to sell the joint venture of $4

million are included in Gain from sale of joint venture reflected in our fiscal 2012 Consolidated

Statements of Income
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Item 9A Controls and Procedures

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

The SEC defines the term disclosure controls and procedures to mean companys controls and other

procedures that are designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed in the reports that it files or

submits under the Exchange Act is recorded processed summarized and reported within the time periods

specified in the SECs rules and forms Disclosure controls and procedures include without limitation controls

and procedures designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed by an issuer in the reports that it files

or submits under the Exchange Act is accumulated and communicated to the issuers management including its

principal executive and principal financial officers or persons performing similar functions as appropriate to

allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure Our disclosure controls and procedures are designed to

provide reasonable assurance that such information is accumulated and communicated to our management Our

Chief Executive Officer and our Chief Financial Officer have concluded based on an evaluation of the

effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures as defined in Rules 13a- 15e and 5d- 15e of the

Exchange Act by our management with the participation of our Chief Executive Officer and our Chief Financial

Officer that our disclosure controls and procedures were effective at the reasonable assurance level as of the end

of the period covered by this report

Managements Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial

reporting as defined in Rules 13a-15t and 15d-15f of the Exchange Act for Symantec Our management
with the participation of our Chief Executive Officer and our Chief Financial Officer has conducted an

evaluation of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of March 30 2012 based on

criteria established in Internal Control Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring

Organizations of the Treadway Commission COSO We have excluded from our evaluation the internal

control over financial reporting of Clearwell Systems Inc Clearwell acquired on June 24 2011 and

LiveOffice LLC LiveOffice acquired on January 13 2012 as discussed in Note of the Notes to

Consolidated Financial Statements in this annual report As of March 30 2012 total tangible assets subject to

these acquisitions internal control over financial reporting represented $84 million or less than 1% of our

consolidated total assets Total net revenue subject to these acquisitions internal control over financial reporting

represented $51 million or less than 1% of our consolidated total net revenue for the fiscal year ended

March 30 2012 As noted below our internal control over financial reporting subsequent to the dates of

acquisition includes certain additional internal controls relating to these acquisitions in addition to these

acquisitions internal control over financial reporting

Our management has concluded that as of March 30 2012 our internal control over financial reporting was

effective based on these criteria

The Companys independent registered public accounting firm has issued an attestation report regarding its

assessment of the Companys internal control over financial reporting as of March 30 2012 which is included in

Part IV Item 15 of this annual report

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

There were no changes in our internal control over financial reporting during the quarter ended March 30

2012 which have materially affected or are reasonably likely to materially affect our internal control over

financial reporting

Limitations on Effectiveness of Controls

Our management including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer does not expect that

our disclosure controls and procedures or our internal controls will prevent all errors and all fraud control
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system no matter how well conceived and operated can provide only reasonable but not absolute assurance that

the objectives of the control system are met Furthermore the design of control system must reflect the fact that

there are resource constraints and the benefits of controls must be considered relative to their costs Because of

the inherent limitations in all control systems no evaluation of controls can provide absolute assurance that all

control issues and instances of fraud if any within our Company have been detected

Item 9B Other Information

None
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PART Ill

Item 10 Directors Executive Officers and Corporate Governance

The information required by this item will be included in an amendment to this annual report on Form 10-K

or incorporated by reference from Symantecs definitive proxy statement to be filed pursuant to Regulation 14A

Item 11 Executive Compensation

The information required by this item will be included in an amendment to this annual report on Form 10-K

or incorporated by reference from Symantecs definitive proxy statement to be filed pursuant to Regulation 14A

Item 12 Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder

Matters

The information required by this item will be included in an amendment to this annual report on Form 10-K

or incorporated by reference from Symantecs definitive proxy statement to be filed pursuant to Regulation 14A

Item 13 Certain Relationships and Related Transactions and Director Independence

The information required by this item will be included in an amendment to this annual report on Form 10-K

or incorporated by reference from Symantecs definitive proxy statement to be filed pursuant to Regulation 14A

Item 14 Principal Accountant Fees and Services

The information required by this item will be included in an amendment to this annual report on Form 10-K

or incorporated by reference from Symantecs definitive proxy statement to be filed pursuant to Regulation 14A
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PART IV

Item 15 Exhibits Financial Statement Schedules

Upon written request we will provide without charge copy of this annual report including the

Consolidated Financial Statements and financial statement schedule All requests should be sent to

Symantec Corporation

Attn Investor Relations

350 Ellis Street

Mountain View California 94043

650-527-8000

The following documents are filed as part of this report

Page
Number

Consolidated Financial Statements

Reports of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm 62
Consolidated Balance Sheets as of March 30 2012 and April 2011 64

Consolidated Statements of Income for the years ended March 30 2012 April 2011 and April
2010

65

Consolidated Statements of Stockholders Equity and Comprehensive Income for the
years ended

March 30 2012 April 2011 and April 2010 66

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the years ended March 30 2012 April 2011 and

April 2010 67

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 68

Financial Statement Schedule The following financial statement schedule of Symantec

Corporation for the years ended March 30 2012 April 2011 and April 2010 is filed as part of

this Form 10-K and should be read in conjunction with the Consolidated Financial Statements of

Symantec Corporation

Schedule II Valuation and Qualifying Accounts 107

Schedules other than those listed above have been omitted since they are either not required not

applicable or the information is otherwise included
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Exhibits The following exhibits are filed as part of or furnished with this annual report as applicable

EXHIBIT INDEX

Exhibit Incorporated by Reference
Filed

Number Exhibit Description Form File No Exhibit Filing Date Herewith

3.01 Amended and Restated Certificate of S-8 333-119872 4.01 10/21/04

Incorporation of Symantec Corporation

3.02 Certificate of Amendment of Amended and S-8 333-126403 4.03 07/06/05

Restated Certificate of Incorporation of

Symantec Corporation

3.03 Certificate of Amendment to Amended and 10-Q 000-17781 3.01 08/05109

Restated Certificate of Incorporation of

Symantec Corporation

3.04 Certificate of Designations of Series 8-K 000-17781 3.01 12/21/04

Junior Participating Preferred Stock of

Symantec Corporation

3.05 Bylaws as amended of Symantec 8-K 000-17781 3.01 05/07/12

Corporation

4.01 Form of Common Stock Certificate S-3ASR 333-139230 4.07 12/11/06

4.02 Indenture related to the 1.00% Convertible 8-K 000-17781 4.02 06/16/06

Senior Notes due 2013 dated as of June 16

2006 between Symantec Corporation and

U.S Bank National Association as trustee

including form of 1.00% Convertible

Senior Notes due 2013

4.03 Form of Master Terms and Conditions For 10-Q 000-17781 10.04 08/09/06

Convertible Bond Hedging Transactions

between Symantec Corporation and each of

Bank of America N.A and Citibank N.A
respectively dated June 2006 including

Exhibit and Schedule thereto

4.04 Form of Master Terms and Conditions For 10-Q 000-17781 10.05 08/09/06

Warrants Issued by Symantec Corporation

between Symantec Corporation and each of

Bank of America N.A and Citibank N.A
respectively dated June 2006 including

Exhibit and Schedule thereto

4.05 Credit Agreement dated as of September 10-Q 000-17781 4.01 11/03/10

20 10 by and among Symantec Corporation

the lenders party thereto the Lenders
Wells Fargo Bank National Association as

Administrative Agent Bank of America

N.A and Citibank N.A as Co-Syndication

Agents JPMorgan Chase Bank N.A and

Morgan Stanley Senior Funding Inc as Co
Documentation Agents and Wells Fargo

Securities LLC Banc of America Securities

LLC and Citigroup Global Markets Inc as

Joint Bookrunners and Joint Lead Arrangers
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Exhibit Incorporated by Reference
Filed

Number Exhibit Desciiption Form File No Exhibit Filing Date Herewith

4.06 Indenture dated September 16 2010 between 8-K 000-17781 4.01 09/16/10

Symantec Corporation and Wells Fargo Bank
National Association as trustee

4.07 Form of Global Note for Symantecs 2.750% 8-K 000-17781 4.03 09/16/10

Senior Note due 2015 contained in

Exhibit No 4.02

4.08 Form of Global Note for Symantecs 4.200% 8-K 000-17781 10.04 09/16/10

Senior Note due 2020 contained in

Exhibit No 4.02

10.01 Form of Indemnification Agreement with S-i 33-28655 10.17 06/21/89

Officers and Directors as amended form for

agreements entered into prior to

January 17 2006

10.02 Form of Indemnification Agreement for 8-K 000-17781 10.01 01/23/06

Officers Directors and Key Employees

10.03 Veritas Software Corporation 1993 Equity 10-K 000-17781 10.03 06/09/06

Incentive Plan including form of Stock Option

Agreement

10.04 Symantec Corporation 1996 Equity Incentive 10-K 000-17781 10.05 06/09/06

Plan as amended including form of Stock

Option Agreement and form of Restricted Stock

Purchase Agreement

Q.O5 Symantec Corporation Defened Compensation 10-K 000-17781 10.05 05/24/10

Plan restated and amended January 2010 as

adopted December 15 2009

10.06 Brightmail Inc 1998 Stock Option Plan 10-K 000-17781 10.08 06/09/06

including form of Stock Option Agreement and

form of Notice of Assumption

10.07 Symantec Corporation 2000 Director Equity 10-Q 000-17781 10.01 11/01/11

Incentive Plan as amended

10.08 Symantec Corporation 2001 Non-Qualified 10-K 000-17781 10.12 06/09/06

Equity Incentive Plan

10.09 Amended and Restated Symantec Corporation 8-K 000-17781 10.01 01/25/08

2002 Executive Officers Stock Purchase Plan

l0.10 Altiris Inc 2002 Stock Plan S-8 333-141986 99.03 04/10/07

10.1 Form of Stock Option Agreement under the S-8 333-141986 99.04 04/10/07

Altiris Inc 2002 Stock Plan

10.12 Vontu Inc 2002 Stock Option/Stock Issuance S-8 333-148107 99.02 12/17/07

Plan as amended

10.13 Form of Vontu Inc Stock Option Agreement S-8 333-148107 99.03 12/17/07

10.14 Veritas Software Corporation 2003 Stock 10-K 000-17781 10.15 06/09/06

Incentive Plan as amended and restated

including form of Stock Option Agreement

form of Stock Option Agreement for

Executives and Senior VPs and form of Notice

of Stock Option Assumption
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Exhibit

Number Exhibit Description

10.1 Symantec Corporation 2004 Equity Incentive

Plan as amended including Stock Option

Grant Terms and Conditions form of RSU

Award Agreement form of RSU Award

Agreement for Non-Employee Directors and

form of PRU Award Agreement

l0.16 Altiris Inc 2005 Stock Plan

10.17 Form of Incentive Stock Option Agreement

under the Altiris Inc 2005 Stock Plan as

amended

10.18 Clearwell Systems Inc 2005 Stock Plan as

amended

10 19 Form of Clearwell Systems Inc Stock Option

Agreement

10.20 Symantec Corporation 2008 Employee Stock

Purchase Plan as amended

l0.21 Offer Letter dated February 2006 from

Symantec Corporation to James Beer

10.22 Letter Agreement dated April 2009 between

Symantec Corporation and John Thompson

l0.23 Employment Agreement dated September 23

2009 between Symantec Corporation and

Enrique Salem

10.24 FY11 Long Term Incentive Plan

10.25 FY12 Long Term Incentive Plan

10.26 Form of FY12 Executive Annual Incentive Plan

Chief Executive Officer

10.27 Form of FY12 Executive Annual Incentive Plan

Executive Vice President and Group

President 95%

10.28 Form of FY12 Executive Annual Incentive Plan

Executive Vice President and Group

President

10.29 FY13 Long Term Incentive Plan

10.30 Form of FY13 Executive Annual Incentive Plan

Plan Chief Executive Officer

10.31 Form of FY13 Executive Annual Incentive Plan

Plan Vice President Senior Vice

President Executive Vice President Group

President

10.32 Symantec Senior Executive Incentive Plan as

amended and restated

10.33 Symantec Corporation Executive Retention

Plan as amended and restated

10.34 Symantec Corporation Executive Severance

Plan

10.35 Assignment of Copyright and Other Intellectual

Property Rights by and between Peter Norton

and Peter Norton Computing Inc dated

August 31 1990

Incorporated by Reference
Filed

Form File No Exhibit Filing Date Herewith

10-K 000-17781 10.17 05/20/11

S-8 333-141986 99.05 04/10/07

S-8 333-141986 99.06 04/10/07

S-8 333-175783 99.01 07/26/11

S-8 333-175783 99.02 07/26/11

10-Q 000-17781 10.2 11/03/10

10-K 000-17781 10.17 06/09/06

8-K 000-17781 10.01 04/09/09

8-K 000-17781 10.01 09/29/09

10-Q

10-K

10-K

000-17781

000-17781

000-17781

10.04

10.29

10.30

08/04/10

05/20/11

05/20/11

10-K 000-17781 10.31 05/20/11

10-K 000-17781 10.32 05/20/11

10-Q 000-17781 10.03 11/07/08

S-4 33-35385 10.37 06/13/90
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Exhibit

Number Exhibit Description Form

0.36 Environmental Indemnity Agreement dated S-i/A

April 23 1999 between Veritas and

Fairchild Semiconductor Corporation

included as Exhibit to that certain

Agreement of Purchase and Sale dated

March 29 1999 between Veritas and

Fairchild Semiconductor of California

10.37 Amendment dated June 20 2007 to the

Amended and Restated Agreement

Respecting Certain Rights of Publicity

dated as of August 3i i990 by and

between Peter Norton and Symantec

Corporation

10.38 Amendment effective December 2010

to the Trademark License Agreement dated

August 2010 by and between VeriSign

Inc and Symantec Corporation

21.01 Subsidiaries of Symantec Corporation

23.01 Consent of Independent Registered Public

Accounting Firm

24.01 Power of Attorney see Signature page to

this annual report

31.01 Certification of Chief Executive Officer

pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes

Oxley Act of 2002

31.02 Certification of Chief Financial Officer

pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes

Oxley Act of 2002

32.0 ltt Certification of Chief Executive Officer

pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes

Oxley Act of 2002

32.02tt Certification of Chief Financial Officer

pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes

Oxley Act of 2002

101.INS XBRL Instance Document

101 .SCH XBRL Taxonomy Schema Linkbase

Document

101 .CAL XBRL Taxonomy Calculation Linkbase

Document

101 .DEF XBRL Taxonomy Definition Linkbase

Document

101 .LAB XBRL Taxonomy Labels Linkbase

Document

101 .PRE XBRL Taxonomy Presentation Linkbase

Document

tt This exhibit is being furnished rather than filed and shall not be deemed incorporated by reference into any

filing in accordance with Item 601 of Regulation S-K

10-Q 000-17781

Incorporated by Reference
Filed

File No Exhibit Filing Date Herewith

333-83777 10.27 Exhibit 08/06/99

iO-Q 000-17781 10.01 08/07/07

10.01 02/02/il

Indicates management contract compensatory plan or arrangement
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

The Board of Directors and Stockholders

Symantec Corporation

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Symantec Corporation and subsidiaries

as of March 30 2012 and April 2011 and the related consolidated statements of income stockholders equity

and comprehensive income and cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended March 30 2012

In connection with our audits of the consolidated financial statements we have also audited the related financial

statement schedule listed in Item 15 We also have audited Symantec Corporations internal control over

financial reporting as of March 30 2012 based on criteria established in internal Control integrated

Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission COSO
Symantec Corporations management is responsible for these consolidated financial statements financial

statement schedule for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of

the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting included in Managements Report on Internal

Control over Financial Reporting appearing under Item 9Ab Our responsibility is to express an opinion on

these consolidated financial statements financial statement schedule and an opinion on the Companys internal

control over financial reporting based on our audits

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight

Board United States Those standards require that we plan and perform the audits to obtain reasonable

assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement and whether effective internal

control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects Our audits of the consolidated financial

statements included examining on test basis evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial

statements assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management and

evaluating the overall financial statement presentation Our audit of internal control over financial reporting

included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting assessing the risk that material

weakness exists and testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on

the assessed risk Our audits also included performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the

circumstances We believe that our audits provide reasonable basis for our opinions

companys internal control over financial reporting is process designed to provide reasonable assurance

regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in

accordance with generally accepted accounting principles companys internal control over financial reporting

includes those policies and procedures that pertain to the maintenance of records that in reasonable detail

accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company provide reasonable

assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance

with generally accepted accounting principles and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made

only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company and provide reasonable

assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition use or disposition of the

companys assets that could have material effect on the financial statements

Because of its inherent limitations internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect

misstatements Also projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that

controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions or that the degree of compliance with the

policies or procedures may deteriorate

In our opinion the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly in all material respects

the financial position of Symantec Corporation and subsidiaries as of March 30 2012 and April 2011 and the

results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended March 30

2012 in conformity with U.S generally accepted accounting principles Also in our opinion the related financial

statement schedule when considered in relation to the basic consolidated financial statements taken as whole
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presents fairly in all material respects the information set forth therein Symantec Corporation maintained in all

material respects effective internal control over financial reporting as of March 30 2012 based on criteria

established in Internal Control Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations

of the Treadway Commission

As discussed in Note to the consolidated financial statements the Company adopted updated authoritative

accounting guidance related to impairment testing of goodwill in the first quarter of fiscal 2012 by recording

cumulative-effect adjustment to beginning Accumulated deficit

Management excluded from its assessment of the effectiveness of the Companys internal control over

financial reporting as of March 30 2012 the internal control over financial reporting of Clearwell Systems Inc

Clearwell acquired on June 24 2011 and LiveOffice LLC LiveOffice acquired on January 13 2012 as

discussed in Note of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements As of March 30 2012 total tangible

assets subject to these acquisitions internal control over financial reporting represented $84 million or less than

1% of the consolidated total assets Total net revenue subject to these acquisitions internal control over financial

reporting represented $51 million or less than 1% of the consolidated total net revenue for the fiscal
year

ended

March 30 2012 Our audit of internal control over financial reporting of Symantec Corporation also excluded an

evaluation of the internal control over financial reporting of Clearwell and LiveOffice

Is KPMG LLP

Santa Clara California

May 21 2012
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SYMANTEC CORPORATION

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

March 30 April

2012 2011

In millions except

par value

ASSETS

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents 3162 2950

Short-term investments 49

Trade accounts receivable net 940 1013

Inventories 28 30

Deferred income taxes 205 223

Other current assets 249 262

Total current assets 4633 4486

Property and equipment net 1100 1050

Intangible assets net 1337 1511

Goodwill 5826 5494

Investment in joint venture 27

Other long-term assets 124 151

Total assets $13020 $12719

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS EQUITY
Current liabilities

Accounts payable 324 260

Accrued compensation and benefits 416 443

Deferred revenue 3444 3321

Current portion of long-term debt 596

Other current liabilities 321 273

Total current liabilities 4505 4893

Long-term debt 2039 1987

Long-term deferred revenue 529 498

Long-term deferred tax liabilities 288 296

Long-term income taxes payable 393 361

Other long-term obligations 94 79

Total liabilities 7848 8114

Commitments and contingencies Note

Stockholders equity

Symantec Corporation stockholders equity

Common stock par value $0.01 3000 shares authorized 938 and 972 shares issued at

March 30 2012 and April 2011 724 and 758 shares outstanding at March 30 2012 and

April 12011

Additional paid-in capital 7773 8361

Accumulated other comprehensive income 173 171

Accumulated deficit 2859 4012

Total Symantec Corporation stockholders equity 5094 4528

Noncontrolling interest in subsidiary 78 77

Total stockholders equity 5172 4605

Total liabilities and stockholders equity $13020 $12719

The accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements are an integral part of these statements
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SYMANTEC CORPORATION

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME

Year Ended

March 30 April April

2012 2011 2010

In millions except per share data

Net revenue

Content subscription and maintenance $5823 $5242 $5025

License 907 948 960

Total net revenue 6730 6190 5985

Cost of revenue

Content subscription and maintenance 943 903 849

License 48 27 22

Amortization of intangible assets 91 115 234

Total cost of revenue 1082 1045 1105

Gross profit 5648 5145 4880

Operating expenses

Sales and marketing 2814 2622 2367

Research and development 969 862 857

General and administrative 437 390 352

Amortization of intangible assets 289 270 247

Restructuring and transition 56 92 94

Impairment of intangible assets 27

Loss and impairment of assets held for sale 30

Total operating expenses 4569 4265 3947

Operating income 1079 880 933

Interest income 13 10

Interest expense 115 143 129
Other expense income net 55

Loss on early extinguishment of debt 16
Loss from joint venture 27 31 39
Gain from sale of joint venture 526

Income before income taxes 1470 698 826

Provision for income taxes 298 105 112

Net income 1172 593 714

Less Loss attributable to noncontrolling interest

Net income attributable to Symantec Corporation stockholders $1172 597 714

Net income
per share attributable to Symantec Corporation stockholders

basic 1.58 0.77 0.88

Net income per share attributable to Symantec Corporation stockholders

diluted 1.57 0.76 0.87

Weighted-average shares outstanding attributable to Symantec Corporation

stockholders basic 741 778 810

Weighted-average shares outstanding attributable to Symantec Corporation

stockholders diluted 748 786 819

The accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements are an integral part of these statements
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SYMANTEC CORPORATION

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS EQUITY AND COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
AS OF MARCH 30 2012 APRIL 2011 AND APRIL 2010

Balances April 2009

Components of comprehensive income

Net income

Translation adjustment net of tax of $9

Reclassification adjustment for net gain on legal

liquidation of foreign entities included in net income

net

Other

Total comprehensive income

Issuance of common stock under employee stock plans

Repurchases of common stock

Restricted stock units released net of taxes

Stock-based compensation net of estimated forfeitures

Income tax benefit from employee stock transactions

Balances April 2010

Components of comprehensive income

Net income

Translation adjustment net of tax of $13

Reclassification adjustment for net loss on legal

liquidation of foreign entities included in net income

net

Other

Total comprehensive income

Issuance of common stock under employee stock plans

Repurchases of common stock

Restricted stock units released net of taxes

Stock-based compensation net of estimated forfeitures

Noncontrolling interest in subsidiary

Dividend declared to noncontrolling interest in

subsidiary

Adjustments to goodwill related to stock options assumed in

business combination

Balances April 1.2011

Cumulative effect adjustment to retained earnings

Beginning balance as adjusted

Components of comprehensive income

Net income

Translation adjustment net of tax of $22

Reclassification adjustment for net loss on legal

liquidation of foreign entities included in net income

net

Total comprehensive income

Issuance of common stock under employee stock plans

Repurchases of common stock

Restricted stock units released net of taxes

Stock-based compensation net of estimated forfeitures

Income tax benefit from employee stock transactions

Dividend declared to noncontrolling interest in

subsidiary

Adjustments to goodwill related to stock options assumed in

business combination

Balances March 30 2012

124

566
20
154

8990

21

147

892
41
161

30

21 21

609

122

870
28
146

1174

147

893
41
161

30

As adjusted for the retrospective adoption of authoritative guidance on convertible debt instruments

The accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements are an integral part of these statements
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Total

Accumulated Symantec Non-

Additional Other Accumulated Corporation controlling Total
Common Stock

Paid-In Comprehensive Earnings Stockholders Interest in Stockholders

Shares Amount Capital Income Deficit Equity Subsidiary Equity

In millions

817 $9289 $186 $5336 $4147 $4147

17

47

714 714

17

47

12

34

798 159

687

124

553
20
154

4548

13

4609

714

17

47

687

124

553
20
154

4548

593597 597

57
122

870
28
146

84

605

122

872
28
146

84

758 8361 171 4012 4528

19 19

4509

77 4605

19
77 4586

1172 1172 1172

11

51

724 $7773 $173 $78

1176

147

893
41
161

30

$5172$2859 $5094



SYMANTEC CORPORATION

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Year Ended

March 30 April April

2012 2011 2010

In millions

OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Net income 1172 593 714

Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities

Depreciation and amortization 656 647 733

Amortization of discount on debt 56 96 104

Stock-based compensation expense 164 145 155

Loss on early extinguishment of debt 16

Impairment of intangible assets 27

Loss and impairment of assets held for sale 30

Deferred income taxes 15 41
Excess income tax benefit from the exercise of stock options 13
Net gain from sale of joint venture 526
Loss from joint venture 27 31 39

Liquidation of foreign entities 21 47
Other 13
Net change in assets and liabilities excluding effects of acquisitions

Trade accounts receivable net 89 88 14
Inventories

Accounts payable 30

Accrued compensation and benefits 31 72 34
Deferredrevenue 177 442 114

Income taxes payable 39 128 95
Other assets 14
Other liabilities 47 71 40

Net cash provided by operating activities 1901 1794 1693

IN VESTING ACTIVITIES
Purchases of property and equipment 286 268 248
Proceeds from sale of property and equipment 30 45

Cash payments for acquisitions net of cash acquired 508 1537 31
Purchases of equity investments 10 21
Proceeds from sale of joint venture 530

Purchases of held-to-maturIty securities 47
Proceeds from sale of available-for-sale securities 20 192

Other

Net cash used in investing activities 318 1760 65
FiNANCING ACTIVITIES

Net proceeds from sales of common stock under employee stock benefit plans 147 122 124

Excess income tax benefit from the exercise of stock options 13

Payments related to restricted stock units activities 41 28 20
Repurchase of common stock 893 872 553
Repayment of debt 600 510
Proceeds from debt issuance net of discount 1097

Proceeds from sale of bond hedge 13

Debt issuance costs 10
Repayment of other obligations

Net cash used in financing activities 1386 184 441
Effect of exchange rate fluctuations on cash and cash equivalents 15 71 49

Change in cash and cash equivalents 212 79 1236

Beginning cash and cash equivalents 2950 3029 1793

Ending cash and cash equivalents 3162 2950 $3029

Supplemental cash flow disclosures

Income taxes paid net of refunds 234 224 247

Interest expense paid 56 38 19

The accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements are an integral part of these statements
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SYMANTEC CORPORATION

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Note Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Business

Symantec Corporation we us our and the Company refer to Symantec Corporation and all of its

subsidiaries is global provider of security storage and systems management solutions that help organizations

and consumers secure and manage their information-driven world Our software and services protect against

advanced threats enabling confidence wherever information is used or stored

Principles of consolidation

The accompanying consolidated financial statements of Symantec Corporation and its wholly-owned

subsidiaries are prepared in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles in the United States

U.S. Noncontrolling interest positions of certain of our consolidated entities are reported as separate

component of consolidated equity from the equity attributable to our stockholders for all periods presented All

significant intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated

Fiscal calendar

We have 52/53-week fiscal year ending on the Friday closest to March 31 Our fiscal 2012 2011 and 2010

were 52-week years and our 2013 fiscal year will consist of 52 weeks

Reclassifications

Certain prior period amounts have been reclassified to conform to the current year presentation including

the reclassification of certain revenue from Content subscription and maintenance revenue to License revenue

License revenue includes revenue from software licenses appliances and certain revenue-sharing arrangements

Use of estimates

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting

principles in the U.S requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported

in the consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes Estimates are based upon historical factors

current circumstances and the experience and judgment of management Management evaluates its assumptions

and estimates on an ongoing basis and may engage outside subject matter experts to assist in its valuations

Actual results could differ from those estimates Significant items subject to such estimates and assumptions

include those related to the allocation of revenue between recognized and deferred amounts valuation of

goodwill intangible assets and long-lived assets valuation of stock-based compensation contingencies and

litigation and the valuation allowance for deferred income taxes

Foreign currency translation

The functional currency
of our foreign subsidiaries is generally the local currency Assets and liabilities

denominated in foreign currencies are translated using the exchange rate on the balance sheet dates Revenues

and expenses are translated using monthly average exchange rates prevailing during the year The translation

adjustments resulting from this process are included as component of Accumulated other comprehensive

income Deferred tax assets liabilities are established on the cumulative translation adjustment attributable to

unremitted foreign earnings that are not intended to be indefinitely reinvested In the event of liquidation of

foreign subsidiary the accumulated translation adjustment attributable to that foreign subsidiary is reclassified
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SYMANTEC CORPORATION

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements Continued

from Accumulated other comprehensive income and included in Other expense income net As result of such

liquidations in fiscal 2012 2011 and 2010 we recorded net loss of $3 million net loss of $21 million and

net gain of $47 million respectively Foreign currency transaction gains and losses are also included in Other

expense income net in the Consolidated Statements of Income

Revenue recognition

We market and distribute our software products both as stand-alone products and as integrated product

suites We recognize revenue when persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists delivery has occurred or

services have been rendered fees are fixed or determinable and collectability is probable If we determine

that any one of the four criteria is not met we will defer recognition of revenue until all the criteria are met

We derive revenue primarily from sales of content subscriptions and maintenance and licenses We present

revenue net of sales taxes and any similar assessments

Content subscriptions and maintenance revenue includes arrangements for software maintenance and

technical support for our products content and subscription services primarily related to our security products

revenue from arrangements where vendor-specific objective evidence VSOE of the fair value of undelivered

elements does not exist arrangements for managed security services and Software-as-a-Service SaaS
offerings These arrangements are generally offered to our customers over specified period of time and we

recognize the related revenue ratably over the maintenance subscription or service period

Content subscriptions and maintenance revenue also includes professional services revenue which consists

primarily of the fees we earn related to consulting and educational services We generally recognize revenue

from professional services as the services are performed or upon written acceptance from customers if

applicable assuming all other conditions for revenue recognition noted above have been met

License revenue is derived primarily from the licensing of our various products and technology We

generally recognize license revenue upon delivery of the product assuming all other conditions for revenue

recognition noted above have been met We enter into perpetual software license agreements through direct sales

to customers and indirect sales with distributors and resellers The license agreements generally include product

maintenance agreements for which the related revenue is included with Content subscriptions and maintenance

and is deferred and recognized ratably over the period of the agreements License revenue also includes

appliances product revenue We generally recognize appliance product revenue as each product is delivered

assuming all other conditions for revenue recognition noted about have been met

For arrangements that include multiple elements including perpetual software licenses maintenance

services and packaged products with content updates managed security services and subscriptions we allocate

and defer revenue for the undelivered items based on VSOE of the fair value of the undelivered elements and

recognize the difference between the total arrangement fee and the amount deferred for the undelivered items as

license revenue VSOE of each element is based on historical evidence of our stand-alone sales of these elements

to third parties or from the stated renewal rate for the undelivered elements When VSOE does not exist for

undelivered items the entire arrangement fee is recognized ratably over the performance period Our deferred

revenue consists primarily of the unamortized balance of enterprise product maintenance consumer product

content updates managed security services subscriptions and arrangements where VSOE does not exist for an

undelivered element

For arrangements that include both software and non-software elements we allocate revenue to the software

deliverables as group and non-software deliverables based on their relative selling prices In such
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SYMANTEC CORPORATION

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements Continued

circumstances the accounting principles establish hierarchy to determine the selling price used for allocating

revenue to the deliverables as follows VSOE ii third-party evidence of selling price TPE and iii the

best estimate of the selling price ESP Our appliance products SaaS and certain other services are considered

to be non-software elements in our arrangements

When we are unable to establish selling price using VSOE or TPE we use ESP in the allocation of

arrangement consideration The objective of ESP is to determine the price at which we would transact sale if

the product or service were sold on stand-alone basis The determination of ESP is made through consultation

with and formal approval by our management taking into consideration the go-to-market strategy pricing

factors and historical transactions ESP applies to small portion of our arrangements with multiple deliverables

Indirect channel sales

For our Consumer segment we sell packaged software products through multi-tiered distribution channel

For our consumer products that include content updates we recognize revenue ratably over the term of the

subscription upon sell-through to end-users as the subscription period commences on the date of sale to the

end-user For most other consumer products we recognize packaged product revenue on distributor and reseller

channel inventory that is not in excess of specified inventory levels in these channels We offer the right of return

of our products under various policies and programs with our distributors resellers and end-user customers We

estimate and record reserves for product returns as an offset to revenue We fully reserve for obsolete products in

the distribution channel as an offset to deferred revenue for products with content updates and to revenue for all

other products

For our Security and Compliance and Storage and Server Management segments we generally recognize

revenue from the licensing of software products through our indirect sales channel upon sell-through or with

evidence of an end-user For licensing of our software to OEMs royalty revenue is recognized when the OEM

reports the sale of the software products to an end-user generally on quarterly basis In addition to license

royalties some OEMs pay an annual flat fee and/or support royalties for the right to sell maintenance and

technical support to the end-user We recognize revenue from OEM support royalties and fees ratably over the

term of the support agreement

We offer channel and end-user rebates for our products Our estimated reserves for channel volume

incentive rebates are based on distributors and resellers actual performance against the terms and conditions of

volume incentive rebate programs which are typically entered into quarterly Our reserves for end-user rebates

are estimated based on the terms and conditions of the promotional program actual sales during the promotion

the amount of actual redemptions received historical redemption trends by product and by type of promotional

program and the value of the rebate We estimate and record reserves for channel and end-user rebates as an

offset to revenue For consumer products that include content updates rebates are recorded as ratable offset to

revenue over the term of the subscription

Financial instruments

The following methods were used to estimate the fair value of each class of financial instruments for which

it is practicable to estimate that value

Cash and cash equivalents We consider all highly liquid investments with an original maturity of three

months or less to be cash equivalents Cash equivalents are recognized at fair value
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SYMANTEC CORPORATION

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements Continued

Short-term investments Short-term investments primarily consist of marketable debt securities that are

classified as held-to-maturity and recognized at amortized cost Such securities have contractual maturity dates of

one year or less

Equity investments We make equity investments in privately held companies whose businesses are

complementary to our business These investments are accounted for under the cost method of accounting as we

hold less than 20% of the voting stock outstanding and do not exert significant influence over these companies

The investments are included in Other long-term assets We assess the recoverability of these investments by

reviewing various indicators of impairment and determine the fair value of these investments by performing

discounted cash flow analysis of estimated future cash flows if there are indicators of impairment If decline in

value is determined to be other-than-temporary impairment would be recognized and included in Other

expense income net As of March 30 2012 and April 2011 we held equity investments in privately-held

companies of $40 million and $30 million respectively Other-than-temporary impairments related to these

investments were not material for the periods presented

Long term debt Long-term debt includes senior notes convertible senior notes and revolving credit

facility Our senior notes and convertible senior notes are recorded at cost based upon par value at issuance less

discounts The discount associated with our senior notes represents the amount by which the face value exceeds

the issuance price For the convertible senior notes the liability component is recognized at fair value on the

issuance date based on the fair value of similar instrument that does not have conversion feature at issuance

The equity component also known as discount is the excess of the principal amount of the convertible senior

notes over the fair value of the liability component and represents the estimated fair value of the conversion

feature Such amount is reflected in Additional paid-in capital The discount and issuance costs recognized

initially in the Other long-term assets are amortized using the effective interest rate method over the term of the

debt as non-cash charge to interest expense Borrowings under our $1 billion senior unsecured revolving credit

facility are recognized at cost plus accrued interest based upon stated interest rates

Trade accounts receivable

Trade accounts receivable are recorded at the invoiced amount and are not interest bearing We maintain an

allowance for doubtful accounts to reserve for potentially uncollectible trade receivables Additions to the

allowance for doubtful accounts are recorded as General and administrative expenses We review our trade

receivables by aging category to identify specific customers with known disputes or collectability issues In

addition we maintain an allowance for all other receivables not included in the specific reserve by applying

specific percentages of projected uncollectible receivables to the various aging categories In determining these

percentages we analyze our historical collection experience and current economic trends We exercise judgment

when determining the adequacy of these reserves as we evaluate historical bad debt trends general economic

conditions in the U.S and internationally and changes in customer financial conditions We also offset deferred

revenue against accounts receivable when channel inventories are in excess of specified levels and for

transactions where collection of receivable is not considered probable
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SYMANTEC CORPORATION

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements Continued

The following table summarizes trade accounts receivable net of allowances and reserves for the periods

presented

As of

March 30 April

2012 2011

In millions

Trade accounts receivable net

Receivables $962 $1034

Less allowance for doubtful accounts

Less reserve for product returns 17 12

Trade accounts receivable net $940 $1013

Inventories

Inventories are valued at the lower of cost or market Cost is principally determined using the first-in

first-out method Adjustments to reduce the cost of inventory to its net realizable value are made if required for

estimated excess obsolescence or impaired balances Inventory predominantly consists of deferred costs of

revenue and finished goods Deferred costs of revenue were $20 million as of March 30 2012 and $22 million as

of April 2011 Finished goods were $11 million as of March 30 2012 and $7 million as of April 2011

Property and equipment

Property equipment and leasehold improvements are stated at cost net of accumulated depreciation and

amortization We capitalize costs incurred during the application development stage related to the development

of internal use software and enterprise cloud computing services We expense costs incurred related to the

planning and post-implementation phases of development as incurred Depreciation and amortization is provided

on straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of the related assets Buildings are depreciated over 20 to

30 years Leasehold improvements are depreciated over the lesser of the life of the improvement or the initial

lease term Computer hardware and software and office furniture and equipment are depreciated over three to

five years
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SYMANTEC CORPORATION

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements Continued

The following table summarizes property and equipment by categories for the periods presented

As of

March 30 April

2012 2011

In millions

Property and equipment net

Computer hardware and software 1640 1458

Office furniture and equipment 176 189

Buildings 489 467

Leasehold improvements 284 270

2589 2384

Less accumulated depreciation and amortization 1663 1530

926 854

Construction in progress 95 117

Land 79 79

Property and equipment net 1100 1050

Depreciation expense was $273 million $257 million and $247 million in fiscal 2012 2011 and 2010

respectively

Business combinations

We use the acquisition method of accounting under the authoritative guidance on business combinations

Each acquired companys operating results are included in our consolidated financial statements starting on the

date of acquisition The purchase price is equivalent to the fair value of consideration transferred Tangible and

identifiable intangible assets acquired and liabilities assumed as of the date of acquisition are recorded at the

acquisition date fair value Goodwill is recognized for the excess of purchase price over the net fair value of

assets acquired and liabilities assumed

Amounts allocated to assets and liabilities are based upon fair values Such valuations require management

to make significant estimates and assumptions especially with respect to the identifiable intangible assets

Management makes estimates of fair value based upon assumptions believed to be reasonable and that of

market participant These estimates are based on historical experience and information obtained from the

management of the acquired companies and are inherently uncertain The separately identifiable intangible assets

generally include developed technology customer relationships and tradenames We estimate the fair value of

deferred revenue related to product support assumed in connection with acquisitions The estimated fair value of

deferred revenue is determined by estimating the costs related to fulfilling the obligations plus normal profit

margin The estimated costs to fulfill the support contracts are based on the historical direct costs related to

providing the support

For any given acquisition we may identify certain pre-acquisition contingencies We estimate the fair value

of such contingencies which are included under the acquisition method as part of the assets acquired or liabilities

assumed as appropriate Differences from these estimates are recorded in the Consolidated Statements of Income

in the period in which they are identified
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SYMANTEC CORPORATION

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements Continued

Goodwill and intangible assets

Goodwill Our methodology for allocating the purchase price relating to acquisitions is determined

through established valuation techniques Goodwill is measured as the excess of the cost of the acquisition over

the sum of the amounts assigned to tangible and identifiable intangible assets acquired less liabilities assumed

We review goodwill for impairment on an annual basis during the fourth quarter of the fiscal year and whenever

events or changes in circumstances indicate the carrying value of goodwill may be impaired In testing for

potential impairment of goodwill we determine the carrying value book value of the assets and liabilities for

each reporting unit which requires the allocation of goodwill to each reporting unit We then estimate the fair

value of each reporting unit which are the same as our operating segments The first step in evaluating goodwill

for impairment is to determine if the estimated fair value of equity is greater than the carrying value of equity of

each reporting unit If step one indicates that impairment potentially exists or if reporting unit has zero or

negative carrying value the second step is performed to measure the amount of impairment if any Goodwill

impairment exists when the estimated fair value of goodwill is less than its carrying value

To determine the reporting units fair values in the current year analysis we used the income approach

which is based on the estimated discounted future cash flows of that reporting unit The estimated fair value of

each reporting unit under the income approach is corroborated with the market approach which measures the

value of business through an analysis of recent sales or offerings of comparable entity We also consider our

market capitalization on the date of the analysis The methodology applied in the current year analysis was

consistent with the methodology applied in the prior year analysis but was based on updated assumptions as

appropriate

Our cash flow assumptions are based on historical and forecasted revenue operating costs and other

relevant factors To determine the reporting units carrying values we allocated assets and liabilities based on

either specific identification or by using judgment for the remaining assets and liabilities that are not specific to

reporting unit Goodwill was allocated to the reporting units based on combination of specific identification and

relative fair values which is consistent with the methodology utilized in the prior year impairment analysis The

use of relative fair values was necessary for certain reporting units due to impairment charges and changes in our

operating structure in prior years

Prior to performing our second step in the goodwill impairment analysis we perform an assessment of long-

lived assets including intangible assets for impairment We apply fair value based impairment test to the

carrying value of goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible assets on an annual basis in the fourth quarter of each

fiscal year or earlier if indicators of impairment exist

Intangible assets In connection with our acquisitions we generally recognize assets for customer

relationships developed technology which consists of acquired product rights technologies databases and

contracts in-process research and development trademarks and tradenames Indefinite-lived intangible assets

are not subject to amortization Finite-lived intangible assets are carried at cost less accumulated amortization

Such amortization is provided on straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of the respective assets

generally from one to eleven years Amortization for developed technology is recognized in Cost of revenue as

Amortization of acquired product rights Amortization for customer relationships and certain tradenames is

recognized in Operating expenses

On an interim basis we assess the impairment of identifiable intangible assets whenever events or changes

in circumstances indicate that an asset groups carrying amount may not be recoverable Recoverability of certain

finite-lived intangible assets particularly customer relationships and finite-lived tradenames would be measured
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by the comparison of the carrying amount of the asset group to which the assets are assigned to the sum of the

undiscounted estimated future cash flows the asset group is expected to generate If the asset is considered to be

impaired such amount would be measured as the difference between the carrying amount of the asset and its fair

value Recoverability and impairment of other finite-lived intangible assets particularly developed technology

and patents would be measured by the comparison of the carrying amount of the asset to the sum of

undiscounted estimated future product revenues offset by estimated future costs to dispose of the product In

addition for indefinite-lived intangible assets we review such assets for impairment on an annual basis

consistent with the timing of the annual evaluation for goodwill These assets generally include tradenames

trademarks and in-process research and development Recoverability of infinite-lived intangible assets would be

measured by the comparison of the carrying amount of the asset to the sum of the discounted estimated future

cash flows the asset is expected to generate If the asset is considered to be impaired such amount would be

measured as the difference between the carrying amount of the asset and its fair value Our cash flow

assumptions are based on historical and future revenue operating costs and other relevant factors Assumptions

and estimates about the remaining useful lives of our intangible assets are subjective and are affected by changes

to our business strategies These estimates may be subject to change

Income taxes

The provision for income taxes is computed using the asset and liability method under which deferred tax

assets and liabilities are recognized for the expected future tax consequences of temporary differences between

the financial reporting and tax bases of assets and liabilities and for operating loss and tax credit carryforwards

in each jurisdiction in which we operate Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using the currently

enacted tax rates that apply to taxable income in effect for the years in which those tax assets are expected to be

realized or settled We record valuation allowance to reduce deferred tax assets to the amount that is believed

more likely than not to be realized

We are required to compute our income taxes in each federal state and international jurisdiction in which

we operate This process requires that we estimate the current tax exposure as well as assess temporary

differences between the accounting and tax treatment of assets and liabilities including items such as accruals

and allowances not currently deductible for tax purposes The income tax effects of the differences we identify

are classified as current or long-term deferred tax assets and liabilities in our Consolidated Balance Sheets Our

judgments assumptions and estimates relative to the current provision for income tax take into account current

tax laws our interpretation of current tax laws and possible outcomes of current and future audits conducted by

foreign and domestic tax authorities Changes in tax laws or our interpretation of tax laws and the resolution of

current and future tax audits could significantly impact the amounts provided for income taxes in our

Consolidated Balance Sheets and Consolidated Statements of Income We must also assess the likelihood that

deferred tax assets will be realized from future taxable income and based on this assessment establish

valuation allowance if required Our determination of our valuation allowance is based upon number of

assumptions judgments and estimates including forecasted earnings future taxable income and the relative

proportions of revenue and income before taxes in the various domestic and international jurisdictions in which

we operate To the extent we establish valuation allowance or change the valuation allowance in period we

reflect the change with corresponding increase or decrease to our tax provision in our Consolidated Statements

of Income

We apply the authoritative guidance on income taxes that prescribes minimum recognition threshold tax

position is required to meet before being recognized in the financial statements It also provides guidance on

derecognition measurement classification interest and penalties accounting in interim periods disclosure and

transition
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This guidance prescribes two-step process to determine the amount of tax benefit to be recognized The

first step is to evaluate the tax position for recognition by determining if the weight of available evidence

indicates that it is more likely than not that the position will be sustained on audit including resolution of related

appeals or litigation processes if any The second step requires us to estimate and measure the tax benefit as the

largest amount that is more than 50% likely to be realized upon ultimate settlement It is inherently difficult and

subjective to estimate such amounts as this requires us to determine the probability of various possible

outcomes We reevaluate these uncertain tax positions on quarterly basis This evaluation is based on factors

including but not limited to changes in facts or circumstances changes in tax law effectively settled issues

under audit and new audit activity Such change in recognition or measurement would result in the recognition

of tax benefit or an additional charge to the tax provision in the period

Stock-based compensation

Stock-based compensation is measured at the grant date based on the fair value of the award and is

recognized as expense ratably on straight-line basis over the requisite service period which is generally the

vesting period of the respective award No compensation cost is ultimately recognized for awards for which

employees do not render the requisite service and are forfeited

Fair value of stock-based awards We have four types of stock-based awards stock options restricted

stock units restricted stock awards and performance-based restricted stock units

Stock options We use the Black-Scholes option-pricing model to determine the fair value of stock

options The determination of the grant date fair value of options using an option-pricing model is

affected by our stock price as well as assumptions regarding number of complex and subjective

variables These variables include our expected stock price volatility over the expected life of the awards

actual and projected employee stock option exercise and cancellation behaviors risk-free interest rates

and expected dividends We estimate the expected life of options granted based on an analysis of our

historical experience of employee exercise and post-vesting termination behavior considered in relation to

the contractual life of the option Expected volatility is based on the average of historical volatility for the

period commensurate with the expected life of the option and the implied volatility of traded options The

risk free interest rate is equal to the U.S Treasury constant maturity rates for the period equal to the

expected life We do not currently pay cash dividends on our common stock and do not anticipate doing

so in the foreseeable future Accordingly our expected dividend yield is zero

Restricted stock units and restricted stock awards The fair value of each Restricted Stock Unit RSU
and Restricted Stock Award RSA is equal to the market value of Symantecs common stock on the

date of grant

Performance-based restricted stock unit We use the Monte Carlo simulation model to determine the

fair value of each performance-based restricted stock unit PRU The determination of the grant date

fair value of PRUs using simulation model is affected by our stock price as well as assumptions

regarding number of complex and subjective variables These variables include our expected stock price

volatility over the expected life of the awards risk-free interest rates and expected dividends Expected

volatility is based on the average of historical volatility for the period commensurate with the expected

life of the PRUs The risk free interest rate is equal to the U.S Treasury constant maturity rates for the

period equal to the expected life We do not currently pay cash dividends on our common stock and do

not anticipate doing so in the foreseeable future Accordingly our expected dividend yield is zero

76



SYMANTEC CORPORATION

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements Continued

Concentrations of credit risk

significant portion of our revenue and net income is derived from international sales and independent

agents and distributors Fluctuations of the U.S dollar against foreign currencies changes in local regulatory or

economic conditions piracy or nonperformance by independent agents or distributors could adversely affect

operating results

Financial instruments that potentially subject us to concentrations of credit risk consist principally of cash

and cash equivalents short-term investments and trade accounts receivable Our investment policy limits the

amount of credit risk exposure to any one issuer and to any one country We are exposed to credit risks in the

event of default by the issuers to the extent of the amount recorded in the Consolidatçd Balance Sheets The

credit risk in our trade accounts receivable is substantially mitigated by our credit evaluation process reasonably

short collection terms and the geographical dispersion of sales transactions We maintain reserves for potential

credit losses and such losses have been within managements expectations See Note 10 for details of significant

customers

Advertising costs

Advertising costs are charged to operations as incurred and include electronic and print advertising trade

shows collateral production placement fees with hardware manufacturers and all forms of direct marketing

Advertising costs included in Sales and marketing expense for fiscal 2012 2011 and 2010 were $667 million

$668 million and $615 million respectively

Recently issued and adopted authoritative guidance

In May 2011 the Financial Accounting Standards Board FASB issued an accounting standards update

that provided guidance on achieving consistent definition of and common requirements for measurement and

disclosure of fair values in U.S generally accepted accounting principles GAAP and International Financial

Reporting Standards IFRS The guidance expanded disclosures relating to fair value measurements that are

estimated using significant unobservable Level inputs The guidance also required categorization by level of

the fair value hierarchy for items that are not measured at fair value but for which fair value is required to be

disclosed We adopted this guidance in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2012 The adoption of this guidance did not

have material impact on our Consolidated Financial Statements

In June 2011 the FASB issued an accounting standards update that eliminates the option to report other

comprehensive income and its components in the statement of stockholders equity and requires that all

non-owner changes in stockholders equity be presented in either single continuous statement of comprehensive

income or in two separate but consecutive statements In December 2011 the FASB issued another accounting

standards update that defers the requirement to present reclassification adjustments for each component of

Accumulated other comprehensive income AOCI in both Other comprehensive income and Net income on

the face of the financial statements The amended guidance will be adopted by us in the first quarter of fiscal

2013 on retrospective basis and will result only in changes in our financial statement presentation

In September 2011 the FASB issued an accounting standards update that permits entities to first assess

qualitative factors to determine whether it is more likely than not likelihood of more than 50% that the fair

value of reporting unit is less than its carrying amount as basis for determining whether it is necessary to

perform the two-step goodwill impairment test This new guidance will be adopted by us in fiscal 2013 on

prospective basis and will be applied in our fourth quarter of fiscal 2013 at the time we perform our annual

goodwill test We do not expect that this guidance will materially impact our Consolidated Financial Statements
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In December 2011 the FASB issued an accounting standards update that will require us to disclose

information about offsetting and related arrangements associated with certain financial and derivative

instruments to enable users of our financial statements to better understand the effect of those arrangements on

our financial position The new guidance will be applicable to us on retrospective basis in the first quarter of

fiscal 2014 We do not expect that this guidance will materially impact our disclosures included in our

Consolidated Financial Statements

Note Fair Value Measurements

For assets and liabilities measured at fair value such amounts are based on an expected exit price

representing the amount that would be received on the sale of an asset or paid to transfer liability as the case

may be in an orderly transaction between market participants As such fair value may be based on assumptions

that market participants would use in pricing an asset or liability The authoritative guidance on fair value

measurements establishes consistent framework for measuring fair value on either recurring or nonrecurring

basis whereby inputs used in valuation techniques are assigned hierarchical level The following are the

hierarchical levels of inputs to measure fair value

Level Observable inputs that reflect quoted prices unadjusted for identical assets or liabilities in

active markets

Level Observable inputs that reflect quoted prices for identical assets or liabilities in markets that are

not active quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities in active markets inputs other than quoted prices

that are observable for the assets or liabilities or inputs that are derived principally from or corroborated

by observable market data by correlation or other means

Level Unobservable inputs reflecting our own assumptions incorporated in valuation techniques used

to determine fair value These assumptions are required to be consistent with market participant

assumptions that are reasonably available

Assets measured and recorded at fair value on recurring basis

There have been no transfers between fair value measurement levels during fiscal 2012 The following table

summarizes our assets measured at fair value on recurring basis by level within the fair value hierarchy

As of March 30 2012 As of April 12011

Level Level Total Level Level Total

In millions

Cash Equivalents $1483 $1483 $1866 $1866

Cash equivalents are money market funds which are valued based on quoted market prices of the identical

underlying security
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Assets and liabilities measured and recorded at fair value on nonrecurring basis

Goodwill In fiscal 2012 we recorded an impairment of $19 million as cumulative-effect adjustment in

Accumulated deficit related to an implied fair value measurement made for our Services reporting unit upon the

adoption of new accounting standard The valuation technique used to estimate the implied fair value of

goodwill was an income approach which relied upon Level inputs which included estimated future cash flows

or profit streams

Indefinite-lived intangible assets In fiscal years 2012 and 2011 we recorded impairment charges of $4

million and $27 million respectively which reduced the gross carrying value of indefinite-lived tradenames The

fair value amounts were derived using an income approach which required Level inputs such as estimated

future cash flows on profit streams These impairment charges were due to reductions in expected future cash

flows for certain indefinite-lived tradenames related to the Security and Compliance segment and the Consumer

segment respectively These impairment charges were recorded within Impairment of intangible assets on the

Consolidated Statements of Income

Debt In fiscal 2011 we repurchased $500 million of aggregate principal amount of our 0.75% convertible

senior notes which had net book value of $481 million Concurrently with the repurchase we sold

proportionate share of the initial note hedges back to the note hedge counterparties for approximately $13

million These transactions resulted in loss from extinguishment of debt of approximately $16 million which

represented the difference between book value of the notes net of the remaining unamortized discount prior to

repurchase and the fair value of the liability component of the notes upon repurchase The fair value of the

liability component was calculated to be $497 million upon repurchase using Level inputs based on market

prices for similarconvertible debt instruments and resulting yields

Note Acquisitions

Fiscal 2012 acquisitions

Clearwell Systems Inc

On June 24 2011 we completed the acquisition of Clearwell Systems Inc Clearwell privately-held

provider of eDiscovery solutions In exchange for all of the voting equity interests of Clearwell we transferred

total consideration of $392 million which consists of $364 million in cash net of $20 million cash acquired and

$8 million of assumed stock options The objective of the acquisition was to enhance our eDiscovery archiving

and backup offerings to our customers The results of operations of Clearwell are included since the date of

acquisition as part of the Storage and Server Management segment Supplemental pro forma information for

Clearwell was not material to our financial results and therefore not included

The following table presents the purchase price allocation included in our Consolidated Balance Sheets

in millions

Net tangible assets1 33

Intangible assets2 154

Goodwill3 268

Net tax liabilities 63
Total purchase price $392

Net tangible assets included deferred revenue which was adjusted down from $13 million to $3 million

representing our estimate of the fair value of the contractual obligation assumed for support services
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Intangible assets included customer relationships developed technology and tradenames of $82 million

$60 million and $12 million respectively which are amortized over their estimated useful lives of seven to

nine
years

Goodwill is not tax deductible The amount resulted primarily from our expectation of synergies from the

integration of Clearwell product offerings with our existing product offerings

Other Fiscal 2012 acquisitions

During fiscal 2012 in addition to Clearwell we completed the acquisitions of LiveOffice LLC

LiveOffice and another nonpublic company for an aggregate purchase price of $151 million which consisted

of $144 million in cash net of $7 million cash acquired The results of operations for the acquired companies

have been included in the Storage and Server Management segment and the Security and Compliance segment

since their respective acquisition dates Supplemental pro
forma information for these acquisitions was not

material to our financial results and therefore not included For fiscal 2012 we recorded acquisition-related

transaction costs of $2 million which were included in general and administrative expense

The following table presents the purchase price allocation included in our Consolidated Balance Sheets

in millions

LiveOffice Other Total

Acquisition date January 13 2012 March 2012

Net tangible liabilities assets1

Intangible assets2 51 59

Goodwill3 69 26 95

Total purchase price 115 36 $151

Net tangible liabilities assets included deferred revenue which was adjusted down from $12 million to $6

million representing our estimate of the fair value of the contractual obligation assumed for support

services

Intangible assets included primarily developed technology of $44 million and customer relationships of $15

million which are amortized over their estimated useful lives of four to ten years The weighted-average

estimated useful lives were 4.8 years for developed technology and 9.9 years for customer relationships

Goodwill is partially tax deductible The goodwill amount resulted primarily from our expectation of

synergies from the integration of the acquisitions product offerings with our existing product offerings

Fiscal 2011 acquisitions

Identity and Authentication Business of VeriSign Inc

On August 2010 we completed the acquisition of the identity and authentication business of VeriSign

which included controlling interest in VeriSign Japan and equity interests in certain other subsidiary entities In

exchange for the assets and liabilities of the acquired business we paid total purchase price of $1.29 billion

which consisted of $1.16 billion in cash net of $128 million cash acquired and working capital adjustments of

$3 million No equity interests were issued The results of operations of the identity and authentication business

of VeriSign are included since the date of acquisition as part of the Security and Compliance segment

Supplemental pro forma information for VeriSign was not material to our financial results and therefore not

included For fiscal 2011 we recorded acquisition-related transaction costs of $11 million which were included

in general and administrative expense
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The following table presents the purchase price allocation included in our Consolidated Balance Sheets

in millions

Net tangible assets1 178

Intangible assets2 628

Goodwill3 602

Net tax liabilities 38
Noncontrolling interest in VeriSign Japan4 85
Total purchase price $1285

Net tangible assets included deferred revenue which was adjusted down from $286 million to $68 million

representing our estimate of the fair value of the contractual obligation assumed for the support of the

authentication business

Intangible assets included customer relationships of $226 million developed technology of $123 million

and tradenames of $5 million which are amortized over their estimated useful lives of 18 months to nine

years The weighted-average estimated useful lives were 8.0 years for customer relationships and 9.0 years

for developed technology Intangible assets also included indefinite-lived tradenames and trademarks of

$274 million

Goodwill is partially tax deductible The goodwill amount resulted primarily from our expectation of

synergies from the integration of VeriSign product offerings with our existing product offerings

The fair value of the noncontrolling interest was calculated on market basis using the closing stock price

of VeriSign Japan on the date of acquisition

PGP Corporation

On June 2010 we completed the acquisition of PGP Corporation PGP nonpublic provider of email

and data encryption software In exchange for all of the voting equity interests of POP we paid total purchase

price of $306 million which consisted of $299 million in cash net of $7 million cash acquired The results of

operations of PGP are included since the date of acquisition as part of the Security and Compliance segment

Supplemental pro forma information for PGP was not material to our financial results and therefore not included

For fiscal 2011 we recorded acquisition-related transaction costs of $1 million which were included in general

and administrative expense

The following table presents the purchase price allocation included in our Consolidated Balance Sheets

in millions

Net tangible assets1

Intangible assets2 74

Goodwill3 225

Total purchase price $306

Net tangible assets included deferred revenue which was adjusted down from $55 million to $9 million

representing our estimate of the fair value of the contractual obligation assumed for support services

Intangible assets included customer relationships of $29 million developed technology of $39 million and

definite-lived tradenames of $3 million which are amortized over their estimated useful lives of two to eight
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years The weighted-average estimated useful lives were 8.0 years for customer relationships 5.0 years for

developed technology and 2.0
years

for definite-lived tradenames Intangible assets also included

indefinite-lived in-process research and development IPRD of $3 million

Goodwill is not tax deductible The goodwill amount resulted primarily from our expectation of synergies

from the integration of PGP product offerings with our existing product offerings

Other Fiscal 2011 acquisitions

During fiscal 2011 in addition to VeriSign and PGP we completed the acquisitions of GuardianEdge

Technologies Inc GuardianEdge and two other businesses for an aggregate purchase price of $91 million

which consisted of $81 million in cash net of $9 million cash acquired and $1 million in assumed equity awards

at fair value The results of operations for the acquired companies have been included in the Security and

Compliance segment since their respective acquisition dates Supplemental pro forma information for these

acquisitions was not material to our financial results and therefore not included For fiscal 2011 we recorded

acquisition-related transaction costs of $2 million which were included in general and administrative expense

The following table presents the purchase price allocation included in our Consolidated Balance Sheets in

millions

GuardianEdge Others Total

Acquisition date June 2010 Various

Net tangible assets

Intangible assets2 30 36

Goodwill3 40 12 52

Total purchase price 73 18 $91

Net tangible assets included deferred revenue which was adjusted down from $17 million to $2 million

representing our estimate of the fair value of the contractual obligation assumed for support services

Intangible assets included customer relationships of $24 million and developed technology of $12 million

which are amortized over their estimated useful lives of three to nine years The weighted-average estimated

useful lives were 9.0 years for customer relationships and 5.0 years for developed technology

Goodwill is partially tax deductible The goodwill amount resulted primarily from our expectation of

synergies from the integration of the acquisitions product offerings with our existing product offerings

Fiscal 2010 acquisitions

During fiscal 2010 we completed two acquisitions of nonpublic companies for an aggregate of $42 million

in cash No equity interests were issued We recorded goodwill in connection with each of these acquisitions

which resulted primarily from our expectation of synergies from the integration of the acquired companies

technology with our technology The goodwill for these acquisitions is only partially tax deductible if at all The

results of operations for the acquired companies have been included in our results of operations since their

respective acquisition dates These acquisitions are included in our Security and Compliance segment
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The following table presents the purchase price allocation included in our Consolidated Balance Sheets

in millions

Acquisition date Various

Intangible assets 18

Goodwill 24

Total purchase price
42

Intangible assets included customer relationships of $13 million and developed technology of $5 million

which are amortized over their estimated useful lives of four to 11 years The weighted-average estimated

useful lives were 10.0 years for customer relationships and 4.0 years for developed technology

Note Goodwill and Intangible Assets

Goodwill

The changes in the carrying amount of goodwill are as follows

Storage and

Security and Server

Consumer Compliance Management Services Total

In millions

Net balance as of April 220101 $356 $1582 $2648 19 $4605

Goodwill acquired through

acquisitions2 880 880

Goodwill adjustments3

Net balance as of April 1201 $363 $2464 $2648 19 $5494

Goodwill impairment5 19 19
Goodwill acquired through

acquisitions2 26 337 363

Goodwill adjustments3 12
Net balance as of March 30 20126 $355 $2486 $2985 $5826

Gross goodwill balances for the Consumer Security and Compliance Storage and Server Management and

Services were $356 million $4.0 billion $7.2 billion and $461 million respectively as of April 2010

Accumulated impairments for the Consumer Security and Compliance Storage and Server Management

and Services were $0 $2.4 billion $4.6 billion and $442 million respectively as of April 2010 These

balances are reflective of amounts after adjustment for segment reclassifications during the period

See Note for acquisitions completed in fiscal 2012 and 2011

Adjustments made to goodwill primarily reflect foreign currency exchange rate fluctuations

Gross goodwill balances for the Consumer Security and Compliance Storage and Server Management and

Services were $363 million $4.9 billion $7.2 billion and $461 million respectively as of April 2011

Accumulated impairments for the Consumer Security and Compliance Storage and Server Management

and Services were $0 $2.4 billion $4.6 billion and $442 million respectively as of April 2011

Due to the adoption of new authoritative guidance at the beginning of fiscal 2012 we were required to perform

goodwill Step impairment test for our Services reporting unit As result we recognized an impairment

loss of $19 million which was recorded to beginning Accumulated deficit as cumulative-effect adjustment
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Gross goodwill balances for the Consumer Security and Compliance Storage and Server Management and

Services were $355 million $4.9 billion $7.6 billion and $461 million respectively as of March 30 2012

Accumulated impairments for the Consumer Security and Compliance Storage and Server Management
and Services were $0 $2.4 billion $4.6 billion and $461 million respectively as of March 30 2012

intangible assets net

$1499

1654
96

75 65

Amortization
expense was $380 million $385 million and $481 million in fiscal 2012 2011 and 2010

respectively

Total future amortization expense for intangible assets that have finite lives based on our existing intangible

assets and their current estimated useful lives as of March 30 2012 is estimated as follows in millions

2013 356

2014 211

2015 157

2016 106

2017

Thereafter 122

Total $1040

As of March 302012

Gross

Carrying
Amount

As of April 12011

$2219

1914

146

Customer relationships

Developed technology

Finite-lived tradenames

Patents

Indefinite-lived

tradenames

Indefinite-lived IPRD

Total

Weighted-
Net Average Gross

Accumulated Carrying Remaining Carrying Accumulated
Amortization Amount Useful Life Amount Amortization

in millions

720 years $2121

260 years 1810

50
years

136

10 6years 75

297

$1227

1567
80
62

Net

Carrying
Amount

894

243

56

13

302

$1511

Weighted

Average

Remaining
Useful Life

years

years

years

years

Indefinite

Indefinite

years

297 Indefinite

Indefinite

$1337 years

302

$4447 $2936$4651 $3314
_____ _____ ______ _____

During fiscal 2012 and 2011 we recorded impairments of $4 million and $27 million respectively which

reduced the gross carrying value of indefinite-lived tradenames These impairment charges were due to

reductions in expected future cash flows for certain indefinite-lived tradenames related to the Consumer

segment These impairment charges were recorded within Impairment of intangible assets on the

Consolidated Statements of Income
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Note Investment in Joint Venture

On February 2008 Symantec formed Huawei-Symantec Technologies Co Ltd joint venture with

subsidiary of Fluawei Technologies Co Limited Huawei The joint venture was domiciled in Hong Kong
with principal operations in Chengdu China We had an ownership interest of 49% which was accounted for

under the equity method of accounting As of March 30 2012 our equity investment was zero As such we did

not provide for additional losses as we have no commitments to provide financial support to the joint venture

On March 30 2012 we sold our 49% ownership interest in the joint venture to Huawei for 530 million in

cash The gain of $530 million offset by costs to sell the joint venture of $4 million is included in Gain from

sale of joint venture reflected in our Consolidated Statements of Income

Note Long-Term Debt

The following table summarizes components of our long-term debt

As of March 302012

Effective

Face Value interest rate Fair Value2

In millions

4.20% Senior Notes due September 2020 4.20% notes 750 4.25% 771

2.75% Senior Notes due September 2015 2.75% notes 350 2.76% 363

1.00% Convertible Senior Notes due June 2013 1.00% notes 1000 6.78%1 1115

As of April 2011

Effective Fair Value2

Face Value interest rate

In millions

4.20% notes 750 4.25% 706

2.75% notes 350 2.76% 340

1.00% notes 1000 6.78% 1208

0.75% Convertible Senior Notes due June 2011 0.75% notes 600 6.78%1 618

Represents the interest rate on our debt for accounting purposes while taking into account the effects of

amortization of debt discount Although the effective interest rates of the 1.00% notes and 0.75% notes were

6.78% we are making cash interest payments at the stated coupon rates of 1.00% and 0.75% respectively

The fair value of long-term debt relies on Level inputs See Note for definition of Level inputs For

convertible senior notes the fair value represents that of the liability component See Note for our

accounting policy of estimating the fair value of our long-term debt
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As of March 30 2012 future maturities of long-term debt are as follows in millions

2013

2014 1000

2015

2016 350

Thereafter 750

Total $2100

Senior Notes

We issued the 4.20% notes and 2.75% notes in September 2010 These are senior unsecured obligations that

rank equally in right of payment with all of our existing and future unsecured and unsubordinated obligations and

are redeemable by us at any time subject to make-whole premium Our proceeds from the issuance of the

senior notes were $1.1 billion net of an issuance discount Interest on these notes is payable semiannually

Contractual interest expense was $41 million and $22 million in fiscal 2012 and 2011 respectively

Convertible Senior Notes

We issued the 1.00% notes and 0.75% notes in June 2006 In September 2010 we repurchased $500 million

of aggregate principal amount of our 0.75% convertible senior notes in privately negotiated transactions for

approximately $510 million Concurrently with the repurchase we sold proportionate share of the note hedges

that we entered into at the time of the issuance of the convertible senior notes back to the note hedge

counterparties for approximately $13 million The net cost of the repurchase and the concurrent sale of the note

hedges was $497 million in cash On June 15 2011 the remaining principal balance on our 0.75% convertible

senior notes matured and was settled by cash payment of $600 million Concurrent with the maturity the

remaining related note hedges and warrants expired No portion of it was converted into our common shares

upon maturity

As of March 30 2012 the remaining amortization period of the discount and debt issuance costs associated

with the 1.00% notes is approximately one year and the if-converted value of the 1.00% notes does not exceed

the principal amount Contractual interest expense was $11 million $16 million and $18 million in fiscal 2012

2011 and 2010 respectively Amortization of the debt discount was $56 million $96 million and $104 million

in fiscal 2012 2011 and 2010 respectively Interest on these notes is payable semiannually

The following table summarizes information regarding the equity and liability components of the

convertible senior notes

As of

March 30 April

2012 2011

In millions

Principal amount $1000 $1600

Equity component 313 462

Liability component 941 1485

Unamortized discount 59 115
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Conversion features Each $1000 of principal of the 1.00% notes will initially be convertible into

52.2951 shares of our common stock which is the equivalent of $19.12 per share subject to adjustment upon the

occurrence of specified events Holders of the 1.00% notes may convert their 1.00% notes prior to maturity

during specified periods as follows during any calendar quarter if the closing price of our common stock for

at least 20 trading days in the 30 consecutive trading days ending on the last trading day of the immediately

preceding calendar quarter is more than 130% of the applicable conversion price per share if specified

corporate transactions including change in control occur at any time on or after April 2013 or

during the five business-day period after any five consecutive trading-day period during which the trading

price of the 1.00% notes falls below certain threshold Upon conversion we would pay the holder the cash

value of the applicable number of shares of our common stock up to the principal amount of the note Amounts

in excess of the principal amount if any may be paid in cash or in stock at our option Holders who convert their

1.00% notes in connection with change in control may be entitled to make whole premium in the form of an

increase in the conversion rate As of March 30 2012 none of the conditions allowing holders of the 1.00%

notes to convert had been met In addition upon change in control of Symantec the holders of the 1.00% notes

may require us to repurchase for cash all or any portion of their 1.00% notes for the principal amount

Concurrently with the issuance of the 1.00% notes we entered into note hedge transactions with affiliates of

certain initial purchasers whereby we have the option to purchase up to 52 million shares of our common stock at

price of $19.12 per share The outstanding options for 52 million shares will expire on June 15 2013 The

options must be settled in the same manner as we settle the 1.00% notes cash or net shares In addition we have

previously issued warrants to affiliates of certain initial purchasers whereby they have the option to purchase up

to 52 million shares of our common stock at price of $27.3 175
per

share The warrants expire on various dates

through August 2013 and must be settled in net shares

Effect of conversion on earning per share EPS The 1.00% notes will have no impact on diluted EPS

until the price of our common stock exceeds the conversion price of $19.12 per share because the principal

amount of the 1.00% notes will be settled in cash upon conversion Prior to conversion we will include the effect

of the additional shares that may be issued if our common stock price exceeds $19.12 per share using the treasury

stock method As result for the first $1.00 by which the average price of our common stock for quarterly

period exceeds $19.12 per share there would be dilution of approximately 2.6 million shares As the share price

continues to increase additional dilution would occur at declining rate such that an average price of $27.3175

per
share would yield cumulative dilution of approximately 15.7 million shares If the average price of our

common stock exceeds $27.3 175
per

share for quarterly period we will also include the effect of the additional

potential shares that may be issued related to the warrants using the treasury stock method The 1.00% notes

along with the warrants has combined dilutive effect such that for the first $1.00 by which the average price

exceeds $27.3 175 per share there would be cumulative dilution of approximately 18.8 million shares prior to

conversion As the share price continues to increase additional dilution would occur but at declining rate

Prior to conversion the note hedge transactions are not considered for purposes of the EPS calculation as

their effect would be anti-dilutive Upon conversion the note hedge will automatically serve to neutralize the

dilutive effect of the 1.00% notes when the stock price is above $19.12 per share For example if upon

conversion the price of our common stock was $28.3 175
per share the cumulative effect of approximately

18.8 million shares in the example above would be reduced to approximately 1.8 million shares The preceding

calculations assume that the average price of our common stock exceeds the respective conversion prices during

the period for which EPS is calculated and excludes any potential adjustments to the conversion ratio provided

under the terms of the 1.00% notes
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Revolving credit facility

In fiscal 2011 we entered into four-year $1.0 billion senior unsecured revolving credit facility credit

facility that expires on September 2014 The credit facility provides that we may borrow up to $1.0 billion

under revolving loans Revolving loans under the credit facility bear interest at our option either at rate equal

to LIBOR plus margin based on our consolidated leverage ratio as defined in the credit facility agreement or

the banks prime rate plus margin based on our consolidated leverage ratio as defined in the credit facility

agreement Under the terms of this credit facility we must comply with certain financial and non-financial

covenants including covenant to maintain specified ratio of debt to EBITDA earnings before interest taxes

depreciation and amortization As of March 30 2012 we were in compliance with all required covenants and

no amounts were outstanding

Note Restructuring and Transition

Our restructuring and transition costs and liabilities consist primarily of severance facilities costs and

transition and other related costs Severance generally includes severance payments outplacement services

health insurance coverage effects of foreign currency exchange and legal costs Facilities costs generally

include rent expense and lease termination costs less estimated sublease income Transition and other related

costs consist of severance costs associated with acquisition integrations in efforts to streamline our business

operations consulting charges associated with the planning and design phase of implementing new enterprise

resource planning system and costs related to the outsourcing of certain back office functions Restructuring and

transition costs are included in the Other segment

Restructuring plans

The following restructuring plans are substantially complete

Fiscal 201 plan In the first
quarter

of fiscal 2011 management approved and initiated plan to

expand our consulting partner sales and delivery capabilities This action was initiated to expand our

partner eco-system to better leverage their customer reach and operational scale which resulted in

headcount reduction within our consulting services organization

Fiscal 2010 plan In the fourth quarter of fiscal 2010 management approved and initiated plan to

reduce worldwide operating costs through workiorce realignment and to reduce operating costs through

facilities consolidation These actions were initiated to appropriately allocate resources to our key

strategic initiatives and streamline our operations to deliver better and more efficient support to our

customers and employees During fiscal 2011 we terminated certain operating leases and consolidated

facilities in North America and Europe Excess facility obligations are expected to be paid over the

respective lease terms the longest of which extends through fiscal 2016

Other exit and disposal costs

Our other exit and disposal costs consist primarily of costs associated with closing or consolidating certain

facilities that are not accounted for under the restructuring plans above Largely as result of business

acquisitions management may deem certain leased facilities to be in excess and make plan to exit them either

at the time of acquisition or after the acquisition in conjunction with our efforts to integrate and streamline our

operations As of March 30 2012 liabilities for these excess facility obligations at several locations around the

world are expected to be paid over the respective lease terms the longest of which extends through fiscal 2018
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Restructuring and transition summary

Cumulative

April Costs Net of Cash March 30 Incurred to

2011 Adjustments Payments 2012 Date

In millions

Restructuring liabilities

Severance $73

Facilities 10 20

Total 13 10 93

Other exit and disposal costs 13 11
Total restructuring liabilities $26 $11 $21 $16

Transition and other related costs .. 45

Total restructuring and

transition $56

Balance Sheet

Other current liabilities $14

Other long-term obligations 12

Total restructuring liabilities $26 $16

Total net adjustments were not material for fiscal 2012 Adjustments primarily relate to foreign currency

exchange rate fluctuations Included in transition and other related costs is $26 million of severance costs

and $19 million of costs associated with the planning and design phase of implementing new enterprise

resource planning system

Note Commitments and Contingencies

Lease commitments

We lease certain of our facilities and related equipment under operating leases that expire at various dates

beyond fiscal 2018 We currently sublease some space under various operating leases that will expire on various

dates through fiscal 2018 Some of our leases contain renewal options escalation clauses rent concessions and

leasehold improvement incentives Rent expense was $111 million for fiscal 2012 of which $89 million was

recorded in General and administrative expenses and $22 million was recorded in Cost of revenue Rent expense

was $110 million for fiscal 2011 of which $89 million was recorded in General and administrative expenses and

$21 million was recorded in Cost of revenue Rent expense was $106 million for fiscal 2010 of which $88

million was recorded in General and administrative expenses and $18 million was recorded in Cost of revenue
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The following is schedule by years of minimum future rentals on noncancelable operating leases as of

March 30 2012 in millions

2013 $118

2014 91

2015 66

2016 47

2017 38

Thereafter 125

Total minimum future lease payments $485

Less sublease income

Total minimum future lease payments net $479

The total minimum future lease payments net includes $24 million related to restructuring activities

Purchase obligations

We have purchase obligations of $473 million as of March 30 2012 that are associated with agreements for

purchases of goods or services Management believes that cancellation of these contracts is unlikely and we

expect to make future cash payments according to the contract terms

The following is schedule by years of our unrecognized purchase obligations as of March 30 2012

in millions

2013 $420

2014 45

2015

2016

2017

Thereafter

Total purchase obligations $473

Indemnification

As permitted under Delaware law we have agreements whereby we indemnify our officers and directors for

certain events or occurrences while the officer or director is or was serving at our request in such capacity The

maximum potential amount of future payments we could be required to make under these indemnification

agreements
is not limited however we have directors and officers insurance

coverage
that reduces our

exposure and may enable us to recover portion of any future amounts paid We believe the estimated fair value

of these indemnification agreements in excess of applicable insurance coverage is minimal

We provide limited product warranties and the majority of our software license agreements contain

provisions that indemnify licensees of our software from damages and costs resulting from claims alleging that

our software infringes the intellectual property rights of third party Historically payments made under these

provisions have been immaterial We monitor the conditions that are subject to indemnification to identify if

loss has occurred
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Litigation contingencies

For discussion of our tax litigation with the Internal Revenue Service relating to the 2000 and 2001 tax

years of Veritas see Note 12

We are also involved in number of other judicial and administrative proceedings that are incidental to our

business Although adverse decisions or settlements may occur in one or more of the cases it is not possible to

estimate the possible loss or losses from each of these cases The final resolution of these lawsuits individually

or in the aggregate is not expected to have material adverse effect on our business results of operations

financial condition or cash flow

Other

In January 2012 we became aware of claims made by group of hackers that it possessed and intended to

publicly expose portions of the source code for certain Symantec products Following investigation of these

claims we believe that the group came into possession of the code as result of theft of source code that

occurred in 2006 We believe that source code for the 2006-era versions of the following products was exposed

Norton Antivirus Corporate Edition Norton Internet Security Norton SystemWorks Norton Utilities and Norton

GoBack and pcAnywhere We announced that customers of our pcAnywhere product may face an increased

security risk as result of this exposure The product pcAnywhere is also bundled with three Symantec

products Altiris Client Management Suite and Altiris IT Management Suite versions 7.0 or later and Altiris

Deployment Solution with Remote version 7.1 In addition customers with earlier versions of Altiris suites may
have opted to leverage pcAnywhere The increased risk is isolated to the pcAnywhere components only Our

pcAnywhere product accounted for less than three tenths of percent of our fiscal 2012 consolidated net revenue

We have completed our planned remediation of this issue

Note Stock Repurchases

The following table summarizes our stock repurchases

Year Ended

March 302012 April 12011 April 22010

In millions except per share data

Total number of shares repurchased

attributable to Symantec Corporation 51 57 34

Dollar amount of shares repurchased

attributable to Symantec Corporation 893 870 553

Average price paid per share 17.62 15.39 16.39

Range of price paid per share $15.38 -$20.51 $12.07 -$18.46 $14.14 -$18.29

We have had stock repurchase programs in the past and have repurchased shares on quarterly basis since

the fourth quarter of fiscal 2004 under various programs On January 25 2012 we announced that our Board of

Directors approved new $1 billion stock repurchase program This program does not have an expiration date

and as of March 30 2012 $984 million was authorized for future repurchases
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Note 10 Segment Information

As of March 30 2012 our five reportable segments are the same as our operating segments and are as

follows

Consumer Our Consumer segment focuses on delivering internet security for PCs tablets and mobile

devices along with services such as online backup online family protection and remote help to individual

users and home offices

Security and Compliance Our Security and Compliance segment focuses on providing large medium
and small-sized businesses with solutions for endpoint security and management compliance messaging

management data loss prevention encryption managed security services and authentication services

These products allow our customers to secure provision and remotely manage their laptops PCs
mobile devices and servers We also provide our customers with solutions delivered through our SaaS

and appliance security offerings

Storage and Server Management Our Storage and Server Management segment focuses on providing

large medium and small-sized businesses with storage and server management backup archiving

eDiscovery and data protection solutions across heterogeneous storage and server platforms as well as

solutions delivered through our SaaS and appliance offerings

Services Our Services segment provides customers with implementation services and solutions

designed to assist them in maximizing the value of their Symantec software Our offerings include

consulting business critical services and education

Other Our Other segment is comprised of sunset products and products nearing the end of their life

cycle It also includes general and administrative expenses amortization of intangible assets impairment

of goodwill intangible assets and other long-lived assets stock-based compensation restructuring and

transition expenses and certain indirect costs that are not charged to the operating segments described

above such as interest income and expense
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The accounting policies of the segments are the same as those described in Note There are no

intersegment sales Our chief operating decision maker evaluates performance primarily based on net revenue

Except for goodwill as disclosed in Note the majority of our assets are not discretely identified by segment

The depreciation and amortization of our property equipment and leasehold improvements are allocated based

on headcount unless specifically identified by segment

Storage and

Security and Server Total

Consumer Compliance Management Services Other Company

in millions

Fiscal 2012

Net revenue $2104 $1965 $2410 $251 $6730

Percentage of total net revenue 31% 29% 36% 4% 0% 100%

Operating income loss 1013 442 977 39 1392 1079

Operating margin of segment 48% 22% 41% 16%

Depreciation and amortization expense 40 56 30 583 712

Fiscal 2011

Net revenue $1953 $1638 $2307 $292 $6190

Percentage of total net revenue 32% 26% 37% 5% 0% 100%

Operating income loss 899 260 1063 1349 880

Operating margin of segment 46% 16% 46% 2%

Depreciation and amortization expense 39 42 33 625 743

Fiscal 2010

Net revenue $1871 $1482 $2287 $345 $5985

Percentage of total net revenue 31% 25% 38% 6% 0% 100%

Operating income loss 860 401 1097 12 1437 933

Operating margin of segment 46% 27% 48% 3%

Depreciation and amortization expense 29 27 41 732 835

Percentage not meaningful

During the first quarter of fiscal 2012 we modified our segment reporting structure to more readily match

our operating structure The following modification was made to the segment reporting structure managed

security services revenue and expenses were moved to the Security and Compliance segment from the Services

segment All historical periods have been adjusted to reflect this modified reporting structure

Product revenue information

The following table represents revenue by significant product categories

Year Ended

March 30 April April

2012 2011 2010

Core consumer security 28% 28% 28%

Backup 20% 21% 20%

Storage and availability management 9% 10% 11%

Endpoint security and management 9% 10% 10%

Others 34% 31% 31%

Total product revenue 100% 100% 100%

No other product category was material to the respective totals
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Geographical Information

The following table represents net revenue amounts recognized for sales in the corresponding countries

Year Ended

March 30 April April

2012 2011 2010

In millions

United States $3240 $3056 $2967

United Kingdom 580 599 594

Other foreign countriesU 2910 2535 2424

Total net revenue $6730 $6190 $5985

No individual country represented more than 10% of the respective totals

The table below lists our property and equipment net of accumulated depreciation by geographic area

With the exception of property and equipment we do not identify or allocate our assets by geographic area

As of

March 30 April

2012 2011

In millions

United States 885 835

Foreign countries0 215 215

Total $1100 $1050

No individual country represented more than 10% of the respective totals

Significant customers

In fiscal 2012 there were no significant customers that accounted for more than 10% of our total net revenue In

fiscal 2011 and 2010 one distributor Ingram Micro accounted for 10% of our total net revenue in both periods

Our distributor arrangements with Ingram Micro consist of several non-exclusive independently negotiated

agreements with its subsidiaries each of which cover different countries or regions Each of these agreements is

separately negotiated and is independent of any other contract such as master distribution agreement and

these agreements are not based on the same form of contract

Note 11 Employee Benefits and Stock-Based Compensation

401k plan

We maintain salary deferral 401k plan for all of our domestic employees This plan allows employees to

contribute up to 50% of their pretax salary up to the maximum dollar limitation prescribed by the Internal

Revenue Code We match 50% of the employees contribution The maximum match in any given plan year is

3% of the employees eligible compensation up to $6000 Our contribution under the plan was $25 million

$22 million and $22 million in fiscal 2012 2011 and 2010 respectively

Stock purchase plans

2008 Employee Stock Purchase Plan

In September 2008 our stockholders approved the 2008 Employee Stock Purchase Plan 2008 ESPP and

reserved 20 million shares of common stock for issuance thereunder In September 2010 the 2008 ESPP was
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amended by our stockholders to increase the shares available for issuance thereunder by 20 million As of

March 30 2012 14 million shares have been issued under this plan and 26 million shares remained available for

future issuance

Subject to certain limitations our employees may elect to have 2% to 10% of their compensation withheld

through payroll deductions to purchase shares of common stock under the 2008 ESPP Employees purchase

shares of common stock at price per
share equal to 85% of the fair market value on the purchase date at the end

of each six-month purchase period

2002 Executive Officers Stock Purchase Plan

In September 2002 our stockholders approved the 2002 Executive Officers Stock Purchase Plan and

reserved 250000 shares of common stock for issuance thereunder The purpose of the plan is to provide

executive officers with means to acquire an equity interest in Symantec at fair market value by applying

portion or all of their respective bonus payments towards the purchase price As of March 30 2012

40401 shares have been issued under the plan and 209599 shares remained available for future issuance Shares

reserved for issuance under this plan have not been adjusted for stock dividends

Stock award plans

2000 Director Equity Incentive Plan

In September 2000 our stockholders approved the 2000 Director Equity Incentive Plan and reserved

50000 shares of common stock for issuance thereunder Stockholders increased the number of shares of stock

that may be issued by 50000 in September 2004 September 2007 and October 2011 The
purpose

of this plan is

to provide the members of the Board of Directors with an opportunity to receive common stock for all or

portion of the retainer payable to each director for serving as member Each director may elect any portion up

to 100% of the retainer to be paid in the form of stock As of March 30 2012 total of 123464 shares have been

issued under this plan and 76536 shares remained available for future issuance

2004 Equity incentive Plan

Under the 2004 Equity Incentive Plan 2004 Plan our Board of Directors or committee of the Board of

Directors may grant incentive and nonqualified stock options stock appreciation rights RSUs RSAs or PRUs

to employees officers directors consultants independent contractors and advisors to us or to any parent

subsidiary or affiliate of ours The purpose of the 2004 Plan is to attract retain and motivate eligible persons

whose present and potential contributions are important to our success by offering them an opportunity to

participate in our future performance through equity awards of stock options and stock bonuses Under the terms

of the 2004 Plan the exercise price of stock options may not be less than 100% of the fair market value on the

date of grant Options generally vest over four-year period Options granted prior to October 2005 generally

have maximum term of ten years and options granted thereafter generally have maximum term of seven

years

As of March 30 2012 we have reserved 190 million shares for issuance under the 2004 Plan These shares

include 18 million shares originally reserved for issuance under the 2004 Plan upon its adoption by our

stockholders in September 2004 27 million shares that were transferred to the 2004 Plan from the 1996 Equity

Incentive Plan 1996 Plan and 40 million 50 million and 55 million shares that were approved for issuance

thereunder on the amendment and restatement of the 2004 Plan at our 2006 2008 and 2010 annual meeting of
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stockholders respectively In addition to the shares currently reserved under the 2004 Plan any shares reacquired

by us from options outstanding under the 1996 Plan upon their cancellation will also be added to the 2004 Plan

reserve As of March 30 2012 80 million shares remained available for future issuance

Performance-based restricted stock units

During the first quarter of fiscal 2012 we granted PRUs to certain senior level employees under our 2004

Plan The PRU grants are in lieu of the stock option grants typically awarded as part of our annual compensation

program These PRUs can be earned depending upon the achievement of company-specific performance

condition and market condition as follows our achievement of an annual target earnings per share for fiscal

2012 and our two and three year cumulative relative total shareholder return ranked against that of other

companies that are included in the Standard Poors 500 Index These PRUs are also subject to three year

continued service vesting provision with earlier vesting pennitted under certain conditions such as upon

change of control of the company The determination of the fair value of these awards takes into consideration

the likelihood of achievement of the market condition The compensation expense for the PRUs is initially based

on the probability of achieving the target level of the company-specific performance condition and will be

adjusted for subsequent changes in the estimated or actual outcome of this performance condition

Assumed Clearwell stock options

In connection with our acquisition of Clearwell we assumed all unexercised outstanding options to

purchase Clearwell common stock Each unexercised outstanding option assumed was converted into an option

to purchase our common stock after applying the exchange ratio of 0.40906 shares of our common stock for each

share of Clearwell common stock which resulted in an allocation of approximately million shares of our

common stock to the assumed options

Furthermore all shares obtained upon early exercise of unvested Clearwell options were converted into the

right to receive cash consideration of $7.65 per share upon vesting The total value of the early exercised

unvested Clearwell shares on the date of acquisition was approximately $4 million assuming no forfeitures

Other stock option plans

Options remain outstanding under several other stock option plans including the 1996 Plan and various

plans assumed in connection with acquisitions No further options may be granted under any of these plans

Valuation of stock-based awards

The fair value of share-based awards for stock options was estimated using the Black-Scholes option pricing

model The fair value of PRUs was estimated using Monte Carlo simulation model The fair value of each

restricted stock grant is equal to the market value of our common stock on the date of grant
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The following assumptions were used to estimate the fair value of stock options and PRUs

Stock Options

Expected life

Weighted-average expected volatility

Weighted-average risk-free interest rate

Expected dividends

PRUs

Expected life

Expected volatility

Weighted-average expected volatility

Risk-free interest rate

Expected dividends

Fiscal

2012

3.76 years

35%

1.62%

2.8 2.89 years

48%-49%

49%

0.65% 0.90%

Fiscal Fiscal

2011 2010

3.52 years

34%

1.85%

3.38 years

44%

1.47%

Both the Black-Scholes and the Monte Carlo simulation fair value models require the use of highly

subjective and complex assumptions including the expected life and the price volatility of the underlying stock

Changes in the Black-Scholes and the Monte Carlo valuation assumptions and our related estimates may change

the fair value for stock-based compensation and the related expense recognized There have not been any

material changes to our stock-based compensation expense due to changes in our valuation assumptions

Stock-based compensation expense

The following table sets forth the total stock-based compensation expense recognized in our Consolidated

Statements of Income

Cost of revenue Content subscription and maintenance

Cost of revenue License

Sales and marketing

Research and development

General and administrative

Total stock-based compensation expense

Tax benefit associated with stock-based compensation expense

Net stock-based compensation expense

Net stock-based compensation expense per share attributable to

Symantec Corporation stockholders basic

Net stock-based compensation expense per share attributable to

Symantec Corporation stockholders diluted

Year Ended

March 30 April April

2012 2011 2010

In millions except per share data

14 19 14

70 58 59

49 40 53

29 25 27

164 145 155

46 41 43
$118 $104 $112

$0.16 $0.13 $0.14

$0.16 $0.13 $0.14
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Outstanding at April 2011

Granted 18.31

Assumed in acquisitions 3.21

Exercised 11.94

Forfeited 16.36

Expired 10 25.16

Outstanding at March 30 2012 41 $18.98 2.53 years $70

Exercisable at March 30 2012 34 $19.59 1.92 years $50

Vested and expected to vest at March 30 2012 40 $19.01 2.47
years $69

Intrinsic value is calculated as the difference between the market value of our common stock as of

March 30 2012 and the exercise price of the option The aggregate intrinsic value of options outstanding

and exercisable includes options with an exercise price below $18.70 the closing price of our common
stock on March 30 2012 as reported by the NASDAQ Global Select Market

The weighted-average fair value per share of options granted during fiscal 2012 2011 and 2010 including

assumed options was $5.23 $4.04 and $5.15 respectively The total intrinsic value of options exercised during

fiscal 2012 2011 and 2010 was $40 million $43 million and $64 million respectively

As of March 30 2012 total unrecognized compensation cost adjusted for estimated forfeitures related to

unvested stock options was $24 million which is expected to be recognized over the remaining weighted-average

vesting period of 2.54 years Total unrecognized compensation cost related to the assumed unvested Clearwell

stock options was approximately $7 million which is expected to be recognized over the remaining weighted-

average vesting period of 2.18 years assuming no forfeitures Total unrecognized compensation cost related to

early exercised unvested Clearwell shares was approximately $1 million

Restricted stock activity

Outstanding and unvested at April 2011

Granted

Vested and released

Forfeited

Outstanding and unvested at March 30 2012

Expected to vest at March 30 2012

Weighted- Weighted-

Average Average Aggregate
Number Grant Date Remaining Intrinsic

of Shares Fair Value Years Value

In millions except per share data

18 $15.80 $323

11 18.13

16.98

16.30

18 $16.62 1.55 years $330

15 1.46 years $282

The weighted-average grant date fair value per share of restricted stock granted during fiscal 2012 2011 and

2010 including assumed restricted stock was $18.13 $14.96 and $15.60 respectively The total fair value of restricted

stock that vested in fiscal 2012 2011 and 2010 was $150 million $104 million and $71 million respectively

Weighted- Weighted-

Average Average Aggregate
Number Exercise Remaining Intrinsic

of Shares Price Years Valued

In millions except per share data

54 $19.61 $91
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As of March 30 2012 total unrecognized compensation cost adjusted for estimated forfeitures related

restricted stock was $218 million which is expected to be recognized over the remaining weighted-average

vesting period of 2.42 years

Performance-based restricted stock units activity

Shares

Unvested at April 2011

Granted 467000

Changes due to performance and market conditions 23350

Vested

Forfeited

Unvested at March 30 2012 490350

The weighted-average grant date fair value per share of PRUs granted during fiscal 2012 was $23.58 per share

As of March 30 2012 total unrecognized compensation cost related to the PRUs was approximately $8 million

which is expected to be recognized over the remaining weighted average period of 2.0 years assuming no forfeitures

Shares reserved

As of March 30 2012 we had reserved the following shares of authorized but unissued common stock in

millions

Stock purchase plans 26

Stock award plans 138

Total 164

Note 12 Income Taxes

The components of the provision for income taxes are as follows

Year Ended

March 30 April April

2012 2011 2010

In millions

Current

Federal $123 17 62

State 30 18

International 121 70 91

274 105 153

Deferred

Federal 32 26

State

International 29 41
24 41

Total provision of income taxes $298 $105 $112
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Pretax income from international operations was $891 million $460 million and $498 million for fiscal

2012 fiscal 2011 and 2010 respectively

The difference between our effective income tax and the federal statutory income tax is as follows

Year Ended

March 30 April April

2012 2011 2010

In millions

Expected Federal statutory tax 515 255 303

State taxes net of federal benefit 12 12

Foreign earnings taxed at less than the federal rate 160 84 92
Domestic production activities deduction 20 10
Federal research and development credit 12 10
Valuation allowance increase decrease 15 11
Benefit of losses from joint venture

Veritas tax positions including valuation allowance release 52 49 70
Other net 11

$298 $105 $112

The principal components of deferred tax assets are as follows

As of

March30 April

2012 2011

In millions

Deferred tax assets

Tax credit carryforwards
43 17

Net operating loss carryforwards of acquired companies 137 181

Other accruals and reserves not currently tax deductible 152 141

Deferred revenue 95 77

Loss on investments not currently tax deductible 23 17

State income taxes 33 35

Goodwill 36 34

Stock-based compensation 60 70

Other

583 581

Valuation allowance 55 45

Total deferred tax assets 528 536

Deferred tax liabilities

Tax over book depreciation 41 26
Intangible assets 208 228
Unremitted earnings of foreign subsidiaries 329 282

Total deferred tax liabilities $578 $536

Net deferred tax assets 50
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The $55 million total valuation allowance provided against our deferred tax assets as of March 30 2012 is

attributable to acquisition-related assets and net operating losses in foreign jurisdictions The valuation allowance

increased by net of $10 million in fiscal 2012 related mostly to credits in foreign jurisdictions and net

operating losses in foreign jurisdictions subject to valuation allowance

As of March 30 2012 we have U.S federal net operating losses attributable to various acquired companies

of approximately $120 million which if not used will expire between fiscal 2013 and 2032 These net operating

loss carryforwards are subject to an annual limitation under Internal Revenue Code 382 but are expected to be

fully realized Furthermore we have U.S state net operating loss and credit carryforwards attributable to various

acquired companies of approximately $314 million and $24 million respectively which will expire in various

fiscal years
In addition we have foreign net operating loss carryforwards attributable to various acquired foreign

companies of approximately $404 million net of valuation allowances which under current applicable foreign

tax law can be carried forward indefinitely

In assessing the ability to realize our deferred tax assets we considered whether it was more likely than not

that some portion or all the deferred tax assets will not be realized We considered the following we have

historical cumulative book income as measured by the current and prior two years we have strong consistent

taxpaying history we have substantial U.S federal income tax carryback potential and we have substantial

amounts of scheduled future reversals of taxable temporary differences from our deferred tax liabilities We have

concluded that this positive evidence outweighs the negative evidence and thus that the deferred tax assets as of

March 30 2012 of $528 million after application of the valuation allowances described above are realizable on

more likely than not basis

As of March 30 2012 no provision has been made for federal or state income taxes on $2.4 billion of

cumulative unremitted earnings of certain of our foreign subsidiaries since we plan to indefinitely reinvest these

earnings As of March 30 2012 the unrecognized deferred tax liability for these earnings was $730 million
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The aggregate changes in the balance of gross unrecognized tax benefits from April 2009 to March 30

2012 were as follows in millions

Balance as of April 2009 633

Settlements and effective settlements with tax authorities and related remeasurements

Lapse of statute of limitations 14
Increases in balances related to tax positions taken during prior years 12

Decreases in balances related to tax positions taken during prior years 92
Increases in balances related to tax positions taken during current year 11

Balance as of April 2010 $543

Settlements and effective settlements with tax authorities and related remeasurements

Lapse of statute of limitations 27
Increases in balances related to tax positions taken during prior years 13

Decreases in balances related to tax positions taken during prior years 36
Increases in balances related to tax positions taken during current year 40

Balance as of April 12011 $527

Settlements and effective settlements with tax authorities and related remeasurements 62
Lapse of statute of limitations 12
Increases in balances related to tax positions taken during prior years 78

Decreases in balances related to tax positions taken during prior years 30
Increases in balances related to tax positions taken during current year 118

Balance as of March 30 2012 $619

Of the $92 million of changes in gross unrecognized tax benefits during the fiscal year as disclosed above

approximately $32 million was provided through purchase accounting in connection with acquisitions during

fiscal 2012 This gross liability is reduced by offsetting tax benefits associated with the correlative effects of

potential transfer pricing adjustments interest deductions and state income taxes as well as payments made to

date

Of the total unrecognized tax benefits at March 30 2012 $612 million if recognized would favorably

affect the Companys effective tax rate while $7 million would affect the cumulative translation adjustments

However one or more of these unrecognized tax benefits could be subject to valuation allowance if and when

recognized in future period which could impact the timing of any related effective tax rate benefit

At March 30 2012 before any tax benefits we had $73 million of accrued interest and penalties on

unrecognized tax benefits Interest included in our provision for income taxes was approximately $11 million for

the year ended March 30 2012 If the accrued interest and penalties do not ultimately become payable amounts

accrued will be reduced in the period that such detennination is made and reflected as reduction of the overall

income tax provision

We file income tax returns in the U.S on federal basis and in many U.S state and foreign jurisdictions

Our two most significant tax jurisdictions are the U.S and Ireland Our tax filings remain subject to examination

by applicable tax authorities for certain length of time following the tax year to which those filings relate Our

2002 through 2012 fiscal
years

remain subject to examination by the Internal Revenue Service IRS for

U.S federal tax purposes and our 2007 through 2012 fiscal
years remain subject to examination by the
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appropriate governmental agencies for Irish tax purposes Other significant jurisdictions include California

Japan the UK and India As of March 30 2012 we are in appeals with the IRS regarding Veritas U.S federal

income taxes for the 2002 through 2005 tax years and under examination regarding Symantec U.S federal

income taxes for the fiscal years 2005 through 2008 In addition we are under examination by the California

Franchise Tax Board for the Symantec California income taxes for the 2005 through 2006 tax years We are also

under audit by the Indian income tax authorities for fiscal years 2004 through 2011

On December 10 2009 the U.S Tax Court issued its opinion in Veritas Commissioner finding that our

transfer pricing methodology with appropriate adjustments was the best method for assessing the value of the

transaction at issue between Veritas and its international subsidiary in the 2000 to 2001 tax years In June 2010

we reached an agreement with the IRS concerning the amount of the adjustment based on the U.S Tax Court

decision As result of the agreement we reduced our liability for unrecognized tax benefits resulting in $39

million tax benefit in the first quarter of fiscal 2011 In March 2011 we reached agreement with Irish Revenue

concerning compensating adjustments arising from this matter resulting in an additional $10 million tax benefit

in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2011 This matter has now been closed and no further adjustments to the accrued

liability are expected

On December 2009 we received Revenue Agents Report from the IRS for the Veritas 2002 through

2005 tax years assessing additional taxes due We have contested $80 million of the tax assessed and all

penalties As result of negotiations with IRS Appeals in the three months ended December 30 2011 we have

remeasured our liability for unrecognized tax benefits resulting in tax benefit of $52 million

The timing of the resolution of income tax examinations is highly uncertain and the amounts ultimately

paid if any upon resolution of the issues raised by the taxing authorities may differ materially from the amounts

accrued for each year Although potential resolution of uncertain tax positions involve multiple tax periods and

jurisdictions it is reasonably possible that reduction of up to $21 million of the reserves for unrecognized tax

benefits may occur within the next 12 months some of which depending on the nature of the settlement or

expiration of statutes of limitations may affect our income tax provision and therefore benefit the resulting

effective tax rate The actual amount could vary significantly depending on the ultimate timing and nature of any

settlements

We continue to monitor the progress
of ongoing income tax controversies and the impact if any of the

expected tolling of the statute of limitations in various taxing jurisdictions

Note 13 Earnings Per Share

Basic and diluted earnings per share are computed on the basis of the weighted average number of shares of

common stock outstanding during the period Diluted earnings per share also include the incremental effect of

dilutive potential common shares outstanding during the period using the treasury stock method Dilutive

potential common shares include the dilutive effect of shares underlying outstanding stock options restricted

stock warrants and Convertible Senior Notes
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The components of earnings per share are as follows

Year Ended

Net income attributable to Symantec Corporation stockholders

Net income per share attributable to Symantec Corporation

stockholders basic

Net income
per

share attributable to Symantec Corporation

stockholders diluted

Weighted average outstanding common shares attributable to

Symantec Corporation stockholders basic

Dilutive potential shares issuable from assumed exercise of stock

options

Dilutive potential shares related to stock award plans

Weighted average
shares outstanding attributable to Symantec

Corporation stockholders diluted

Anti-dilutive weighted-average stock options

Anti-dilutive weighted-average restricted stock

March 30 April April

2012 2011 2010

In millions except per share data

$1172 $597 $714

1.58 $0.77 $0.88

1.57 $0.76 $0.87

741 778 810

748 786 819

26 43 47

For these fiscal years the effects of the warrants issued and the option purchased in connection with the

Convertible Senior Notes were excluded because they have no impact on diluted earnings per share until our

average stock price for the applicable period reaches $27.3 175 per share and $19.12 per share respectively
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15d of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 the Registrant

has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized in the City of

Mountain View State of California on the 21st day of May 2012

SYMANTEC CORPORATION

By
1st Enrique Salem

Enrique Salem

President and Chief Executive Officer

KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS that each person
whose signature appears below

constitutes and appoints Enrique Salem James Beer and Scott Taylor and each or any of them his

attorneys-in-fact each with the power of substitution for him in any and all capacities to sign any and all

amendments to this report on Form 10-K and any other documents in connection therewith with the Securities

and Exchange Commission granting unto said attorneys-in-fact and each of them full power and authority to do

and perform each and every act and thing requisite and necessary to be done in and about the premises as fully to

all intents and purposes as he might or could do in person hereby ratifying and confirming all that such

attorneys-in-fact or his or their substitute or substitutes may lawfully do or cause to be done by virtue hereof

This Power of Attorney may be signed in several counterparts

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 this report has been signed below by

the following persons on behalf of the Registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated below

Signature Title

Is Enrique Salem

Enrique Salem

President and Chief Executive Officer

Principal Executive Officer

May 21 2012

Is James Beer

James Beer

Is Andrew Del Matto

Andrew Del Matto

Is Stephen Bennett

Stephen Bennett

Is Michael Brown

Michael Brown

Is Frank Dangeard

Frank Dangeard

Is Stephen Gillett

Stephen Gillett

Executive Vice President and Chief

Financial Officer

Principal Financial Officer

Senior Vice President and Chief

Accounting Officer

Principal Accounting Officer

Chairman of the Board

Director

Director

Director

May 21 2012

May 21 2012

May 18 2012

May 18 2012

May 18 2012

May 18 2012

Date
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Director May 18 2012

Director May 18 2012

Director May 18 2012

Director May 18 2012

Director May 18 2012

Signature

Is Geraldine Laybourne

Geraldine Laybourne

1st David Mahoney

David Mahoney

Is Robert Miller

Robert Miller

Is Daniel Schulman

Daniel Schulman

/st Paul Unnih

Paul Unruh
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Schedule II

SYMANTEC CORPORATION

VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS

Additions

Balance at Charged Against Charged to Amount Balance at

Beginning Revenue and to Other Written Off End of

of Period Operating Expense Accounts or Used Period

In millions

Allowance for doubtful accounts

Year ended March 30 2012

Year ended April 12011

Year ended April 2010

Reserve for product returns

Year ended March 30 2012 $19 72 74 $25

YearendedAprill2011 60 57 19

Year ended April 2010 12 46 49
Reserve for rebates

Year ended March 30 2012 $79 $204 982 $308 $73

YearendedAprill2011 71 210 1082 310 79

Year ended April 2010 70 181 962 276 71

Reserve for product returns and reserve for rebates are charged against revenue

Balances represent unrecognized customer rebates that will be amortized within 12 months and are recorded

as reduction of defened revenue
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